## Parties, Candidates, and Social Media in the 2015 UK General Election

## **Twitter and the Public Sphere**

#### Helena Judith Pillmoor

MA (Hons), Politics (Lancaster)

Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Politics, Philosophy and Religion Lancaster University

October 2021

### **Thesis Declaration**

I declare that this thesis is my own work and that it has not been submitted in any form the award of a higher degree elsewhere. I confirm that this thesis does not exceed the prescribed limit of 80,000 words.

Helena J. Pillmoor, 20 October 2021

#### Abstract

This thesis was undertaken to examine the role of the social media forum, Twitter, in the 2015 UK general election. The research, conducted during the campaign, focused on the official party pages of the Conservatives, Labour, Liberal Democrats, and United Kingdom Independence Party (UKIP) and their candidates standing in target seats. The thesis contributes to an ongoing academic debate concerning the potential for the internet and social media to transform political communication. The theoretical framework draws on the work of the philosopher Jürgen Habermas and his concepts of 'rational-critical debate' and the 'public sphere'. Although Habermas' theory pre-dates the internet, his insights provide invaluable criteria by which the practical impact of social media, as opposed to its undeniable promise as a 'transformative' promoter of political debate in a liberal democracy, can be judged.

I examine Twitter's design architecture, which has been heavily influenced by its users and, at least in theory, constitutes an open forum for the free exchange of ideas and opinions envisaged by Habermas. Chapter Five explores the use of these features by the main UK parties in 2015. An analysis the content of the tweets in Chapter Six explores how the parties engaged with different election issues on the site, considering the extent to which they reacted to public opinion and events, or tried to retain control of this aspect of their campaigns. Chapter Seven examines the use of Twitter by individual candidates, reviewing their engagement with the site's design features and their coverage of election issues. This chapter focuses on the potential conflict between the candidates' roles as local campaigners and their status as representatives of the national parties. Overall, the findings arising from the empirical research suggested that the major parties regarded Twitter as a means of promoting their own favoured agendas rather than a venue for 'rational-critical debate'. Nevertheless, the site offers considerable potential for future research into the use of social media in political campaigning in the UK, while an analytical framework based on Habermas' ideas could usefully be applied to other internet platforms.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr Mark Garnett, my supervisor throughout my PhD study. The knowledge and perspective brought to the writing of my thesis has been invaluable and without all the advice, support, and patience over the years I would not have got to this point.

I would also like to thank the Faculty of Arts and Social Science at Lancaster University for the funding to undertake my studies in the PPR Department at Lancaster. To everyone in PPR who has offered me support over the years, be it over the general frustrations of writing up, or muddling out the early formation of my arguments, thank you. I would particularly like to extend my gratitude to Dr Martin Stevens for his insight.

Throughout the project I have also met academic colleagues who have had an impact on my thesis in more or less direct ways. Some ideas in this thesis were presented at the ECPR Joint Session of Workshops, and EPOP Annual Conferences where I also attended a workshop hosted by the University of Exeter. I am grateful for the opportunities these provided for constructive feedback and discussion. I would like to give special mention to Dr Mark Shephard for his input.

Last but certainly not least, my friends and family who have stuck by me through all the ups and downs. Apologies for all the missed or postponed meetups over the last few months. Thank you for the support and encouragement, for keeping me sane(?) throughout, and for keeping me well stocked with tea.

## Contents

Thesis Declaration	i
Abstract	. ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	/iii
List of Figures	/iii
Introduction	1
1.1 Chapter Outline	5
Chapter Two: Mapping the Method	10
2.1 Deliberative Democracy 1	11
2.2 The Plurality of Social Media	14
2.3 The 2015 UK General Election	16
2.4 Campaigning on Twitter: The need for a more qualitative approach 1	18
2.5 Data	23
2.5 Summary	26
Chapter Three: Habermas and the Public Sphere	28
3.1 Habermas' Public Sphere2	<u>29</u>
3.1.1 The Institutional Criteria of the Public Sphere	31
3.1.2 Challenges to the Public Sphere	32
3.2 Access	34
3.3 Status	11
3.4 Domain of Common Concern: Agenda-Setting	19

3.5 Refeudalisation	55
3.5.1 Consumer Culture	56
3.5.2 Representative Publicity	62
3.5.3 Public Opinion	65
3.6 Conclusion	68
Chapter Four: The History of Engagement on Twitter	71
4.1 The Origins of Twitter: The Features	72
4.1.1 Putting the 'Micro' in Microblogging	73
4.1.2 Following	74
4.1.3 Evolving With the Users: #, @, and RT	76
4.2.3.1 Hashtags	77
4.2.3.2 @-reply	80
4.2.3.3 Retweets	82
4.2 The Obama Effect	84
4.3 2010 and All That: An Unmemorable Social Media Election	88
4.4 2010-2015: The Interim	92
4.4.1 Promoted Tweets	94
4.4.2 The Follow Button	96
4.4.3 Obama 2012	97
4.6 Conclusion	99
Chapter Five: Representative Publicity on the Party Twitter Pages	101
5.1 Politics as Usual?	102

5.2 Online Participation: Forms of Engagement	106
5.2.1 Following	107
5.2.1.1 Election Forecasting	108
5.2.1.2 Status	112
5.2.1.3 Reactivity	116
5.2.2 Engaging and Endorsing	122
5.2.3 Conversations and Hashtags	125
5.3 Resource Rich: Sponsored Content	132
5.4 Conclusion	136
Chapter Six: Election Issues, Public Opinion, and Agenda-Setting	139
6.1 Disintermediation, Agenda-Setting, and Manipulated Publicity	140
6.2 Data	147
6.3 Election Issues: Opinion Polls, Party Tweets, and Mass Media	149
6.3.1 The Economy	153
6.3.2 Immigration	160
6.3.3 Health	165
6.4 Campaign Strategies	168
6.4.1 Long-Term Campaigns	170
6.4.2 Short-Term Campaigns	173
6.5 Conclusion	175
Chapter Seven: Local Candidates	177
7.1 Local Campaigning and the Internet	178

7.2 Twitter: The Rules of Engagement 183
7.3 Data 187
7.4 Candidates on Twitter 189
7.4.1 Followers and Status193
7.4.2 Interacting with Users
7.5 Issue Coverage 199
7.5.1 The Economy 202
7.6.2 Transport
7.6.3 Other Issues
7.7 Conclusion 212
Conclusion
8.1 Moving Forwards 226
Appendix 1: Candidate Twitter Data for Marginal Seats
Appendix 2: YouGov Poll Data 241
Appendix 3: Examples of Tweets by Political Parties 242
Appendix 4: References to Tweets by Candidates
Bibliography

## **Tables and Figures**

## List of Tables

<b>Table 1.</b> Follower Statistics for the Twitter Accounts of the UK Parties Suringthe 2015 Election Campaign, Ranked by Vote Percentage in the Election(Highest to Lowest)
<b>Table 2.</b> YouGov Poll on Election Issue Salience and Issue Coverage on theParties' Twitter Pages as Comparative Percentages150
Table 3. Number of Tweets (Original and @-Replies) by Candidates in the 45Target Seats190
<b>Table 4.</b> Election Issue Coverage on the Candidates' Twitter Pages by Partyas Comparative Percentages200

## List of Figures

Figure 1. Increase in the Number of Followers on the Party Pages From 6	
April 2014 to 6 May 2015 117	

#### Introduction

It is difficult to think of any significant human activity which has escaped the influence of the internet since the introduction of the World Wide Web to the public in 1993. Many familiar practices, methods of communication, and institutions have been transformed (Graham and Dutton, 2019). Amongst these developments, High Street shops are becoming endangered by the 'multichannel retailing' of their online counterparts; even out-of-town retail parks are being affected as they increasingly cater to click-and-collect shoppers (Wrigley and Lambiri, 2014: 9; Jones and Livingstone, 2018). In communication, the United Kingdom's landline telephone network is gradually being phased out to be replaced by new internet technology by the end of 2025 (Ofcom, 2020), and the humble text message is already succumbing to the attractions of internet-supported instant messaging applications such as WhatsApp. Even the lofty halls of academia have experienced important changes. On the positive side, academics could now disseminate their scholarly productions more widely and reach an international audience at the touch of a computer mouse. Yet, years before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the same technologies were already opening the possibility of a new world of online learning, with recorded lectures and 'virtual' libraries making the traditional university look like an increasingly outdated institution.

Alongside all these changes, it was always likely that the new technology would have some effect on the practice of politics. In particular, the relationship between politicians and the media in countries like Britain, which had become increasingly controversial and combative since the Second World War, had entered a new phase by the end of the 1980s as national newspapers abandoned their old base in and around London's Fleet Street. Subsequently, the circulation of printed newspapers has plummeted (Mayhew, 2020); by 2020 the UK public's news consumption had shifted with only 35% of adults reading print newspapers while 65% turned to the internet as a source for news (Jigsaw Research, 2020).

The emergence of social media sites since the early 2000s (Facebook was founded in 2004) plays a significant role in the shifting dynamics of media consumption and media relations. People, especially young people, have increasingly turned to social media for news (Boukes, 2019). Constructed from user-generated content, social media have signalled a progression from the format of the early internet, which was characterised by a passive relationship between creator and audience (O'Reilly, 2005). The early internet was primarily composed of sites on which content was displayed for the consumer to read but without the means for direct interaction. Consequently, with social media, the role of 'creator' has also expanded to encompass (potentially) all online citizens – 'netizens' (Murthy, 2013).

Fundamentally, the introduction of social media sites has engendered a wave of new online spaces and communities through which netizens communicate and interact with one another. Significantly, this online development into social media renewed debate around the potential "provided [by the internet] for political participation in political debate, such as blogging and 'citizen journalism'...[and for] marginal political groups to make statements with global reach" (McNair, 2012: 13). The effects of social media on both civic and political participation have only grown from its early years to "become much

more dramatic" (Boulianne, 2020: 942) as the technology has continued to evolve and individuals and activist groups have become more adept at navigating the online space (Karpf, 2016; Rhodes, 2019; Wells et al., 2020). In the UK, the left-wing political grassroots organisation Momentum utilised and showcased social media platforms that could be used for political agency and activism, rejuvenating interest in politics, especially amongst young people (Pickard, 2018). Momentum was also considered a significant factor in Labour's success in the 2017 general election as it was able to help mobilise and organise support (Pickard, 2018; Rhodes, 2019).

Beyond activist groups, social media have also created new avenues for communication between politicians and the public, in part by bypassing the 'third man' that is the traditional media journalist (Muller, 2016; Fisher et al., 2018). Former US President Donald Trump's frequent use of social media, especially Twitter, during both his election campaigns (2016 and 2020) and presidency is an extreme but well-profiled example of the disrupting the 'norm' of traditional political communication mechanisms (Bennett and Pfetsch, 2018; Boczkowski and Papacharissi, 2018; Wells et al., 2020). For example, Trump sought to undermine and bypass 'conventional' media relations, including official White House channels, and more directly engage with his supporters, often with the claim that the press spread 'fake news' (Enli, 2017; Francia, 2018; Waisbord et al., 2018).

However, there remained unanswered questions about whether such changes in the media landscape had a truly radical effect on the way in which political actors in liberal democracies undertake the business of winning and retaining support – or whether they try to adapt their existing practices to the new environment. In short, has the advent of the internet *transformed* the way in which we 'do' politics in countries like the United Kingdom? At the heart of this is the question about the potential of social media to encourage communication and deliberation between elected political representatives and the electorate.

As this thesis argues, the proliferation of social media sites raises key questions about the practices of liberal democracy, ranging from prophecies of impending doom to idealistic expectations of more meaningful engagement for voters in the democratic process. The primary aim of this thesis is to examine how political parties and candidates used the social media site Twitter during the 2015 UK general election campaign. The focus on Twitter responds to a growing body of literature on discourse architecture – understanding how the design of a site determines the deliberative potential of the platform (Freelon, 2015; Bossetta, 2018). An empirical investigation into the site by political parties and candidates during 2015 election campaign provides a unique case study, poised as it was during a period when parties and candidates had begun to engage with social media more readily as a means to communicate with the electorate. Underlying these investigations is the debate around social media's potential to support deliberative democracy. Consequently, thesis draws on Jürgen Habermas' (1989) concept of the 'public sphere' as the theoretical framework of the research.

#### 1.1 Chapter Outline

Chapter Two begins by introducing literature on deliberative democracy, a field of study that has been revitalised by the development of social media. It identifies Habermas' (1989) work on the 'public sphere' as underpinning many of the ideas within the deliberative model, notably the expectation that rationalcritical discourse could be realised through social media. Habermas' theory goes on to provide an analytical framework for my own investigations as I seek to test the application of his concept of the public sphere to the virtual environment (Chapter Three), and his expectation of the demand for rationalcritical debate, examined through the use of Twitter by political parties and candidates.

The chapter then engages with the growing criticism of the generalised use of the term 'social media'. It highlights the importance of distinguishing the difference in the design architecture of different social media sites to understand the unique deliberative opportunities each platform provides. This provides the basis for the decision to focus the thesis on a single platform, Twitter. Next, the chapter outlines the rationale for choosing the 2015 UK general election as case study. I argue that it provides a unique study as a turning point in social media campaigning in Britain.

I highlight limitations in the approaches taken by existing literature on social media and the 2015 election campaign, examining the rise and dominance of quantitative methods and 'big data' in election research into Twitter. My primary argument is that a more qualitative approach has numerous advantages, such as enabling an in-depth content analysis which also allows the detection of nuances in behaviour by political parties and candidates in their 2015 general election campaigns. The final section outlines the data collection process.

Chapter Three begins by establishing the theoretical framework for the thesis, outlining Habermas' (1989) notion of the 'public sphere' and the core elements behind the sphere's formation and development. This leads to an indepth examination of the three institutional criteria – 'access', 'disregard of status', and 'domain of common concern' – which Habermas (1989: 36) regarded as essential to the existence of the public sphere. These ideas were not without critics, and I introduce some of the key arguments against the application of his principles. I also ask whether such arguments are applicable to the online environment. In short, do the internet and social media promote a genuine public sphere, or are the same obstacles to the free exchange of 'rational-critical' arguments relevant in the virtual environment?

The second part of the chapter explores the challenges to the public sphere which Habermas (1989: 142) associated with its decline through a process he termed "refeudalization". These factors are outlined and then considered in the context of social media, questioning their transferability, and examining if they are also present in the online world and, if so, how they manifest. This offers a comparison to the first section, which considers the deliberative potential of the internet and social media from an institutional perspective, by introducing several possible external and internal threats to the 'virtual' public sphere and their implications.

Chapter Four introduces Twitter as the focal platform for the case study of this thesis. In this chapter, I explore several key design elements which define Twitter and how the site came to be shaped into the platform it was at the time of the 2015 UK general election. I consider the implications of these design choices and processes on the site's functionality and deliberative potential. After introducing Twitter, I outline the evolution of the internet's role in political communication to understand how the use of new technology had been adapted in political campaigning before the 2015 election and the role social media (and Twitter in particular) played in this process. Through identifying significant turning points in the history of Twitter and digital campaigning, I develop an understanding of any potentially transformative effects of the new technology and begin to explore possible tensions between the deliberative potential of the site and its use in political communication.

After investigating Twitter's design architecture, Chapter Five examines how the main UK political parties engaged with the deliberative potential of the site during the 2015 election period. Using the official Twitter accounts of the Conservative Party, Labour Party, Liberal Democrats, and the United Kingdom Independence Party (UKIP), this chapter asks whether these parties grasped the potential for online discourse, or whether they regarded them as new ways of conducting 'politics as usual' – the mode of campaigning, at national and local level, which has been described as a 'broadcast' style of communication (Margolis and Resnick, 2000). If one accepts that Twitter offered considerable potential for the encouragement of 'rational-critical' debate, does the evidence suggest that the main parties seized this opportunity?

Chapters Six and Seven begins a content analysis of the tweets which the parties and candidates posted on the platform during the election campaign. Chapter Six focuses on the coverage of election issues, exploring which topics the parties sought to emphasise (or play down), the breadth of the coverage, and how the main UK parties engaged with the voters on such matters. It also investigates the relationship between issue coverage, public opinion, and the role of 'agenda-setting', asking how each of the parties shaped the content of their online campaigns. Were the parties reactive to public opinion and events? To what extent did the online campaigns reflect their offline campaigns?

The penultimate chapter extends the discussion beyond the political parties to the use of Twitter by candidates during the 2015 election campaign. Using a sample of candidates who stood in target seats for the four parties, I examine the balance they struck between national and local campaigning. The decision to focus on targets seats, whilst unrepresentative, follows the intention of the thesis to analyse online behaviour in a context when engagement with social media by political actors can be expected to reach a peak. Focusing on this sample of seats allows a unique perspective of the dynamics between the local and national campaigns; while Twitter could provide new opportunities for greater candidate-constituent interactions the parties also have a strong desire to ensure that candidates in these seats remain 'on message'. As such, the thesis is at least in part an attempt to gauge the state of British democracy at the time of the pivotal 2015 general election: did the main parties take any steps to foster what Habermas called 'rational-critical debate', and if so, how far did they succeed? If the parties were anxious to suppress debate, did individual candidates use social media sites like Twitter to evade their restrictions?

Chapter Seven is addressed to the latter question, exploring the use of Twitter's features by the candidates: who used the site, and if and how did they engage with the participatory features of the platform? The chapter also examines patterns in online behaviour between those of different party affiliations and how this compared to the use of these devices by the respective party pages. Secondly, the content of the tweets by different candidates is analysed, with particular focus on the coverage of election issues to produce a comparison with the party campaigns. The emphasis of this investigation is on how the candidates engaged with the issues and whether they behaved as local actors or as mouthpieces for the national campaigns.

Chapter Eight presents the key conclusions of the thesis. I review the deliberative potential of the Twitter site, first through re-examining Habermas' public sphere in the online environment. I highlight how the architectural opportunities for a meaningful exchange of ideas and opinions and their implementation can come into conflict. The chapter conclude with my own reflections on behaviours the case study has indicated before considering the direction of future research.

#### **Chapter Two: Mapping the Method**

This thesis has been undertaken to explore the use of Twitter by political parties and candidates during the 2015 UK general election. The aim is to use the 2015 election contest as a case study in order to develop a deeper understanding of the ways in which political actors engage with Twitter, and social media more generally. Underlying the research is the debate around the potential for social media to transform political communication, particularly the expectation that it can support and enhance deliberative democracy between political actors and the electorate (Dahlberg, 2001; Papacharissi, 2009; Calderaro, 2018; Kutlu, 2018). This chapter begins by outlining the evolving body of literature on deliberative democracy in response to the development of the internet and social media, central to which is Jurgen Habermas'(1989) concept of the public sphere. It explores the relevance of Habermas' thesis in this field of study and outlines the merits of returning his original work as the theoretical framework for my research.

Arguably, Twitter provides an ideal forum for deliberative democracy as a free and 'open' public platform. Its potential is explored in the growing body of literature discussing the significance of recognising and understanding the difference in design architectures across social media platforms. I argue that this sets important parameters within which to understand and analyse to what extent the deliberative potential of a platform is realised.

The chapter then explores the significance of investigating the use of Twitter in the context of the 2015 UK general election as it offers a unique snapshot in the evolution of social media campaigning in Britain. It highlights limitations in the existing literature, notably the growing focus on quantitative methods and 'big' data and argues for a more qualitative approach. The final part of the chapter expands on the methodological approach taken to data collection and analysis.

#### 2.1 Deliberative Democracy

The introduction of the internet and social media has opened many new channels of enquiry for political scientists. Prominent amongst these subjects has been a developing interest in "the possibility of the Internet enhancing democracy" (Dahlberg, 2001: 615; Margolis and Moreno-Riaño, 2010; Van Dijk and Hacker, 2018). Nonetheless, democracy is a contested concept amongst scholars, and there has inevitably been divergence in the research. The three main models which have influenced this academic debate are the 'communitarian' perspective, the 'liberal individualist' stance, and the 'deliberative' model (Dahlberg, 2001; Bakardjieva, 2012; Yan et al., 2018; Valera Ordaz, 2019). The communitarian perspective focuses on how the internet is "enhancing communal spirit and values" (Dahlberg, 2001: 616) by supporting social cohesion and the formation of group identities (Freelon, 2010: 1180). In contrast, the liberal individualist model assesses the internet as a means through which individuals are able to exercise greater self-expression (Dahlberg, 2011: 857-858). Finally, the deliberative model, which is the line of enquiry this thesis follows, embraces the need for dialogue and difference, challenging the unitary stances of the other two models and opening the discussion to explore the potential of the internet as a space in which discourse can be undertaken (Dahlberg, 2001; Witschge, 2004; Friess and Eilders, 2015; Maia, 2018). Since the early 2000s, coinciding with the emergence of social media sites, it is the deliberative model that has become pre-eminent in online democratic theory (Wright and Street, 2007: 850; Bruns and Highfield, 2016; Chambers and Gastil, 2021).

Underlying the deliberative model is the work of Jürgen Habermas (1989) - particularly his concept of the 'public sphere', in which citizens can engage in 'rational-critical' debate. For Habermas, rational-critical debate is the product of a space (the public sphere) that is openly accessible to citizens, disregards status, and allows dialogue on cultural, social, and political issues (Chapter Three). This has obvious relevance to the internet and social media (Dahlgren, 2005; Fuchs, 2014; Ess, 2018). The deliberative model relies on Habermas' belief that, within such a space, humans – as rational beings (Dahlberg, 2005) - will use the public sphere to communicate with one another through an exchange of views and ideas to bring forward "a consensus about what [is] practically necessary in the interest of all" (Habermas, 1989: 83). Despite some criticisms of Habermas' public sphere, the concept of the sphere and how a space might cater for rational-critical debate has continued to form the basis for discussions around online deliberative democracy (Petley, 2012; Amiradakis, 2019; Hammond, 2019; Wahl-Jorgensen, 2019). His optimism is reflected in claims that "the public sphere of rational-discourse will be extended through cyberspace" (Dahlberg, 2001: 620), and anticipations of the "virtual reincarnation of the public sphere" through the internet and social media (Papacharissi, 2009: 231).

This thesis lacks the space and scope to do full justice to Habermas' extensive work on the public sphere – or to engage comprehensively with the

views of his critics. However, the significance of his contribution to the study of deliberative democracy gives rise to speculation about his assumptions of the demand for rational-critical debate in Twenty-First Century Britain and the opportunities the digital environment provides for the realisation of a public sphere. Whether evaluating the deliberate potential of the internet or social media sites, Habermas' 'public sphere' has become a representative term for an environment in which rational-critical debate occurs. Despite this, closer engagement with his work in the context of the internet and social media age is limited, despite being at the root of deliberative democratic theory.

Instead, the application of the term 'public sphere' has become increasingly generalised and passive as inquiries have turned to the activities of netizens which can be harmful to rational-critical debate, such as the spread of fake news or trolling, rather than recognising opportunities to utilise Habermas' work as a critical framework (Kruse et al., 2018; Bimber and Gil de Zúñiga, 2020). Significantly, such approaches overlook both the basis (institutional criteria) for Habermas' concept of the public sphere and, importantly, his recognition that there are challenges to the existence of the sphere. By returning to Habermas' original work, this thesis begins by contextualising the development of the internet and social media and evaluates their potential to support a public sphere (Chapter Three). Further engagement with his work identifies and examines factors Habermas considers potential challenges to the public sphere. These factors are also adopted as a framework to analyse the behaviours of the parties and candidates on the site during the 2015 general election campaign. If Habermas was right in his views about the human capacity for 'rational-critical' debate, the development of the internet (and particularly sites like Twitter) can be regarded as a means of putting his ideas to an empirical test. At the same time, academic literature on these issues continues to develop: firstly, in the growing importance of understanding the architecture of the online spaces and secondly, by recognising how a space is used, and within the context of its design architecture.

#### 2.2 The Plurality of Social Media

Taking initially the importance of the architecture of a space, the development of the internet led Habermas (2006: 415) to re-evaluate his perception of the public sphere, not as a homogenous space but rather as a complex web of networks. This shift in position was sparked by the expansion into a virtual world that moved beyond the physical spaces Habermas originally envisaged the public sphere to occupy (Sennett, 2013). This response to the introduction of the internet turned out to be pre-emptive of developments also occurring in literature on digital democracy. Indeed, the growth of social media has subsequently provoked growing criticism of attempts to apply Habermas' concept of the public sphere unilaterally across the internet and social media platforms (Freelon, 2015; Alexey, 2018). Central to this has been the recognition that the social media landscape is becoming increasingly diverse and fragmented as more and more platforms are created (Wright and Street, 2007; Bossetta, 2018).

As a result, the use of 'social media' as an umbrella term has come under increased scrutiny (Bossetta, 2018; Kreiss et al., 2018). While there is nothing inherently wrong with using the blanket term in certain contexts, the developing body of literature into social media sites and their use has led to growing recognition that not all sites are designed in the same way. Consequently, the potential and style of discourse the different sites support also varies. One such division concerns the distinction between social networking sites and social media sites (Oz et al., 2018). The former are built around community networking, the latter on information sharing. Notable examples of these are, respectively, Facebook and Twitter (Boukes, 2019). Comparisons between the designs of these two sites are explored further in Chapter Four, but fundamentally the architectures of the sites have evolved from different design ethos: one intended for connecting people and the other for disseminating information.

Bossetta's (2018) comparative look at four different social media during the 2016 US Election – Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat – highlights some of the core design differences between the sites and how they determine the ways in which netizens interact with the platforms. However, he also includes the caveat that "digital architectures alone cannot fully explain why or how political actors campaign on social media" (Bossetta, 2018: 474). This view connects to the earlier point raised regarding Habermas' concept of the public sphere – his assumption of the demand for rational-critical debate. It is not only important to understand the design of a space but also how it is utilised in practice. By recognising the design parameters of a site, it provides an architectural framework for analysis.

By pursuing a focused examination of a single site (Twitter) I can undertake an in-depth evaluation of its deliberative potential which in turn facilitates further investigations (Chapter Four). First, it provides a framework for understanding how the parties and candidates engaged with Twitter during their 2015 election campaigns, such as which features they used. Second, it sets important parameters for evaluating to what extent the democratic potential of the site is realised to evaluate *how* the features were used (Chapter Five).

So far, I have introduced Habermas as providing an important theoretical framework for my approach and outlined two key aspects of my research (1) investigating deliberative potential of the Twitter (2) examining the use of the site by parties and candidates in 2015. The following two sections of this chapter outline the interest in using the 2015 election as a case study, academic literature on the growing use of Twitter as campaign tool, how this has informed further research questions, and the rationale for pursuing a qualitative approach in the research.

#### 2.3 The 2015 UK General Election

While Habermas' public sphere provides the theoretical framework for this thesis, the case study is of the 2015 UK general election. By their very nature, each election has its own context and set of issues (Bossetta, 2018). We can still form a comparative outlook across elections, for example by examining patterns in voting behaviour, campaign spending, and campaign messaging. However, 2015 election was uniquely placed as the junction between pre-social media electioneering (the 2010 election was widely considered a non-social media election – Chapter Four) and established social media campaigning. At the time, the UK parties were still being forced to improvise their response to new technology, whereas in the later campaigns (2017 and 2019) they had a much better grasp of its practical impact (Dommett and Temple, 2018; Nizzoli et al., 2021). Since, the 2015 election Twitter also has been popularised as a valuable tool for disruptors such as Donald Trump, Len McCluskey, and Dominic Cummings.

Although a body of work was already developing around social media by 2015, in more general discussion of election campaigns, 'media' was still dominated by the traditional, offline formats and 'social media' continued to be widely referred to as a unitary medium. Indeed, in Cowley and Kavanagh's 2015 iteration of the *British General Election* series, social media is given little attention and Twitter only referenced once. Social media is more widely referenced in the 2017 version, as it became an apparent mainstay in campaigning, and the recognition was further upgraded in the 2019 contribution in the chapter 'Fragmented and Polarised: Broadcasting and Social Media' (Ford et al., 2021)<sup>1</sup>. In respect of social media, 2015 was the year of improvisation rather than conscious adaptation by political parties who had found it hard enough to adjust to the replacement of 'Fleet Street' by the dominance of television and the tabloid newspapers. However, it is equally

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Twitter appeared in the index a total of 3 time in the 2017 version and was often referenced in relation to the use of digital campaigning; the social media campaigns were more widely recognised than in 2015 and integrated into discussions about the campaign methods (for example, see Chapter 12 Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (2018) 'Targeted (and Untargeted) Local Campaigning'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2017.* Cham: Palgrave Macmillan, ). Similarly, Chapter 13 (Cushion, S. & Beckett, C. Ibid.'Campaign Coverage and Editorial Judgements: Broadcasting'. ) spoke about social media challenging the norms of the broadcast media. In comparison, the 2015 version, as side from the occasional sidenote, dedicated little more than two pages to the social media campaigns (see Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (2016b) 'Roads and Car Crashes: The Election Approaches'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2015.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.150, 152-153) which were otherwise mentioned in passing.

profitable to analyse the ways in which the main UK parties improvised under the pressure of change than to assess their reaction to changes which had already taken place.

It has been argued that research during election periods is bound to furnish a distorted picture of the role of social media – an unrepresentative 'screenshot' grabbed at an unusual time (Wright, 2012: 245). However, this line of enquiry reflects the growing body of work on social media use during election campaigns. Far from being unrepresentative occasions, general elections (and referendums on highly controversial issues) are precisely the kind of occasions which cast the most vivid light on the health of liberal democracy in a state like the United Kingdom. After all, at such times there *should* be maximum engagement between parties, candidates, and the public on sites like Twitter, which present minimal barriers to communication (Bossetta, 2018; Boukes, 2019). Indeed, the 2015 general election is itself an interesting and unique period to study.

# 2.4 Campaigning on Twitter: The need for a more qualitative approach

Between the 2010 and 2015 UK general elections Twitter emerged as a "pervasive tool in election campaigning" and with more members of the public, politicians, and political candidates joining the site it has likewise become an increasingly popular subject for research (Jungherr, 2016: 72). From this field, three main areas of investigation into campaigning emerged: the use of the platform by political parties and candidates, use by netizens during the

campaign, and engagement with the site during mediated events (Jungherr, 2016: 74, 76). It was also during this period, as social media became more prominent, that a trend emerged towards quantitative methods and 'big data' as it became possible to collect and analyse data on a large scale from online platforms.

Investigations into the use of the site by political parties and candidates up to and including the 2015 election have primarily been case studies focused on categorising tweets in relation to their function. On the one hand this has been presented as an overview of the employment of the site's features such as hashtags and @-replies (Adams and McCorkindale, 2013; Bruns and Highfield, 2013; Graham et al., 2014). On the other there have been attempts to categorise the 'type' of tweets based on content, such as 'campaign tweets', 'broadcasting' and 'interacting' (Jackson and Lilleker, 2011; Graham et al., 2013; Evans et al., 2014; Graham et al., 2014; Kruikemeier, 2014; Southern and Lee, 2019). However, across this literature there is little cohesion between these two points of investigation (features and content) or detailed engagement with the social media content. This raises questions regarding the extent to which the parties and candidates engaged with different campaign issues in the 2015 general election: how often they tweeted about different issues and what messages were conveyed to the electorate through Twitter. Instead, a commonality across the research has been the growing reliance on quantitative data to illustrate party and candidate activity on the site. However, as I will discuss, this has hindered our understanding of the use of the site as a campaign tool during the 2015 election.

19

The movement towards a quantitative approach has been led by scholars such as Alex Pentland (2015: 16) who argue for 'social physics' – the use a mathematics to understand the major driver of human habits and norms (Harari et al., 2017). Central to social physics is the reliance on large-scale, probabilistic quantitative analysis, an approach that has become more prominent is in the field of online political communication as the data-mining and analysis software has continued to develop (Mahmoodi et al., 2017). Early uses include attempts to forecast election outcomes based on Twitter traffic (Tumasjan et al., 2011; Burnap et al., 2016; Keller and Kleinen-von Königslöw, 2018; Bright et al., 2020)F. More recently, during election time, it has become common to collect tweets connected to the official election hashtags as a way of mining and analysing big data to identify popular topics during election campaigns (Cram et al., 2017; Ginnis and Miller, 2017; Segesten and Bossetta, 2017) or to monitor reaction on the site during an election debate (Vaccari et al., 2015; Gorkovenko and Taylor, 2017; Robertson et al., 2019).

However, the reliance on quantitative data limits how far investigations can go into the use of Twitter by political parties and candidates as a campaign tool. The aforementioned literature's reliance on quantitative data forms an introductory overview of the use of the site but does not go on to engage fully with how the platform was used in the respective elections. More recent attempts to integrate quantitative data into social media use by parties and candidates during election campaigns have consequently taken a turn to focus more on network connections and information flow rather than engaging with content posted by the parties and candidates (Himelboim et al., 2017; Boulianne, 2020; Esteve Del Valle et al., 2021). There are some clear benefits in taking a quantitative approach; aside from the volume of data than can now be collected and analysed, it can be a useful tool for identifying patterns in online behaviour. However, the aim of this thesis is to develop a greater understanding of how the parties and candidates engaged with and utilised the site during the 2015 UK general election. In order to do this, it is important to consider the context of the election and the explore the nuances of the online campaigns. For example, how did the parties structure their online campaigns? How did they engage with the different election issues? I argue that these patterns can be extracted with quantitative data (and be useful indictors) but are not an end in themselves. Instead, they should be used to provide a useful framework for content which can then be examined more indepth (Gerring, 2008; Fountaine, 2017; Pal and Gonawela, 2017). As such, I combine the two methods, using quantitative data to highlight patterns in behaviour supplemented by a qualitive exploration and analysis of the content.

In addition to my methodological preference to take a more qualitative approach to this thesis, there were also practical limitations to consider in terms of resources. Most importantly are those concerning the limitations to access of Twitter data. Since 2011 there have been restrictions placed on the volume of Twitter traffic that can be collected per day, with the company essentially commodify access to data (Felt, 2016: 2). This has proven to become a barrier to political scientists, especially those, like myself, with limited funding and resources. Therefore, it has also restricted my ability to pursue certain avenues of enquiry such as exploring public reaction on the site, for example, to compare with content posted from the parties' Twitter accounts. Despite these limitations however, the available data created an opportunity to pursue a gap in the literature and move beyond what remained a predominantly quantitative approach to this field of research and expand into a more in-depth examination of content.

With the desire to move away from the quantitative approach, using Habermas' work as a theoretical framework complemented the desire for developing a more in-depth investigation. Notably, this relates to, Habermas' (1989: see Chapter 6) recognition of factors that could challenge the existence of the public sphere. For example, the influence of economic considerations (such as the use of advertising) and the behaviours of the political actors within the space, such as the use of representative and manipulated publicity – presenting ideas to the electorate as if acting on their behalf but without engaging in rational-critical debate. Unlike the quantitative approach, this invites an examination of how the parties and candidates used the features of the site and how they presented the content to the electorate, for example, agendasetting (Chapter Six).

Some of these behaviours have already been recognised in relation to online marketing and the obtrusive and increasing 'consumer culture' across the internet, but there is scope for further discourse as these have not been fully extended into the study of political communication (Lees-Marshment, 2009; Warner, 2015). Instead, academic discussion (as well as media reporting) has remained broadly focused on the potential infringements of key liberaldemocratic principles by internet companies and concerns around data protection, highlighted by the Facebook-Cambridge Analytica scandal uncovered in 2018 (Ahmed et al., 2017; Cadwalladr and Graham-Harrison, 2018). In comparison, the intention of this thesis is to examine parties' and candidates' utilisation of Twitter and the opportunities the space provides. As I explore further in Chapter Three, these challenges outlined by Habermas provide a useful framework through which to examine the behaviours exhibited on Twitter by the parties and candidates. Further factors that influenced my decision, including practical considerations, will be outlined in the next section.

#### 2.5 Data

Ultimately, the thesis analyses what has been presented to the electorate; what the parties and candidates chose to include in their campaigns. The purpose of the data collected for this thesis is to allow an examination of the parties' and candidates' output on Twitter rather than of the institutional processes behind the decision-making, or the personnel involved in the production of the tweets. This follows the approach taken by previous commentators on social media and the 2015 general election literature. Future research could usefully incorporate interviews with candidates to understand the motives of their social media campaigns. However, the current thesis is more concerned with social media output rather than the motives of individual participant.

The data was collected during the short campaign period (from 30 March 2015 to the end of 6 May 2015). Tweets (including @-reply) from the official party Twitter accounts of the Conservatives (@Conservatives), Labour (@UKLabour), Liberal Democrats (@LibDems), and UKIP (@UKIP) were collected and analysed through NVivo (see Chapter Six, section 6.2). The official party accounts rather than the official press office accounts, such as the Conservatives' CCHQ Press account (@CCHQ) or Labour Press

(@LabouPress) as the former were more actively utilised for campaigning and are considered the 'main' accounts with more followers. The Twitter data of 133 candidates standing across 45 marginal constituencies was also analysed (see **Appendix 1.** And Chapter Seven, section 7.3). In total 5,620 tweets from the parties' pages and 16,549 tweets from candidates' pages were analysed<sup>2</sup>. All data was collected through Nvivo with Nvivo Capture and were analysed manually. The decision to manually code the data was influenced by the direction of the thesis: to follow a more qualitative route. As I will outline later, this proved to be a beneficial decision, but it did limit the volume of tweets I could realistically code.

As such, the research has intentionally focused on the social media output of candidates standing in target seats (assessed by marginality). The rationale behind this was that as local resources for constituency campaigning have been in decline the national campaigns have become more involved, blurring the line between the national and local (Fisher and Denver, 2009; Pattie et al., 2017; Pattie et al., 2019). Consequently, most of these resources have been directed towards marginal seats. This encourages examination of the balance between local and national campaigning by candidates standing in target seats. If Twitter provides the opportunities for deliberative democracy, the marginals will provide an insight into how the candidates used these opportunities in their 2015 campaigns. In order to pursue this line of enquiry I wanted to explore to what extent and how the candidates' and parties' pages differed in their use of the Twitter features and their content output.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Each of the relevant chapters provides a further breakdown of data analysis for each section (see 6.2 and 7.3).

Primarily, I wanted to alter the approach to content analysis and move away from typology, instead framing the content in terms of election issues. This was influenced in part by Gaber's (2016: 604) article which sought to establish "to what extent [the] Twitter issues agenda reflect[s] that of other media and of the public?". One of the points raised in this was the connection between public opinion and social media output, using opinion poll data to identify and rank the salience of issues. Gaber's research was limited as it only offered an introductory overview of issues covered on Twitter by political parties, although it did indicate some correlation across the parties' accounts on the relative tweet coverage given to the top issues. Therefore, there was an opportunity to take this even further and examine in more detail the coverage of election issues on Twitter looking at public opinion data alongside the issue agendas of the parties and candidates, all within the context of the 2015 general election.

To provide the initial framework for this part of the analysis, the content was coded against the issues listed in the YouGov (2015c) opinion survey asking respondents which issues they thought were the most important facing the country at the time. The results of the three polls taken during the short campaign period were aggregated to provide a final ranking of the issues by salience, presented as a comparative percentage (see Appendix 2). This provided the basis from which to compare content coverage by the different accounts.

However, in keeping with a more qualitative approach it was also to be able to react to findings in the data rather than relying only on a rigid coding system. Through manually coding the data, it was possible to identify and respond to other patterns that emerged within the different issues and explore how the parties and candidates engaged with them. This was particularly useful when examining the candidates' activities on the site as it highlighted attempts at personalisation by taking a local perspective on issues or pursuing inherently local concerns. It allowed a more detailed investigation, beyond the statistics, of how the candidates engaged with the election issues in relation to the national parties. Similarly, it provided an insight into how far the candidates engaged with and balanced the local and national campaigns on the site.

#### 2.6 Summary

In this chapter I have outlined a line of enquiry that I deem most appropriate to develop a greater understanding of how parties and candidates used Twitter during the 2015 UK general election. The research was informed by the study of online deliberative democracy. I argue that contextualising the online space is an important part of understanding its deliberative potential and Habermas' institutional criteria form a sound basis for this analysis. Twitter has its own design architecture which sets the parameters of its deliberative potential, and it is within this framework that the parties and candidates use of the site should be analysed.

I have presented the 2015 UK general election as a key case study in the development of social media election campaigning in Britain. The existing literature on this period, however, has been focused on quantitative data at the expense of in-depth content analysis which has led to a gap in understanding as to how the parties and candidates conducted their campaigns on the site. A
# **Chapter Three: Habermas and the Public Sphere**

This thesis examines the behaviour of political parties and candidates on Twitter during the 2015 UK general election. This chapter begins the discussion by engaging with Habermas' (1989) concept of 'the public sphere', which has been central to the discourse on a space's deliberative potential (Dahlberg, 2001; Fuchs, 2014). In this chapter, I revisit Habermas' (1989) original thesis of the public sphere, including his (2006: 415) later amendments to his original view of the sphere as a homogenous environment. The institutional criteria which underpin the public sphere – *access, status,* and *common concern* – are explored in detail, highlighting key criticisms of the original thesis. During this process, I expand on these criteria to consider them in the context of the internet and social media to assess how far they can be transferred to the online environment and to what extent the virtual space can provide answers to Habermas' critics.

The second half of this chapter more closely examines the challenges Habermas identified to the existence of the public sphere and which he attributed to its decline through a process he termed 'refeudalisation'. It maps the main obstacles Habermas identified to public sphere and the provision of rational critical debate through a growing 'consumer culture', the mass media, state actors, and the 'manipulation' of public opinion. I also analyse if, and how, these factors may also affect the virtual environment.

### 3.1 Habermas' Public Sphere

In The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere, Habermas (1989) outlines the development and key formative elements of the public sphere of the political realm as well as the factors which led to its decline. The public sphere came into being as a public arena in which private persons could engage in rational-critical debate. Habermas (1989: 30) identifies two pre-existing domains as preceding the emergence of this sphere in the eighteenth century: the private realm and the sphere of state authority. The former consisted of private individuals within the conjugal family's internal space (the household), commodity exchange (such as markets), and social labour. The latter comprised the state and the courts (or the courtly-noble society of the eighteenth century). The bourgeois public sphere developed from the private realm, an environment which fostered discussions of the arts, literary works, and politics, though one where such dialogues were limited to private spaces such as drawing rooms, amongst friends and acquaintances. The movement of such debates into public spaces heralded the beginnings of the public sphere and the eventual formation of the political public sphere.

The emergence of the public sphere in the world of letters marked the first stage in the creation on the political public sphere (Habermas, 1989: 29). In an apolitical sphere, the discussions focused on cultural commodities – art and literature – but were freed from the confines of private settings. This literary public sphere drew in much of the courtly-noble society as it became more distanced from the state and greater rational-critical debate developed amongst those in the sphere. The 'town', with its coffee houses and salons, provided a space in which these members of the courtly-noble society could converse with

bourgeois intellectuals, bridging a gap between different sections of society and beginning the formation of the new, bourgeois public sphere (Habermas, 1989: 30).

However, despite providing an initial point of contact, the late seventeenth- and eighteenth- century coffee houses and salons which originally acted as the great "centers (sic) of criticism" fell to the wayside with the emergence of print media (Habermas, 1989: 32). Print media offered new ways in which ideas could be shared amongst a wide group of individuals. In the mid eighteenth century, articles written by scholars were increasingly circulated in periodicals. At the same time, the content also shifted to become more political, engaging with topics which previously had been restricted to the private realm. For the first time, private persons could participate in public rational-critical debate on the activities of the state. Thus, the public sphere in the political realm emerged, acting as an arena for debate as well as both a source of and vehicle for public opinion and bridging the gap between private individuals and the state.

Habermas saw the public sphere as a homogenous entity formed from a single public (Fraser, 1990: 62; Knapp, 1997; Warner, 2002). This assumption of uniformity within the sphere was open to question, especially as technology developed and created more diverse ways in which information could be provided, exchanged, and discussed (Dahlberg, 2005: 112; Chadwick, 2013). However, Habermas (2006: 415) later amended his position to recognise the public sphere as "rooted in networks", multiple in number and part of a complex, overlapping system (Dahlberg, 2005: 112). He acknowledged that sources had become increasingly varied throughout the twentieth century: news,

commentaries, film and television, and others created heterogenous audiences and multiple subcultures, but which were all part of the vast web constituting the public sphere (Habermas, 2006: 415; Shirky, 2011; Bruns and Highfield, 2016). Although Habermas only briefly acknowledges this change, perhaps seeing it as inconsequential to the overall concepts behind the public sphere, it has both allowed and encouraged investigation into different types of public spheres. The amendment acknowledges and accepts that the development of new technologies has contributed to the emergence of online public spheres which vary in characteristics depending on the environment in which information is exchanged, such as Twitter or Facebook (Warner, 2002; Wright and Street, 2007; Freelon, 2015; Oz et al., 2018). Despite his acceptance of such a network of publics, Habermas still maintained that three institutional criteria must be met to constitute a public sphere.

#### 3.1.1 The Institutional Criteria of the Public Sphere

Fundamental to Habermas' conception of the public sphere was the requirement of rational-critical debate, whereby citizens use their reason to engage in discussions. Although a "state-governed public sphere" (the public sphere in the world of letters) in which the citizenry acted "in common" for "properly political tasks", such as the administration of the law and military survival, had existed previously, this sphere had shifted in the late seventeenth century to encompass "the more properly civic tasks of a society engaged in critical public debate (i.e. the protection of a commercial economy)" (Habermas, 1989: 50-1). Despite the absence of democratic institutions, the citizenry was starting to engage with a greater breadth of state activities, looking for

emancipation from the directives of public authorities, and subjecting the system of government to rational critique.

Habermas (1989: 36-37) associated three key institutional criteria with the public sphere: the "disregard of status", acting as a "domain of common concern", and being "inclusive". For the first, Habermas argued that to achieve rational-critical debate, the public sphere must suspend hierarchies (social and economic) and treat all those participating as equals upon entering the sphere, allowing arguments to be judged on merit rather than an individual's standing. Secondly, the domain of common concern referred to the shift from a passive civil society to one which challenged the regulative role of public authorities, such as in governing commodity exchange and social labour, domains which had previously existed unquestioned. Finally, the notion of inclusivity (qualified by Habermas to mean inclusive "in principle"), required that, however exclusive the public sphere appeared at any one moment, it could not become wholly exclusive (Habermas, 1989: 37). The opportunity for economic and social mobility safeguarded the potential to access the sphere and meant that it would never be entirely cut off as a "clique" from the rest of society (Habermas, 1989: 37, 85).

## 3.1.2 Challenges to the Public Sphere

Habermas also observed growing challenges to the public sphere during the mid-nineteenth century, for which he laid the blame at the door of the state and the emerging mass media. This process of decline was termed 'refeudalisation', which produced a "pseudo-public sphere" and "manipulated public opinion",

both of which maintained an appearance of public deliberation but were without the rational-critical debate which characterised Habermas' public sphere and the public opinion gave rise to (Habermas, 1989: 162, 239). For Habermas (1989: 122-123), refeudalisation marked a return to the approximate conditions of the feudal state through the blurring of the divisions between state and society, public and private. He observed a return of 'representative publicity', insofar as the state (previously embodied in the monarch and nobility) merely displayed its power before the people without engaging in political discourse. This was juxtaposed with the use of 'public representation': the state referring to the addressees as "the public" for the first time, to create the illusion of representing public opinion (Habermas, 1989: 189). From the beginning of the twentieth century, public relations also became an increasingly common feature of the public sphere, disrupting the process of public opinion through manipulation and promotion. Along with public representation, public relations were another method for generating the illusion of collaboration with the citizens that was, in reality, virtually non-existent.

Habermas' key criticism of mass media focused on its role in transforming the public from citizens engaged in rational-critical debate to unthinking consumers (Warner, 2015: 285). Mass media had given rise to advertising, advertising specialists, and professional political journalists. Habermas saw these attributes as severely damaging to the key principles of the public sphere, such as rational-critical debate and the disregard of status. Because ... Ironically, whilst Habermas had claimed early capitalism had overturned the feudal system by the late 1600s through the "traffic in commodities and news" with the production of journals and periodicals, as well as a growing trade in mailing pamphlets alongside private letters, he also later attributed these developments to contributing to the refeudalisation of the public sphere (Habermas, 1989: 15). As increasing value was placed on news as a commodity, mass media emerged, and the capitalist system expanded and flourished, contributing to further commodification. All these aspects contributed to the emergence of a 'pseudo-public sphere' and 'manipulated public opinion', threats to the public sphere which this chapter investigates in detail in the context of social media. I first explore the institutional criteria presented by Habermas, highlighting key criticisms of his work, and considering how the development of the internet and social media fit within this framework. Rephrase is more critical later.

# 3.2 Access

Habermas (1989: 85) stipulated that "the public sphere of civil society stood or fell with the principle of universal access". This qualification did not require the inclusion of *all* individuals as members of the public sphere at any given time but rather that the sphere "could never close itself off entirely" from the rest of society as there existed an assurance of the *potential* for citizens to gain access (Habermas, 1989: 36). To support this view, Habermas distinguished between the limitations placed on access which arose from the institution of the public sphere versus those driven by the external structures of civil society which undermined the principle of universal access. He used this distinction to explain his otherwise exclusive public which was formed from the "propertied and educated bourgeoisie" (Habermas, 1989: 85; Fraser, 1990; Garnham, 1992). Habermas (1989: 86) further argued that whilst an individual's

economic situation determined their levels of education, this represented "the mere legal ratification[s] of status obtained economically in the private sphere" and so did not make the public sphere institutionally exclusive. For instance, Habermas (1989: 37-38) saw the restrictions on access to resources such as education, literature, and higher educational institutions on the basis of financial limitations as the product of the class structures of the time (namely the eighteenth, nineteenth, and early twentieth centuries) rather than an inherent issue with the institution of the public sphere. However, he argued that despite these unavoidable external impediments and however exclusive the public sphere may be at any one moment, the safeguarding of the principle of universal access, or the *potential* for access, was ultimately assured by fluid economic and social conditions which "gave everyone an equal chance to meet the criteria for admission" (Habermas, 1989: 86).

Despite Habermas' careful use of terminology and insistence upon the lack of institutional exclusivity in the public sphere, his argument was heavily criticised. For example, Habermas' nostalgia for the eighteenth century bourgeois public sphere was chastised for its selective membership, which consisted of white bourgeois men (Fraser, 1990; Garnham, 1992: 360). Critics also challenged that his assertion of the existence of fluid economic and social status as opportunities for entrance to the public sphere was severely limited for many citizens. Nancy Fraser (1990: 63), a longstanding critic of the exclusivity of Habermas' public sphere, observed the existence of "formal exclusions" on the grounds of gender, finance, and race which transcended Habermas' mentions of education and property. For Fraser (1990: 63), gender status excluded women regardless of class and ethnicity, property requirements

eliminated "white plebeian men", and exclusion on racial grounds superseded both gender and class. Indeed, in the eighteenth century, many of these formal impediments existed and even continued into later centuries. However, Fraser (1990: 63) acknowledged that by the end of the twentieth century, such formal exclusions had been all but broken down, and she recognised this as a product of the fluid economic and social conditions for which Habermas had accounted.

Despite these changes, social mobility did not remove prejudices arising from protocols and decorum-created hierarchies, which acted as "informal impediments" within the sphere which bracketed groups rather than excluding them in the formal sense (Fraser, 1990: 63). This highlights the importance of distinguishing between two different points of exclusion: access to the public sphere versus hierarchies within it. Fraser challenged the idea that status could be disregarded, even in a formally non-exclusionary sphere. Informal exclusion is discussed in the next section on status, but the existence of formal exclusions in a social media context must be analysed first.

Even setting aside changes in societal structures and attitudes, digital public spheres face their own structural challenges in ensuring their accessibility to the public. As we will see, the fluid nature of technology has helped open these spheres towards achieving nearer universal access. Though the society has changed and the technologies have developed much faster than Habermas could have conceived, their progression followed similar patterns to those he envisaged (Warner, 2015: 288). For example, young, white, male professionals with a high income and education levels dominated the demographics of those with initial internet access (Margolis and Resnick, 2000; Norris, 2001: 77-86). For the most part, this access stayed solely within professional environments

until the creation of the World Wide Web in 1989 began the move towards a more accessible, multimedia online environment which accommodated the needs and abilities of those outside university and business settings (Margolis and Resnick, 2000: 4).

Even so, by the end of the 1990s, the demographics of internet access had changed little (Margolis and Resnick, 2000: 4), and only a minority of UK households (just 25% in 2000) possessed their own internet connection (Office for National Statistics [ONS], 2017a). This figure increased drastically in the early twenty-first century, doubling by 2005, reaching 57% in 2006 when Twitter was launched, and growing to 86% of British households by 2015 (ONS, 2017a). These figures not only illustrate the prevalence of internet access in British homes but also the speed at which it became a common household fixture. In addition to household internet, the later ability to access the internet 'on the go' through mobile devices, mobile internet data, and free Wi-Fi hotspots in public places (such as town squares, coffee shops, and on public transport) has created a society in which individuals are heavily connected to the internet but do not necessarily need broadband in their own homes. The ease of internet use is reflected by its continued incorporation into many aspects of life such as communication, consumer habits, banking, and media. Despite this upsurge in use, some barriers to universally equal access still exist, including socioeconomic status and age (linked to computer literacy); others have argued that personal preference and a lack of interest can also explain why some choose not to make use of the internet (ONS, 2017a; Thuermer et al., 2018: 288).

Two opposing schools of thought have emerged on the expected impact of the internet on the relationship amongst socio-economic status, access, and engagement (DiMaggio et al., 2001). On the one hand, the internet represented a way to close the gap between the information- (and socio-economic) rich and poor (Rheingold, 1993; Anderson et al., 1997), whilst on the other hand, some believed the internet would merely exacerbate existing divisions (Margolis and Resnick, 2000; Norris, 2001). The demographics of early access demonstrated the prevalence of division, reflected by not only the socio-economic and information rich-poor gaps but also differences on the grounds of gender and race (ONS, 2017a). Research conducted in the early 2000s supported the notion that the internet exacerbated pre-existing divisions, finding that the majority of those with home internet access were of high socio-economic status (Gibson et al., 2005: 563).

However, supporting patterns in Habermas's argument of an 'open' public sphere, access became much more inclusive over time. In part this was due to the cost of accessing the internet declining, and both the software and hardware becoming more user-friendly (Norris, 2001: 28, 30). A pattern then emerged: the more users who paid to access the internet, the more costs could fall, which in turn would entice more new users, and only when demand reached a point of saturation would the percentage of households online begin to plateau (Norris, 2001: 30). The implications of this process were reflected in the steady reduction of those who listed the cost of equipment or access (telephone, broadband subscription) as the reason for not having internet connection in their home (ONS, 2017a). Even well into the twenty-first century, these numbers continued to fall, declining from an already relatively low 18% and 15%, respectively, in 2010 to 8% six years later (ONS, 2017).

Moreover, 2010 also saw a shift in dialogue about the impact of socioeconomic status in determining internet access; the focus instead moved to the relationship between socio-economic status and the level of political participation once online (Gibson et al., 2010; Thuermer et al., 2018). However, this change should not be interpreted as reflecting the attainment of real-time universal access; rather, the share of households with internet access has plateaued around 90%, which has been explained by factors other than socio-economic status.

Household demographics, specifically the number and ages of people residing in the home, highlight other factors which influenced uptake. Nearly all those with children (97%) were connected, but access of single-occupancy households (where only one adult resided at the address) fluctuated greatly depending on age (ONS, 2017). For such households containing an adult aged 65 or over, the figure fell to 49%, compared to 80% of those in single-adult households in the 16–64-year bracket (ONS, 2017). This age gap is primarily linked to computer literacy, with lack of skill representing the second-most common reason citizens did not use the internet – 21% in 2015 (ONS, 2017). As the internet has become a more integrated part of life, schools have encouraged its use for the completion of homework, educating pupils in internet safety and providing them with the foundational knowledge necessary to function in an increasingly online world. The COVID-19 pandemic had also thrown the reliance on internet access in for teaching into sharper relief as school pupils and university students spent much of the 2020-21 academic year taking online classes. The reliance on internet access in education not only at least partially explains the greater likelihood that households with children have internet access but also why the generation gap became so pronounced. Despite this gap, as observed by the overall household access statistics, there has been a continued trend for the age-related gaps to close, albeit more slowly than with overall household access. Efforts to encourage uptake amongst older generations have been undertaken, in part due to the necessity of internet literacy when living in a technology-driven world. However, computer literacy does not represent the only reason citizens choose not to use the internet. As the following paragraphs explore, personal preference and disability are two other factors that determine whether an individual is 'online'.

The most common reason given in the survey for being offline (53% of the respondents without household internet in 2015), was occupants' views that they did not need it, either because they did not see it as useful, or they lacked interest (ONS, 2017). Even as overall internet access has increased, this reason has remained the most common explanation for citizens being unconnected, accounting for more than 50% of non-users since 2011 and increasing to over 60% of offline households in 2017 (ONS, 2017). Although some citizens are still unable to access the internet due to other factors such as a physical or sensorial disability (Dobransky and Hargittai, 2016), the statistics indicate that the potential for access is more or less universal (ONS, 2017a). However, access cannot be assumed to automatically translate into participation in online debates.

This latter point illustrates the important secondary distinction between Habermas' interpretation of the *opportunity* to engage in rational-critical debate and the *choice* to access the public sphere. For example, a 2015 survey found that that 86% of households had access to the internet, but only 57% utilised it for social networking (ONS, 2017a). Despite the ability to access social media sites, not everyone wishes to do so, and even under the umbrella of social media, a range of platforms exist, including Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube. These variations in choice led Habermas (2006: 415) to acknowledge that the public sphere is formed of a network of networks, of which social media comprise just one branch. The range of platforms also allows individuals access to a variety of specific networks to which they can choose to connect or not. Indeed, Habermas' qualification of the public sphere supporting the *potential* for universal access might be better (and less controversially) applied to the online context.

#### 3.3 Status

Once the public sphere had been accessed, Habermas (1989: 36) stipulated that "far from presupposing the equality of status, [it] disregarded status altogether". This indifference would ensure that debates would be conducted and decided on merit alone rather the economic and social positions of the participants. Those who convened as the public would do so as "private gentlemen" and discuss amongst themselves on a level of "common humanity" (Habermas, 1989: 36). Their positions as private persons would represent their only badge of identification; positions of public office had no place in the sphere and would not command an automatic assumption of authority. Similarly, economic status based on income or occupation would not play a role as only the quality of debate mattered in the sphere. In short, the public sphere would naturally function as a meritocracy whereby, regardless of status, there would be both the "opportunity and mobility for 'talent' to combine with 'effort' in order

to 'rise to the top'" (Littler, 2017: 1). However, Habermas (1989: 36) was aware that this ideal of the public sphere had not been fully "realized in the coffee houses, the *salons*, and the societies" of the eighteenth century, the centres of criticism which had originally informed his ideas. Rather, he argued that the *idea* of equality within the public sphere had become institutionalised which was "at least consequential" to opportunities provided for citizens engaging in discourse (Habermas, 1989: 36).

The concept of a disregard for status has since re-emerged as a focal point of debate amongst scholars who regard social media as providing opportunities for political discourse to take place on a level playing field for users. Individuals such as Howard Rheingold (1993), Clay Shirky (2011), and former Member of Parliament (MP) Douglas Carswell (2012) saw the internet and social media as offering a significant challenge to the monopoly of the elite (though they could, of course, be replaced by new elites) by giving a platform to otherwise marginalised voices. In contrast, Margolis and Resnick (2000) doubted that the use of the internet would bring any meaningful change to political communication, whilst Fraser's (1990) concerns about the informal barriers foreshadowed the emergence of new hierarchies from within the sphere. In this section I briefly examine Habermas's notion of the disregard of status in the context of social media sites. This is followed by an analysis of how status has influenced online participation in relation to different demographic groups. The focus then shifts to the status of celebrity and how it has both permeated the social media sphere and emerged from within it.

Social media sites are created and designed around the publication of user-generated content. The sites provide platforms through which users can

42

create and share content, engage with other users, or both, all within a virtual environment. Twitter, for example, was designed around the sharing of news content, providing a way to connect individuals and create dialogues. As users engage through a virtual environment, the removal of the restrictions of time and space have made these platforms far less exclusive than in the offline world (Freelon, 2010). Without the need for physical encounters, and the time and resources this can entail, social media sites can connect people across countries and continents. This also lends itself to the idea of the disregard of status as it apparently removes the economic and practical barriers faced when individuals may wish, for example, to attend public meetings. As individuals are not disadvantaged by their geographical location, the sphere is more open and level. Twitter's design also seems more egalitarian as all users are given the same generic layout and character limit. In addition, use of the site had remained free, so it did not impose any financial restrictions by providing premium accounts that would cost money to use. The design architecture of Twitter, the site's key functions, and their implications on deliberation are examined in more detail in Chapter Four.

Initial concerns about socio-economic restrictions being accentuated online were tempered as the virtual environment developed. Rather than increasing barriers to participants, social media use was found to slightly lower the inhibitions to participate of those with lower levels of education or lower socio-economic status (Gibson et al 2005). This trend was not entirely uniform across the different groups as there was a less significant change in the percentage of women who engaged in more active forms of online participation (Gibson et al., 2005: 575-577). However, the research also demonstrated that there was no clear decline in female participation online compared to offline, and the pattern of behaviour was strongly linked to personal preference rather than recognised formal impediments on the part of the social media sites.

For proponents of social media who argue the sites provide platforms for citizens' voices, youth represented one of the key groups whose political participation on these sites markedly increased compared to their offline levels of engagement, in part due to their greater familiarity with the online world (Gibson et al., 2005; Steinberg, 2015). Though young people are regularly accused of apathy and lack of civic engagement, the internet has been shown to encourage higher levels of political participation, even if only online (Freelon, 2010). Overall, the evidence suggest social media has encouraged participation and removed some of the formal barriers which prevent some groups from greater involvement in offline discussions and actions. However, to develop the analysis, I explore informal barriers which have emerged across social media platforms. The realities of inequality and hierarchies within the social media sphere are examined through three key lenses: external hierarchies pervading the sphere (social inequality), the use of professionals and advertising (economic inequality), and the hierarchies which have emerged from within the public sphere.

Just a cursory glance at the list of accounts with most followers on Twitter, friends or likes on Facebook, or subscribers on YouTube most likely highlights familiar names from the worlds of entertainment and sport. These public figures' numbers of followers easily reach the tens of millions; in June 2017, for example, American singer Katy Perry became the first to exceed 100 million followers on Twitter (Bruner, 2017). Importantly, many of these accounts belong to individuals known to have a strong offline presence or following, which can positively impact the size of their online audience. For example, when Prime Minister David Cameron joined Twitter in 2012, he accumulated over 100,000 followers in the first week whilst only posting a few tweets.<sup>3</sup> A Twitter account with a large number of followers, or indeed of any numbers, cannot be assumed to be indicative of the individuals' abilities to engage in rational-critical debate. Nor does it necessarily indicate popularity, some Twitter accounts might be followed on the grounds of notoriety. However, if an individual is already wellknown offline it provides them with an existing audience with whom they can look to create a digital relationship with through social media. Chapters Five and Seven will examine patterns in follower data and status between celebrities, political commentators, political parties, and candidates.

Status is not only influenced by 'celebrity' but also offline economic status, which has become increasingly significant in social media. For example, the motivations behind the use of the social media site Instagram have moved towards the desire to create the 'perfect picture', which can often involve travelling to various (expensive) destinations. In one instance, an Australian woman admitted to accumulating over £5,000 worth of credit card debt to travel to Disneyland for "the perfect shot" for her Instagram followers (Newsbeat, 2019). Whilst there may have been multiple factors that influenced this individual's decision, such as the desire for social capital or the fulfilment of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This data was collected during the research for my undergraduate dissertation submitted in 2013, when I recorded weekly the number of followers and tweets posted by MPs who held Twitter accounts between 11 June 2012 and 23 December 2012. See Pillmoor (2013).

dream trip to Disneyland, it highlights how the aspiration to collect such images from various spots all over the world can become increasingly commodified.

More pertinent, however, is the growing presence of digital professionals and advertising into the social media sphere. Whilst Habermas did not foresee the infiltration of professionals, a business or individual can, with funding, use specialists to assist in creating their brand (a product or themselves) to attract online attention (Warner, 2015: 286). This moves the social media sphere into the business of online consumerism rather than rational-critical debate. It allows large companies or individuals with the necessary resources to advertise through personalised ads and 'pinned' search terms or topic areas to attract users' attention, undermining the concept of a level playing field. A comparison of the use of resources by the UK political parties in their online activities on Twitter is performed in Chapter Four.

However, financial advantages and hierarchies can also be created internally. This will be discussed in the context of the rise of social media 'influencers'. In Habermas' outline of the public sphere, he overlooks the emergence of internal hierarchies, despite acknowledging the lack of realisation of a universal disregard of status. He did not develop his ideas to consider the tensions that could arise between his concept of a disregard of status upon entry to the public sphere and the impact of the hierarchies that form *within* the sphere, akin to the informal barriers outlined by Fraser (1990). These hierarchies are clearly illustrated in the virtual environment though the rise of social media 'influencers', a term which has become increasingly prominent over the last decade. Influencers are individuals who use social media sites to engage with and shape the attitudes of an audience, building up credibility through the platforms, often by relying on 'authenticity' in their presentation and reach (Taylor and Harris, 2008; Lou and Yuan, 2019). In this instance, influencers not only create a higher status for themselves within the sphere but also turn themselves (as a brand) into a commodity, feeding into the profession of advertising in the sphere and agenda- (or trend-) setting. However, as I discuss, the rise of influencers can itself be an indication of a level playing field.

A key attraction of social media platforms has been the new opportunities they provide for users to reach a wider audience (Lipsman et al., 2012; Fuller and Roy-Chowdhuri, 2018). For some netizens, social media sites are platforms on which they can display their talents in the hope of attracting sufficient attention across the original site, and even beyond the virtual environment, to gain the attention of others in relevant industries. Canadian singer-songwriters Justin Bieber and The Weeknd are examples of individuals who used YouTube to display their musical abilities and, based on these, attracted an online following and wider exposure. Through the site, they were also noticed by and gained the support of music industry heavyweights, including Usher and Drake, respectively, and subsequently went on to sign record deals (Lentz, 2019). These examples demonstrate how social media has the potential to help individuals 'rise to the top' and achieve 'celebrity' status based on their abilities. However, not everyone who is able to gain traction on social media does so to develop a career away from these platforms.

In the world of social media influencers, there are those who continue to base their careers on social media platforms. UK-based Zoe 'Zoella' Sugg represents one of the earliest and better-known examples and someone who became a millionaire in her twenties. Sugg started her social media career with her online 'blog' in 2009, primarily based around fashion and beauty products (often picked up at car boot sales for minimal cost), before expanding to a YouTube channel the same year (Ford, 2014). Through YouTube, Sugg started posting 'vlog' reviews of her favourite products and was able to connect with other users in a way which caught and maintained the attention of viewers and subscribers. In this respect, her 'talent' for identifying relatable content and personable engagement with an audience meant she could distinguish herself from her peers. Over time, her online following also attracted advertisers and companies which paid her to review their products. This latter stage of the progression of her career, the advertising relationship she built with other brands, highlights the double-edged nature of the idea of disregard of status in the social media sphere. The creation of these internal hierarchies and the financial influences they draw in appear to challenge the principles of the public sphere. However, it also proves how the platform of social media, at its core, provides opportunities for otherwise peripheral voices to be heard and recognised for their abilities

Despite this, where talent and perseverance enable individuals to 'rise to the top', the rise in consumerism and the implications, which Habermas warned to be wary of, still need to be acknowledged. For example, the impact can be seen in the shift in terminology and categorisation; as individuals have become brands in themselves, 'influencers' have been categorised under the label of social media 'marketing' (Vrontis et al., 2021). Also, with 'social media influencer' becoming a recognised occupation, competition in this crowded market has grown, at some detriment to the concept of the level playing field. For aspiring influencers specifically, there is a growing emphasis on the need for quality equipment such as video recorders and web cameras, as well as increasingly professional editing software; a smartphone may be an accessible gateway to producing content publishing online, but after a time, influencers are expected to create more polished productions (Henderson, 2020). This does not mean there is no opportunity for individuals to rise to the top through talent alone, but with more economically driven competition in the industry, it indicates a growing challenge to Habermas' vision of the public sphere and has made the potential harder to realise. The tension between equal entry and the encroachment of economic factors into the sphere is expanded in Chapter Four to consider the impact of the different resources available to the UK pollical parties on their online activities.

## 3.4 Domain of Common Concern: Agenda-Setting

The third and final criterion pertains to the role of the public sphere as the domain for common concern (Habermas, 1989: 36). It represents a space where discourse "presupposed the problematization of areas that until then had not been questioned"; it meant citizens using the public sphere as a space to question any issues that concerned them (Habermas, 1989: 36). The domain of common concern had, until the rise of the public sphere, resided with the First and Second Estates (i.e., the Church and the state authorities). These institutions held the "monopoly of interpretation not just from the pulpit but in philosophy, literature, and art" (Habermas, 1989: 36). Their interpretations were passed down to the rest of the populace (the Third Estate), who lacked the

information or ability to challenge these established thoughts. The transition into a public sphere began with the commodification of cultural products (art and literature); works were produced for distribution, and for the first time, private persons could engage in rational communication with one another to discuss, debate, and decide on subjects previously reserved for the upper classes.

Fundamentally, this criterion relied on breaking institutional monopolies which excluded the public from discussions by enabling citizens to become informed and capable of engaging in rational-critical debate. However, the term 'common concern' has itself caused some debate amongst academics. Habermas did not go into precise detail when describing what constituted common concern beyond the inclusion of biblical readings as well as works of philosophy, art, and literature. He determined that decisions made on these works dictated societal attitudes and behaviours and so should be determined by the collective.

Fraser (1990: 70) argued that Habermas' vague reference to "public matters" (common concerns) discussed in the public sphere failed to acknowledge how the interpretation of the parameters of 'public' could alter over time. The multiplicity of publics and their fluidity had not entered into Habermas' original designs outlining a homogenous public sphere (Warner, 2015: 288). One such example which has continued to the present day involves the discussion of domestic violence. Until the late twentieth century, only a minority of the public, consisting of feminist voices, considered the issue of domestic violence against women and children a subject of common concern, whilst the vast majority viewed it as a private matter (Fraser, 1990). Recent decades have ushered in an about-turn in attitudes in the United Kingdom on domestic violence, with far more legal protections introduced as it has become a topic of common concern. Fraser (1990: 71) used this example to note that the domains which constitute common concern lack natural or static boundaries but instead can shift through "discursive contestation".

It can certainly be argued that Habermas possessed an overly simplistic view of which topics constituted common concern. However, despite its shortcomings in providing rigorous definition of common concerns, the broad outline of his criterion – the extension of the right of interpretation of what comprises a common concern from the Church and state to the greater public – stands up to scrutiny. The discussion of domestic violence, albeit one which took place over a protracted period before becoming a matter of wider public interest, indicates that such topics have been determined to be 'common concerns' amongst the citizenry and beyond the First and Second Estates. In this respect, Habermas' argument for a transition in who can determine a common concern is supported by evidence, despite the challenges to his view of a homogenous public sphere.

Before I examine the role of social media in the discussion of the transition of the domain of common concern towards the citizens, it is necessary to first outline the role of the Fourth Estate – the press and other mass media – in steering the discourse and challenging the authority of the First and Second Estates. Framed under the term "agenda setting", this field of research grew significantly in the latter half of the twentieth century alongside the expanding mass media of newspapers, television, and radio (Shaw and Martin, 1992: 902-903). In this field, there remains ongoing debate around how far the agenda-setting of the mass media influences the public's engagement with different

issues. Bernard Cohen (1963: 13) is often quoted for his argument that although the media might not tell its audience what to think, it does succeed in telling it what to think about (Shaw and Martin, 1992; McCombs, 2013).

Many studies continue to investigate and attempt to measure the level of media influence (Wanta et al., 2004; McCombs, 2013), but for this thesis, the evolution of this debate was significant in signalling a shift away from the traditional agenda setters of the First and Second Estates. However, even through the mass media, citizens are still receiving a "second-hand reality", structured by journalists and presented to the audience (McCombs, 2013: 1). Subsequently, the creation of the internet and introduction of social media sites have offered a new method for information dissemination with the potential to challenge the view that the mass media have an agenda-setting role (McCombs, 2005; Williams and Delli Carpini, 2011; Feezell, 2017). First, I outline the development of online media, examining how they have challenged the landscape of 'news', followed by an exploration of how social media emerged as a potential new agenda-setting platform.

The relaxation of government censorship of the press in the lateseventeenth century had begun the first significant movement away from the agenda-setting by the First and Second Estates. The end of the twentieth century signalled another shift, this time towards the introduction of the online commodification of cultural products in the form of the internet and the World Wide Web. This created a new, digital environment through which information could be made publicly available. This new mode of information dissemination came in two key stages: Web 1.0 and Web 2.0 (O'Reilly, 2005). Web 1.0 consisted of news sites, company websites, and search engines which primarily aimed to share information by presenting it to a passive audience. In this respect, it closely mirrored the broadcasting role attributed to the mass media (Graham et al., 2013; Graham et al., 2014; McLoughlin et al., 2020). However, it brought about not only a new way of receiving information but a greater diversity of sources and topics which were more easily accessible to the public. It was from Web 1.0 that the beginnings of potential for online public spheres emerged through the introduction and use of comment sections on websites which enabled internet users to participate by responding to content and interacting with each other on a web page (Jackson and Lilleker, 2009). This provided an early opportunity for online citizen participation.

From Web 1.0, Web 2.0 emerged, which was built on the concept of user-generated content, which was to go on to include social media sites such as Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, and other online blogs (O'Reilly, 2005). This shift meant online platforms were, for the first time, designed around information exchange and debate amongst citizens. Now referred to as the 'Fifth Estate' (Dutton, 2009) – encompassing bloggers, non-mainstream journalists, and social media, which represented outlier viewpoints – social media distinguished themselves from the Fourth Estate of the mass media and acted in part as a challenge to the latter's agenda-setting. As previous forms of media did with the topic of domestic violence, which was not originally considered a public matter, social media have provided opportunities to draw attention to views and issues not widely accepted as matters of public concern due to lack of knowledge and general interest or political oppression. In the case of the latter, Twitter is well remembered for its role in the anti-government movements which occurred across the Middle East as part of the 2010-11 Arab Spring. The role of Twitter

in initiating these movements is often found to be exaggerated, but the social media site was used by activists and other individuals to bring greater attention to the situation (Murthy, 2013: 111-112). By acting as 'citizen journalists', members of the public could update each other – and the world events as they unfolded despite the political oppression they faced (Murthy, 2013: 59, 93). Similarly, the 'Occupy' movements which started in 2011 in New York and adopted the Twitter hashtag #OccupyWallStreet, which aimed to highlight financial inequalities in the United States, used Twitter as one of its methods to attract attention to the cause and spark public dialogue.

Whilst not all the issues raised on social media become public matters, for many different reasons, social media offer new opportunities for peripheral voices to introduce previously undiscussed issues in a public forum. It is important to remember that the underlying significance of the domain of common concern in the public sphere was the removal of the monopoly of decision-making from the First and Second Estates. Habermas' work raised questions about what constitutes common concern and the fluid nature of this notion, and social media have at least provided new platforms through which these monopolies can be challenged and the parameters of 'public matters' tested. This raises questions concerning how reactive and receptive political parties and candidates could be to online discussion and 'trends' during an election campaign. Chapters Six and Seven will examine this, considering how far parties and candidates used Twitter during the 2015 general election as a source for campaign topics and discourse, or a medium through which they could set the agenda.

## 3.5 Refeudalisation

With the three criteria outlined above, Habermas presented a blueprint for the key institutional principles needed to form the public sphere. The sphere itself was supposed to be an environment in which rational-critical debate took place amongst citizens and acted as a vehicle for public opinion. However, Habermas (1989: 142, 158) noted that his concept of a public sphere, which drew on the bourgeois public sphere of the salons and coffee houses, could come under threat through a process of 'refeudalisation'. This process was likened to a condition which reflected the feudal state insofar as state and society or public and private merged once again. Although the earlier monopolies of the First and Second Estates would not have been reinstated, the mass media and state actors could impose themselves in the public sphere and manipulate it for their own interests.

Habermas (1989: 200, 215) identified the role of a growing consumer culture and a return to what he called 'representative publicity', both of which he attributed in part to the mass media and paid specialists, in triggering this process. The combined effects of consumerism and representative publicity came at the expense of rational-critical debate, which was central to Habermas' public sphere and thus created a "pseudo-public sphere" where only the impression of deliberation was proffered (Habermas, 1989: 162). This in turn produced manipulated, or "non-public" opinion (Habermas, 1989: 239). On this basis, Habermas (1989: 239) identified two distinct forms of public opinion: "critical" public opinion which emerged from the public sphere and "manipulated" (non-)public opinion which was a product of the pseudo-public sphere.

The first presupposed a reasoning public which engaged in rationalcritical debate, underpinned by the three institutional criteria outlined above (Habermas et al., 1974: 50). It acted as a "critical authority" to which the state's political and social power would be subject (Habermas, 1989: 236). This public opinion, therefore, was "critical in intent and institutionally guaranteed" (Habermas et al., 1974: 50). The second form of public opinion still required the fulfilment of the institutional criteria. However, the process of refeudalisation undermined the attainment of rational-critical debate. Instead of a debating public, citizens were viewed as unthinking consumers, and representative publicity (merely displaying a position of power of authority) was used to manipulate the public and suppress discussion. Rather than a critical authority, the public opinion which emerged from the pseudo-public sphere was seen as "an object to be moulded" and had become "an arena of competing interests" (Habermas, 1989: 236, 132).

I first outline in more detail the two elements – consumer culture and a return to representative publicity – which transformed Habermas' visionary public sphere into a pseudo-public sphere, exploring how the mass media contributed to this process and how these behaviours are translating into the new media context. Finally, I examine Habermas' perspective on the implications of manipulated public opinion and how the media and researchers have turned to using and exploring social media as a source of public opinion.

#### 3.5.1 Consumer Culture

*"…from a culture-debating to a culture-consuming public"* (Habermas, 1989: 159).

The central idea of the public sphere as an arena for rational-critical debate relied on an informed public, which required a flow of information which citizens could review and debate. Habermas (1989: 182) argued that the emergence of print media proved a key turning point in information dissemination and accessibility. He looked favourably upon the template of the small businesses of the late seventeenth century which produced many of the first periodicals, viewing these establishments as working from "the principle of a modest maximization of profit that did not overstep the traditional bounds of early capitalism" (Habermas, 1989: 181). By Habermas' own acknowledgement, many of the scholarly journals and political weeklies of the time were financially insecure, but this lack of financial stability only recommended to Habermas their role in supporting rational-critical debate, undistracted as they were by many of the commercial considerations of the later newspapers.

However, the growing print media began to adopt increasingly profitorientated business models, challenging Habermas' hopes of encouraging a rational debating public. Habermas (1989: 184) dated the transition (across Great Britain, France, and the United States) from a press built around fostering rational-critical debate to one primarily built around business considerations, from the 1830s. This shift into commercial considerations continued to have an impact across different forms of literature and by the 1920s publishers were increasingly catering for the growing popularity of post-war book clubs, publishing books *en masse*, which were cheaper and less financially risky business ventures (Habermas, 1989: 167). Although increasing public accessibility to the literature, it also "diminished consumer selection opportunities" in the interest of larger profit margins (Habermas, 1989: 167). This trend continued throughout the twentieth century with the growing production of 'mass market paperbacks' that were cheaper to produce than 'regular' paperbacks on account of using less expensive materials. The content of mass market paperbacks was often selected on the basis of its mass appeal and saleability rather than primarily determined by the quality of the content. Thus, Habermas argued, the emphasis was on producing works orientated towards reading for leisure rather than furthering one's critical awareness or encouraging political discourse.

For the press, the advertising business had opened a new source of revenue at a time when the price per copy was low and the number of buyers had multiplied. With increasing demand, publishers could rely on selling "a correspondingly growing portion of space" for advertising (Habermas, 1989: 185). However, the encroachment of advertising and commercialism which shifted focus onto profit margins did not necessarily come at the expense of rational-critical debate as Habermas argued. Although not matching Habermas' ideals, the acceptance of the need for financial resources could ultimately enable the dissemination of content that could instigate rational-critical debate. The same also applied for other publishers; although the mass market paperbacks primarily catered for leisure, the revenue would also contribute to publication of other works such as literary journals or other critical pieces.

Other changes also assisted in the rising consumer culture, such as the aestheticisation of commodities that had crept into the mass media (Iqani, 2012). Habermas (1989: 168) was aware of a shifting emphasis towards imagery as cartoon and news images began to infiltrate the print media, with "yellow journalism", named after the yellow paper used at the time to print

58

comics, emerging at the end of the nineteenth century. By the 1930s, the use of illustrations in books had developed into the popularisation of the comic book across the United States and United Kingdom. The use of images increased the accessibility of the product to the masses, but Habermas (1989: 168) noted that it "was as optically effective as it was undermining on the literary level". This tendency was exacerbated by the new media of the twentieth century (particularly film and television), which came to overshadow the press that comprised Habermas' original subject. The problems noted by Habermas with these new forms of media were twofold, but both resulted in a decline in rationalcritical debate. Firstly, they created output that was "more palatable for consumption", encouraging "impersonal indulgence in stimulating relaxation" at the expense of the use of public reason (Habermas, 1989: 170). Secondly, the form of communication was strictly one-way; the media broadcast to an audience, drawing in "the eyes and ears of the public under their spell" to "deprive it of the opportunity to say something and to disagree" (Habermas, 1989: 171). This process fed into a consumerist society in which production was primarily "targeted at consumption, leisure and services" (Featherstone, 2007: 21). Citizens were turning into consumers: unthinking, busy, distracted, and easily directed by branding and advertising (Warner, 2015: 288).

Further changes to the film and television industries only fed into the consumer culture. Not only did the new media bring about more varied formats but also growing fragmentation and competition within the different mediums (Chadwick, 2013). Television, for example, has expanded beyond its original terrestrial channels to multiple channels available on Freeview (free-to-air television) and the growing industry of subscription television services such as

those provided by Sky, Virgin Media, and BT. However, these products have not just remained within traditional media; online subscription services have also become increasingly common with Netflix, Amazon Prime, and Apple TV. Although the growing variety has allowed greater consumer choice and enabled the production and provision of more output, and of greater quality (Feezell, 2017), the primary criticism is that it has come at an increasing cost, both monetary and in terms of 'universal' access (Lee et al., 2018).

The growing choice of digital and social media have also been argued to contribute to the trend of turning citizens into consumers: passive, easily distracted, and expecting instant gratification rather than thirsting for rationalcritical debate (Warner, 2015: 288). The demand of service from consumers has grown cyclically as websites, adverts, and content have been continually developed around these expectations. A particular feature of social media sites, particularly Twitter and Instagram, is the ability to scroll through numerous tweets and images within a few seconds. This encourages content creators to design their posts with the aim of attracting enough attention from a user to make them pause for a more detailed look. Such actions are part of the growing clickbait culture permeating the internet, whereby snippets of text or images are used to entice netizens to click on a link to another website, article, or social media profile. Similarly, more recent social media sites such as the short-form video service 'TikTok', released in 2016, have continued to develop and reinforce consumer demand for content that only requires a short span of attention as the site only supports videos of less than three minutes. The video service YouTube has also responded to consumer habits by introducing a 2021

add-on called 'YouTube Shorts' to create a different viewing experience where users post clips of no more than 15 seconds.

Social media likewise support users' ability to respond instantly to online content with various features such as 'favouriting' and 'sharing'. As discussed in Chapter Four, these modes of participation are spontaneous and instantaneous, and they reflect different levels of digital attachment. A tweet, for example, may be 'favourited', or a Facebook post 'liked', as a sign of acknowledgement without any further engagement with either the content or the creator. The encroaching consumer culture has increased competition online, supported by the speed at which the internet has now made information, products, and services available, along with the breadth of options. This competition is not only amongst the different platforms and traditional sellers, such as clothing companies, but also the users themselves. The imagery-driven environment, the need to attract attention, and the increased economic competition challenge the potential for rational-critical debate upon which Habermas built his concept of a public sphere. Rather than focusing on encouraging discussion within user-generated content, the internet has also moved towards the promotion of products, services, and leisure. This challenges the extent to which social media platforms are utilised as deliberative spaces and begins to highlight how some of the threats Habermas identified to the public sphere are applicable to the virtual environment.

### 3.5.2 Representative Publicity

The second factor Habermas (1989: 200) identified as part of the refeudalisation process was the return of representative publicity, whereby those in positions of political office or authority would represent their political power before the people merely as a display and absent from public political discussion. Having already stated his distaste for the rise of consumer culture in conjunction with the expansion of an increasingly business-centred mass media, Habermas (1989: 193) became more concerned about the effect of public relations (PR) techniques. He clearly distinguished between the effects of advertising and mass media in creating a pseudo-public sphere (consisting of consumers) versus the responsibility of PR for initiating 'non-public opinion' (the manipulation of the public's perception through what Habermas referred to as manipulated publicity) in the pseudo-public sphere (Habermas, 1989: 193-194).

On the one hand, advertising consciously addresses its audience as consumers and consists of a simple sales pitch (Lees-Marshment, 2009; Warner, 2015: 292). In comparison, the domain of public relations ostensibly addresses the audience as citizens, creating the perception of meaningful engagement and autonomous choice based on informed thinking (Habermas, 1989: 193). Although a product (for example, a policy) is still being sold under PR, marketing begins much earlier in its creation (Lees-Marshment, 2009: 292-293). This process tailors the aims of a party, business, or other actor in a way that increases their appeal to an audience. Presenting a perceived choice creates a false sense of inclusion in the decision-making process without actually engaging in rational-critical debate and thus contributes to a pseudo-public sphere.

Newman and Perloff (2004) had already identified this behaviour amongst political parties in the 1980s as a reaction to the continued decline of partisanship amongst the UK electorate with "party ideology...being driven by marketing, not by party affiliation" (Newman, 2012: 3). It was also around this period that 'valence' voting had become more widely recognised with David Butler and Donald Stokes (1974) first making the distinction between valence issues and 'position' issues. The latter pertains to matters on which voters take a clear position, such as for or against nationalisation, whereas valence issues relate to those areas in which there is broad consensus amongst the electorate (for example, most people would want to see a reduction in crime or advocate strong economic growth). Consequently, valence voting is based on the party perceived to be the most competent to deliver on the policies the electorate want, and so the disagreement comes from perceptions of the parties' abilities to achieve these goals rather than the issues themselves (Denver, 2007: 96). Chapter Six examines the relationship between public opinion and the electoral issues with which the parties were most engaged on Twitter during the 2015 UK general election campaign.

Habermas' concerns about the return of representative publicity and the manipulation of public opinion did not anticipate many of the new challenges that emerged towards the end of the twentieth century, most notably the use of PR specialists and technological advancements which led to the introduction of data analytics (Warner, 2015). Although Habermas had viewed refeudalisation as an ongoing process, he expected the changes to be slow. However, the advancement of new technologies and the "colonisation of politics by professional political consultants" accelerated this transition (Warner, 2015:
288). For instance, the effects of online algorithms are well-documented. On one hand, the ability to target advertisements to the interests of individuals based on their online activities has created a more personalised experience for the user and allowed a more effective advertising structure for businesses (Bodle, 2014; Kotras, 2020). However, discussions are also continuing into the negative effects of online advertising, ranging from issues such as data protection, privacy, and the need for regulation, to over-commercialisation (Toch et al., 2012; Bodle, 2014; Evans et al., 2014; Simons and Ghosh, 2020).

The criticism most pertinent to Habermas' arguments are concerns over the creation of 'echo chambers' through the application of these algorithms (Friedland and Hove, 2016). In this situation, the adverts, tailored to online behaviours and interest, are adapted to reflect an individual's online activities and this to reinforce existing beliefs rather than offering diversity within or beyond the given areas. The concern over echo chambers in social media has been well discussed, though the idea behind the term was conceived before the arrival of the internet. Habermas (1989: 213) observed that "those who engage in discussion more frequently...have a tendency to do no more than mutually confirm their ideas and at best to influence only the hesitant and less involved parties". Similarly, he also noted that "an opinion once assumed often becomes fixed as a rigid habit" (Habermas, 1989: 213). These concerns were reflected in the 'reinforcement theory' of the (mass) media which argued that instead of moulding the opinions of the electorate through agenda-setting, the media sought to align themselves with existing views and provide additional reasons for consumers to select them (Potter, 2011; Denver et al., 2012; McCombs, 2014). In social media, this was identified early in the congregating of likeminded individuals in chat rooms, where fans of the same television show or book series could meet online to discuss theories or even publish their own works such as fan-fiction stories or artwork (Jenkins, 2006).

However, the degree to which the creation of echo chambers has become normalised and the ease with which the process has occurred is beyond anything Habermas imagined and would only have exacerbated his concerns. These observations challenge the oft-stated argument that the access and breadth of information the internet has provides should ensure a more informed public (Papacharissi, 2002; Dubois and Blank, 2018: 12-13). Instead, the reinforcement of ideas at the expense of rational-critical thought has only heightened the issue of 'non-public opinion'.

### 3.5.3 Public Opinion

A consequence of consumer culture and representative publicity in particular has been the generation of non-public opinion. In a functioning public sphere, public opinion would emerge as a vehicle which "put the state in touch with the needs of society" (Habermas, 1989: 31). However, the absence of rational-critical debate in the pseudo-public sphere instead produces 'manipulated public opinion'. For Habermas (1989: 236), rather than being concerned with the *outcome* of public opinion, such as ensuring a public consensus is reached, he was instead interested in public opinion as a *process* – its formation (how "the public [was] expected to behave") and its "functional consequences" (Dahlberg, 2005). With this approach he outlined the relationship between public opinion and non-public opinion.

Habermas (1989: 236) clearly stated that critical public opinion and nonpublic opinion exist independently of one another. He acknowledged that, in theory, "there could be a link between public opinion as an ideal entity and its actual manifestations", but in practice this does not occur (Habermas, 1989: 236). The existence of one does not result from the failure of the other. Instead, refeudalisation means that critical public opinion has been "supplanted by manipulated publicity", putting the two entities into conflict (Habermas, 1989: 178) . As well as the mode of their formation, the concept of accountability also varies between the two forms of public opinion. The provision of critical public opinion puts the state in touch with the needs of society. The formation of opinion from rational-critical debate ensures society's role as a critical authority in holding the state to account.

In comparison, non-public opinion does not hold the same authority. However, by generating manipulated public opinion, parties are still held accountable for their pledges to the electorate (Habermas, 1989). Therefore, some measure of accountability still exists but for upholding parties' own words rather than representing the rational-critical voice of the public. Moreover, questions around the capabilities of sites such as Twitter to uphold and reflect public opinion have also opened up new areas of investigation.

Research into using social media data, collected from sites such as Twitter, as a method to record public opinion is still relatively new. The technology is still being developed, and the primary focus remains measuring public opinion as an outcome instead of a process (Murphy et al., 2014; Jungherr, 2016). However, it indicates the interest in using social media as another source for gauging public opinion. The ability of algorithms to detect the tone of content has also improved greatly, though the detection of irony, sarcasm, and the objectivity of humour still offer significant hurdles (O'Connor et al., 2010; Hawkins and Castanho Silva, 2018; Shayaa et al., 2018). The difficulty of mapping the demographics of Twitter users also remains a challenge, as does finding a representative sample (Klašnja et al., 2018). However, the site has been increasingly used as a way to record live feedback, such as during the 2015 UK general election leaders' debates, when other media platforms used a "Twitter worm" to track online sentiment throughout the debate segments (Emes and Keith, 2017). This tool was used by broadcasters to show immediate audience feedback to their viewers as well as later to review moments when public reaction reached a high or low. The online feedback was limited to showing a net positive or negative reaction by the reacting Twitter audience rather providing insight into why or to what they were responding (Emes and Keith, 2017). This reaffirms the growing demand for instant feedback, and the reification and quantification of factors, which can then be quickly responded to by journalists or political actors. There is further examination into the relationship between journalists and Twitter as both a source for news content and public opinion in Chapter Five. However, the important consideration is that the social media users on Facebook, Twitter, or other sites are not 'the public'. Ultimately, social media users are self-selecting, both in terms of the sites they frequent and how they engage with them, despite the attempts of some journalists and other news outlets to interchange the two (Warner and Neville-Shepard, 2011).

The following chapters of this thesis continue the examination into the formation of manipulated opinion by exploring how the political parties

presented themselves and their policies on Twitter during the 2015 UK general election. It focuses on the use of representative publicity in the presentation of their online messages and how the parties use the site's features to communicate, using Habermas' work as a critical framework.

# 3.6 Conclusion

The internet and social media have provided a new context through which to view Habermas's blueprint for the public sphere. His recognition of a sphere formed of multiple networks lends itself to analysing these new modes of communication. The key institutional criteria that provide the basis for Habermas' public sphere were also found to be transferrable to online environments, though they have also been presented with new challenges. Through the investigations, it was demonstrated that some of the original limitations and criticisms that his criteria faced also receded in light of the new technology and changed social and economic contexts; for instance, the principle of universal access can now be more realistically approached, and the opportunities to transition topics from private to common concerns have increased. The potential for the internet and social media to be part of the network of spheres which form 'the public sphere' is therefore assured. However, although social media largely reflect Habermas' core principles of a public sphere – access, disregard of status, and common concern – there are indications that the digital sphere is also facing similar threats to those Habermas' observed across other forms of media.

Concerns about the challenges to the public sphere being mirrored online – through the encroachment of the state and the same consumer culture that came to dominate the mass media – are also present across social media though not necessarily in the same ways Habermas envisaged. The use of Twitter by political actors such as parties and candidates offer opportunities to study the plausibility of Habermas' concerns by examining the extent to which political parties and their candidates use the site to engage with citizens, encouraging and fostering rational-critical debate and participation.

Having established in this chapter the credentials of the internet and social media to support a public sphere, Chapter Four explores the specific opportunities offered by the social media site Twitter for rational-critical debate and the evolution of the role of social media in political communication. An examination of the potential and limitations of the site to function as a deliberative space enables a clearer context for evaluating how the political parties and candidates utilised the site in the 2015 election campaigns. This is followed by an investigation in Chapter Five into the extent the political actors adapted to Twitter's features and how they engaged with the devices during the campaign.

Chapters Six and Seven examine the concept of manipulated public opinion in depth. This investigation expands the discussion beyond the application of Twitter's design features to analyse the content posted on the site by British political parties and their candidates to understand how they interacted with different issues during the 2015 election campaign. It raises questions about the selectivity of parties in terms of the content they produced and engaged with on the site. This thesis uses Habermas' work in the public sphere to provide a framework for exploring and understanding the potential of Twitter provide a space for rational-critical debate. It also informs the investigation into the extent the parties' and candidates' use of the site is 2015 indicated a transformation in how we 'do' politics or business as usual.

# Chapter Four: The History of Engagement on Twitter

By the time of the 2015 UK general election, Twitter had become synonymous with the term 'social media' alongside sites such as Facebook and, more recently, Instagram. Launched to the public in July 2006, Twitter boasted 302 million users worldwide in 2015, with 13 million in the UK alone. However, the development of and engagement with the site by UK political parties and candidates was initially sluggish, and Twitter's role in political communication came about gradually. Key events such as Barack Obama's 2008 presidential campaign brought social media further into public consciousness and into the field of political communication, though it was not until after the 2010 UK general election that engagement with Twitter by British politicians took a marked upturn.

This chapter begins by exploring the premise behind Twitter, specifically how the early design concepts of the company's co-founders and grassroot input in the site's early phases became key to Twitter's identity. It considers how these design features set the parameters for the communication styles available on the site and its deliberative potential. Next, it examines the impact of the 2008 Obama campaign on the wider adoption of Twitter by politicians in the United Kingdom, the so-called Obama Effect (Cheney and Olsen, 2010; Charles, 2014). Then, it explores the significance of the 2010 UK general election, which had been hyped as 'the social media election' but failed to live up to expectations. This section considers how the parties and politicians tried, in varying degrees, to come to terms with the new technology – who used it, how they used it, and how effectively they did so – providing an early comparison to the much more social media-savvy 2015 UK general election. In the final sections, the chapter explores the significant changes that occurred on Twitter and in the general digital media landscape between 2010 and 2015 as Twitter's user base grew by over 200 million and 'big data' became part of everyday vocabulary (Bimber, 2014). Barack Obama's 2012 re-election campaign illuminates how much the use of social media had changed political communication and campaigning in the interim between the two British general elections. By 2015, both major parties had fully integrated social media, including Twitter, into their campaign toolkits.

### 4.1 The Origins of Twitter: The Features

Central to Twitter's design was the concept of a microblogging site which would provide users with the ability to stay updated on the activities of others through status updates posted as short snippets of text known as tweets (MacArthur, 2018). The ability to post these tweets both from computers and mobile phones, allowing on-the-go updates (or live action), also proved significant (Murthy, 2013; MacArthur, 2018). Although this concept sounds simple enough today, when the site was launched in 2006, it filled a hitherto unidentified niche in the Web 2.0 market. However, its lack of a direct predecessor meant Twitter had no template on which to build, so the site still had a work-in-progress feel to it when it was first released to the public. Co-founder Evan Williams acknowledged the challenges of developing Twitter as "it was hard to define, because it didn't replace anything" (Lapowski, 2013). Initially, it had been described by the founders as a platform for "status updates and social utility", and although this remained true in part, "the insight [they] eventually came to was [that] Twitter...[was] really more of an information network...than a social network" (Lapowski, 2013). In other words, the sharing of news proved more important than the creation of an online community – the key difference between Twitter and the social networking site Facebook. Twitter's vague and fluid identity in its early years was what made the platform much more amenable to change. Whilst constant updates of technology are expected over a product's lifetime, the co-founders of the site undertook numerous developments from the initial basic form of Twitter over the first few years of its life, demonstrating a willingness to accommodate the demands and habits of the users, several of which are now synonymous with the Twitter brand.

### *4.1.1 Putting the 'Micro' in Microblogging*

Unique to Twitter's design was the decision to impose a 140-character limit on content posted to the site. This limit was partly necessitated by the decision to allow users to post 'on the go' with mobile devices. As such, the site's designers needed to consider the strict 160-character limit of all text messages sent through Short Messaging Service (SMS), which mobile phones relied upon at the time. Ultimately, it was decided that the character limit would be imposed across the platform rather than only as a limitation on mobile users, and so Twitter became a microblogging site. Incidentally, the gap of twenty characters was reserved for the unique Twitter handle (also known as a username, such as @number10gov for the official UK Prime Minister's page) used to identify each account. Although originally a technological restriction, the 140-character cap remained even after the adaption of modern mobile phones and networks

that allowed numerous SMS to be linked together to form a single message. Only in late 2017 did Twitter announce a move to phase in 280-character tweets after an initial trial, claiming a desire to retain both the "speed and brevity" of 140-character tweets but also account for languages that require more characters, such as English, as opposed to languages like Japanese (Rosen, 2017). However, later data showed that only approximately 9% of tweets ever reached the original character limit, and during the test phase of the roll-out, only 5% of users went on to exceed 140 characters (Rosen, 2017). Although the lack of uptake reflected little demand or need by the public for the change, it highlighted the willingness of the Twitter corporation to continue making adaptations to the communication features to assist in maintaining dialogue between users of the site. It must also be noted that Twitter accommodated the use of hyperlinks in tweets which allowed users to expand on the written content of their posts, and which supported the further exchange and provision of information as part of a deliberative environment.

## 4.1.2 Following

Twitter was set up as an open platform on which the content would be visible, by default, to the public. However, to gain full access to the site's features, a person would need to register for a (free) Twitter account using an email address<sup>4</sup>. This thesis hereafter refers to these registered account holders as users. Once registered, users can post their own tweets (which are then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although an email address is required, it is not necessary for users to identify their real names anywhere on Twitter.

displayed on their profile page), follow other users' accounts, and engage with others' content by 'retweeting', 'replying', or 'favouriting'. A personalised 'home timeline' is also constructed for each user which provides real-time updates to show the tweets from all the accounts a user follows in reverse chronological order (newest to oldest). This tailored timeline allows users to view content from accounts they follow without the need to visit the individual profile pages, ensuring Twitter's design objective of fast news delivered on the go. The act of following an account creates the first basic measurable form of digital attachment between users.

The terminology 'follower' is itself significant as it reiterates the idea of following news (or sources of news), rather than 'friending' one another, as users do on Facebook. More significantly, following an account on Twitter does not create a reciprocal relationship. Unlike Facebook, where two users must mutually consent to becoming 'friends' to fully access each other's content, Twitter allows users to follow accounts without requiring permission from the other accountholder. The former site cultivates a connection between "intended recipients" to form a social network, whereas the latter "facilitates interactions between unknown individuals", placing the emphasis on the sharing of content and opening the potential for a much wider audience (Murthy, 2013: 19; Oz et al., 2018). Although this creates more passive connections between accounts, it is mitigated by the openness of the site where follower status does not dictate access to content, which is open to online public viewing.

# 4.1.3 Evolving With the Users: #, @, and RT

Many features now synonymous with Twitter were initially introduced to the site by the users. Chief amongst these were the use of 'hashtags', the implementation of the @-symbol to identify another user in a tweet, and 'retweets', all of which contribute to connecting content and spreading information. The first two features migrated to Twitter from their beginnings in internet chatrooms and message boards (Seward, 2013). Grassroot introductions and the use of all three tools caught the attention of the company, which then developed the platform around these habits and thus built the product around the consumer. These developments highlight how Twitter's fluid and evolving identity allowed it to be adapted to the preferences of the users without the constraints of an initially rigid design (Shadbolt et al., 2019). In this respect, the company had shown itself to be receptive to demand-driven changes. However, practices that imply a democratic process behind the evolution of the site, can alternatively be interpreted as a means to increase traffic to the site and user registration. This raises questions about the balance between adapting to the consumers for the consumers and making changes with business and financial considerations at their core. It can be difficult to differentiate the two, as the cyclical relationship between attracting and maintaining users can demand concessions from a company with an overall business picture in mind. Regardless of the reasons for adopting these changes, the result was a more interactive platform than the creators had first envisaged. This has shaped Twitter's potential to function as a deliberative space with focus on supporting opportunities for open engagement.

#### 4.2.3.1 Hashtags

The purpose of hashtags – any word(s) immediately preceded by a hashtag, such as #GE2015 (General Election 2015) and #LeadersDebate – is to affiliate a tweet with a certain topic, event, or other association (Murthy, 2013). American blogger Chris Messina was credited as the first to bring the hashtag to the Twitter platform in August 2007 as a democratic method to organise and connect tweets discussing the same topic. Although the site's creators originally called this idea "too nerdy", the use of hashtags gradually became a defining feature of Twitter over the next few years (Seward, 2013). This growth was aided by the traction hashtags gained for the role they played in reporting some high-profile events. An early example was the use of #SanDiegoFire in October 2007 when wildfires swept through San Diego County in California (Seward, 2013). The hashtag was quickly adopted by users to identify tweets relating to this unfolding event, such as those sharing information on road closures or providing other updates on the ongoing situation (Wukich and Steinberg, 2016).

In July 2009, Twitter's developers showed their recognition of the hashtag as an accepted communication device by updating the site to hyperlink all hashtags automatically. This enabled users to view tweets that adopted any given hashtag collectively on a separate page, more easily connecting content and strangers through shared narratives, whether those be around sporting events, train cancellations, or politics. Hashtags are also a commonly used method in online campaigning, from advertising products and film releases to being part of a charity drive or a social movement. Often the ultimate goal is to use the function to help a message or brand 'go viral' – widely circulated at a rapid pace – though few command lasting attention (Murthy, 2013: 3, 92). One

benefit is that hashtags are accessible to all users to either incorporate into their own tweets or view as a thread, and so a hashtag topic can take on an unofficial following of its own.

One of the most successful viral hashtags was the 2014 ALS (Amyotrophic later sclerosis) Ice Bucket Challenge (#ALSIceBucketChallenge) wherein participants filmed themselves pouring buckets of ice water over their heads, posted the video on social media, and nominated friends to do the same, ideally with a monetary pledge to the non-profit ALS Association or a local equivalent. Within two weeks of the launch of the social media campaign, the organisation had more than 146,000 new donors, and by the end of the year, it had received more than \$115 million in donations (O'Connor, 2014; Pressgrove et al., 2018). The campaign was also instrumental in raising awareness for the disease; in 2014, the question "What is ALS?" became the second most searched "What is..." question on Google for the year as people's new awareness of the neurological disease led them to seek out more information (Singhal, 2014).

The difficulty in producing viral content and keeping the narrative 'on topic' is due in part to the competition on the site between the many different topics being mentioned, as well as the need to spark the interest of users to a degree that the campaign is actively engaged with and shared on the site beyond a core group. In case of the Ice Bucket Challenge, it was also able to stir support amongst high profile individuals such Bill Gates, Oprah, and LeBron James which in turn provided the potential for further reach. There are various factors that influence the chances of content going viral, including social currency, emotional resonance, and public (highly visible and more likely to

encourage herd mentality) (Berger, 2013; Pressgrove et al., 2018). The ALS Ice Bucket Challenge was able to combine these three traits to create a memorable event that extended to offline participation. As a non-profit organisation, this method of campaigning was inexpensive, though it came with no guarantees.

Hashtag campaigns have also been at the centre of a number of social and political movements, most notably the MeToo movement. Although the phrase 'Me Too' originated in 2006, it was revitalised and restyled as the #MeToo movement in 2017 after accusations of sexual assault by American film producer Harvey Weinstein became public. The #MeToo campaign utilised the hashtag function to raise awareness of the movement but, more significantly, create an open dialogue around sexual harassment and sexual abuse. Online, individuals were coming forward and sharing their own experiences, supporting one another, and discussing the need for change (Bogen et al., 2019). The use of the hashtag was also seen as a turning point in existing dialogue around sexual harassment, focusing more on outing the actions of the perpetrators and challenging legal precedents (Jaffe, 2018), though arguably avoiding due process (Wexler et al., 2019).

The ALS Challenge and the #MeToo movement were shaped around concentrated social media campaigns and an identifiable hashtag, relying on Twitter as a space that could raise awareness and initiate a wider public dialogue. Another high profile political and social movement, Black Lives Matter, also incorporated social media into its campaign (#BlackLivesMatter) to start conversations about police brutality and racially motivated violence, but its roots were in street demonstrations which attracted the attention of the news media. In all three instances, however, social media dialogue was not limited to online space but received significant offline cover as well. This also raised questions about the dynamics of news coverage and social media platforms, namely whether they are a source of news or another way for journalists to disseminate information (Murthy, 2013: 54-56; McGregor, 2019).

Hashtags in particular help collate topics being discussed on Twitter, helping to streamline content on a site where news is constant and ever changing (Murthy, 2013: 51). For journalists, this can provide a useful source for a quick story based on popular topics (Paulussen and Harder, 2014). A result on monitoring hashtags is that journalists can use them as a way of 'crowdsourcing' stories or opinions (if inaccurately) on various topics and presenting them as such (Murthy, 2013: 55). As Twitter users are self-selecting the viability of using online activity for measuring public opinion is still under discussion, as we will see in Chapter Five. As a form of 'lazy journalism', hashtags can also be used to present the opinions of a few connected to a particular topic as popular opinion and help generate more 'clickbait' articles to attract similarly minded individuals. However, underlying the feature is the opportunity to raise awareness and, more significantly, initiate a dialogue.

### 4.2.3.2 @-reply

Another chatroom habit that emerged on Twitter was the use of the @-symbol to indicate the direction of a tweet toward a specific user, for example, a tweet directed to the Labour Party account would begin @UKLabour (Seward, 2013). This was a significant development in facilitating interaction on the site because it enabled a more direct method of communication between users and tweets

compared to the hashtag narratives. Several updates were introduced to adapt the feature to Twitter, and one of the most significant was the decision to facilitate 'conversations' that were formed through @-replies, presenting them as a string of dialogue. This included the introduction of a 'reply' option to all posts to speed up the process of composing a response. Layout changes followed that continued to make conversations more clearly identifiable and easier to navigate.

At this point, it is necessary to distinguish between @-replies and @mentions. The latter are normally used through the inclusion of the username(s) at the end of a tweet to ensure specific users are notified about the tweet upon it being posted; however, this may also be achieved by starting a tweet with a username preceded by a full stop to indicate the tweet is not a reply. A user is not required to follow an account to be able to 'tag' them (the use of @-reply or @-mention). As such, this technique provides a method through which users can communicate more directly with one another, be they existing friends or strangers, celebrities, or politicians. Much like the follower system, the lack of reciprocity and strong digital attachment required for users to interact reinforces Twitter's focus on ensuring content remains open to public viewing rather than creating a closed community network.

The introduction of the @-reply feature to Twitter was significant in its facilitation of a more direct form of open communication. This feature allows the development of a dialogue as opposed to the looser connection offered by the hashtag narratives. It also added opportunities for more personalised engagement. As discussed in Chapter Three, there is a difference between being provided the opportunity to do something (in this case, engage in more

direct rational-critical discussion) and individuals opting to do so (i.e., successfully getting the users to utilise the platform as intended). Architecturally, conversations allow another method of communication with the potential for rational-critical debate. The engagement of political parties and candidates with the conversation feature is examined in the following chapters.

#### 4.2.3.3 Retweets

'Retweets' comprised another user-initiated addition to Twitter. A retweet is a method through which tweets can be shared across the platform by other users. For example, an MP might want to 'share' a post by their party leader, thereby spreading the tweet to a wider audience, or associating themselves more closely with either the leader or their words. However, some MPs are careful to include a disclaimer in the 140-character biography section of their Twitter page that a retweet does not mean endorsement; sharing a tweet can be to indicate its popularity, notoriety, or both (Shadbolt et al., 2019).

The Twitter founders were once again initially unimpressed by this grassroot development on the site but, as it became increasingly popular, they relented and, in 2009, implemented the retweet button, which allowed users to more easily share tweets from other accounts (Stone, 2009; Seward, 2013). However, the retweet button does not represent the only method used to denote a retweet; some users prefer to type 'RT' at the start of a post before copying in the username of the original author followed by the text of the tweet they wish to share. The difference is partly cosmetic; when the retweet button is used, the post is presented on the site in its original form, so the page from which the tweet originated is identified as the author's, with only a note above the tweet indicating that it has been retweeted. In contrast, if a post is manually retweeted

to create a separate message, it is instead acknowledged as a post from the page retweeting it and only the original text is quoted. This form of retweet starts with 'RT' followed by the Twitter handle of the page the original post came from, and then the text of that post is presented in quotation marks. In this instance, further text can also be added by the retweeting account, often to provide commentary on what has been said.

Ultimately, the retweet function provides the potential for a tweet to be seen by a larger audience than just the followers of the original account that tweeted and has become another key mechanism in content 'going viral' (Murthy, 2013: 6). For example, in 2014, an image tweeted by American TV host Ellen DeGeneres – a 'selfie' taken by Hollywood actor Bradley Cooper surrounded by a number of the star-studded audience at that year's Academy Awards – became the most shared post at the time with over 3 million retweets, 2 million of which came before the ceremony had even finished broadcasting<sup>5</sup> (Brooks, 2014; Shadbolt et al., 2019).

Overall, the introduction and adoption of these three communication devices to Twitter indicated a user preference to actively engage with content on the site. This influenced the development of the platform away from its more broadcast-focused origins. Although Twitter remains content rather than community-orientated, these developments have opened it up as an architecturally deliberative space through which users can be connected by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It later transpired this was actually a well-crafted stunt, planned between DeGeneres and Samsung, a sponsor at the event.

topics. Chapter Five examines how UK political parties have utilised the different design features of the site.

### 4.2 The Obama Effect

"...I'm told that I was responsible for the first-ever political tweet." (Johnson, 2016: 298)

In 2007, Alan Johnson (Labour MP for Hull West and Hessel) became the first UK Member of Parliament to tweet (Baxter and Marcella, 2012). At the time, this event passed unnoticed: no record of the content of the tweet has been found, and neither Johnson, his campaign manager Gerry Sutcliffe, nor the "guy called Stuart" who uploaded the tweet, can recall its content (Johnson, 2016: 298; Singleton, 2017). This tweet was not posted in a sudden and enthusiastic embrace of new technologies but was rather a tentative dipping of the toe into the realm of social media campaigning. It was posted as part of Johnson's campaign to become Labour deputy leader, which was significant in that the decision to engage with the site was triggered by an upcoming election. However, at the time, Twitter was still in its infancy with limited users and reach, and tweeting did not gain more widespread adoption amongst either the British public or MPs until a few years later (Baxter and Marcella, 2012).

Unlike Johnson, Barack Obama made a considerable impact in America through his digital campaign for the 2008 US Presidency. This was an election that signalled a turning point in the relationship between political campaigning and social media (Tapscott, 2009; Parmelee and Bichard, 2013; Charles, 2014). The practice of mobilising the electorate through the internet was in itself not new; in 2000, the Republican candidate John McCain plugged his website (which accepted payments from major card companies without a minimum spending limit) at every opportunity after his success in the New Hampshire primary and saw a sudden surge in donations, with more than 40% from firsttime political donors (van Natta Jr., 2004). In 2004, Democrat candidate Howard Dean similarly attracted attention with the successful use of online donations for his campaign. However, unlike McCain's website campaign, Dean's use of Meetup.com was not limited to fundraising; his campaign also used the site to mobilise volunteers to visit voters door-to-door, host meetings, and distribute campaign leaflets but without engaging in rational-critical dialogue on the site (Waite, 2010). By 2008, social media and networking technologies had added new opportunities for an interactive relationship between candidates and the public more akin to grassroot campaigning than the centralised distribution of information to a passive audience.

Obama's campaign staff recognised the potential of the Internet and social media to both connect with and mobilise the public. Thus, they created a new organisational model which was embraced to the extent that it became "an equal part of the campaign rather than subservient" (Baumgartner and Morris, 2010: 56; Smith, 2010). The Obama Model, and the subsequent 'Obama Effect' wherein political actors imitated the Obama campaign's online strategy, signified a more digitised approach to campaigning. This approach involved online fundraising, the sharing and organising of both online and offline campaign activities, and most significantly, the creation of opportunities for the public to participate in policy debates (Solop, 2010; Charles, 2014). The recognition of social media as a new environment that allowed the rapid and

widespread distribution of information and networking with the public proved central to the Obama Model's success. Obama's website, myBO.com, became an active social networking site, contrasting with the traditional structure of party and candidate webpages. Over 35,000 separate volunteer groups were created through the site, connecting and mobilising supporters, all at very little cost to the campaign (Baumgartner and Morris, 2010; Chadwick, 2013). This stood in sharp contrast to the digital campaign of Obama's rival for the Democratic presidential nomination, Hillary Clinton, whose team employed sites such as Twitter as just another top-down broadcast medium and lacked coordination with digital grassroot campaigns (Tapscott, 2009). These decisions demonstrated differences in each campaign's understanding of social media and how it varied from other forms of political communication.

Twitter was particularly useful in constructing personalised politics by creating the impression that individuals enjoyed a direct line of communication to political candidates. The Obama campaign actively encouraged supporters to send messages to Obama via his official Twitter page (Mackay, 2010). Similarly, when a user signed up to follow Obama on Twitter, his account would return the favour and follow the user back, an action that Clinton's account did not emulate (Tapscott, 2009). Obama's campaign further encouraged this sense of community by striking a balance between top-down control and tactics that Talbot (2008) referred to as "anarchy" which, when he compared it to his perception of an iron-clad grip of control and careful crafting usually demonstrated during political campaigns, was not as hyperbolic a description as it first sounded. Chris Hughes, Obama's director of online organising, put it less dramatically in his explanation that "the overarching goals of the campaign

[had] been about getting supporters to reach out to other supporters by giving them the right information" (Tapscott, 2009: 250). The campaign armed supporters with the knowledge and means to set up their own fundraising pages and connected users when donations were made. Online donors were encouraged to compose a brief note expressing their reasons for supporting Obama or their feelings about the campaign; the campaign would send a thank you email and a randomly selected note from a fellow donor when they sent confirmations of donations (Tapscott, 2009). By creating an online, interactive community network, Obama's digital campaign produced higher levels of engagement amongst youth voters and demonstrated the ability to mobilise large numbers of supporters with a campaign that lacked the financial backing enjoyed by other candidates (Baumgartner and Morris, 2010; Kreiss, 2012).

When examining Obama's digital campaign, it is important to recognise that none of the social media sites were used in isolation. Instead, the various sites were used interconnectedly and in conjunction with other forms of communication to help spread the wider campaign message. To allow the effective use of each media outlet, the campaign needed to understand the design architecture of each site and then embrace their individual strengths and weaknesses. Following Obama's 2012 campaign, I next explore how social media was incorporated into the 2010 UK General Elections campaigns and how social media communications developed in the lead up to the 2015 election.

### 4.3 2010 and All That: An Unmemorable Social Media Election

"Everyone claimed that 2010 was the first digital election in British political history. Well we worked on it, and trust us – it really wasn't" (Elder and Edmonds, 2015).

"Facebook and Twitter to have unprecedented impact", exclaimed The Daily Telegraph on 6 April 2010 (Swaine, 2010). The newspaper was not alone in its expectation of a 'social media election'. At the start of the 2010 campaign, newspapers and other media had been quick to predict that social media would take centre stage during the election campaign, bringing with it levels of participation echoing those achieved by Obama's digital campaign two years prior (Gibson et al., 2010; Williamson, 2010; Deacon and Wring, 2011; Baxter and Marcella, 2012). However, just three weeks after publication, The Daily Telegraph followed its April headline with the question "This was meant to be the internet election – so what happened?" (cited in Gibson et al., 2010: 2). In reality, 2010 proved more memorable as the social media election that was not rather than the social media election that was. Despite the hype, two key reasons explained why the Obama Effect was not replicated across the pond. Firstly, the media failed to consider the difference between the two political systems (Williamson, 2010). Secondly, and more importantly, the technological know-how and willingness of the parties and candidates to embrace social media were greatly overestimated.

Obama's success was difficult to replicate in the UK, and more widely across Europe, due to the candidate-focused nature of the US presidential elections (Williamson, 2010). The campaign was for a single individual with whom all literature could be associated. This helped create a more personalised campaign suited to some social media features such as 'friending' on Facebook and following or messaging Obama (or at least his account) on Twitter. Some of this personalisation must inevitably be lost when connecting with an organisation, such as a political party, rather than a known individual. In contrast, a campaign built around one candidate provides a clear centre, with this person and their ideas packaged as the 'product' sold to the electorate. From a strategic perspective, a campaign structured around the election of an individual should generally be easier to control. Although leadership in UK politics has become increasingly 'presidential' in style, it has remained a partycentred system, and consequently, individual candidates often must coordinate with their party (Foley, 1993).

For the Conservatives, the adoption of Twitter as a campaign tool proved an even greater challenge as leader and figurehead David Cameron had not yet joined the site by the time of the 2010 general election. Nor was he looking to, having declared during a radio interview in July 2009 – the same month Ed Miliband set up his Twitter account – that "too many twits might make a twat" (commonly misquoted as "too many tweets make a twat") and that he had no plans to be on Twitter (Barrabé, 2009). Cameron was not averse to digital media in general; when he became Leader of the Opposition in 2006, he launched his own website, webcameron.org. On the site, he published blogs and posted videos in which he "talked politics", often from his kitchen or his hotel room. In October 2012, Cameron succumbed and signed up for a Twitter account. However, he raised an important issue with Twitter during the same 2009 radio interview, arguing that "the trouble with Twitter [is] the instantness [*sic*]" of it (Barrabé, 2009). On 'WebCameron', he and his team had authority over the site, allowing him to broadcast his thoughts in the form of in-depth, structured arguments without the interaction, character limits, and 'instantness' inherent to Twitter.

In the broader context of online campaigning, the greater visibility offered by Twitter can be a source of anxiety for the parties' central campaign teams. The platform reaches a much wider audience than local mainstream news outlets so the potential for views posted by candidates or MPs that deviate from the party line or might embarrass the party have a much greater chance of going viral. This urge for centralised control is at odds with the openness Twitter provides and could bring the national and local campaigns into greater conflict. As Chapter Seven examines, this proved to be a challenge for the parties in the lead up to the 2015 election when Twitter use amongst MPs rose to five times as high as 2010 and the platform became an integrated method of political communication.

The parties' and candidates' failure to adapt the Obama Model to their own pages during the 2010 campaign, combined with a rather blasé approach to social media, ended any misconceptions of a social media election. In actuality, confessed Craig Elder and Tom Edmonds, directors of the Conservative Party's 2015 digital campaign, "none of the parties had a clue how to use digital [media] effectively" (Elder and Edmonds, 2015). As the common expression says, hindsight is 20/20, and Elder and Edmonds' reflection on the 2010 election was written almost five years later when the digital campaigns had become much more streamlined and integrated into the parties' wider election campaigns. However, even in 2010, the sentiment remained similar; social media was relegated to the "fun stuff", incorporating memes and humour in an attempt to connect with the electorate but with no aim of amalgamating social media into its central campaign communications (Channel 4 News, 2015). This was also at a time when the parties were still grappling with adapting to Web 1.0 features – party websites and emailing – and integrating them into their campaigns (Baxter et al., 2011). Only the Liberal Democrats seemed to show a deeper understanding of how sites like Twitter could be used in a more effective manner, as well as a willingness to adapt to the new technology (Fisher et al., 2011; Baxter and Marcella, 2012; Graham et al., 2013).

The Liberal Democrats had been the first of the three main UK political parties to sign up to the site in May 2007, eleven months before either Labour or the Conservatives. In 2010, 25.7% of Liberal Democrat candidates were active on the site during the final two weeks of the campaign, more than Labour (21.6%) and the Conservatives (18.7%) (Graham et al., 2013). They were responsible for 50% of the 26,282 tweets collected across all candidates' accounts (Graham et al., 2013). These posts were overwhelmingly 'broadcast' tweets; they provided no interaction between users and the candidates or parties (Baxter and Marcella, 2012; Jungherr, 2016). The parties primarily used broadcast tweets, an example of top-down campaigning, to publicise campaign messages or update users on the campaign trail (Graham et al., 2013; Graham et al., 2014). Although Twitter provided the potential for direct form of communication and dialogue between the political parties, candidates, and other users, the political actors still displayed a clear hesitancy in adopting this practice. This did not prevent netizens from attempting to open a dialogue however, they were often met with silence.

Despite the (generally) limited interactions on Twitter, the Liberal Democrats appeared drawn to the platform for three reasons specific to the party. Firstly, the high levels of engagement with social media sites amongst people under thirty complemented the party's younger voter base. Secondly, as a party with less financial backing than the Labour and Conservative parties, a new (and free) source of communication offered more opportunities to engage with the public. Thirdly, the Liberal Democrats have traditionally been structured as less top-down than their rivals, which is echoed in their more open-minded approach to the potential of Twitter and other social media. However, the extent to which they were more open-minded is only relative to the other two main parties. The levels of interaction the parties engaged with on the site are examined in relation to the 2015 UK general election campaign in Chapter Five.

# 4.4 2010-2015: The Interim

Several new developments were introduced to Twitter between the 2010 and 2015 UK general elections which influenced the expansion and development of the site. During this interim, Twitter's user base grew substantially, helped along by a series of technological innovations. In September 2012, the site celebrated reaching 100 million active users worldwide. By December 2012, this number had already doubled to 200 million. The UK alone saw an increase of more than half the number of users in three years, from 8.6 million in 2012 to over 13 million in 2015. As Twitter welcomed more users to the site, it also became increasingly integrated in everyday social interactions, business, news reporting, and political communication. In news reporting, it has been adopted into the process of releasing information; 'breaking news' could easily be

reported on the site, keeping people updated whilst 'on-the-go' and offering a link to updating news stories (Chadwick, 2013). Professional journalists also increasingly used the site not only to provide live updates to ongoing events but also to express their own opinions more freely (Murthy, 2013: 54-55; Lee, 2015). For example, Piers Morgan, the former *Daily Mirror* editor, has been well-known for airing his outspoken views on site. Although it has provided an additional outlet for journalists, Twitter has also been a space in which they have come under scrutiny (Lasorsa et al., 2011). The media landscape has also changed to one of greater diversity and complexity, and the previous dominance of the mainstream media has come under threat as social media sites like Twitter have provided a new global arena for news and citizen journalists (Bruns and Highfield, 2016: 101).

Two key developments in advertising and connectivity altered the direction of the site in the early 2010s. Firstly, Twitter introduced a new feature called 'promoted tweets', which allowed (paid) advertising on the site for the first time. Just over a year later, the company launched a second important update; a Twitter 'follower button' was made available for placement on external websites, which proved significant in expanding Twitter's connectivity. These changes were introduced at a time when 'data mining' (using datasets such as online searches to identify patterns in online activity) and the use of 'big data' analytics (large sets of data that require computerised software to sort) were gaining traction as the technology became more advanced. The introduction of new ways to identify trends in behaviour signalled a move towards the challenges to radical-critical thinking that Habermas had been wary of. The use of personal information enables businesses or other groups to adapt their

campaigns or advertisements accordingly. This means an individual's digital footprint can potentially be used to predetermine the information they are exposed to and hinder the individuals' ability to make informed choices.

### 4.4.1 Promoted Tweets

One of the early criticisms levelled at Twitter was its lack of a business model (Stone, 2010). The founders had stated publicly that they did not want to resort to traditional website advertising but sought to incorporate it in a way that complemented rather than altering the site (Stone, 2010). This objective produced the concept of 'promoted tweets' (also referred to as 'sponsored tweets'); rather than allow advertisements to pop up or flash on the side of the screen, Twitter decided that any adverts would instead take the form of tweets. The company promoted this feature with the tagline, "ordinary tweets that businesses and individuals want to highlight to a wider group of users" (Stone, 2010) Utilising data mining, the content can be published to reach a broad or specific audience depending on the requirements of the client. Initially launched in April 2010, the concept expanded during the next six months to include promoted trends and promoted accounts.

When an advertiser creates a promoted tweet, they can decide how they want to target the tweet. Advertisers can pay for promoted tweets to appear at the top of a related search term – for example, Starbucks might want to promote a tweet that would immediately be made visible to anyone who types 'coffee' into the search bar. A promoted tweet would still be viewable as an ordinary tweet however, promoted-only tweets do not appear on the advertiser's profile

page, only in search results or for those who meet certain criteria. Advertisers can specify criteria for those who can view promoted tweets, including gender, interests, the type of device used to access the site, and geography. These tweets can still be engaged with like any other tweet; they can be replied to, retweeted, and favourited by users. The cost of a promoted tweet often depends on the levels of targeting attached to it but varied between \$0.75 and \$2.50 per engagement in 2010 (Heine, 2011). Charging per engagement presents a twofold advantage. Firstly, if a promoted tweet does not attract much engagement, it is removed; Twitter will only allow one promoted tweet per search page as it prevents users from being inundated with advertisements and stops the advertisements from becoming stale. Secondly, by logging each engagement individually, data is collected on users' habits which are then fed back to the individuals or businesses who paid for the advertising to indicate how well users are responding to their advertisements. The latterly developed 'promoted accounts' were introduced to work in a similar way but with fewer targeting options, and the cost is based on the number of new followers acquired during the promotion period (initially between \$2.50 and \$4 each) (Heine, 2011).

In contrast, 'promoted trends' are usually built around hashtags. Although a keyword could be used instead, it is much less effective for marketing. Using algorithms, a list is published on Twitter of what it terms as 'trends'; these are the words or hashtags that are most commonly used on the platform at any one time. Each user is automatically presented with a list of the top ten trends at the side of their screen so they can see 'what's trending?'. Usually trends are identified by geography, such as the United Kingdom, but they can also be focused on more specific areas such as Scotland or even London. A promoted trend is placed at the top of the list throughout the day, regardless of the amount of traffic it receives. In 2013, a promoted trend was reported to cost \$200,000, but as Twitter requires any potential buyers to contact the company directly to set up these advertisements, the actual cost may vary (Fiegerman, 2013). However, promoted tweets and accounts can be directly set up by the user, making them accessible to everyone with a valid payment method. The integration of sponsored content into the Twittersphere echoed Habermas' warnings of the commodification of the public sphere. Additionally, the targeting of tweets to specific audiences reflects his concerns about echo chambers, raising questions around informal exclusion on the grounds of personalised advertising. However, although these devices are present on the site, they have limited impact on the deliberative potential of the site, the architecture of which ultimately remains reliant on the 'grassroot' users and their production of content.

# 4.4.2 The Follow Button

In 2011, Twitter introduced a hyperlinked 'follow button' for external websites. The inclusion of the follow button on a website, such as that of a MP, provides visitors with a direct link to the associated Twitter page, which opens in a new tab rather than redirecting the visitor from the original webpage. The user could then opt to follow the account. This feature was predated by the 'tweet button', introduced in 2010, which could be added to third party websites and allowed Twitter users to share the relevant article on their Twitter pages. Both these features were important in expanding the connectivity and information sharing of Twitter, making it easier and more user-friendly. The follow button marked a particularly significant turning point, offering a new way of inviting website visitors to stay updated with the latest news in a faster but less personal way than asking for email addresses. Additionally, it removed the inconvenience of having to revisit several websites for news as Twitter provided users with a single space for updates from different sources to be delivered concisely. Follower buttons (and otherwise-named equivalents), as pioneered by Twitter, now represent a well-integrated part of websites which have been made available by a variety of social media and social network sites such as YouTube, Facebook, and LinkedIn to increase connectivity. With their pioneering introduction of the follower button, Twitter stopped being an experiment and became a recognisable player in digital social connectivity. These cross-media connections reinforce the acceptance of social media and Twitter as integrated, mainstream modes of communication and their positions as 'networks within a network'.

### 4.4.3 Obama 2012

As a consequence of Obama's successful digital media campaign in 2008, Twitter saw a sudden uptake in registrations by politicians across to the United States; by the time of the 2010 midterm elections, usage amongst candidates from both main parties was almost universal (Graham et al., 2013). As Obama stood for re-election in 2012, the gap in digital campaigning between his campaign team and that of Republican opponent Mitt Romney initially seemed to have closed; many of the social media methods employed by the Obama team in 2008, such as donations and the mobilisation of supporters, had been well studied not only in the US but also in Europe (Bimber, 2014). However, by the time of the 2012 US presidential election, Obama's advisers were aware that Facebook was even more popular than it had been in 2008, smartphones were becoming the 'norm', and Twitter ("a stupid technology that would never go anywhere" as once described by Jim Messina, Obama's National Chief of Staff in 2008) – was here to stay (Cramer, 2012, November 10; Bimber, 2014).

Rather than a simple repeat performance of 2008, Obama's 2012 digital campaign had evolved to be more sophisticated, incorporating data analytics and behavioural modelling on a large scale, reflecting the changes in the social media landscape (Issenberg, 2012; Bimber, 2014; Jin et al., 2015). Around this time, the terms 'data analytics', 'behavioural modelling', and 'big data' became much more widely used as computer software was increasingly being designed both to gather and analyse data on a large scale (Mayer-Schönberger and Cukier, 2013). This form of data collection enabled Twitter to create its series of promoted content around micro-targeting. Although data collection by no means represented a new phenomenon in political campaigning, the ability to collect and analyse data on such a large scale with increasingly sophisticated algorithms presented new opportunities. The Obama campaign was particularly keen to consolidate this new data with information previously collected, creating a larger database and a greater ability to micro-target (Bimber, 2014). Obama's chief strategist David Axelrod surmised that 2012 made the 2008 campaign look "prehistoric" (Bimber, 2014: 141). Understanding how to utilise Twitter as both an open social media site and a source of data collection meant the site had become an integrated part of political campaigning.

# 4.6 Conclusion

Twitter was created as a social media site that emphasised content sharing above community networking. This decision informed the site's focus on providing a means for users to receive and post updates 'on the go'. However, many of Twitter's interactive features were introduced in reaction to users' methods of communicating and sharing information. The ability to become part of a dialogue through hashtags and reply to tweets in the form of a 'conversation' were significant user-led innovations that fed into the site's credentials as a deliberative space. The variety of communication features on the site all contributed to encouraging information-sharing and dialogue, with the potential to stimulate rational-critical debate.

However, the opportunities that the different features provide for participation and deliberation do not guarantee the presence of rational-critical debate. Instead, individual user preference also guides how the methods of communication are adopted. This does not undermine the site's potential but highlights the need for users to be receptive to the opportunities for discourse, a consideration that will be explored more closely in the next few chapters in relation to the political parties and candidates during the 2015 election.

A turning point for social media in election campaigns began with the 2008 Obama campaign. Obama's team had integrated Web 2.0 features into its online campaign and its willingness to encourage communication with and between Obama supporters helped reach and mobilise large numbers of people. The campaign was prepared to go some way towards embracing the user-led nature of social media. The 2010 UK general election campaigns were expected to follow this model, innovative at the time, and embrace the new
social media technologies as communication tools. However, a social media campaign failed to materialise, as the parties did little to engage with the technology. Two years later, the digital campaigns of the candidates in the 2012 US Presidential elections were heavily influenced by the Obama Model of 2008. The goalposts of digital success had moved, and Obama's team developed an even more sophisticated online strategy that incorporated big data analysis. The continued impact of digital campaign meant the UK parties were more receptive to it and looked to follow suit sooner rather than later.

The following chapter examines how political parties and candidates engaged with Twitter during the 2015 UK general election. It investigates the extent to which the political parties were willing to embrace the deliberative potential of Twitter through their use of the site's design features.

# Chapter Five: Representative Publicity on the Party Twitter Pages

At its founding, Twitter was built on the accumulation of user-generated content and was, as established in Chapter Four, architecturally viable as a public sphere. Although the design of the platform reflected the ideas of Habermas' (1989) public sphere, the natural next point for consideration is the realisation of such goals in practice. Thus, this thesis aims to establish to what extent the political parties on Twitter engaged with the site's deliberative potential through the utilisation of Twitter's design features. This includes an examination of how far the parties' use of the site reflected Habermas' concerns of a return to 'representative publicity' through 'manipulated publicity'. In this capacity, they would display their power before the people instead of *for* the people, addressing them as the public but without engaging in rational-critical debate, thus creating a pseudo-public sphere. If Habermas' concerns are applicable to social media, political parties would be expected to broadcast their messages without encouraging citizen discussion and act as the dominant voices within the 'pseudo-public sphere'.

This chapter begins by outlining the debate between the 'normalisation thesis' and the opposing view that the internet and social media can transform political communication (Margolis and Resnick, 2000). Then, it focuses on the different modes of participation available through the interactive devices on Twitter – *following*, *engaging*, *endorsing*, and *contributing* – that provide the foundation for investigating the extent to which the parties have adapted to the opportunities for greater citizen engagement, rather than applying the traditional

method of one-way communication. Additionally, it considers the interconnected nature of different media platforms and the impact of external events. Finally, the use of sponsored content, a later addition to the site, provides an interesting challenge to the initial design intention of Twitter as a public sphere. The implications of this feature are examined in relation to the Conservative Party's use of sponsored tweets during the 2015 UK general election and other paid social media activity, acting as a case study into manipulated publicity and the advantages enjoyed by a resource-rich organisation.

### 5.1 Politics as Usual?

Scholars have debated the internet's likely impact on political communication since its early years, and the introduction of social media has only served to reinvigorate this discussion (Dahlgren, 2005; Farrell, 2012; Wright, 2012). The two sides of this debate reflect the divisions between Habermas' expectations of a public sphere and his fears of a pseudo-public sphere. Rheingold (1993) was an early 'revolutionary' from the inception of the internet who expected that online communication would bring about a significant or complete change in society's approach to politics. This revolutionary stance continued into the advent of social media (Davis, 2009; Shirky, 2011), with the expectation that it would increase citizen participation by providing them with a louder political voice (Carswell, 2012; Wright, 2012; Rehan and Zolkepli, 2021). These scholars identify with Habermas' vision of a deliberative space in which rational-critical debate takes place, and they see the internet and social media as a means to its realisation (Skoric et al., 2016). The other side comprises supporters of the

normalisation thesis, which posits that rather than bringing about change, "virtual reality [that is, the online world] has grown to resemble the real world" where political communication is centrally controlled and primarily consists of one-way interactions (Margolis and Resnick, 2000: 2; Hindman, 2009; Graham et al., 2013). Underlying this is a connection to Habermas' concerns in the form of 'consumer culture' and representative publicity – profit and broadcastorientated delivery of news – overshadowing any potential for rational-critical debate.

For 'revolutionaries', the internet's virtue lies in its potential to provide democracy-enriching environments in which communication can become more open and interactive, unencumbered by time or space (Freelon, 2010). This view considers the internet as an interactive space which can accommodate digital platforms suitable for discussions involving a large number of netizens and bring about a more direct and reciprocal relationship between not only the different users but also the public and their elected representatives (Dahlberg, 2005; Wright and Street, 2007; Graham et al., 2013). The 'normalisation' thesis is far less optimistic. Attributed to Margolis and Resnick (2000), the term 'normalisation' has sometimes been misinterpreted as meaning that the internet has not brought about any changes to political communication (Wright, 2012). In actuality, the normalisation thesis does not dismiss a change in modes of political communication but instead argues that the *manner* of communication does not differ, as political actors refuse to adapt to new opportunities for political interaction (Margolis and Resnick, 2000). Instead, the potential of the new digital media is absorbed into the pre-existing 'broadcast' style of dissemination found in the traditional media; hence, the online world tends to duplicate the practices of the 'real' world.

Although the normalisation perspective often focuses on political actors broadcasting to citizens, this was not the only type of communication political parties engaged with. There have been attempts by UK parties to engage in two-way communication; two examples are the Conservative Political Centre (CPC) and the 'Labour Listens' initiative. The CPC was formed as the new political education body of the Conservative Party after its shock defeat in the 1945 UK general election. The main purpose of the body was to facilitate dialogue between party leaders and party members by co-ordinating meetings, discussions and the delivery of responses through the local branches (Norton, 2013). Labour Listens was launched in 1987 after the party's third consecutive election defeat. Then-leader Neil Kinnock called it "the biggest consultation exercise with the British public any political party has ever undertaken" (Massey, 2020: 107). This involved open meeting held across the country attended by members of the public and Labour politicians. Significantly, however, these initiatives were both set up in reaction to unexpected electoral defeats and not during an election campaign or the party's time in government.

The contrasting viewpoints of the transformative and normalisation thesis have also been criticised for being too polarised (Wright, 2012: 245). A particular criticism on both sides has pointed to the lack of recognition of the implications of discourse architecture or how the design of a site can influence the ability of a platform to act as a space for deliberation (Wright, 2012; Freelon, 2015). The ideals behind Habermas' institutional criteria for the public sphere, as outlined in Chapter Three, have largely been acknowledged as implicit in the commonly accepted interpretations of deliberation, and Twitter's inherent design reflects these principles as examined in Chapter Four (Freelon, 2010). Understanding the design architecture of Twitter is important to examine how it functions as its own sphere and differentiate it from other social media platforms.

Habermas' (2006) amendment to his original vision of a homogenous public sphere to one consisting of multiple networks formed of different publics was introduced in reaction to the growing fragmentation of different media platforms. Firstly, there was the division between the physical and virtual worlds. This initial separation was followed by internal fragmentation, seen earlier in the growing number of television channels and then in the expanding choice of television and internet service providers, digital streaming platforms, and the variety of social media sites available in the digital environment. Amongst the multiplicity of social media sites, the different design architectures ultimately make each platform unique. For example, YouTube is built for video sharing, Instagram is based on images, and Facebook is designed to connect people, while Twitter is shaped around sharing information. Although there are some similarities between Facebook and Twitter, as is illustrated further in the following sections, core divergences exist in their designs, as discussed in Chapter Four. The key differences are Twitter is an 'open' platform for information-sharing and deliberation whereas Facebook is a closed, community space.

105

# 5.2 Online Participation: Forms of Engagement

Initially explored in Chapter Three, further research has continued to show that the online environment has generally had a positive effect on citizen participation in politics, increasing their engagement (Skoric et al., 2016; Kutlu, 2018). However, participation can be measured in different ways. In social media, five distinct levels of online communication exist, and the movement down the list of these levels reflects an inverted triangle: the greater the level of participation required, the lower the likelihood of engagement (Knoll et al., 2018). These forms of online participation provide a framework to analyse the relationship between the parties' activities on Twitter and the design features of the site, culminating in a view of the parties' attitudes towards connecting with online citizens and the type of interactions they encourage. From this framework, I have derived five key levels for categorising user engagement.

The first level is the 'observation' of content posted. Rather than requiring a measurable attachment to any Twitter account, 'netizens' simply browse what has been written by other. Additionally, it does not necessarily come in the form of actively searching for a profile on the site. Furthermore, it covers passive viewing of content on the site when a mutual account shares the information, whether it appears as sponsored content or is even shared on other platforms such as news websites. Observation itself is difficult to measure and, as it also underlies the other modes of participation, it was not examined as an independent factor in this thesis.

'Following' an account represents the next level of participation. Still a very limited form of engagement, it creates a measurable digital attachment between accounts but does not represent an equal connection. The action of following a page does not require authorisation (unless the account is set to 'private'), nor is a reciprocating 'follow' from the account necessary to create the attachment, unlike Facebook. Thus, the connection is largely passive.

The third level is 'engaging'. This level encompasses favouriting content, viewing a video, or clicking a hyperlink. Again, a somewhat limited form of participation but one that requires a more active contribution and demonstrates a greater interaction with the content.

The final two are much more active forms of participation: 'endorsing' and 'contributing'. The former consists of the active sharing of content with others, such as retweeting, which widens the potential audience but still does not require a user to comment with their own words. This stage leads to the final one, contributing, in which a user posts a tweet as part of a conversation with other users or engages in a wider narrative by using hashtags in their posts.

# 5.2.1 Following

As a low-level form of engagement, 'following' an account does not automatically translate as an endorsement even if it does create a measurable digital attachment. However, as following forms a traceable connection between accounts (listed as following and followed on the respective pages), users are more likely to follow accounts they are willing to be publicly associated with. As discussed in Chapter Four, the action of following a Twitter page creates a oneway relationship compared with the reciprocal friending on Facebook. The follower connection is easily formed through the touch of a button; by following an account, the user consents to allow content from the chosen account to appear on their timeline (home page). This removes the need for the user to search out different profiles each time they want to view the content. Once the attachment has been made, it requires no maintenance on the part of followers but does keep the flow of information in the periphery whether or not the connection is still actively desired.

Although it reflects a minimal form of participation, follower data provides a basic numerical indication of online activity, attachment, and the receptiveness of other users. The real-time data records a reactive environment which in turn raises three questions about the parties' Twitter pages during the 2015 election campaign. The first question relates to the utility of follower statistics as a means of predicting election outcomes, or at least providing the parties with an insight into voting intentions. The second question investigates how the parties in 2015 in terms of follower numbers compared with other users on the site and what these rankings suggest about the most numerically popular profiles in the site. Finally, long-term trends are investigated to identify patterns in behaviour and their relationship with offline events and actors, notably the mass media, in influencing the Twittersphere. Each area is explored to consider how they influence the parties' engagement on the site.

#### 5.2.1.1 Election Forecasting

Twitter's potential as a tool for predicting election outcomes was an early source of interest for researchers investigating the site's potential as a source of public opinion (Murphy et al., 2014; Anstead and O'Loughlin, 2015; Schober et al., 2016; Klašnja et al., 2018). First, there is the crude approach of using the number of followers to predict relative election success for political parties. Of the four main parties identified for the purposes of this thesis (Conservative, Labour, Liberal Democrats, and UKIP), the ranking by the number of followers on the final day of campaigning in 2015 was Labour, Conservative, UKIP, and Liberal Democrats, with Labour significantly ahead – a highly misleading forecast of the final results (**Table 1**). Similarly, the net gains in follower numbers over the five-week period leading up to and including the final day of campaigning implied an outcome that differed from the results. Notably, UKIP saw a greater increase in followers than the Conservatives whilst the Liberal Democrats had smallest increase, but it was UKIP that came out of the election with only one MP. However, the party did see their vote rise by 9.5 percentage points, the largest of the night.

Table 1. Follower Statistics for the Twitter Accounts of the UK Parties Suring
the 2015 Election Campaign, Ranked by Vote Percentage in the Election
(Highest to Lowest)

Chatiatian for the Twitter Associate of the LUC Dertice Curring

Party	Followers	Net Gain of Followers
	(6 May)	(2 April – 6 May)
Conservatives	156,480	14,089
Labour	214,273	27,021
UKIP	102,997	16,746
Liberal Democrats	95,340	9,359
SNP	93,465	16,979
Green Party	136,228	21,427

Matters were further complicated when including other parties from the 2015 elections, such as the Green Party and the geographically focused Scottish National Party (SNP). Based solely on raw follower statistics, the Green Party would have placed a strong third, situated approximately 2,000 followers behind the Conservatives and 34,000 ahead of UKIP. The net gains presented an even more skewed version of the parties' final positions in the election results, with the Greens and SNP achieving the second- and third-highest net gains, respectively, amongst the parties. Overall, neither the follower statistics on polling day nor the net gains over the campaign period offered any clear indication of the election results.

There have been attempts to predict election outcomes through more sophisticated methods of collecting tweets that mentioned parties and recording their sentiments (Jungherr et al., 2012; Murthy, 2015). However, one of the challenges has been determining the sample of parties to investigate. In their research, Tumasjan et al. (2011) used this more comprehensive method to try to predict the outcome of the 2009 German Federal Election by exploring how Twitter reflected the political landscape. Their findings indicated that online sentiment (identified through the tone of the related tweets) somewhat reflected the political climate, but they did acknowledge a less equal sample size than those used in similar studies which produced contradictory findings. A consequent reapplication of the Tumasjan et al. (2011) methodology for the same election but with the inclusion of an additional party found that this newly included party – the Pirate Party – should have been the winner, at least if considering only Twitter coverage (Jungherr et al., 2012). However, in the

The reasons for the absence of a consistent approach to election forecasting through social media are due not only to an inability to find a sustainable methodology but also to the difficulties in finding one that generates positive results (Murthy, 2015). Another important factor, one that may underlie most of the methodological issues, is that the 'public' on Twitter differs from that of the electorate. For example, users can sign up to the site from the age of 13 (the minimum age to vote is 18), and only 57% of the UK population were active on any social media in 2015, whereas nearly 70% were eligible to vote (ONS, 2017a). Similarly, the demographics of those choosing to engage on Twitter cannot be assumed to be representative of those who turn out to vote. Even if demographic data could be collected and weighted as is done for poll data, other non-demographic factors such as political preference influence who is more likely to participate in online discussion (Steinberg, 2015). However, it is important to recognise the limitations of the data so that patterns in follower statistics can be explored alongside other factors affecting the dynamics of Twitter.

Instead of approaching follower data as an indicator of voting intentions, this chapter continues by looking at how the real-time data of Twitter – not only follower numbers but also hashtags and retweets – can be a useful source for examining changes in data patterns and providing feedback to political parties on user engagement. First, I examine the political parties' relative status in the Twittersphere based on follower numbers.

#### 5.2.1.2 Status

Beyond the relative party data, parties can be compared by ranking the metrics and reach of their Twitter profiles, not only amongst themselves but also relative to other users. Habermas' vision of the 'refeudalisation' evokes the sense of the re-establishment of the 'traditional' political actors to authoritative roles albeit in a pseudo-public sphere. It would therefore be expected that the political parties would have a significant following in relation to other 'political' accounts. The following sections examine how far the parties actively engaged with other communication devices on Twitter that required higher levels of participation. However, first, it is important to consider what the follower statistics can reveal about the potential reach and rankings of the parties on Twitter.

To provide some wider context, the follower statistics of the official party pages were lower than those of well-known political commentators. For example, the left wing activist and writer Owen Jones had approximately 280,000 followers at the end of the 2015 election campaign (Bastani, 2015) and the then BBC Political Editor Nick Robinson had more than 350,000 in February 2015 (Jenkins, 2015). When comparing the follower counts of British political parties in 2015 to those of British television celebrities such as Holly Willoughby (5.47 million) or Jeremy Clarkson (4.47 million), their comparatively paltry follower bases becomes more apparent (Somerset, 2015).

The presence of celebrities from the worlds of entertainment and sport on the platform competes with the idea of Twitter as a *political* public sphere. Although the site offers the opportunity for political deliberation, it is not exclusively bound to it. Instead of necessarily being a limitation of the site it suggests Habermas' overly optimistic view that citizens are hungry to seek out rational-critical debate. However, the relative follower numbers of the political parties compared with non-political actors demonstrate the competition between the different user profiles on the platform. Additionally, the party leaders' pages had attracted more followers by 2015 than their respective parties' accounts, with Cameron's page recording just below one million and Ed Miliband less than half a million. Although higher than their respective parties' pages, the leaders' followings still fell noticeably behind those of the celebrity accounts.

Despite the rise of non-political voices, the platform has provided an opportunity for fringe groups to gain more attention and take on a more prominent role in online discussion (Lopes, 2014; Figenschou and Fredheim, 2020). To some extent, this phenomenon has been reflected by smaller political parties such as the Green Party, which received considerably less election coverage across the mainstream news media than other parties but demonstrated one of the larger Twitter followings (Centre for Research in Communication and Culture, 2015). However, although the users determine which accounts they follow, this does not guarantee support nor a willingness to engage in rational-critical debate. For example, the voices of celebrities, through their endorsements of parties, are primarily heard and used by political groups based on their popularity and image rather than their ability to formulate and engage in a well-considered discussion.

Perhaps the most memorable celebrity endorsement of the 2015 campaign was the Labour Party's decision to invite UK comedian and actor Russell Brand to interview leader Ed Miliband. Although the discussion was related to issues of apathy amongst young voters and how to mobilise them, Brand's social capital including his 10 million Twitter followers was key to this pairing (Fielding, 2015; Watts, 2019). If nothing else, the interview attracted much attention, and later an endorsement of Labour from Brand – a turn-around from his previous messages of 'don't vote', but unfortunately delivered after voter registration had closed.

The parties also used Twitter to advertise some of their celebrity endorsements, with Labour most active amongst the four parties. Capitalising on the backing of well-known names such as Stephen Hawking and Sir Ian McKellen and campaign trail appearances by personalities such as Eddie Izzard or Coronation Street actress Sally Lindsay, the party had embraced the electorate's consumption of celebrity (Wheeler, 2015). On Twitter, Labour kickstarted the campaign period with the release of a series of tweets containing links and video clips of actor Martin Freeman lending his support to the party. These were often prepositioned with quotes from Freeman such as "There is only one choice, and I choose Labour" (The Labour Party, 2015f) or "My values are about community, compassion and decency" (The Labour Party, 2015b). Additionally, the tactic was recycled at the end of the campaign with the comedian Steve Coogan featuring in similar videos including statements such as "I trust Labour with the NHS" (The Labour Party, 2015a).

In contrast, the Liberal Democrats were struggling to attract such highprofile endorsements, being considerably down on the support they enjoyed in 2010 after actors Colin Firth and Daniel Radcliffe notably ended their backing of the party (Wheeler, 2015). The Conservatives, meanwhile, were cautious about engaging with celebrity endorsements after 2010 saw two of their backers – actor Sir Michael Caine and singer-songwriter Gary Barlow – subsequently being accused of tax-dodging. Instead, endorsements recognised on the Conservative Twitter account were primarily those of the former Prime Minister Sir John Major and newly appointed Conservative peer Baroness Karren Brady. For UKIP, the campaign was heavily built around leader Nigel Farage. Indeed, rather than referring to 'UKIP's followers', Goodwin and Milazzo (2016: 78) entitled one of their chapters "Farage's Followers" as a reflection of how the UKIP leader had become synonymous with the party's messages on shared anxieties concerning immigration and Europe. However, Farage was also seen as something of a Marmite figure: a piece of polling, later termed the "Mr Bean/Sean Bean effect", asked the public which actor they would like to see portray Farage in a film; although the UKIP supporters opted for Sean Bean, those who did not support the party nominated Mr Bean actor Rowan Atkinson (Cowley and Kavanagh, 2016a: 98).

Regarding the significance of celebrity backing, it is questionable whether this type of support actually leads to a measurable impact on voting intentions of the electorate (Mishra and Mishra, 2014: 410). However, as the public's consumption of "infotainment" news has grown, the parties have continued to engage with celebrity campaign politics (Wheeler, 2015). Indeed, in a world of social media, social capital, and the power of going 'viral', it appears likely that the continued capitalisation of 'celebrity' and the social media clout these individuals hold will continue into the future.

#### 5.2.1.3 Reactivity

Follower statistics can also be used to track long-term patterns in user activity and highlight how offline factors can influence the online sphere. Habermas (1989: 211) observed that the public sphere had "disintegrated as a sphere of ongoing participation in rational-critical debate", and elections had become markers of political parties' attempts "to generate periodically something like a public sphere". In line with Habermas' observation, greater online activity would be expected to occur on the parties' Twitter pages during election periods, both in terms of an increase in the volume of tweets posted by the party accounts and the number of followers on their pages. Figure 1. illustrates how the number of followers rose irregularly over the period of more than a year, encompassing the 2014 European Parliament Elections (22 May) and ending with the 2015 General Election<sup>6</sup>. The general election campaign period from the dissolution of Parliament on 30 March to polling day on 7 May resulted in the most significant rise in the number of users attaching themselves to party accounts during the recorded period. This behaviour was shadowed, though to a lesser degree, throughout the election campaign period for the second-order 2014 European Parliament election (held in the UK on 22 May) when the number of followers of party accounts similarly spiked. Although the parties might not have been widely followed, this did demonstrate a marked increase in interest during national election campaigns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The follower data was collected in bi-weekly intervals except during the two national election campaign periods when they were recorded weekly.



**Figure 1**. Increase in the Number of Followers on the Party Pages From 6 April 2014 to 6 May 2015.

On the face of it, the follower data supports Habermas' (1989: 214) contention that elections provide a period of time in which attempts are made to generate something like a public sphere, insofar as there was a measurable increase in engagement with the political parties' pages. Arguably, this increase in participation could be indicative of periods of heightened interest in the public for rational-critical debate. Habermas' assertion that the parties would be more active was also mirrored by the marked increase in the number of tweets the pages posted. Whether the parties were actively manufacturing a sense of democratic participation, with the consequence of creating a pseudo-public sphere, rather than genuinely trying to engage in the rational-critical debate of a public sphere proper remains an open question and one that is explored in

the latter sections of this chapter pertaining to the deliberative tools on the site. Chapters Six and Sevenextend this discussion as I examine the content posted by the political parties and the candidates. First, I consider how follower statistics can provide an insight into how long- and short-term events and external influences can affect engagement on the site.

An investigation of long-term patterns of Twitter user behaviour has shown a correlation between a rise in digital attachment and election periods. However, short-term events such as individual news stories or a televised election debate can also spark periods of increased interest. The dynamics of internal and external influence on the Twittersphere raise questions about the degree to which this sphere can be controlled internally or is reactive to external factors. Chadwick's (2013) theory of the hybrid media system reflected the interconnected nature of different media sources in news reporting and political communication, particularly between the traditional media (newspapers, television, and radio) and the new online media. Audiences have not only become increasingly fragmented but also, with multiple news sources to choose from, are able to view content and share it amongst numerous outlets at once. For example, television interview clips may be uploaded to YouTube, or newspaper articles can be digitised and shared on social media sites, which can be accessed through computers or on-the-go mobile devices. Although a hybrid system has become the norm and helps increase coverage, it also acts as a reminder of Twitter's position as part of a 'network of networks', and so the platform cannot be viewed in complete isolation (Habermas, 2006: 415).

This is most clearly observed during specific events, such as during election campaigns when the political parties have naturally received more

coverage than usual by the mass media. This phenomenon benefitted the Liberal Democrats in 2010 with the televised debates (Beckett, 2016: 280), and similarly, UKIP during the 2014 European Parliament Election (subsequently reflected in a marked rise in Twitter followers) when the party was also receiving more election coverage in the print media and TV news. However, further analysis of the 2015 election campaign showed that the net gain of followers was not consistent as each party saw relative peaks in engagement throughout. The weeks of greatest follower movement coincided with the weeks during which the televised leaders' debates occurred, with the parties gaining the most advantage during the weeks when their respective leaders were present for the debate<sup>7</sup>. For example, the ITV and BBC debates on 2 April and 16 April, respectively, were conducted in the absence of David Cameron who had decided not to attend. There was no notable spike was visible in the follower data for the Conservative Party during these debates however, the other parties, particularly the Green Party, Plaid Cymru, and the SNP saw a significant increase in followers in response to the coverage they received.

This phenomenon was also reflected at an individual candidate level, where online activity combined with reporting on other news platforms (both

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There were four televised election debates for the 2015 UK general election featuring leaders of the political parties. The first was broadcast on 26 March (prior to the short campaign period) and involved David Cameron (Conservative) and Ed Miliband (Labour). The second was held on 2 April and included seven party leaders: Natalie Bennett (Green Party), Cameron, Nick Clegg (Liberal Democrats), Nigel Farage (UKIP), Miliband, Nicola Sturgeon (SNP), and Leanne Wood (Plaid Cymru). The third debate took place on 16 April between Bennett, Miliband, Farage, Sturgeon, and Wood. The final debate was on 30 April with Cameron, Clegg, and Miliband, followed by an additional programme with separate question and answer sessions for Farage, Sturgeon, and Wood.

traditional and new), to attract high levels of new users. A vivid example of this is the response to a tweet posted by Labour MP Emily Thornberry on polling day for the 2014 Rochester and Strood by-election during her visit to the constituency to lend support to her party's candidate, Naushabah Khan. Thornberry's tweet contained a picture of a white van parked outside a house from which a St George's Cross flag was hanging, with the caption "Image from #Rochester" (Thornberry, 2014). The tweet quickly generated attention on Twitter, and within minutes, the account of the political blog Guido Fawkes (137,000 followers to Thornberry's 13,300) reposted the tweet adding its own caption "Snob" - the inference being that she was sneering at the patriotic working class (Donald, 2014). The online momentum against Thornberry mounted and, after two separate conversations with leader Ed Miliband, she resigned from the frontbench half an hour after polls closed. The incident had erupted on Twitter but, due to election day reporting restrictions, broadcasters could not report on the incident until polls had closed. The political effects of the fall-out were significant – resulting in the resignation of a shadow cabinet minister; however, the story's reach remained largely limited to Twitter until its reporting across mass media. In the three days after posting the tweet, the number of followers of Thornberry's account saw a sharp rise, increasing by 2,100 to over 15,400, despite a previous average gain of 200 followers per week. Although the numbers remain relatively small, this increase should be placed in the context of MPs' Twitter accounts at the time, most of which had fewer than 5,000 followers. Nevertheless, this bump was short lived, and just as quickly, the weekly increase of the account's followers returned to its original levels.

Importantly, these events demonstrate both the reactive nature of Twitter and its connection to traditional media. Differentiating between the two qualities in terms of cause and effect is far from easy: would the Thornberry tweet have been picked up as quickly as it was and gained the traction it did had it not occurred during an election campaign? In addition to highlighting the cyclical relationship between mass media and Twitter, this incident also indicated the lack of control of political actors (parties and candidates) on the site. Twitter's potential as an open platform to attract a wide audience is often portrayed in a positive light, but the Thornberry case also highlighted both the volatility of the reactions and views of such an audience and the inability to limit users' content to the 'echo chamber' of sympathetic users. Notably, in the context of discussion about Twitter as a public sphere, the increase in Thornberry's follower numbers did not arise from her presentation of a well-reasoned point of debate but rather a statement widely construed as a political gaffe. In Habermas' (1989) idealistic view of the public sphere, he claimed that if any prominent voices did emerge, they would do so on the basis of their ability to form and debate reasoned arguments. However, the Thornberry case suggests that the online environment does not entirely support this expectation. In fact, the behaviours of the users do not adhere to Habermas' expectations of rational-critical debate nor of a rational public.

Although followers do not provide a measure of electoral success, they are still desirable to the parties as a way of forging connection and, helping to spread information. Large numbers of followers can provide the parties with social capital; the accounts look more interesting to the unattached (nonfollowers) when there are signs of wider interest (Recuero et al., 2011). This in turn entices users to follow an account, and an increasing number of followers leads to a greater chance that content may also be seen and shared. Although the connection created by it is tenuous as a sign of participation, the act of following a Twitter account still forms a basic digital attachment, which can lead to greater engagement between the users and the party pages. The following sections examine the more active forms of participation on the site to provide greater insight into how far the parties are proactively engaged with the different communication tools that the site offers.

# 5.2.2 Engaging and Endorsing

In terms of more active modes of participation, 'engaging' relates to the 'favouriting' of tweets (Twitter's version of Facebook's 'like' function, which indicates a reaction to a post), the viewing of video content, or the clicking of hyperlinks. Meanwhile, 'endorsing' (although a misleading term for its automatic presumption of accord with the content) refers to the sharing of tweets posted by other accounts by means of retweeting – much like forwarding an email to all contacts. The quality that distinguishes these forms of participation from the previous ones is that they imply the users have read the tweets in order to decide on whether, and how, to engage with the content. The digital attachment is formed on the basis of specific content rather than the looser association with an account that 'following' enables. Engagement, as a mode of participation, produces two effects: (1) it directs users to a wider network of information and (2) it provides an indication of the users' response to content.

During the 2015 campaign, the parties relied heavily on the use of clips and hyperlinks, primarily as a method to overcome the 140-character limit imposed on Twitter. Additionally, images and videos were useful tools for attempting to gain visual prominence over the field of tweets that inundated a user's profile at any one moment. The effectiveness of images in capturing the attention of users is reflected in the heavy reliance of clickbait tweets on including visual materials such as photos or videos (Chakraborty et al., 2017). This diversity of mediums would naturally make the content seem more interesting than posts composed only of text. However, the campaigns' primary objectives were to utilise videos and hyperlinks to provide additional information on Twitter or to direct the viewers to the party's website or other media pages. One of the more frequent occasions on which this tactic was used was when the parties were posting tweets about their policies. For example, a tweet could contain an image of the key policy points and a hyperlink to the manifesto itself or a relevant page on the party website. On the one hand, such tweets brought in more literature to the public sphere and added to the pool of information that Habermas stated as necessary for rational-critical debate. On the other hand, the provision of information could also be indicative of parties trying to 'broadcast' information rather than engage in deliberative discourse. Ultimately, the emphasis was placed on the users to access the information with the parties determining the output. Unlike information dissemination, endorsing content through the act of sharing was an activity that the party pages both courted and engaged with themselves.

The parties most often retweeted posts generated from the accounts of the party leader, local party associations, or other groups with strong political links. Often these consisted of campaign trail updates or endorsements of the political party. On some occasions, the authors of the retweeted posts were well-known individuals who were supporting the party, such as Eddie Izzard for Labour. These posts also served to provide updates on the parties' ground campaigns. These retweets were intended to aid a party's campaign and bolster its reputation by using the voices of others to reaffirm its position. Although some retweets related to the party were used to present its activities and policies in a positive light, others were used to publicise negative campaigns by the parties directed at their rivals. The selective nature of these retweets provided an example of 'manipulated publicity' – parties sharing content to present themselves in a positive light.

There was an underlying expectation that the most ardent grassroots supporters would automatically share tweets, and the Conservatives monitored this data to measure the response to different posts (Elder and Edmonds, 2015). Some evidence showed the party pages openly trying to secure online mobilisation. During the final day of the campaign, all four parties' accounts made concerted efforts to encourage users to retweet posts of support, as well as to remind and encourage others to turn out to vote. The posts typically read as "RETWEET: If you want a country that works for everyone, not just a privileged few, vote Labour tomorrow" (The Labour Party, 2015d) or "#VoteConservative tomorrow to secure a brighter future for you, for your family - and for Britain" (Conservatives, 2015e). This showed that, even though the parties were trying to set the issue agendas, they also recognised Twitter's potential to mobilise supporters to share content and help spread their messages. Once again, this was another form of information dissemination, but

the emphasis was on the users spreading the message without further followup from the parties or engagement in debates around the information.

## 5.2.3 Conversations and Hashtags

The final level of Twitter participation encompasses the use of hashtags and conversations. As the most active forms of communication, they rely on users generating their own content through the production of original tweets to participate in a narrative or dialogue. As we have seen in Chapter Four, hashtags represent a means by which users can connect their tweets to a wider narrative. Such a connection is achieved by the decision of a user to adopt a word or phrase into a hashtag, such as #GE2015 or #RegistertoVote; the site then collates the posts which contain the same hashtags so that they can be viewed together. Although a collection of related tweets can be viewed through searching key words, a hashtag denotes a clearly identifiable connection to a particular narrative. For example, #BritishGP is often widely used by Formula One fans who wish to comment on the British Grand Prix rather than the sport in general, or #SkyF1 for those who wish to pass judgement on the commentary.

The more direct form of communication comes in the shape of conversations which allow users to reply to tweets and create a dialogue with other users. Unlike hashtags, conversations connect users with specific tweets and accounts rather than a narrative theme. These tools offer the greatest challenge to the one-way, broadcast style of communication associated with traditional political activity. By connecting tweets, content, and accounts together, an active narrative is formed through which opinions can be exchanged and challenged, and which can provide the necessary give-and-take environment for the rational-critical debate Habermas had envisaged in the public sphere. Twitter's original design was intended to centre around usergenerated content, and the introduction of the hashtag and conversation functions were key stages in its development into a more interactive space. By first examining the use of hashtags, this section investigates how the parties explored these tools and whether they indicated a shift in communication methods or a case of 'politics as usual'.

One of the difficulties of the use of hashtags as a form of communication is that while it denotes the active attachment of a user to a narrative, it does not necessarily indicate a wish to participate in a debate. The narratives created through hashtags are more disjointed than @-reply conversations as they insert one person's opinion into a wide pool of views. Without the dialogue structure that @-replies enable between accounts, tweets that use a hashtag are more likely to be lost in a wave of other posts and so have less chance of being checked or challenged by others or objectively reviewed by the original poster. Without rational-critical debate, Habermas (1989: 213) warned that mere opinions can soon be presented as 'fact' as they become assumed, a sentiment more recently brought to public attention with the discussion around 'fake news', particularly under the US presidency of Donald Trump. In these instances, the battle is often fought between the *volume* (quantity and status) of the online voices, or groups, rather than through deliberation (Hannan, 2018). However, hashtags can at least encourage some dialogue on the selected issue and help attract attention to the topic, even if the related posts are disjointed. Ultimately,

it is the prerogative of the individuals as to how they engage with the content connected to the hashtag. Various narratives appeared on Twitter in connection to the 2015 general election and were created with different intentions and results, as the rest of this section investigates.

Three primary categories of hashtags were used by the party accounts during the campaign. The first category was hashtags that referenced a party in the form of the party's name such as #LibDems, often including the prefix 'vote' (for example, #VoteLabour). The second category was hashtags associated with the televised debates or other television appearances, the most frequent of which included #LeadersDebate, #BBCqt (BBC Question Time), and #Marr (The Andrew Marr Show). The third category of hashtags comprised those formed from specific policies or catchphrases such as #DigitalRights used by the Liberal Democrats, #BedroomTax (Labour), #SecureTheRecovery (Conservative), and #BelieveInBritain (UKIP). Although it is difficult to claim 'ownership' of a hashtag, the parties chiefly used the ones that explicitly forwarded their own agenda, with the exception of those that mentioned the televised debates.

The use of #LeadersDebate (the most commonly used hashtag by both the Conservative and Labour Party accounts) denoted a more reactive mode of communication in that parties inserted themselves into the narrative rather than creating it. The content of these attributed tweets, however, was very much of a broadcast nature and used as part of the spin-doctoring process to applaud their respective leaders, repeat policy taglines, and on occasion highlight the policy (and personal) failures of the opposition. As discussed in Chapter Three, as common with hashtag use, the parties were trying to be heard amidst a cacophony of competing voices. However, there were examples of the parties using hashtags as part of a drive to actively encourage users to share or engage with the campaigns. These included #LabourDoorstep and #WhyImVotingUKIIP.

The Labour Party campaign team had some success with #LabourDoorstep, which denoted an initiative introduced by the party with the aim to hold four million 'doorstep' conversations before the general election. Although an offline campaign at its origin, #LabourDoorstep was quickly adopted as an online tag by many party candidates and activists, creating a vibrant web of campaign trail updates. Despite the natural appeal to the Labour– supporting echo chamber, the hashtag also provided an opportunity to advertise the party's willingness to engage with voters. In this respect, it was surprising that the official party page did not directly incorporate the theme into the tweets it posted, instead only acknowledging the activity second-hand through retweets. However, the apparent reluctance of the central party to endorse this online trend may be justified by concerns around the potential to lose control over the direction of the narrative.

The most striking example of this came during the 2014 European Parliament election when UKIP wanted to create a positive narrative online with users explaining #WhyImVotingUKIP. The hashtag, once picked up, quickly went viral, but it soon deviated from its original purpose, with many users posting sarcasm or witticisms as their responses (Cresci, 2014; Pillmoor, 2014: 21). The #WhyImVotingUKIP trend demonstrates the potential volatility of the site, where the users can react to content in a way unintended by the original poster. On the one hand, it is encouraging that users were able to engage with the hashtag in ways that differed from UKIP's original intention for the narrative. However, despite this dissent, engagement in rational-critical debate was lacking, not only amongst the users whose primary focus appeared to be humourous one-liners but also from the UKIP party page in its lack of response.

Conversation, however, offered a more direct way for parties to engage in a dialogue. On the face of it, virtual conversations on Twitter – using @-reply to respond to a specific tweet - seemed like a natural extension of Labour's doorstep conversations into the virtual environment. However, as this section discusses, online conversations raised their own issues and were not widely conducted by the party accounts. The Liberal Democrats were the exception rather than the norm; they engaged in over 1,000 conversations – more than 20% of all their tweets during the official campaign period. This significant share far outstripped the negligible use of the tool by the Conservatives, Labour, and UKIP – Labour's total of 16 @-reply tweets meant it was the most engaged of the three. This situation echoed behaviour demonstrated during the 2014 European Parliamentary elections where, aside from the Liberal Democrats, such interactions were seldom conducted (Pillmoor, 2014: 13-14). Though still sparingly used, the most common method of interaction by other parties (aside from the Liberal Democrats) was tagging (@-mention) an account in a tweet to highlight a connection with other users, such as a celebrity endorser, but without engaging in conversation. Although the Liberal Democrats continued to respond to users' tweets during the 2015 election campaign, the style of conversations the account engaged in had evolved.

During the 2014 European Parliament election, the Liberal Democrats' digital campaign team would reply to Twitter users' posts, predominantly tweets

of endorsement. The response from the party account would often be to the autogenerated tweets that users had the option to post after completing a petition of support or making a donation via the party's website (Pillmoor, 2014: 14). These types of tweets from users most often drew a generic reply from the Liberal Democrat Twitter account of "thank you" and little more. Although they did employ the tactic of responding to users with their given name to add a further element of personalisation, the generic nature of this response was reinforced when the account accidently tweeted "@majabl Thanks for your question [NAME] As Nick said earlier "jobs, jobs, jobs" (Liberal Democrats, 2014). This blunder highlighted the issues inherent in the use of automated replies, suggesting a party-approved template for the stylisation of responses. By 2015, the account began responding to more tweets asking for information on policy, both broad (the NHS) and specific (bicycle routes). This new approach signified the party's movement away from simply thanking followers for their support to more tailored tweets that would often point users to relevant manifesto sections and other literature or provide specific pledges on request.

In terms of users who received responses, the party looked to engage with a range of people rather than a select few. This strategy resulted in a wider reach as more users were able to establish a direct connection with the party page. However, the approach of connecting a broad number of accounts was done without sustaining the conversations. Most conversations consisted of a single response to a question and whilst the Liberal Democrats represented the most interactive political party on social media by far, this approach continued to highlight the tensions between superficially engaging and developing discussions. On the surface, the responses primarily served to disseminate information, but, at the same time, such conversations were not private and in themselves served as an advertisement to other users that the page was willing to engage (quite widely) with others.

The selection of posts the Liberal Democrats elected to respond to, however, raises its own questions. From the outset, the responsibility of determining whether to engage in online conversations falls to the party or candidate account holders. It is not clear how this decision-making process took place – for instance, were they the most recent tweets posted, seen by a member of the digital marketing team when they logged in, or the product of an individual searching through a backlog of tweets to select the most appropriate or interesting? As already discussed, many of the tweets to which the party replied asked policy-related questions, but this may not have necessarily reflected the content sent their way for several reasons. Firstly, there have been increasingly well-documented reports and academic studies into the online abuse and concerted trolling efforts that politicians have faced on Twitter, behaviours that the party pages have also been subjected to by being tagged in abusive tweets (Akhtar and Morrison, 2019; Ward and McLoughlin, 2020). If Twitter is viewed as an example of a public sphere, then the dismissal of any abusive tweets by the parties seems more than reasonable as they do not contribute to a rational-critical discussion. However, this does not include other tweets that parties would not respond to, including those they perceived as negative, because they challenge certain policy positions. Similarly, the selection of tweets largely covered 'safe' topics, allowing the party to reiterate its stance on areas it felt most strongly about and to highlight more personal issues that also fed into its campaign message, such as questions about transport and the environment. These choices reflect Habermas' concerns about 'manipulated public opinion' through representative publicity with the parties' creating an image of public engagement but on their own terms, an issue which is explored in the next chapter.

Although the parties' various levels of engagement with the site's features have so far reflected a trend of broadcasting rather than debating, the Twitter features discussed are available to all users on the platform and provide the 'same' space and potential for netizens to interact. The next section looks at the use of paid advertising. As it was introduced only one month before the 2010 general election, this form of advertising was not used in the parties' election campaigns at the time. Therefore, the 2015 general election acts as a case study into how the feature has challenged Twitter's position as a public sphere and how the parties implemented this new method of advertising.

## 5.3 Resource Rich: Sponsored Content

Despite Twitter's fundamental design concept supporting the potential of a public sphere, the site has not been immune to commercial pressures placed upon it by its investors or the economic requirements to keep the company afloat. Habermas (1989: 181) viewed the encroachment of a profit-driven mindset that often came with advertising as the beginning of the disintegration of the public sphere; in Twitter's case, this is examined with the introduction of sponsored content, which could be regarded as part of the same trend. Although the status of political actors is addressed more fully in the chapter on party election candidates, Chapter Three began this conversation by outlining

some of the difficulties in separating individuals from their offline status in the virtual world. This section instead focuses on Habermas' insistence that "economic dependencies...[should have] no influence" in the public sphere (Habermas, 1989: 36). In terms of the foundational structure of Twitter, all users were provided with the same generic page layout and restricted to the 140-character limit (whether Donald Trump or Joe Bloggs). Similarly, the site is free to access with only a name, email address, and confirmation of age required. It left some room for personalisation such as a profile and cover photos, written content, and follower choices, but superficially at least, Twitter represented a level playing field. However, the introduction of sponsored content undermined this concept of a level playing field; 'real-world' resources began to play a much more important role in political social media engagement.

Historically, the Conservative Party has consistently outspent its rivals, and 2015 proved no exception with their campaign expenditures totalling £15.6 million. This amount far exceeded the £12.1 million spent by Labour and £3.5 million and £2.9 million invested by the Liberal Democrats and UKIP, respectively (Cowley and Kavanagh, 2016a: 261). Onlookers overwhelmingly concluded at the end of the 2015 campaign that the Conservative Party had 'comprehensively outmanoeuvred' its rivals (Shipman, 2017: 363). Under the direction of election campaign director Lynton Crosby and digital consultant Jim Messina (a former member of Obama's team in 2008 and 2012), the Conservatives created a more sophisticated social media campaign. Financial resources proved pivotal to this success; not only did the Party comprehensively outmanoeuvre its rivals, it also comprehensively outspent them. Even before the start of the official campaign period, the Tories had managed to rack up Facebook bills of over £100,000 on advertising slots purchased towards the end of 2014 (Hawkins, 2015). The final figures show the party spent over £1.2 million on social media, even though the overall sums could well be higher as only identifiable costs – itemised receipts – were recorded (Shipman, 2017: 191). This amount is much higher than the £160,000, £91,000, and £22,245 spent on social media by Labour, the Liberal Democrats, and UKIP, respectively, during the same election period (The Electoral Commission, 2016: 29).

However, the Conservative Party's success relied not only on its high advertising expenditure but also on the cost of skilled personnel, long-term planning, and data collection needed to ensure its effective investment (Shipman, 2017: 193). Upon his hiring in 2013, Messina set to work updating and expanding the party's catalogue of voter information (Channel 4 News, 2015). The increased storage of this data over a sustained period meant that by the time of the election, the campaign team demonstrated a clearer understanding of its key target audience and how to reach it. Additionally, this meant they were positioned to be able to introduce targeted advertisements well in advance of the campaign period. This long-term approach increased the likelihood that prospective Conservative voters would share these advertisements during the election (Shipman, 2017: 365). In the earlier years of the internet, this information primarily would have been sourced from party email lists and similar records (McGregor, 2010). However, sites such as Twitter, Facebook, and Google were able to sell targeted advertisement slots thanks to the data mining software and analytics that enabled them to identify appropriate accounts for targeting on the basis of online activity such as buying

134

habits, websites visited, pages liked or followed, or more personal data such as age, gender, and geographical location.

The Conservatives made particular use of data analytics and sponsored content to target 'swing' voters. This form of advertising meant the party did not rely solely on its Twitter followers to retweet posts in the hope that they would reach an intended audience. Instead, sponsored tweets allowed the party to ensure that they would appear as the first result for selected search terms on relevant pages as a suggested post, thus expanding their reach within a certain remit. One such example was a paid-for tweet sent out with the aim of attracting female UKIP waverers. The post proclaimed, "We're building a brighter, more secure future for our children and grandchildren. A vote for Ukip, or any party other than the Conservatives, would let in Labour and the SNP - and risk everything we've achieved together over the last five years" and included a short video on the economic recovery (Delaney, 2016). In another instance, a paid-for advertisement was aimed squarely at Liberal Democrat waverers in the key battleground of southwest England and played on the notion of tactical voting (Delaney, 2016). Both of these messages underlined concerns about a potential Labour-SNP coalition, which played a crucial role in the Conservatives' negative campaign approach. Moreover, each tweet had been tailored to a specific audience, making the message seem more personal and resonant, increasing the likelihood of some sort of reaction.

Although sponsored tweets represented a significant element in the Conservatives' social media strategy, they were not the only method used by the party to ensure the campaign remained targeted and efficient. In an interview, Tom Edmonds (Delaney, 2016), who co-led the Conservatives' digital
campaign, gave some insight into the ways in which, aside from sponsored targeted advertising, the process of creation and release of digital output represented a "complete turnaround from 2010". In addition to its disproportionate campaign funds, the Conservative Party also had a strong digital communications team which could form ideas in-house, quickly create them, and just as quickly have them signed off by Crosby. Data analytics, both advanced forms and more simple ones that merely monitored the number of views, shares, likes or retweets of a post, allowed the campaign team to obtain a rapid readout of what was and was not working. If an idea resulted in less than the desired impact, it would be quickly scrapped, allowing a new one to take its place. This was also important as not all social media posts were aimed at the undecided voter; Twitter in particular represented an important way for the party to continue motivating and mobilising existing Conservative voters, as well as indirectly communicating with journalists (Elder and Edmonds, 2015). Creating content more likely to evoke responses from these users would not only reinforce their support of the party but also increase their likelihood of sharing tweets. The heavy reliance on targeted and sponsored content by the Conservative Party was in sharp contrast to the conversation focused and less wealthy Liberal Democrats who, relatively, were more likely to embrace the interactive features of Twitter.

#### 5.4 Conclusion

Chapter Four concluded that Twitter is a platform that offers various communication devices to facilitate citizen participation, albeit within 140 characters at the time of the 2015 election. By extension, this creates the

opportunity for citizens to engage in rational-critical debate and supports the site's potential to function as a public sphere as per Habermas' thesis. However, this chapter indicated that UK political parties' engagement with these different devices primarily reinforces the desire for tightly controlled, centralised campaigns rather than engaging in discourse. Only the Liberal Democrats demonstrated any significant engagement with other users by directly replying to tweets. In this case however, the conversations that took place were dominated by responses to messages of support or, at best, a repeat of a relevant party policy to an enquiry, sometimes in the form of a link directing the user to the relevant page on the party website or manifesto. Although the Liberal Democrats in the Twittersphere, their conversations nevertheless lacked meaningful dialogue that encouraged further discourse. All the parties' pages demonstrated a high level of control over the output in terms of their engagement on the site, such as the use of generic-style hashtags or those formed of party slogans.

Although the parties shared an undercurrent of expectation that the netizens of Twitter would willingly and automatically participate in the viewing and sharing of content, they themselves did little to demonstrate sustained encouragement for such online mobilisation. Instead, they displayed their political messages and campaign trail updates with accompanying hashtags or calls to retweet but without creating a reciprocal relationship with their followers and other users. The use of paid-for advertisements by the Conservative Party reinforced the idea that parties tried to control the environment by targeting specific users, representing themselves to select groups and failing to encourage open critical debate. Additionally, this illustrated how status and

representative publicity was encroaching on the potential of Twitter to function as a public sphere. The parties' follower statistics, when compared with individuals and particularly celebrities, also highlighted the limited spread of their political online voices. Instead, they were overshadowed by users who held a certain status outside of Twitter and themselves often showed little inclination towards public discussion.

Overall, parties' engagement with different communication devices on the site up to 2015 indicated that the parties saw Twitter as more of a broadcast platform which was useful insofar as it was under their control. The parties' online campaigns placed the spotlight on the tension between the use of Twitter as a tool for 'representative publicity' by the parties and its possibilities for 'revolutionising' politics by opening a new channel of reciprocal communication. However, there have been indications that this 'control' the parties have tried to apply, whilst restricting rational-critical debate, has not been wholly effective. User reaction to offline events that translated to online activity and PR 'slips' by the parties and candidates have shown that whilst they may attempt to control their position on the site, it can prove to be a highly volatile environment.

### Chapter Six: Election Issues, Public Opinion, and Agenda-Setting

The preceding chapters focused on Twitter's credentials as a public sphere by analysing the site's discourse architecture and the use of the features by political parties. It has so far been established that Twitter provides an environment with the *potential* to be used as a deliberative space, but indications so far are that the parties have been largely reluctant to embrace fully the interactive nature of the site. This chapter turns its attention to the content of the parties' tweets, assessing their engagement with different election issues and events and asking the questions: How did the parties conduct their online campaign through Twitter? To what extent did the Twitter campaigns demonstrate an engagement with public opinion? Did the parties use the site to react to events during the 2015 election campaign?

First, I frame the discussion around news media's role in agenda-setting and the potential challenges social media and Twitter pose to their position. The potential is juxtaposed with Habermas' fears, discussed in Chapter Three, that the parties would instead engage with their own agenda-setting through 'representative publicity' and the manipulation of public opinion, the concepts which provide the framework for my analysis.

The investigation begins with a study of the extent to which the Conservative, Labour, Liberal Democrat, and UKIP Twitter accounts engaged with the election issues which polling identified as most to least salient for voters in the 2015 election. This is followed by further examination into how the parties engaged with the three most important issues for the public during the 2015

election campaign: the economy, immigration, and health. Throughout this analysis, there is an interparty comparison to develop an understanding of how each party shaped their Twitter campaigns, considering reasons behind any similarities and differences in their approaches.

The second section of the chapter evaluates the parties' engagement with the election issues in the wider context of the campaign, examining how they interacted with different issues or events over the course of the campaign period and the various strategies they employed. This includes an investigation into how reactive the parties were on Twitter towards policy discussion and events which occurred both on and off the site.

# 6.1 Disintermediation, Agenda-Setting, and Manipulated Publicity

The rapid transition from the dominance of the old media (radio, television, and press) to a more hybridised media system at the beginning of the twenty-first century had numerous implications for political communication and, in turn, has raised new questions about agenda-setting roles (Chadwick and Stanyer, 2010). Gurevitch et al. (2009: 173) have commented on the early effects of the increasingly digitised and hybridised media environment, stating that the continued fragmentation and diversification of media beyond the limited range of radio, television, and press outlets which characterised the latter part of the twentieth century has required politicians to become involved in "multidimensional impression management". As a consequence, there has been "an inevitable loosening of [politicians'] control over the political agenda,

forcing [them] into an increasingly responsive mode rather than the pro-active agenda-setting role they would prefer to adopt" (Gurevitch et al., 2009: 173).

Although this article was written before social media had become a widely acknowledged form of political communication, it still raises three pertinent points about the media environment and agenda-setting. First is the importance of the context of the media environment; here, it was concluded that the early years of the new hybrid media had the effect of loosening politicians' abilities to control the agenda. This was compounded by the second point, the view that news media expanded their role as intermediary and subsequently their control over setting the agenda, albeit through more varied mediums. Finally, there was the view that politicians would prefer to interact with the public on their terms and take on the role of agenda-setting, though this has been further hampered. The question is: did the use of Twitter contribute to an alteration of the state of things?

Beginning with the context, a characteristic commonly cited about social media is that it allows a direct line of communication between the electorate and the political parties and candidates (McGregor, 2010; Murthy, 2013: 34). This has led to scholarly discussion around the process of 'disintermediation' across social media and social networking sites (Eldridge II et al., 2019; Robles-Morales and Córdoba-Hernández, 2019). It is argued that through this process, the role of the news media in the delivery of politics to the public (specifically television news and the press) has come under increasing question (Hermida, 2010: 300; Eldridge II et al., 2019). It does not determine that the news media are redundant—far from it—but that social media provide new opportunities for political communication by political actors, which, in essence, removes the

traditional 'middleman' – the news journalists (Fisher et al., 2018; Robles-Morales and Córdoba-Hernández, 2019). The removal of the journalistic "gatekeepers" can be an attractive proposition for parties across the political spectrum, particularly candidates like Trump, and also has the effect of removing journalistic scrutiny, at least at the point of tweeting (Muller, 2016; Bruns, 2018: 20). Without the need for a 'middleman' to share their messages, the parties are essentially left with the capabilities to post statements with no immediate follow-up questions, unlike when facing the news media in a press conference or an interview.

The opportunity to bypass the mediation process of news media through sites such as Twitter has also emerged at a time when newspaper circulation is in long-term decline (Deacon and Wring, 2016a: 303), television news has seen a reduction in its viewership as news sources have fragmented and diversified (Gurevitch et al., 2009), and, most significantly, the news media as a whole is facing low levels of public trust. A survey conducted at the end of 2014 found that only 31% of the public trusted BBC News journalists, and just 17% trusted ITV News journalists (YouGov, 2014). In the same survey, the print media fared worse with only 15% of people trusting journalists even of 'upmarket' papers, such as *The Times*, *The Telegraph*, and *The Guardian*. This reduced significantly to 3% and 2%, respectively, for 'mid-market' papers and 'red-top' tabloids.

Claims of political bias in the media are common both during and outside of election campaign periods, and have contributed to the declining levels of public trust in news media and its consumption (Ardèvol-Abreu and Gil de Zúñiga, 2016). During the 2015 UK election, it was found that there was a positive bias across the television news and press coverage towards the Conservative Party, even when the content was weighted towards circulation (Centre for Research in Communication and Culture, 2015). Despite this appearing as an advantage, the Conservative Party was still placed under journalistic scrutiny and subject to the agenda-setting role of news media.

The primary focus of news media was the election process, or the 'horse race', which accounted for 45.9% of television election coverage and 44.5% of press coverage (Deacon et al., 2015). Twitter presented itself as an alternative platform through which political parties could directly engage with campaign issues. The question is: how did they utilise the space without the news media's intermediation?

To evaluate how the parties presented themselves through Twitter, I return to Habermas' (1989: 232) work on 'manipulated publicity', introduced in Chapter Three, and his concept of representative publicity. The core idea behind this concept is that political actors present themselves or their campaigns in a way that generates some form of "agreement or at least acquiescence" from the public but without engaging in discourse (Habermas, 1989: 177). Instead, it relies on creating the *impression* of being engaged with the citizens. This is achieved in three main ways: first by selecting topics or policy areas that would attract public support, second by selecting issues for which they, the parties, have a good reputation, and third by creating or capitalising on moments or events that attract positive attention to their messages or encourage support for their campaigns.

143

Regarding the first point, (Habermas, 1989: 177) argued that political actors "create an aura of goodwill for certain positions" by presenting opinions or policies which resonate with the public to generate some sense of general agreement. During election periods, this would be most evident in the parties' choice of core election issues for their campaigns. In the first instance, this can be seen in the adoption of topics or policies which are considered 'safe'; these are predominantly 'valence' issues, where there exists a consensus on the general direction of the policies amongst the parties and the public. For example, in 2015, there was a consensus amongst the four parties to shape their election manifestos around fiscal responsibility (Sowels, 2015).

The secondary element addresses the presentation of issues: how the parties' market their policies to the public. In part, this relates to the choice of policies on which the parties focus but also their style of address. One tactic used by the parties is to pose rhetorical questions, a device often employed in campaign literature. The questions are framed so that very few people are likely to respond negatively, such as when being asked whether they "support the NHS?" (The Labour Party, 2015e), but they do trigger a positive internal response which creates a connection between the party and the reader. Another method is through repetition and the creation of different campaign strategies on how to introduce and engage with different issues, which is explored later in the chapter.

After the initial issue selection, Habermas (1989: 200-201) also stated that "public relations do not genuinely concern public opinion but opinion in the sense of reputation". In this case, citizens rely more heavily on their perceptions of the political parties' abilities to handle certain valence issues. As such, parties will look to exploit the areas in which they have built good reputations and highlight issues on which their opponents are perceived as weaker. The application of this approach in the parties' Twitter campaigns is examined further in sections exploring the coverage of the economy, immigration, and health as election issues.

Although the parties' reputations on issues are important, the value of reputation is also dependent on the salience of these areas for the electorate. For example, the Conservative Party is traditionally seen as tough on crime (a key issue for only 2.6% of the public in 2015), whilst the Labour Party is more readily associated with high levels of state investment in areas such as welfare, which polled as the most salient issue for 10.1% of the public (YouGov, 2015c). Statistically, therefore, the Labour Party's reputation on welfare is more likely to hold higher value than the Conservative's on crime when examined against public opinion in issue salience. In addition, when examining reputation, it is also important to consider the issues which the parties do not cover as well as those with which they most openly engage.

The final element of manipulated publicity that Habermas (1989: 194) highlighted was the act of "creating news events or exploiting events that attract attention" to help put "the communications apparatus in motion", essentially capitalising on ways to draw attention to particular issues. The televised leaders' debates during the 2015 election campaign were key examples of occasions when the parties collectively chose to use Twitter as a space to add their own online commentaries to a mediated event. The parties' Twitter accounts acted as their own purpose-built, online spin-rooms, each providing a live commentary on the events as they unfolded, tweeting messages to highlight and support

their own leader's performance and policies as well as to undermine opposition leaders. Notably, they were also able to monitor in real time how their messages related to Twitter noise about the debate. The parties' accounts also used the debates as an occasion to retweet large numbers of messages from their own MPs or other supporters whose comments reinforced their positions. However, the events do not necessarily have to be in the form of organised press conferences, televised debates, or speeches. For example, the release of data on NHS winter waiting times during the campaign period was an event used by Labour to present the Conservative Party as failing to invest sufficiently in the NHS. In this case, the party had chosen to be reactive to a piece of breaking information.

Alternatively, the 'events' could be created by the parties themselves. One respect in which this was repeatedly seen was when new policies were announced. The release of the party manifestos, for example, served as events with plenty of fanfare in which the parties commanded a great deal of attention both on- and offline. Similarly, the announcement of individual policies could also be made the focal point of the day to draw attention to a party pledge. The evaluation of the parties' output on Twitter provides an insight into how they chose to integrate the site into their campaigns and the extent to which they used the site as a means to interact with public opinion, participate in manipulated publicity, and set the agenda.

#### 6.2 Data

The data collected for this chapter comprise of 5,630 tweets posted from the official Twitter accounts of the Conservative Party, Labour Party, Liberal Democrats, and UKIP during the short campaign period from 30 March 2015 to the end of the final day of campaigning on 6 May. Only original tweets from the party accounts were analysed as the parties' campaign teams directly controlled the content of these posts, unlike retweets which would still be associated with the original poster and not a direct message from the party. Such tweets would therefore provide a clear indication of how the parties chose to shape their own online output.

The coding relevant to this chapter excludes tweets which were @replies (conversations) as these were not visible by default on the parties' Twitter pages. The content of images, audio, and videos which formed part of a tweet but did not require the user to select a link that would navigate them away from the site was all included in the coding. Those posts which did not meet the coding options were primarily activity updates from the campaign trail, such as reminders about upcoming television appearances featuring the party leader.

The tweets were coded against a list of thirteen election issues selected to correlate with the opinion surveys conducted by YouGov (2015c) asking respondents which issues they thought were the most important facing the country at the time. Inconsistencies in the issues highlighted across different polls meant that it was not possible to combine the results of multiple sources into one definitive poll. However, the YouGov results reflected the overall trends in opinion polls conducted by other surveys regarding the key policy concerns. I also selected the YouGov surveys due to the distinction they made between immigration and Europe as two separate election issues. Prior to 2015, many opinion polls had made the same distinction, but some surveys had combined the two issues ahead of the 2015 general election campaign period. However, the content of the parties' tweets reinforced the view that these issues were not mutually exclusive and that coding the two under the same category would provide a misleading representation of their roles in the campaign.

The Twitter and polling data were transcribed into a comparative percentage format where the combined issues totalled 100%, and the percentage of each issue denoted the relative percentage coverage (on Twitter) or electoral salience (in opinion polls) they received. This highlighted the relative ranking of the issues against one another and allowed a comparison of the data between the different sources. In the case of the polling data, this transcription was also due to YouGov allowing respondents to select up to three options from those listed. Additionally, three polls were conducted during the campaign period at biweekly intervals (March 30–31, April 13–14, and April 27–28), from which the average was taken. As individual polls can only provide a snapshot of opinions for a single moment, the three polls were combined to balance the effects of one-off events (see **Appendix 2.**). Similarly, the coverage of the issues in tweets is also presented as a percentage, primarily to account for overlap, as some posts encompassed multiple topics. It also enabled a comparable view of the parties' focus as they differed in the number of tweets they posted. The next section begins by comparing the salience of election issues based on the opinion polls with the relative coverage they were given by the party pages.

## 6.3 Election Issues: Opinion Polls, Party Tweets, and Mass Media

The YouGov (2015c) data showed the economy as uppermost in people's minds during the short election campaign, alongside immigration and health, which rounded off the top three. The percentage of respondents that identified these issues as the most important facing the country remained high across the three polls taken during this period. Between 52-55%, 47-51% and 45-50% of respondents selected the economy, immigration, and health, respectively, as the "most important" issues (YouGov, 2015c). Looking beyond the campaign period, the poll conducted in mid-April showed that, for the first time since the start of the 2010 parliament, health had overtaken immigration as the second most salient issue for the public, though the latter still averaged higher across the campaign period (Jordan, 2015). Prior to this poll, the economy and immigration had always alternated between the two top spots. However, the top three were never separated by more than eight percentage points in any of the three surveys, equivalent to a gap of 2.3 percentage points when the polling data were weighted for comparison (see **Table 2**).

Election	YouGov				
Issues	Poll	CON	LAB	LIB DEM	UKIP
Crime	2.64	0.28	1.83	0.86	0.85
Economy	19.09	49.44	26.16	34.59	20.99
Education	5.88	3.63	9.00	14.08	2.82
Environment	3.12	0.00	0.99	4.62	0.70
Europe	5.64	1.96	0.08	1.55	20.70
Family Life	2.64	5.03	3.59	3.11	0.56
Health	16.81	5.87	29.44	21.50	12.68
Housing	8.16	6.98	4.65	4.53	5.49
Immigration	17.53	0.84	1.53	1.55	20.85
Pensions	3.48	3.07	0.46	1.12	0.42
Тах	3.84	18.99	14.19	9.76	10.00
Transport	1.08	0.56	0.53	0.43	3.24
Welfare	10.09	3.35	7.55	2.29	0.70

**Table 2**. YouGov Poll on Election Issue Salience and Issue Coverage on the

 Parties' Twitter Pages as Comparative Percentages

Outside the top three, there was a significant drop in salience between the third- and fourth-placed issues, ranging from 13 to 18 percentage points in the poll data (welfare peaked at 32% in the first poll). This translated to a 6.7 percentage point difference in the comparative statistics. These other issues, placed fourth and below, collectively received less than 47% of the public's attention, highlighting the dominance of the three key issues in the electorates' consciousness. Excluding welfare (and housing in the final week), the poll data varied less for issues outside the top three, particularly those regarded as less significant. The interest in transport (the least salient) remained at 3% in the original opinion poll data, with crime and family life between 7 and 8%.

Across the parties' Twitter pages, the economy, health, and immigration generally, though not invariably, appeared amongst the most referenced issues. Only the economy received a top-two ranking from all four Twitter accounts, whilst health and taxation were also included in each page's top five. Only UKIP chose immigration as a key issue. Although the economy represented the most covered topic across all pages, each party differed in its level of interaction with the issues and the choice of which policies would dominate its agenda. The Conservative Party account was heavily weighted towards the economy (49.4%) of all issue tweets), paired with taxation (19%) in a distant but clear second. Labour focused its attention on health (29.4%) with the economy (26.1%) a close second. The Liberal Democrats took the inverse approach, with the economy (33.5%) as its dominant issue followed by health (21.9%). UKIP was distinctive both in the key issues it selected and its coverage of them. Across the account, immigration, Europe, and the economy accounted for almost equal shares in the coverage, just short of 21% apiece. Whilst the economy still featured, the extent to which UKIP included content on immigration and Europe immediately distinguished it from the other parties, with its closest rivals offering only 1.6% (Liberal Democrats) and 2% (Conservatives), respectively.

The decision by the parties to emphasise certain issues on their Twitter pages inevitably lowered the amount of coverage which others would receive. With the exception of UKIP, the parties each had a key issue that dominated their content as well as a secondary one discussed in at least 18% of their policy-related tweets. The Conservative, Labour, and Liberal Democrat pages thus focused more than half of their issue coverage on two topics. Only UKIP covered the issues of immigration and transport beyond the relative statistics of the opinion poll data. The Liberal Democrats were the only party to focus on education (14.0%) as a top-three issue. All four parties, however, chose to place more emphasis on the issues of the economy and taxation compared to the salience indicated in the opinion polls. In contrast, policy areas such as crime, housing, and welfare all received less coverage than the poll statistics by at least 0.4 percentage points. Of the three, welfare was weighed the least heavily by the parties, with the share of Labour tweets (which demonstrated the highest coverage) covering the issue at a rate of 2.3 percentage points below the share of individuals who selected it as an important issue in the survey data.

Coverage of the election by the television news was dominated by the election process, which accounted for 45.9% and 44.5% of election coverage across the respective mediums (Centre for Research in Communication and Culture, 2015). Considering coverage of the issues listed in the polling data, the economy was the most covered issue in the news media (8.1% of television news and 10.5% in the press), correlating with the most salient issue in the news media, the news media, the higher coverage reflecting a pattern also seen across the party pages. Immigration and the NHS interchangeably rounded off the top four.

The correlation between the key issues in the news media and the opinion polls is important to note but is not a claim of causation. Instead, the key points include the focus on the election process at the expense of issue coverage, which contrasts from the party's Twitter pages, where there was a stronger focus on policies. Secondly, and following from the first, whilst the economy received notably more attention across the news media, coverage of the NHS and immigration accounted for no more than 3.7% of election

coverage. This highlights how the parties were able to craft issue-focused campaigns on Twitter free from the intermediating role of the media.

Whilst the parties' choices of issue coverage were similar in some ways, they also differed enough to distinguish each party. This diversity of approaches underlined the parties' online brand and agenda-setting attempts as they sought not only to differentiate themselves from one another but also to produce a campaign which would highlight their strengths and key campaign messages (Nielsen and Larsen, 2014). The avoidance of undesirable topics is in itself unsurprising, and it follows the patterns examined in Chapter Five, which established that the parties primarily adopted Twitter as a broadcasting platform. However, the following sections explore how the parties engaged with and presented the issues of the economy, immigration, and health. They compare the parties' approaches to covering these issues in terms not only of the relative share of total tweets but also the content of the tweets in the context of the 2015 campaign and the style of engagement with the issues.

#### 6.3.1 The Economy

The economy collectively represented the key issue of the 2015 election for both the public and political parties. It is the long-held opinion of many politicians and commentators that the economy is *the* key election issue (Denver, 2007). These opinions do not, however, mean that the economy would necessarily be identified as the most salient issue in opinion polls. Rather, the message represents a reference to how, fundamentally, everyone wants prosperity, and even when not specified as the most important issue, it is inextricably linked to other voter concerns such as jobs and employment, state spending, and taxation (Denver et al., 2012). The extent to which the state of the economy is seen as an 'issue facing the country' is therefore much more nuanced, with factors such as the economic context and the perception of the competence of the incumbent government playing a role.

At the time of the 2015 election, Britain was still recovering from the effects of the 2008 economic crisis. Although output had since steadily increased, the United Kingdom continued to run a trade deficit: with GDP per head in 2014 remaining below 2007 levels and the Bank of England reluctant to increase interest rates beyond 0.5% as part of a strategy to help stimulate economic growth. Although the unemployment rate amongst over 16s had fallen by 2.5 percentage points between March 2010 and March 2015, the figure still stood at 5.5% (Office for National Statistics, 2015).

The parties, at least, were united in the message that the budget deficit had to be reduced, offering various soundbites such as 'eliminate the deficit' (Conservatives), 'deal with the deficit' (Liberal Democrats), and 'balance the books' (Labour). As a topic for election campaigning, the economy slogans clearly identified the 'goodwill' position which Habermas had categorised as a component of manipulated publicity. This meant the parties campaigned on issues known to be salient for the public and backed by a public consensus (valence issues), but which the parties were also in a position to engage with, without damage to their reputations or campaigns.

However, whilst the parties broadly agreed that borrowing and spending needed to be controlled, they also distinguished themselves from one another with different economic focal points and key policy pledges. The Conservatives were conspicuous for their focus on the number of new jobs and businesses created since 2010 to support their secure the recovery campaign. Labour, meanwhile, pledged to increase the minimum wage to more than eight pounds an hour. The Liberal Democrats also emphasised their commitment to extending paternity leave from two to six weeks. UKIP chose to focus on their promises to remove EU directives they saw as hampering the British economy and to renegotiate trade deals.

Across all four parties' Twitter campaigns, the economy proved a frequently referenced issue. Coverage exceeded 25% on all four party pages, with this share nearly doubling on the Conservative page. Although this correlated with public priorities reflected in opinion surveys, insofar as being a key issue, it raises the question of whether this represented a clear reaction to public opinion or was an example of manipulated publicity and, if the latter, in what way it was manipulated.

The significance of the economy in past elections indicates that the issue itself, rather than the survey results of 2015, affected the level of coverage it received. However, this also implies the underlying importance of the economy for voters and provides an assurance for the parties that the issue can be used to secure at least some level of public support. To consider this in more depth, it is therefore important to analyse other factors which influenced the parties' decision to engage with the economy and how they chose to do so. For this, I consider the behavioural factors which Habermas (1989) claimed would result from manipulated publicity, such as opinions based on reputation and to what extent these were observed in the parties' choices of policy focus and language of the relevant tweets. The Conservative and Liberal Democrat party pages provide the main point of comparison as the two accounts which focused most on the economy. That the two parties had also been partners in the coalition government prior to the campaign provides an additional point of interest when examining the implications of their reputations. First, I examine the significance of reputation on the Conservative Party's engagement with the economy.

The Conservative Party has traditionally been viewed as a 'safe pair of hands' for the economy, a particularly appealing trait for voters during periods of economic turmoil. The 2015 economic context, therefore, offered a situation the party could capitalise on, despite the fact it had been the dominant partner in government for the previous five years. Going into the election, the relatively higher amount of trust in the Conservatives to "handle the problem best" was reflected in opinion polls (YouGov, 2015b). The Conservative Party were clear frontrunners on the issue of "the economy in general" with public trust in the party placed at around 40% and Labour 18 percentage points behind. When the same question was posed but on the issue of unemployment, the Conservative Party still ranked first, with up to 34% of respondents, but the lead over Labour had closed to within five percentage points. From a brand perspective, the Conservatives' Twitter coverage did engage with and expand on a key issue for the public but simultaneously exploited the situation and capitalised on public perception of the party's competence.

How the political parties engaged with the issue is also important when examining the use of manipulated publicity. For the Conservatives, the slogan 'secure the recovery', which was adopted as the second-most-used hashtag by the account behind #LeadersDebate, proved central to the party's economic rhetoric not only online but also off. The phrase built upon the party's previous slogan of 'long-term economic plan', which had characterised its 2010 election campaign and continued into its time in government. The use of the 2015 slogan helped to create a sense of continuity in the narrative; it sent a message to the electorate that whilst the economic situation had improved during the previous parliament, only the re-election of the Conservatives would consolidate the economic recovery.

The party used its Twitter account to display its accomplishments and reinforce its reputation whilst also laying out future policies. One way it achieved this was through citing its record in areas such as job creation, such as "2 million jobs created since 2010 - let's keep going and build a brighter, more secure future. #SecureTheRecovery" (Conservatives, 2015b). This statistic, also broken down to '1,000 jobs created a day', formed a key component of the Conservatives' claims to competence, supported with mentions of the 760,000 additional businesses that were formed under the outgoing Tory-led coalition government<sup>8</sup>. However, deliberation was not directly courted: as discussed in Chapter Five, the hashtags were not used to encourage discussion *with* the party but rather as a tool to create a positive narrative and the presentation of accomplishments was a display of credentials rather than the basis for a debate.

Another element in supporting the assurance of its reputation as the sole party that could secure the economy was the Conservative page's repeated reference to Labour's record in comparison to their own. They frequently referred to Labour as the party which would 'wreck the economy', sometimes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> These statistics were most often repeated in the final two weeks of the campaign, the phrasing slightly altered but the messaging the same, reinforcing the Conservatives' track record on 'the economy' and why the party should be re-elected. For examples of tweets about creating 1,000 jobs a day, and references to 760,000 additional businesses, see **Appendix 3, section A.** 

presented alongside the likely consequences, such as an inability to fund the NHS, a loss of jobs, or the continual increase in borrowing and the deficit, which they tagged as a legacy of previous Labour governments. In other tweets, particularly in the last few weeks of the campaign, the Conservatives also often invoked the threat of a possible coalition government between Labour and the Scottish National Party (SNP), warning that it would be disastrous for the economy. The Conservatives directed their negative campaigning almost exclusively towards Labour or the potential of a Labour-SNP coalition, which I discuss later, and which was largely connected to the issue of the economy. Twitter was ultimately used by the Conservatives as a platform to display their positive record on the economy through reinforcement, focusing on selected key achievements. Negative campaigning was present but did not dominate the rhetoric on the economy and was used as part of the effort by the Conservatives to reinforce their reputational advantage.

The Liberal Democrats similarly used their own track record to build up their reputation, but unlike the Conservative Party, this proved an exercise in salvaging rather than strengthening. After the initial honeymoon period of the coalition government and the prestige which came with forming part of the executive as a third party, the Liberal Democrats had seen a dramatic fall of support in the opinion polls, from a peak of 21% at the start of the coalition to a monthly average of single figures from May 2014 (Cutts and Russell, 2015; YouGov, 2015d). The party attempted to paint itself as a force that would 'keep Britain on track' with the economic recovery, emphasising its role in the recovery as an important balance to Conservative cuts. This message, alongside repeated references to a 'Tory lurch to the right' and Labour being too left, thus implied that the centrist Liberal Democrats provided the best option to prevent either severe cuts to services or a return to high levels of borrowing <sup>9</sup>.

Despite the decline in the public's perception of the Liberal Democrats' ability to handle the economy and the challenges this presented, the decision to focus the party's campaign strategy on the issue suggests an underlying desire to engage with a topic which was highly salient to the public. In some ways, the party was also riding on the coattails of the Conservative Party's line of 'securing the recovery' and relying on some of the successes of the pervious parliament in order to frame its campaign around the economy. However, the Liberal Democrats lacked a distinguishing policy or direction and instead came across as an exercise in damage limitation rather than proactively engaging in discourse or even proactively offering a new plan for the future (Cowley and Kavanagh, 2016c; Grender, 2017).

Thus, despite the consensus over the need to reduce the deficit, the parties all presented different approaches to the issue. The economy was also the issue with which all parties engaged as a point of negative campaigning, but these assertions were primarily based on reputation rather than reasoned argument. For example, the Conservatives frequently referred to Labour as having 'wrecked' the economy in the previous decade, an accusation also repeated by the Liberal Democrats. Meanwhile, Labour played on the Conservative Party's reputation for spending cuts, questioning how its policies to reduce the deficit would match the pledge to increase NHS spending. By

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 'Keeping Britain on track' was a phrase consistently repeated throughout the Liberal Democrats campaign, often in relation to the party counterbalancing the Conservatives and Labour. For examples of how this message was presented, see **Appendix 3, section B**.

highlighting traits associated with opposition parties which could be exploited in a negative light, attempts were being made to reinforce existing perceptions rather than challenge them on other areas.

Overall, the high engagement with the economy by the parties' Twitter campaigns reflected the issue's position as the most salient for the public in 2015 and an issue worth devoting a significant portion of their campaigns to.

#### 6.3.2 Immigration

The topic of immigration poses an interesting contrast to that of the economy. Whilst both were interchangeably ranked as the top two issues facing the country throughout the 2010-15 parliament, immigration received little Twitter coverage except from the UKIP account. The issue itself had become increasingly prominent over the previous five years, in part due to its links with questions over Europe concerning the free movement of people and the United Kingdom's ability to control its borders. This period also saw the rise of UKIP in the public consciousness.

In 2010, Nigel Farage, UKIP's newly re-elected leader (having stood down for a year to focus on contesting the parliamentary seat of Buckingham, unsuccessfully), announced at the party conference that the party's goals were changing. Instead of limiting UKIP's ambitions to winning seats in the European Parliament, Farage wanted to build momentum towards the party becoming "the third force" in British politics in the 2015 general election (Ford and Goodwin, 2014: 89, 92). Farage also looked to change the party's rhetoric from focusing so much on *who* governed Britain to a more proactive argument for *how* it

should be governed (Ford and Goodwin, 2014: 90). Offering an anti-European Union (EU) agenda and openly discussing immigration, the party shunned a catch-all approach and instead actively made the decision to target its message at those in society who felt most hostile towards the EU and immigration (Ford and Goodwin, 2014).

By 2012, UKIP had increased its public support fivefold from 2% to 10%; it won over 140 county councillors in the 2013 local elections and contested 14 parliamentary by-election between 2011 and 2013, recording a best result of 27.8% in Eastleigh (Ford and Goodwin, 2014: 9, 92). Then 2014 resulted in UKIP's greatest electoral successes. In May's European elections, UKIP increased its total votes by nearly two million and became the party with the most UK MEPs (24), relegating the Conservatives to third place. Later in the year, two Conservative MPs, Douglas Carswell and Mark Reckless, defected to UKIP. The defections also resulted in UKIP gaining its first seats in the House of Commons by default, though both Carswell and Reckless opted to resign their seats, triggering by-elections, to seek re-election under the UKIP party banner. Both succeeded.

Media coverage of the party had also grown significantly during this time, with mentions of UKIP in British newspaper articles quadrupling from 6,200 in 2010 to 25,000 throughout 2013 (Ford and Goodwin, 2014: 9). In 2014, Ofcom announced that UKIP would be classified as one of the major parties in England and Wales for the European elections (Deacon and Wring, 2016b). This required commercial broadcasters to increase their offer of televised party election broadcasts to a minimum of two and to give UKIP equal prominence in editorial coverage with the other main political parties (Ofcom, 2015). The same status was assigned to the party for the 2015 UK general election; this not only secured greater media exposure for the party but also raised the possibility of Nigel Farage participating in the televised debates (Deacon and Wring, 2016b). Despite both the growing media coverage of UKIP and the party's ranking above the Liberal Democrats in the opinion polls, UKIP's concentrated messages on Europe and immigration were barely acknowledged by the other parties in the Twittersphere.

This did not mean, however, that the parties failed to mention the issue in other formats. The party manifestos reflected a broad consensus that greater border control was needed, but the extent of such control and the methods of implementation differed considerably. The Liberal Democrats and Labour focussed on border reinforcement through strengthening entry and exit checks and the provision of more border staff. In contrast, the Conservatives pledged a reduction in net migration from the 300,000s to the tens of thousands. UKIP went much further in its plans to cap the number of skilled workers entering the UK at 50,000 per year, imposing a five-year ban on immigration for unskilled workers and introducing a new points-based system of immigration, using Australia as a template.

During the previous parliament, the public's perception of the parties' abilities to act on asylum and immigration had also shifted. Throughout 2010, on average, more than 40% of respondents viewed the Conservatives as best suited to handle the problem (YouGov, 2015b). By 2015, the figures had altered significantly; the 'other' party option ranked just above the Conservative Party with 27% to 22% in the final poll before the election. The new split in opinion meant figures for trust in the two major parties regarding immigration were low

compared to the statistics on the other key issues, only hovering around the early to mid-20s for each, compared to the mid to high 30s. Although the Conservative Party maintained its position ahead of Labour and the Liberal Democrats, in 2010 it had promised to bring net migration down to below 100,000 per annum and, by 2015, had clearly not met this target. Instead, by September 2014, the figure had increased by 50,000 since the start of David Cameron's premiership (ONS, , 2017b). It seemed mutually beneficial for the three 'main' parties to avoid an issue which left them open to criticism for failure to either deliver or to offer enough.

Immigration, with its connections to the EU's policy on the free movement of people, represented a politically 'unsafe' issue for the Conservatives as it symbolised a long-standing topic of division amongst its members and elected representatives. The Liberal Democrats are inherently pro-EU and freedom of movement and engaged little with the issue of immigration in their manifesto. The party refused to state a numerical goal for reducing net migration, and their stance placed them in opposition to the general public mood. Labour was divided between its progressive wing, which welcomed and encouraged free movement, and those in its voter base who were concerned about its impact on jobs. It seemed that a consensus had emerged to limit their engagement with the issue and control the direction of the narrative to avoid it. As such, immigration, deemed as one of the most important issues facing the country, was left largely undiscussed by the two main parties on Twitter (with less than 1.6% coverage, including the Liberal Democrat page). In contrast, UKIP cemented its brand identity as the anti-EU party which would openly comment on immigration.

UKIP's Twitter page primarily engaged with the issue of immigration by referring to 'control' – that is, the United Kingdom controlling its borders and mass migration in general. The perceived close relationship between the policy domains of immigration and 'Europe' resulted in the conflation of the two issues into a single one for some opinion polls. Whilst UKIP did connect the two, they mainly only did so in reference to the supposed threat to national security and border control from the common European migration and asylum policy that, at the time, was under discussion in the Junker Commission. Nearly 38% of UKIP's tweets mentioning immigration also referenced Europe. Whilst this was a significant proportion, UKIP still presented the issues as distinct from one another. When posting on Twitter about immigration in general, the party continued to emphasise the lack of border controls but repeated more specific claims about the strain on the NHS, public services, and housing<sup>10</sup>.

Another aspect UKIP highlighted, which caused an uproar amongst other leaders during the ITV televised debate, was the claim that existing immigration policies were allowing and even encouraging 'health tourism' – individuals travelling to the UK with the purpose of using the country's health services. In addition, although the other parties had remained largely silent on the issue, UKIP used Twitter to emphasise the shortcomings of the Conservatives (poor track record) and Labour (not looking out for their voter base) in contrast to their own stance. Moreover, as almost the sole voice on immigration amongst the four parties, UKIP was able to reinforce its branding through the Twitter

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For examples of specific claims about immigration linked to other issues, see **Appendix 3**, **Section C**.

campaign and assure its reputation on the issue, a situation the party was determined to exploit.

Twitter was again displayed as a space the parties could use as a tool for self-promotion; the parties carefully selected the issues their campaigns engaged with and the policies they presented without responding to other parties or users. The extent to which the Conservatives, Labour, and Liberal Democrats opted to avoid the topic of immigration on a platform without the news media as intermediary highlights how little the three parties were voluntarily prepared to engage with the issues. It is perhaps also one of the clearest examples of manipulated publicity and an attempt at agenda-setting with three main parties choosing largely to avoid engaging with a topic which was highly salient for the public.

#### 6.3.3 Health

The last of the top-three issues was health. Still a top-four topic across the party Twitter accounts, health was the most referenced issue by Labour, the only party which mentioned it more than the economy. The pages varied significantly in their coverage of this issue, with a coverage rate of 29.4% by Labour compared to just under 6% by the Conservatives, despite its importance for the public. The extent of Labour's coverage reflected the party's long-running association with the NHS, as it introduced the original National Health Insurance Act in 1946. The party's connection to the healthcare system had represented a constant source of pride for Labour over the decades and took a prominent role in its election campaigns, reinforcing the connection to the NHS and reputation of protecting and investing in the service. When polled on the issue of the NHS, the public viewed the Labour Party as the most capable, by a significant margin of 14-16 percentage points (with nearly 40% of respondents perceiving the party as the most able) (YouGov, 2015b).

In the time leading up to the 2015 election, a great deal of criticism had been directed at accident and emergency (A&E) waiting times, which were exceeding their four-hour targets, as well as at the longer waits for GP appointments and routine operations. The election campaign period also began after another year of winter pressures on the NHS. In addition, the coalition government had introduced the Health and Social Care Act 2012, triggering a top-down reorganisation, which the Conservatives had previously disclaimed. Opinion was split on the degree to which the Act, which required more competition for contracts, commercialised the NHS; some believed that this strategy increased the viability of the NHS model, whilst others criticised it for privatising what should remain a publicly supplied service.

However, across the parties' manifestos, there was a consensus to pledge more spending to the NHS. The Conservatives promised to increase spending by £8 billion above inflation over the next five years, followed by the Liberal Democrats, who also promised to reach that figure by 2020, starting with £1 billion extra in 2018 and £3.5 billion extra for mental health. UKIP and Labour offered similar promises in terms of new NHS workers, though figures differed slightly. The spending consensus indicated a recognition of the issue as a priority for the public and was more generally engaged with than immigration (though the Conservatives engaged with health the least of the four parties). Nonetheless, the parties still differentiated themselves from one another by the extent to which they focused on the issues and the policies they elected to showcase.

Most frequently cited on Labour's Twitter account was the promise to invest extra funds to pay for 20,000 more nurses, 3,000 more midwives, and 8,000 more GPs<sup>11</sup>. In addition, the party's Twitter account also pledged to increase the speed of NHS treatment, particularly referencing its pledge to ensure that patients would be able to get an appointment with their GP within 48 hours. However, Labour also maintained continuous rhetoric that emphasised the threat of a privatised NHS under the Conservatives in an attempt to persuade voters to back them. The Liberal Democrats represented the second-most engaged party with the issue of health, particularly focusing on mental health (mentioned in 23% of all 'health'-related tweets), an aspect they had increasingly associated themselves with over the previous years. The party drew attention to both the issue of mental health and their pledge of investment, with the orchestrated release of a distinctively styled poster background to help identify the connected posts and pledges<sup>12</sup>. The promise of greater investment in mental health services took on a central role in the Liberal Democrats' Twitter output for the first few weeks of the campaign before becoming more of a background issue in the final week as the party started to focus more on the economy and encouraging voter turnout.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> These numbers were referenced throughout the short campaign: the pledge for 20,000 more nurses was mentioned on 11 separate occasion, 8,000 more GPs (10), 3,000 more midwives (seven).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> For example, the Liberal Democrats (2015c) tweeted "Under our manifesto plans we will invest £3.5bn more in mental health care by 2010".

Meanwhile, the Conservative Party limited its engagement with health (less than 6% coverage) to referencing its pledge to invest more in the NHS. This contrasted particularly with Labour's engagement with the issues, correlating with the reputation of the two parties on the issue, much like the economy. Labour embraced its largely positive reputation by extensively campaigning on health, whilst the Conservative campaign largely chose to avoid the subject. This was also reflected in the fact that Labour offered a more extensive range of pledges around its plans for the NHS.

The different campaign strategies around health once again demonstrated the focus on party branding, with each party selectively engaging (or not) with the issues with which it most strongly wanted to be associated. Although there were some points of correlation with public opinion – inevitably as the parties still need to attract votes – the decision of exactly which topics with which to engage and how is heavily influenced by reputation, in line with Habermas' concern for the encroachment of manipulated publicity. Overall, the coverage of election issues in the parties' Twitter campaigns reflected the desires and attempts by political parties to try to control the agenda in their offline campaigns.

#### 6.4 Campaign Strategies

As we have seen, creating an online 'brand' and capitalising on offline reputation played an important role in the parties' choice of campaign content. This section assesses the final element which Habermas outlined in manipulating publicity: the manipulation of events. It became evident across collected Twitter data that the parties had two primary strategic approaches towards the sharing of content and events, presenting them as either long-term or short-term campaigns or events. Each internal campaign or 'event' often centred around a particular issue but differed in their content and intention. The use of long- and short-term campaign methods also complements Twitter's design as the site revolves around the continuous flow of user-generated content which is constantly updating and evolving. As users usually access Twitter repeatedly for small pockets of time, rather than over a single, protracted visit, the content to which they are exposed alters with each viewing. As such, repetition proves an important method to try to increase the likelihood of tweets being viewed.

Long-term campaigns consisted of the sustained coverage of a particular issue or policy over the course of weeks during the election period. Such campaigns were mostly conducted through the repetition of key policies related to the parties' self-selected dominant electoral issues. In comparison, shortterm campaigns typically lasted no more than a day, but the content of the tweets posted during that time primarily concentrated on a single topic. The intention of these styles of campaigns was to generate attention, for example, for the release of a new policy or to sustain and reinforce a point in the party's favour, both in an attempt to control the election agenda.

In considering the use of long- and short-term campaigns, this section considers individual examples of each as well as the patterns in the types of events for which they were used. It highlights how the approaches differed and examines the extent to which it demonstrates a realisation of Habermas' concern for the use of manipulated publicity. Firstly, the Conservatives' sustained campaign around the issue of a hung parliament provides the central study for the long-term approach. This examination is followed by an investigation into the Labour Party's coverage of their policy to scrap the nondom tax status, which also serves as an example of how a news event created by a party can be taken out of its control.

#### 6.4.1 Long-Term Campaigns

Most often, long-term campaigns were linked to the key issues for each of the respective parties. The level of coverage given to these topics, by sheer volume of tweets, meant this linkage occurred almost by default. A long-term campaign, however, was not identified by a broad theme but rather the reiteration of a specific policy or event over a period of weeks. The Labour Party, for example, continually referenced its pledge to scrap zero-hour employment contracts, whilst the Liberal Democrats repeated the promise to ensure greater investment into mental health. For each party, the policy was an identifying characteristic of its brand. Long-term campaigns, however, were not exclusively related to election pledges. The Conservative Party used the possibility of another hung parliament and the potential of a Labour-SNP coalition to conduct a sustained campaign against Labour. This provides an interesting case study into the relationship between public opinion, attempts by the parties to control the agenda, and mass media.

Even before the dissolution of parliament to signal the start of the 2015 general election campaign, opinion polls indicated the result would be unlikely to return a single party majority in the House of Commons. The expectation of a hung parliament had been based on the Conservatives and Labour polling neck and neck from the start of the year; indeed, they were tied at 34% each on the final day of campaigning (YouGov, 2015a). Meanwhile, after five years in coalition with the Conservatives, the Liberal Democrats were polling in single figures. The previous coalition had done little to recommend a repeat of a hung parliament to the public. Despite its mixed record, the Conservative-Liberal Democrat alliance was widely expected to continue into the next parliament as no clear majority party emerged, unless the Labour Party could form its own coalition. Whilst the ability of the Liberal Democrats to return even 10 MPs was under question, the SNP, in contrast, were seeing a surge in support. From early 2015, the SNP were projected to win all but four seats in Scotland, and in the end the party was only three short of a clean sweep (Brooks, 2015). Such a result would prove detrimental to Labour, which entered the election with 41 of the 59 Scottish seats. With predictions of such a result, a Labour-SNP coalition looked possible, and the Conservatives were quick to capitalise on this prediction. The party shifted part of its campaign to focus on the potential coalition pairing, widely viewed as more unpopular than its own. Despite the likelihood of another hung parliament, surveys suggested the public was unenthusiastic about the prospect of any coalition (Karwatowska, 2015).

The combined effects of the expectation of no outright majority, the predicted damage to Labour's seat share with the rise of the SNP, and the public's distaste for the idea of another five years of a coalition government created a circumstance ripe for exploitation by the Conservatives. The utilisation of this situation by the Conservative campaign was interesting; whilst it correlated with public opinion in the sense of recognising a lack of public
appetite for another coalition government, it was reacting against the opinion surveys forecasting another hung parliament (which was also being widely reported by mainstream media).

The fact that the Conservatives did engage with this information at all, however, indicates some sensitivity towards public opinion. The campaign strategy was executed to exploit the public distaste for another hung parliament to help counteract the possibility of another and (as the Conservatives emphasised) 'worse' coalition. As also demonstrated earlier in the chapter, this was another example of parties being aware of the public opinion data and responding to it, but almost *only* in situations where a reference was considered to contain no risk. Although the response to public opinion was selective, it nonetheless demonstrated some (indirect) influence on the campaigns.

The Conservatives were not the only party using this as a strategy; the Liberal Democrats defended their record in the coalition in the light of the expectation of a repeat of the 2010 results. Posts used throughout the campaign included, "No party will win a majority – only #LibDems can deliver stability unity and decency #GE2015" in addition to similar sentiments, as well as examples which purported to show their positive influence on government policies and results (Liberal Democrats, 2015a). UKIP likewise drew on poll results – often recording them in tweets, providing links and sharing images of the data – to show that the party was considered a viable option in the general election and had public support for its proposals for tackling immigration<sup>13</sup>. Sustaining these campaign messages through the election and reiterating areas of public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> For examples, see **Appendix 3, Section D**.

concern were tactical decisions to keep the issues and events at the forefront of the parties' campaigns and the minds of their audience.

### 6.4.2 Short-Term Campaigns

In contrast, short-terms campaigns were often constructed so that the content of the day's tweets would primarily be linked to a specific election policy. Such campaigns were often used when a new policy was being unveiled. Labour and UKIP used a similar tactic when they released their women's manifestos. Labour's launch (15 April) emphasised issues included in the manifesto such as equality, childcare, and making employment changes as more women than men were in low-paid jobs. UKIP (9 April) chose to highlight their pledge to remove the so-called tampon tax on female sanitary products, an issue which had come under much discussion in the lead-up to the campaign. The parties thus created a great deal of noise around a particular issue, ensuring it received attention from as many people as possible, especially journalists.

The Labour Party intended to follow a similar path when announcing its policy on non-dom tax status. The policy aimed to abolish the non-domicile rule, which allowed UK residents with permanent homes outside the United Kingdom to be exempt from paying UK tax on foreign income. The policy was announced on 7 April both online and during a speech given by Ed Miliband at the University of Warwick. The event itself was live-tweeted and served as the focus of the party's Twitter page for the day. However, in this case, the party encountered a significant backlash, particularly from the mass media. Rather than confining the promise to a single day, releasing, and spreading the announcement in a controlled way, discussion of the issue on Twitter also continued into a second day, which was mainly spent defending the policy<sup>14</sup>. This represented a fairly unusual reaction; rather than Labour treating Twitter as the controlled environment it usually did, the party's Twitter account was used as a way to defend and reassert its position on the policy. These attempts to defend the policy were not helped by an old quote from then Shadow Chancellor Ed Balls which was brought to light from an interview with BBC Radio Leeds reporter Daragh Corcoran in January 2015. In the clip, Balls stated, "I think if you abolish the whole status then probably it ends up costing Britain money" as a consequence of some people opting to leave the country (BBC News, 2015: 00:23). The policy itself was not completely dropped as the party page referred to it on occasion, but outside of the intermittent mentions the party had made the announcement and moved on from it; non-dom status did not become a further key policy talking point on the party's Twitter page despite the early reaction.

This example highlights how, despite the attempts of the parties to control their output on Twitter and limit engagement with others on the site (Chapter Five), this did not always protect them from backlash. The decision to respond to the criticisms was somewhat unusual, but the response from the mainstream media had put pressure on the party, both online and off. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Tweets from the Labour Twitter page the following day took on a more defensive approach which included: asking Twitter users to vote on their position on non-dom tax status (The Labour Party, 2015c), posting a video of Ed Miliband explaining why the policy was so important, (The Labour Party, 2015h), reinforcing the reasons for the party's position on non-dom tax status (The Labour Party, 2015i) and mentioning the Conservatives inaction on the issue (The Labour Party, 2015g). For the original text of these tweets see **Appendix 3**, **Section E.** 

party's reaction suggest it was decided that responding on this occasion would prove far more beneficial than ignoring what was being said. This event serves as an example of the possibility of subjecting even a party's controlled environment to external criticism, although the force of the mass media was required for such an event to occur. Normally, a policy is introduced to the public, and then the party moves on without needing to return to defend it. This occasion demonstrated the lack of complete control by the parties over the direction and focus of their output and their ability to be swayed by external pressure.

### 6.5 Conclusion

Habermas outlined 'manipulated' public opinion as a key element of 'representative publicity', political actors displaying their position before the public instead of engaging them. Attempts to manipulate public opinion – content, reputation, and exploitation of events – were evidenced through the parties' choices of policies, campaign messages, and long- and short-term strategies. It manifested itself as the parties' used their Twitter pages as a space for self-promotion as they tried to control the election agenda. Each party selected key issues that reflected public opinion but only when it matched the party's owns strengths and reputation. Similarly, the posts connected to election issues were dominated by policy achievements or pledges which broadcast the parties' stances to the public instead of engaging them. The parties were, in essence, creating their own echo chambers.

This was also reflected in the long- and short-term campaign strategies the parties employed. These comprised another method to manipulate the agenda and create noise around an event, such as the release of a new policy. Primarily an exercise in self-promotion and agenda setting, the parties were shown to be reactive to events if they could be used to benefit their campaign. However, many events were planned and created as part of the wider campaign strategy, used to create excitement around an event or campaign pledge. Although the parties attempted to promote their policies by trying to create hype around the issues, as we also saw in Chapter Five, they did little to engage with the users beyond posting the content. Thus, the strategies were essentially employed as a means of effectively broadcasting information.

Ultimately, the parties were attempting to manipulate public opinion through setting the policy agendas, and though some of these conformed to issues deemed the most salient to the public, the parties focused on issues that allowed them to capitalise on their reputations. Though the site was used as part of the wider campaigns, Twitter also provided a space where they had more control over the output. This reinforced the 'politics as usual' argument that the site would be absorbed into the traditional campaign styles, though it also provided a space where the parties could exercise more control without the intermediation of the mainstream media.

The next chapter offers a comparison by examining how candidates engaged with election issues in their 2015 Twitter campaigns. It considers to what extent the candidates were more adaptive to Twitter as a deliberative space and to what extent they kept 'on message' with the parties' national campaigns.

# **Chapter Seven: Local Candidates**

The previous two chapters emphasise the use of Twitter by the political parties. So far, we have established that the parties primarily used the site as a means for self-promotion through what Habermas termed 'manipulated publicity' without making a serious attempt to utilise Twitter's deliberative potential. This chapter turns to examine how candidates standing for the Conservative Party, Labour Party, Liberal Democrats, and UKIP incorporated Twitter into their election campaigns. This invites a comparison between the behaviours of individuals (the candidates) and organisations (the parties) on the site. As such, this chapter considers how the candidates used the functions of the site and their engagement with different election issues. These enquiries are framed under the questions: How did the output of the candidates' accounts compare to the parties' accounts? What was the balance between national and local campaigning?

I begin the investigation by outlining the developments in constituency campaigning in past general elections, examining how local campaigning altered and how it was affected by the introduction of the internet and social media. I then introduce some of the tensions between the deliberative potential Twitter offers the candidates and concerns of the parties. This poses questions around the balance between centralised control of the candidates' campaigns from their party HQs and the opportunities Twitter provides for a more personal and localised campaign.

The second part of the chapter then analyses the candidates' use of Twitter during the 2015 election campaign. First, I investigate how the candidates engaged with the interactive features of the site, drawing a comparison with the party pages as well as examining different patterns in activity amongst the groups of candidates from the four parties. I also consider to what extent offline status affects their potential audience reach to provide a context for their online presence. Finally, I revisit the debate around issue coverage and public opinion from Chapter Six, exploring to what extent the candidates kept 'on message' in their coverage of different election issues and how far their campaigns took on a national or local slant.

### 7.1 Local Campaigning and the Internet

From the 1950s to the turn of the century, national campaigns had dominated electioneering in British general elections; local campaigning was generally viewed to be, in practice, of little importance (Denver and Hands, 1997b). The growing emphasis placed on television news from the late 1960s also negatively affected local electioneering as it further turned the attention of the parties, national media, academics, and the public towards the national campaigns (Denver and Hands, 1997a; Denver et al., 2003; Lee, 2014: 46). Around this time, interest also began to shift towards the party leaders, personalities, and images, and the work of PR consultants became more prominent (Norris, 2000; Gibson et al., 2008; McNair, 2012; Lee, 2014). However, these changes did not mean the local campaigns had entirely been written off; rather, they were viewed as a secondary form of campaigning which represented an exercise in voter mobilisation more than persuasion (Denver et al., 2003).

Another turning point came in the 1990s, when a partial revival of local campaigning began under New Labour, which realigned the relationship between the national and local campaigns (Denver et al., 2003). This shift was triggered by the introduction of new information communication technologies; parties "began to take constituency campaigning much more seriously" after monitoring experiences in the United States (Blumler and Kavanagh, 1999; Denver et al., 2003: 542; Gibson et al., 2008). The local and national campaigns then became increasingly integrated as parties took on more centralised coordinator roles and placed particular emphasis on marginal seats (Norris, 2000; Denver et al., 2003).

Two primary examples of new communication methods introduced through the development of the internet and Web 1.0 were emailing lists and party and candidate websites. The ability of parties and candidates to communicate with the electorate through email has been likened to a "new tele-marketing technique" (Gibson, 2013: 186). As with telephone records, the parties were able to collect and compile lists of email addresses to contact individuals; the information they gathered could also be subdivided to create targeted indexes, allowing for a more sophisticated communication and marketing operation (Plasser and Plasser, 2002: 5). The nature of emails also meant there was a greater sense of personalisation between the sender and the recipient, particularly when they were signed off by (or on behalf of) a specific candidate or even the party leader. It also required fewer resources such as personnel and working hours to produce and send an email than to conduct a telemarketing campaign (Ward and Gibson, 2003).

Although email also provided a new way for constituents to contact their MPs or election candidates, the adoption of this mode of communication during election campaigns was largely asymmetrical, with the political actors primarily using the service to disseminate information rather than responding to queries from the public (Gibson, 2013).

From the late 1990s, party and candidate websites had also gradually been developed by the political parties. After the initial introduction, the technological advancements and wider adoption of these websites was slow to materialise; the internet was still a novelty for the parties by the time of the 2001 general election campaign (Jackson, 2007) However, it was around this period that attitudes began altering and the opportunities which web pages could provide to communicate with the electorate were gradually becoming more appreciated by the parties. As the parties became more familiar with the digital platforms, the websites became "more extensive in content and sophistication" (Baxter et al., 2011: 465). This development was still underway in the lead-up to the 2010 election, when significantly higher numbers of party website visitors were recorded in comparison to figures from 2005, with some sites logging up to seven times more visitors (Gibson et al., 2010; Williamson, 2010).

Significantly, the potential of websites had been recognised beyond the bulletin-board-style of information dissemination which had characterised the limited designs. Instead, the parties began to view websites (and email communication) as a means of resource generation, a way of mobilising volunteers and raising money, as we saw in Chapter Four with Obama's US election campaigns (Ward and Gibson, 2003; Jackson, 2007).

However, those who signed up to email lists and visited party or candidates websites were almost exclusively existing members or already supporters of the respective parties, and whilst this made the technologies valuable tools for keeping supporters connected to the campaigns, it highlighted the limits of Web 1.0's ability to reach a wider audience (Williamson, 2010). Similarly, email lists and websites provided only limited scope for public participation in online communication, and websites were still not particularly prominent features of the campaigns despite a higher volume of traffic. Information dissemination was still the primary function of these technologies, and the output was heavily controlled by the central party campaigns (Margolis and Resnick, 2000; Williamson, 2010; Baxter et al., 2011). However, when the second wave of technological developments occurred under Web 2.0, more opportunities became available for the constituency candidates and local campaigning (Lee, 2014).

As discussed in Chapters Three and Four, the development of Web 2.0 sparked a debate about the internet's potential impact on political communication and participation, which can also be applied to constituency campaigning. As early as the 2009 European Parliamentary elections, research had found that social media and social networking sites were "superseding [the] centralising party websites" as a focus for voters within the digital campaigns, a trend which was reinforced during the 2010 election campaign (Williamson, 2010: 20). The parties, as seen in Chapter Four, generally limited their responses to users on Twitter and, as we examined, chose to use the site as an unmediated platform from which to promote their campaigns, reflecting the broadcast style which dominated their websites. However, the candidates'

pages are arguably more suited to utilising social media as a means of interacting with the electorate as they can create person-to-person relationships rather than organisation-to-person. This naturally creates a more personal dynamic (when the individual who is communicating is known) which, in turn, can allow for a more personable style of communication.

Twitter's design of enabling on-the-go updates also allows more freedom when communicating through the site than updating a candidate website or composing blog entries. This is primarily because Twitter does not require the candidate, or one of their campaign team members, to sit at a desk to post updates as they would with a website, which restricts resources when many of them would prefer to be 'out and about' on the campaign trail (Ward and Gibson, 2003). Instead, candidates are able to provide real-time updates about their campaign trail and also have the opportunity to hold 'conversations' with users at any point throughout the day. This not only makes the candidates more accessible, but Twitter itself has a greater potential 'reach' than party or candidate websites, which are self-contained.

Overall, candidates have the opportunity to create a space for deliberation over which they can exercise much greater control. However, before I begin the investigation into how the candidates utilised the deliberative potential of Twitter, and the balance between the national and local focus in the constituency campaigns, I first consider how social media introduced a dilemma for parties: finding the balance between 'releasing' candidates to campaign but still maintaining some control over the output. This is explored through several well-documented political gaffes on Twitter, assessing the impact of these incidents on the candidates and the party's reactions.

#### 7.2 Twitter: The Rules of Engagement

As established in Chapter Four, the 2010 UK general election had fallen far short of expectations of it being the social media election; instead, parties experimented with some of the features and at best used the platforms as a side note to their campaigns. However, in the five years leading up to the 2015 general election, the continued rise of social media led the parties and MPs to integrate social media more seriously into their political communication efforts (Chadwick, 2013; Murthy, 2013). Although each of the four parties was more active on sites such as Twitter, they were also at different stages in their online campaign approaches: The Liberal Democrats had already been the most actively engaged in social media campaigning and used Twitter to interact with other users, albeit to a limited extent. The Conservatives and Labour Party had used the site mainly for images and humour in 2010, although the Conservatives were also in the early stages of gathering data to support microtargeted campaigning on the site (see Chapter Four). UKIP, the party with the least election experience of the four, was also the least experienced in digital campaigning.

For the election candidates, social media still held an element of novelty as a communication tool, and it was only widely adopted by MPs after the 2010 general election. Some MPs and candidates were wary of using Twitter, however, after chastening experiences on the site (Barnes, 2009; Baxter and Marcella, 2012).

An early causality occurred in February 2010, when a tweet was posted from the Twitter account of the then-Labour MP and party whip David Wright, calling Conservatives "scum-sucking" pigs (BBC News, 2010). Wright apologised but disputed that he had written the offending section of the tweet and claimed his account had been hacked by a third party which added the controversial phrase (BBC News, 2010). Unsurprisingly, this explanation was dismissed by Conservative MPs. Regardless of the identity of the actual author, this incident represents an early example of an MP – and one with a high position within the party – falling foul of social media. Wright subsequently decided to delete his account and stood for re-election in both the 2010 and 2015 general elections without ever reactivating it.

However, not all MPs who deleted their accounts did so after political gaffes. In 2012, Conservative MP Gordon Henderson decided to delete his account after, along with 57 other MPs, signing a letter which spoke out against the government's decision to introduce same-sex marriage. After receiving messages of abuse, Henderson claimed that he was unable to have a "meaningful" debate on the topic on Twitter (BBC News, 2012). This comment is significant in that Henderson saw the *potential* of Twitter to act as a deliberative forum where politicians could interact with the public. Instead, he attributed the failure to recognise this potential not on the site but rather on those who were using the platform to dismiss his viewpoint without engaging in a discussion, and particularly those who then resorted to abusive language. Many studies have pointed to online abuse and 'trolling' as confined to a vocal minority of users; however, the disruptive nature of their posts can also snowball to influence the behaviours of other online users, creating a herd mentality and drowning out the voices of those who disagree or are open to discourse (Cheng et al., 2017; Akhtar and Morrison, 2019; Sun and Fichman, 2020). Like Wright, Henderson opted against re-joining Twitter for his 2015 election campaign.

In the year prior to the 2015 general election, a number of UKIP representatives made headlines over statements they posted on Twitter. Two of the most high-profile episodes occurred during election campaigns. First, Andre Lampitt, standing for Merton in the May 2014 local elections, was suspended from the party after posting racist views online (Hall, 2014). This event was even more embarrassing for the party as Mr Lampitt had taken a starring role in one of the party's election broadcasts which had aired only days before his tweets had come to light. It also suggested a failing by UKIP to sufficiently vet candidates' social media accounts, for which the party had already been criticised.

Secondly, the UKIP candidate for Eastleigh, Patricia Culligan, deleted her account only days after candidate registration closed for the 2015 general election. The move came after she apologised for claiming on Twitter that the Liberal Democrat candidate for Vauxhall, Adrian Hyyrylainen-Trett – who on the previous week had spoken publicly about contracting HIV – had "deliberately" caught the disease and proceeded to criticise him for the cost of treatment to the NHS (Duffy, 2015). Culligan was not suspended from the party but, after posting an apology on her Facebook page, deleted her Twitter account. Although they appeared to be more widely reported, such incidents did not remain exclusive to UKIP; the high-profile sacking of Emily Thornberry from the Shadow Cabinet in November 2014, discussed in Chapter Five, had resulted from online backlash over one of her tweets.

However, UKIP were sufficiently concerned about the damage such incidents could cause to make changes to the party rule book to include detailed instructions on "online conduct" (UKIP, 2015d: 26). It covered the content of

social media posts, explicitly instructing members to "refrain from any posting expressing racist, homophobic, xenophobic or otherwise discriminatory views" or engage in activities such as spamming or trolling (UKIP, 2015d: 27). Members of the party's executive committee reserved the right to request the immediate withdrawal of online content, and failure to comply promptly was considered grounds for disciplinary action.

As another example of UKIP's attempts to keep control over online content and its 'brand', the use of the party's logo was only allowed when a member had been given "express written consent to do so" (UKIP, 2015d: 27). The strictness of such rules was indicative of how little control the party HQ had over its representatives' activities on social media, concerns over the potential damage they could (and did) cause, and a recognition of the need for clear guidelines to help navigate social media campaigning. The Labour Party's 2014 rule book, in contrast, made no reference to online content or social media, nor were there any references to similar rules found on the Conservative or Liberal Democrat websites. However, UKIP's actions did highlight the tensions between the tightly controlled, centrally coordinated local campaigns and the relative freedoms Twitter offered to individuals, which made the site attractive as a more personal method of communication.

So far, this chapter has outlined how the local campaigns have developed alongside the introduction of new technology and the opportunities which social media offer for a more personalised, candidate-orientated form of campaigning. It has also highlighted some of the concerns of the parties about the potential lack centralised control over the candidates' campaign output. The second part of this chapter focuses on analysing how the candidates used Twitter in their 2015 general election campaigns, beginning with the site's features.

### 7.3 Data

To understand the relationship between the national and local campaigns, I analysed the Twitter accounts of candidates representing each of the four main UK parties (Conservatives, Labour, Liberal Democrats, and UKIP) across 45 constituencies (**Appendix 1**.). The constituencies selected were marginal seats and considered most likely to change party hands. The decision to use such constituencies was based on the belief that, as likely target seats, the chances of constituents being active on Twitter would be higher. This follows the reasoning for selecting an election campaign period for analysis, as outlined in Chapter Two: to investigate the potential of Twitter and how parties and candidates to engage during a period where there should be heightened activity. Overall, I identified the 12 seats which each of the Conservative, Labour, and Liberal Democrat parties were most likely to gain on the basis of vote marginality. Due to UKIP's limited record in general elections, with only 3.1% of the vote share in 2010 and a lack of established marginals to contest, the constituencies for UKIP were selected from the list of 12 seats which they had decided to target in 2015 based on private polling (Holehouse and Swinford, 2014). It was the number of seats identified in the commissioned data that informed my decision to select the top 12 seats per party to make the data comparable. From the 48 constituencies listed, since six seats were regarded as key targets by more than one party, the total number examined was 45.

The Twitter data were collected during the short campaign period from 30 March 2015 to the end of polling day on 6 May. The number of followers for each account was recorded when polls closed on 7 May. Three criteria were set for a Twitter account to qualify as part of the research: firstly, the candidate's page had to be active (at least one tweet posted during the data collection period). Secondly, accounts had to be accessible to the public; this meant the page was not set to private so content could be viewed without the need to acquire permission. Finally, the page had to be associated with an individual and not used as a communication tool for the local branch or local association of the party. This also excluded accounts which explicitly stated the page would be updated on behalf of the candidate without the individuals themselves using it during the campaign. These criteria excluded 11 Twitter accounts from the dataset. In addition, one account (that of Patricia Culligan, the UKIP candidate for Eastleigh) was deleted during the campaign. The Twitter pages of Nigel Farage (South Thanet) and Steve Beasant (Liberal Democrat, Great Grimsby) were classed as ineligible for analysis, though the tweets were still collected as a point of interest. Farage's account was excluded on the grounds that his position as UKIP leader automatically attached hm to the national campaign to a degree which was not comparable with the other candidates. Beasant's account was not used for analysis due to the considerable number of tweets posted on the page: 2,777 during the short campaign period, 2,000 more than the number posted by the second most active account (673 tweets by the Liberal Democrat candidate for Morley and Outwood, Rebecca Taylor) and far exceeding the average number of posts (130 tweets each) by the sample of Liberal Democrat candidates when excluding Beasant's contribution <sup>15</sup>. Therefore, these data were classified as an outlier to avoid distorting the coding results.

In total, 16,549 tweets were collected and analysed from 133 candidate Twitter accounts drawn from the 45 constituencies. The content of the data was coded using the same list of election issues as the YouGov (2015c) surveys and party accounts in Chapter Five to allow comparative analysis of the party and candidate pages. Only original tweets and @-replies were coded, and retweets were excluded. The decision to include replies was made on the basis that there was a greater expectation that candidates would engage in conversations through Twitter than the parties. It also allowed an extra point of analysis as the tweets could be divided into party groups and then analysed to show the spread of original tweets and replies.

## 7.4 Candidates on Twitter

By 2015, Twitter had become a popular communication tool for MPs and electoral candidates. Whereas only 51 MPs were active on Twitter in June 2009, by the end of 2012, this number had increased substantially to 451(Jackson and Lilleker, 2011: 92; Pillmoor, 2013: 4) During the 2015 general election campaign, the percentage of candidates with active Twitter accounts in the 45 marginal constituencies was 74% (see **Table 3.** and **Appendix 1.**). This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Beasant's tweets were almost exclusively related to the national campaign and often included links to either the Liberal Democrat party website or, even more commonly, his own candidate website (www.stevenbeasant.4mp.org.uk). For examples, see **Appendix 4**, **section A**.

compared to 45% of candidates across 100 UK-wide "key battleground and high profile seats" during the 2010 campaign (Baxter and Marcella, 2012: 111). In the 2015 election, the Labour and Conservative candidates were most likely to have active Twitter accounts with an adoption rate of 91% and 84%, respectively. In contrast, only half of UKIP candidates (including Nigel Farage) were active users of the site. Those standing for Labour tweeted most often, averaging 164 posts each, compared to the Liberal Democrat candidates with 130, Conservatives with 104, and UKIP with 76. The candidates also interacted more frequently with other users through the @-reply function than the party accounts, with around 7,700 replies to 8,900 original tweets. The Liberal Democrat candidates represented the only group to post more replies than original tweets.

Party	Number of		Tweets	
(number of	active	Original	@-replies	Total
eligible seats)	candidates <sup>16</sup>			
Conservative (45)	38	2153	1780	3933
Labour (45)	41	3759	2972	6731
Lib Dems (44)	33	1981	2316	4297
UKIP (44)	21	979	609	1588
Total	133	8872	7677	16549

**Table 3.** Number of Tweets (Original and @-Replies) by Candidates in the 45Target Seats

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Steve Beasant (Liberal Democrat, Great Grimsby) and Nigel Farage (UKIP, South Thanet) are both excluded from these statistics.

Returning to the 'revolutionist' stance introduced in Chapter Four, two factors which are argued in favour of Twitter's potential to provide a level playing field for users are its low cost and high impact (audience reach) potential (Shirky, 2011; Carswell, 2012; Murthy, 2013). This suggests the site would be particularly appealing to parties with more limited resources such as UKIP and the Liberal Democrats. By the 2015 election the Liberal Democrats were a party which had not only lost activists but also the 'Short Money' granted to opposition parties due to its stint in the 2010-2015 coalition government (Ford and Goodwin, 2014; Cowley and Kavanagh, 2016a). However, some studies have shown that candidate engagement with social media is often higher amongst those representing parties with larger campaign budgets (Gilmore, 2011; Peterson, 2012). Other studies have found a correlation between the political leanings of parties and their levels of engagement with social media; left-leaning parties are more likely to actively campaign on social media sites than those with right-wing politics (Tumasjan et al., 2011). Although data from across the four party candidate groups tends to support the latter argument, there is still no definitive explanation for which parties or candidates are most or least likely to engage with social media.

Starting with the revolutionist expectation that Twitter is an appealing platform for less resource-rich parties, this section uses the Liberal Democrat and UKIP candidates' accounts for the main comparison, beginning with the Liberal Democrats. The Liberal Democrats were fairly well represented on the site with 75% of candidates active on Twitter. Although the party's candidates were, on average, the second most active group on the site, this was down on the party page, which posted significantly more than any other party. However,

the clear trend across the datasets for both the party and candidate accounts was that the Liberal Democrats interacted the most with Twitter users through the @-reply function. Indeed, 53.9% of all Liberal Democrat candidates' tweets (nearly nine percentage points higher than any other group) were replies. The party page also demonstrated a notably higher level of interaction, with more than 1,000 replies compared to the other parties, whose responses comprised less than 0.5% of their total tweets.

Although fewer Liberal Democrat candidates were active Twitter users compared to the Conservatives and Labour, the decision to use the conversation function on the site which required high levels of participation (see Chapter Five) did indicate a partywide pattern of behaviour around how to communicate on the site. However, there was also a significantly higher engagement with the conversation feature across *all* the party candidate groups. This suggests a general willingness by the candidates to embrace the opportunity to engage in dialogue with other users on Twitter, perhaps aided by the candidate-led nature of the constituency campaigns being better suited to the conversation feature.

In comparison, UKIP, the least-financed party of the four, had by far the fewest candidates on Twitter (48%) and also the least active, with an average of only 76 posts each. This reflected the activity on UKIP's Twitter account, which was also the least active amongst the four parties. It is also notable that UKIP's support base, mainly consisting of older, male, blue-collared workers, did not match the younger and more internet-savvy characteristics of Twitter users (Cowley and Kavanagh, 2016a: 113). This was in comparison to the Liberal Democrats, a party which lacked a traditional support base but had

become a popular party for younger voters during the 2010 election campaign due to its opposition to tuition fees (Russell and Fieldhouse, 2005; Cutts et al., 2010).

Although these factors add more complexity to the reasons behind social media adoption, the data still correlate with studies which showed candidates from better-financed parties were more likely to use the site. It also provided evidence for another trend: less progressive and more right-wing parties demonstrating more resistance to social media use. To some extent, this pattern was also supported by the Conservative Party and the Conservative candidates' pages. Although a high percentage of Conservative candidates had active Twitter accounts, both they and the party page represented the second least active group in the sample, ahead only of UKIP. These statistics suggest an acceptance of social media by the Conservatives but with a general wariness over how to engage with the site. This is further explored when I examine the interactions on the site in more depth and the candidates' attitudes towards Twitter's deliberative potential. First, the follower data of the candidates are examined to understand if there were any trends in the number of followers an account had based on the parties they represented, or if the statuses of the candidates had an effect.

## 7.4.1 Followers and Status

Chapter Four established that party follower numbers were not indicative of election results. The statistics for the individual candidates' pages also showed no identifiable link between follower numbers and electoral success. However,

some studies have found that an incumbent candidate is more likely to use Twitter (Gilmore, 2011; Evans et al., 2014). This pattern was also reflected in the marginal seats and led to questions about the links between the status of a candidate, such as incumbency or previous parliamentary roles, and follower numbers.

Out of the 45 constituencies, there were 13 seats where the incumbent was either not standing for re-election (eight) or did not have a qualifying Twitter account (five). In total, 29 of the 32 active accounts held by incumbents had more Twitter followers than their constituency rivals. The remaining three constituencies each had one candidate with more followers than the incumbent: Polly Billington for Labour (Thurrock), Andrew Dismore for the Labour (Hendon), and UKIP leader Nigel Farage (South Thanet). Of these, Farage's follower count of more than 220,000 the week before the election was significantly higher than any other candidate in the sample and was presumably connected to his high profile and status as party leader. The leaders of the other parties also had a considerably higher following; Conservative David Cameron had more than 980,000 followers, Labour leader Ed Miliband over 450,000, and Liberal Democrat head Nick Clegg boasted followers in excess of 230,000. Whilst no consistent hypothesis exists to explain why the other two candidates (besides Farage) had more followers than the incumbents in their seat, it can be speculated that Polly Billington's previous role as a BBC journalist and then special advisor to Ed Miliband may have been a contributory factor. She was not particularly active on the site with only 92 tweets during the campaign (see **Appendix 1.**), below the average for a Labour candidate, and across the total sample of candidates (124). Overall, the data conclusively show that comparing

the accounts of candidates from the four main parties in the marginal seats indicates that an incumbent had a 90% chance of attracting more Twitter followers.

In terms of comparative follower numbers, Chapter Four highlighted the relative position of the follower statistics for the party accounts compared to celebrity accounts and those of mainstream media political commentators. The relationship between follower data and the status of election candidates can at least be placed in a more comparable context by examining how follower numbers contrasted amongst the Twitter accounts of party leaders as well as front- and backbench MPs. Using 10,000 followers as the benchmark, up to 5,000 being the most common range across MP pages at the end of 2014, pages with follower numbers of five figures or more were identified in the sample to establish whether they denoted a prior frontbench position in parliament. Ten accounts existed in this highest follower bracket, of which three had belonged to frontbench MPs at the end of the 2015 parliament: Brandon Lewis (Minister for Housing and Planning), Toby Perkins (Shadow Minister for Small Business), and Ed Balls (Shadow Chancellor of the Exchequer). A role on the frontbench, however, did not guarantee reaching the 10,000-follower mark, as seen with David Lidington (Minister of State for Europe), who fell short but still had 9,000 followers. Ed Balls' following of 172,000 placed him significantly above the other candidates. As a comparison, his Conservative counterpart George Osborne had over 118,000 followers. Therefore, status did have some bearing on follower numbers, although this effect was most evident in key positions such as leader, chancellor, and foreign secretary. For those without frontbench roles, no pattern behind their high follower numbers could be identified; there was no clear correlation between follower data and the number of tweets posted by the account, and all had a diverse employment background.

Overall, the only clear pattern which emerged was the relationship between incumbency and follower numbers. Status, insofar as past parliamentary roles, only becomes a key factor in follower numbers in highprofile roles, for whilst a ministerial position may return a higher than usual number of followers, the figures remained relatively low when considered in the wider context. The next section examines how the candidates used the site to interact with other Twitter users.

### 7.4.2 Interacting with Users

Chapter Four showed that the parties' Twitter accounts mainly refrained from replying to users through the site, though the Liberal Democrats proved an exception. Offline, campaign dialogue mostly occurred on the local level between the public and party candidates or activists. The Labour Doorstep was an example of such an offline initiative, which also predated the 2015 general election. The purpose of Labour's doorstep campaign was to conduct more door-to-door conversations in constituencies, with leader Ed Miliband announcing a target of holding four million of these conservations before the end of the election campaign (Alexander, 2015; Cowley and Kavanagh, 2016a). The initiative was seen as a move to contrast with the Conservatives more national approach with emphasis on posters and big business backing (Wintour, 2015). Labour Doorstep was instead intended to bring campaigning back to the local level.

This local style of campaigning was also reflected on Twitter, where constituency candidates showed high levels of interaction when replying to users. The site, after all, offered candidates an opportunity to engage with constituents they might not otherwise have been able to see on the (offline) campaign trail. Out of the 133 candidates, 125 engaged in at least one online @-reply conversation, comprising 46% of all tweet output. The Conservative and Labour candidates averaged within a couple of percentage points of the total figure, with the greatest deviation coming from the Liberal Democrats with an above-average 54% conversation rate and UKIP candidates with 38%.

Several of the candidates responded to questions posed by Twitter users regarding the amount of time they dedicated to the site and their opinions on its use as a conversational tool. All but one who engaged with this line of questioning expressed the view that even in "the age of social media, face to face [is] king" (Williams, 2015d). Candidates lamented that they "can't do [it] justice on Twitter" when responding to a question online and would often request a user to send them either a direct message or an email address for further correspondence (Mathers, 2015). It is notable that despite their reservations about engaging in conversations through Twitter, these candidates were nevertheless active on the site and interacting with users in this way. However, Bob Smytherman, Liberal Democrat candidate for East Worthing and Shoreham, was a vocal exception to this opinion. Despite being a single voice of disagreement, his situation provided some interesting insight.

Smytherman was a last-minute replacement after the previous Liberal Democrat candidate, Jemima Bland, dropped out four days before the campaign started. Although Smytherman had experience as a former mayor in

197

Worthing, Bland had been chosen as the prospective parliamentary candidate two years earlier, and so the infrastructure and campaign had been built around her (The Newsroom, 2015). Introducing himself on Twitter, Smytherman openly referred to himself as a "modern candidate", alluding to his embracing of social media as the key reason for this self-description (see Smytherman, 2015a; b). He also defended Twitter as being "much more engaging" and "less intrusive" than some of his peers believed and stated that he relied on social media as a point of access between himself and the electorate (Smytherman, 2015c). This statement was partly in response to other candidates in the constituency (notably Labour candidate Tim Macpherson and Conservative Tim Loughton) who repeatedly criticised Smytherman on Twitter for spending too much time on the site and not getting out and about to meet his constituents – a fairly ironic turn of events, especially as they often used conversation feature on Twitter to comment to other users, and Smytherman, about the latter's screen time<sup>17</sup>.

Although Smytherman openly embraced Twitter as an important communication tool, this did not signify that he saw it as a replacement for faceto-face contact; rather, he used Twitter to complement doorstep campaigning, which he still viewed as an integral way of communicating with voters (Smytherman: 2015c). Other candidates indicated that whilst they widely adopted Twitter as a way of interacting with other users, they still saw it as an 'optional extra' rather than a fully integrated part of the campaign.

Ultimately, the candidates used this function as frequently or infrequently as they themselves wished, so whilst conversations comprised a high portion

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> For examples of tweets by Loughton and Macpherson see Appendix 4, section B

of all tweets, activity levels varied amongst individual candidates, ranging from not replying at all to using the reply function for more than half of their output. Similarly, as with the parties, the candidates also had control over *who* they chose to engage with. Overall, these behaviours suggest that though there was a preference for face-to-face conversations, there was also some recognition of the opportunities and potential to converse through Twitter.

The final part of this chapter considers how the parties engaged with election issues. It examines to what extent the candidates referenced the campaign issues explored in Chapter Six and how this compared to the party pages, before exploring in more depth the balance between developing either a national- or local-oriented campaign.

### 7.5 Issue Coverage

Across the four party groups of candidates, certain issues clearly dominated the agenda (see **Table 4.**). The economy was a top issue for the Conservative (31.5%), Labour (26.4%), and UKIP candidates (18.9%). It ranked second in the Liberal Democrat sample (19.0%) behind health (23.1%). The economy and health were the only issues to receive more than 10% coverage across all party candidate groups. Health was also the second-most referenced issue by Labour and UKIP candidates. In contrast, crime, 'family life', and pensions were amongst the least mentioned topics, never exceeding 3.2% of the coverage. Pensions averaged below 1%, making it the issue candidates least engaged with. However, it can be argued that this was partly influenced by Twitter's audience, which was generally younger and therefore less likely to be interested

in pensions as an election issue. Similarly, pensions had only received around 1% of issue coverage on the Labour, Liberal Democrat, and UKIP party pages, which increased to 3% on the Conservative Party page but remained below the opinion poll weighting (see **Table 2.** in Chapter Six). UKIP candidates, however, did not post at all on the topics of pensions or family life.

	Party Candidates				
Election Issues	CON	LAB	LIB DEM	UKIP	
Crime	3.41	2.62	3.09	0.65	
Economy	26.15	23.12	16.60	16.80	
Education	9.61	9.77	13.89	5.43	
Environment	2.52	4.27	7.08	6.72	
Europe	4.13	1.65	4.88	15.50	
Family Life	1.71	3.17	1.06	0.00	
Health	10.96	23.47	23.68	16.54	
Housing	11.77	6.95	8.06	6.46	
Immigration	1.80	2.00	7.08	12.92	
Pensions	1.89	0.34	0.49	0.00	
Тах	12.22	8.67	4.80	4.39	
Transport	10.24	4.45	3.99	10.85	
Welfare	3.59	9.43	5.45	1.81	

**Table 4.** Election Issue Coverage on the Candidates' Twitter Pages by Party as

 Comparative Percentages

Transport was a notable exception as it was given a higher percentage of coverage across all four party groups of candidates than by any of the party accounts. For the Conservatives, Labour, and Liberal Democrats, the coverage was more than eight times higher on the candidates' pages; for the UKIP group, coverage was up by three times the amount of the party account, but the party

200

page had been significantly more vocal than the other parties. The candidates' engagement with 'transport' is explored in more detail later in the chapter.

Comparisons of the candidates' Twitter pages and those of their respective parties demonstrated some similarities in the coverage of election issues. For the Conservatives, the economy represented a key issue across the party page *and* the candidates' accounts. Although the Conservative candidates did not show such a heavy bias towards the issue (the party's page had made nearly 50% of its posts about the economy) it still represented the most mentioned topic in the sample by 13.9 percentage points. The main issues on the Labour and Liberal Democrat party pages (health and the economy, respectively) were reversed; the Labour candidates placed more emphasis on the economy and the Liberal Democrats on health, both of which had been ranked second on their respective party pages. However, the two remained the top issues, and for the former, this was by a clear margin, with more than 22% coverage for each and less than 10% for the third-place issue (education).

UKIP saw more of a contrast between the party and candidate data. Whilst the economy, Europe, and immigration had all been given a virtually equal share of the coverage (to within 0.5 percentage points), the UKIP candidate pages demonstrated more diversity, with no issues that were as clearly dominant. The economy topped the rankings (18.9%), but Europe was placed third behind health, and immigration was fourth with 12.6%. Mentions of transport, which were relatively higher on the UKIP party page than those of other parties, increased to 10.6% amongst UKIP candidates. Overall, with the exception of UKIP, the candidate groups tended to dedicate more coverage to the key issues that dominated the party pages. This suggests some co-ordination between the national and constituency campaigns. However, the extent of the coverage bias was not as great across the candidate accounts, and some of the 'other' issues became relatively more prominent. The following sections focus on *how* the candidates engaged with different issues and examines to what extent they engaged in national or local campaigning. First, I explore how the candidates engaged with the economy, the most salient issue for the public, followed by transport, which received notably higher recognition as a campaign topic on candidate pages than the party pages. I finish by considering several of the other issues which emerged in the data and the candidates' personalisation of their Twitter activities.

#### 7.5.1 The Economy

The issue collectively referenced the most by the candidates on Twitter, the economy was also a dominant issue across the national Twitter campaigns, as seen in Chapter Five. As coverage of the issue was highest amongst the Conservative and Labour candidates (over 23% for both), these two groups are the primary studies for investigation.

Returning first to the key features of the national campaigns, the Conservative account frequently reiterated its message that a Labour government would 'wreck' the economy and the Conservatives were the only party which could 'secure the recovery'. The Labour Party, in contrast, focused on ending zero-hour contracts and pledging to raise the minimum wage. These key campaign messages were subsequently adopted by the candidates into their Twitter messaging. However, these party lines were not just parroted by the candidates but were also reconfigured into a local context. For example, Conservative candidates often shared figures which showed that unemployment had reduced in their area since 2010. This was part of a local adaptation of the national party message that more than two million new jobs had been created under the Conservative-led government of the last parliament. Similarly, candidates would also use this opportunity to highlight how the party had helped support key industries in the local area through job creation.

Meanwhile, opposition candidates, especially those representing Labour and the Liberal Democrats, would counteract these claims by highlighting local industries which had been 'let down' by the last government and needed more protection or investment. However, in general, most criticisms around the economy were directed towards the national outlook, and despite the localisation of the economy as an election issue by the Conservative candidates, they were primarily rehearsing the national campaign messaging.

For Labour, the key campaign pledge was to abolish zero-hour contracts, a topic which was widely adopted by the candidates. However, zero-hour contracts did not remain an exclusive topic for Labour Party candidates, with around 60% all candidates engaging with the topic. During the election campaign, reports from 2014 resurfaced that listed a number of Labour MPs and Labour council offices which had been employing workers on zero-hours contracts. The Conservative Party page did not react to this information, but it did become a talking point amongst a number of candidates from across the different parties. For example, the Liberal Democrat candidate for Chesterfield referenced a report which accused Toby Perkins, the incumbent Labour MP, of having employed staff in his office on zero-hour contracts (Cambridge, 2015). Perkins did not respond to this but did continue repeating the party's pledge to abolish such contracts<sup>18</sup>.

Although the majority of Labour candidates repeated the party message and did not rise to the baiting of other candidates, there were a number who engaged in dialogue with netizens about the issue. A notable example was Cardiff North candidate Mari Williams; responding to a tweet asking about those who are happy working on a zero-hour contract, she replied, "This is the right to be offered – people could stay on zero hours cont (sic) if they wanted" (Williams, 2015c). Even though the candidate ultimately followed the party line, Williams used the opportunity to expand beyond the party rhetoric of abolishing zero-hour contracts and their 'exploitative' nature. This was part of a wider pattern which emerged of candidates using Twitter conversations to expand beyond the party soundbites, but while still remaining on message.

These differences in approach between the national party and local candidates – replying to tweets and responding to queries – indicated that constituency campaigning was more conducive to discourse on the site. Overall, it became apparent that candidates and their campaigns were less controlled on Twitter than at the national level, they were more reactive to events and responsive to users. The uptake of discussion around zero-hour

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> For more examples, see Liberal Democrat candidate for Morley and Outwood, Rebecca Taylor (2015), UKIP candidate for Cardiff North, Ethan R. Wilkinson (2015), and Conservative candidate for Great Yarmouth, Brandon Lewis (2015) in **Appendix 4, Section C**.

contracts by candidates from parties other than Labour was a demonstration of this, especially as the other party accounts had not engaged with the fall-out. It could be construed the candidates were left to execute their own negative campaigning on the issue because it was not damaging their own parties' campaigns (but was damaging Labour without the other parties' pages being directly involved). However, staying on message with key issues in the national campaigns ultimately dictated how the candidates engaged with 'the economy'. The next issue examined, transport, provides an alternative study as an election topic which received very little attention from any of the party pages.

### 7.6.2 Transport

Some issues lent themselves more readily to local campaigning. For example, 'transport' was more extensively covered by all four groups of candidates than any of the party pages. In total, it was referenced by more than 50% of all candidates, only those sanding for UKIP falling below this average. In the national campaigns, little attention had been given to the issue, though any engagement with it was dominated by talk around the controversial high-speed rail (HS1 and HS2) projects, particularly the increasing costs and planned routes. However, a greater variety of transport-related topics were introduced at the local level, including potholes, buses, and cycle routes, to name a few. The constituency of Broxtowe in the Nottingham areas is used to provide an insight into how the topic of local transport was addressed by candidates.

The three candidates on Twitter who were standing in Broxtowe – Stan Heptinstall (Liberal Democrat), Nick Palmer (Labour), and the incumbent Anna

205

Soubry (Conservative) – all engaged with transport as an election issue. Heptinstall's related tweets mainly covered new traffic regulations, referring to the approval of a new puffin crossing and improvements for pedestrians and cyclists<sup>19</sup>. In contrast, Palmer used Twitter to highlight the need to protect the bus services in Beeston which were coming under threat<sup>20</sup>. Finally, Anna Soubry expressed vocal opinions on the state of the trams in Beeston (incorporating the trend #tramshambles), as the network was undergoing maintenance which had overrun and was causing disruption in the town centre<sup>21</sup>.

Broadly, the candidates had each chosen a distinct theme within the issue area: green travel, bus services, and tram travel. The variation created different focal points in their campaigns; linking back to the concept of 'brand' identity in Chapter Six, the candidates were using local issues to differentiate themselves on the campaign circuit beyond their party labels. Soubry's choice to commentate on the disruption caused by the works taking place on the tram line was a particularly evident method of 'personalisation'. Revealing that her constituency office was situated in Beeston and therefore in the midst of the tram works, Soubry had taken a particular interest in the matter and sympathised with locals who were likewise being affected.

The Broxtowe case was broadly representative of other approaches by candidates towards transport and other locally focused issues; they were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Heptinstall also included links in these tweets to his candidate website, where further information was provided, see **Appendix 4, Section D**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Appendix 4, Section E.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> For examples of Soubry's updates on the tram service and #tramshambles, see **Appendix 4**, **Section F**.

engaging with specific aspects which made the candidates distinct from one another within the broader issue. The main exception to this was in the constituency of Wirral South, where the Conservative and UKIP candidates, John Bell and David Scott, respectively, both mentioned the upcoming review into axing the Mersey Tunnel tolls for Wirral residents. However, unlike the Broxtowe examples, the tunnel tolls had also been mentioned at the national campaign level by former Foreign Secretary Philip Hammond and UKIP deputy leader Paul Nuttall. Bell and Scott referenced the statements of their respective party members in all their tweets on the topic. As such, whilst being a local issue geographically, the recognition from individuals involved in the central party campaigns appeared to be a significant factor in ensuring it was mentioned by both local candidates.

Overall, the data showed no strong indications of specific issues that candidates would rally around under the broader issue of transport. In general, individual candidates identified their own local concerns which they chose to integrate into their campaigns, which was in contrast to their coverage of the economy. This indicates that the candidates did use Twitter to conduct their own stye of campaigning, demonstrating some autonomy over the election issues, but only when it did not directly infringe on the party's central campaign messages. The fact that the national economic policies could impact the provision of services, such as public transport, does not appear to be a connection that was made on the local campaign trails.

The next section continues to examine the level of 'personalisation' and local campaigning on the candidates' pages through analysis of the coverage
of other issues within the constituency campaigns. It explores patterns which emerged in the types of topics candidates engaged with.

#### 7.6.3 Other Issues

So far, this chapter has demonstrated that candidates kept to the party line on key election issues, repeating many of their parties' pledges. However, the candidates applied a distinctly local perspective to issues which were less prominent in the parties' national campaigns.

The candidates enjoyed a relative freedom when engaging with 'other' issues, which allowed them to personalise their online campaigns and create their own 'brands' by focusing on distinctly local concerns. For example, decisions made by the local or county council were often highlighted and either positively or openly criticised, depending on the candidate's relationship with the party in control of the council<sup>22</sup>. Library closures represented one of the more common local criticisms, but other areas included the cleanliness of streets, post office closures, and building or planning works. The last category included local updates on repairs to churches (see Warman, 2015), the withdrawal of plans by Tesco to open a store in the 'wrong location' (see Williams, 2015b), and preventing a pub from being turned into a McDonalds restaurant (see Davis, 2015). In a number of cases, the candidates were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> For example, criticism came from UKIP candidate Bill Etheridge, which was directed towards the Labour-held council of Dudley (Etheridge, 2015c) and the Conservative candidate for Cardiff North was critical of the 'short-sightedness' of the Labour-held Cardiff council over library closures (Williams 2015a). However, many candidates were openly endorsing local council candidates from their own parties who were standing in the concurrent local elections.

engaging with local issues which were not necessarily within their prospective role as an MP to change but rather would require them to liaise with the local councils. However, by associating themselves with various constituency complaints or local events, they were displaying their credentials as representatives of the community.

The opportunities for personalisation which Twitter allowed to candidates was seen in number of other ways, including updates from the campaign trail, often accompanied by photographs of the candidate meeting local people, knocking on constituents' doors, attending events, or even sitting down in a local café for a quick coffee between engagements. However, a notable trend that emerged was candidates engaging with issues which were personal to them, rather than being a primary focus for the national campaigns or even closely related to their constituencies. Two particular examples were animal welfare and refuges for women. Animal welfare was a broad topic mentioned by a number of candidates but with varying approaches. For example, the Labour candidate for Waveney, Bob Blizzard, was vocal in the need to pass a hunting and animal welfare bill to update animal welfare laws and made clear his antihunting stance<sup>23</sup>. Lyla Moran, standing for the Liberal Democrats in Oxford West and Abingdon, on the other hand, shared an article she had written in a detailed response to a request from Vote Cruelty Free to support their campaign to end 88% of current animal experimentations (Moran, 2015a)<sup>24</sup>. Moran's engagement with the issue not only demonstrated a deliberative approach to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> For examples see **Appendix 4, Section G**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> For the article, see www.opendemocracy.net/en/opendemocracyuk/six-ways-to-breakbritish-research/ (Moran: 2015b).

the topic but also showed her presenting a reasoned explanation for her view which, while sympathetic, felt the six aims laid out by the Vote Cruelty Free group were impractical and would have negative implications for British medical research.

The endorsement of the need for more women's refuges, in comparison, was much more direct in its purpose. This issue was particularly interesting since it transcended not only constituency but also party boundaries; despite its specificity, the issue received coverage from a number of Labour and Liberal Democrat candidates<sup>25</sup>. All were supporting the need for more protection for women escaping domestic violence and highlighted reports of increasing cases of assault. Although far from widely covered by the candidates, it showed the issue as being distinctly personal to the those who mentioned it, with candidates of the different parties united in their position and using their platform to draw attention to the issue.

A final pattern of behaviour which became evident from the dataset concerned the accounts of UKIP candidates. There was no clear pattern in the issue coverage across this group of candidate accounts, which was the least visible and least active of the sample. It became clear during the coding process that the lack of identifiable 'key' issues across the UKIP candidate sample was a consequence of each of the candidates taking highly individual approaches to the content of their Twitter campaigns. This contrasted with the other party groups, which showed a general adherence to the parties' central policies, thus

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> For example, Labour candidates Cat Smith (Lancaster and Fleetwood), Tulip Siddiq (Hampstead and Kilburn), Sally Copley (Oxford West and Abingdon), and Liberal Democrat candidates Steve Lambert (Aylesbury), and Simon Rix (Truro and Falmouth).

providing their collective output with a more coherent narrative. Although the UKIP candidates' level of personalisation across their Twitter pages, on the face of it, appeared to reflect the optimism that site would be used to give the candidates more freedom, this was not necessarily conducive to rational-critical debate.

It was notable that a number of UKIP candidates were often fighting against candidates from other parties, mainly due to their association with UKIP. For example, the Labour and UKIP candidates for Dudley North (Ian Austin and Bill Etheridge, respectively) often came to (indirect) verbal blows on the site, with Austin airing strong views against the party and its candidate<sup>26</sup>. Etheridge's pushback against Austin and other users on the site was typical of many of the UKIP candidates<sup>27</sup>. Perhaps this was a reflection of the inexperience of UKIP and its candidates in campaigning, as highlighted earlier in this chapter. However, one UKIP PPC (Owais Rajput, Bradford East) took a more innovative approach and posted images of UKIP supporters in the constituency representing a variety of demographics. Although this was a much more peaceful approach, the defensive stances which many of the UKIP candidates took moved their focus away from both national and local campaign issues. It also meant that candidates were not prioritising election issues (local or national) and limiting their opportunities for (rational-critical) discourse with netizens.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Although Austin and Etheridge did not directly tweet each other, the tensions between the candidates became apparent in the content of their tweets. For examples of Austin's tweets on UKIP and Etheridge's comments on Austin, see **Appendix 4, Section H**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> For examples of Etheridge's exchanges with other users on the site see **Appendix 4**, **Section I**.

#### 7.7 Conclusion

The integration of Twitter into constituency campaigning provided a different perspective through which to view the site's role in election campaigning. Compared to the parties' Twitter pages, the candidates in the target seats displayed higher levels of engagement with Twitter's interactive functions. There was an almost unanimous adoption of the conversation tool across the candidates' pages as a method for opening up direct communication with users and potential voters on the site. However, personal preference from the candidates ultimately dictated their levels of engagement with Twitter: some had poor experiences of exchanges on the site and decided to deactivate their accounts, others decided to post sparingly, while some embraced the site as a natural extension of their (offline) campaigns and were frequently active.

Although the candidates were generally more embracing of Twitter's potential as a public sphere, insofar as they more readily interacted with users and engaged in dialogues, the tension between the local and national campaigns limited the extent of their interaction with election issues. However, it was not that Twitter, as a platform, did not provide (or had not been used for) the potential for candidates or MPs to influence or challenge their parties' policies. In 2013, Labour MP Stella Creasy ran a Twitter campaign in her constituency to clamp down on pay-day loans, a campaign that went on to first gain the backing of her own party and then of the Government. Conservative MP Robert Halfon has also utilised the site in a similar way, and in 2012, almost single-handedly, pressured the Chancellor to scrap rises in fuel duty (Sylvester, 2013).

However, despite the above instances, under the scope of an election campaign, Twitter was used by the candidates less as a site to transform election campaigning and more as an extension of 'politics as usual'. For the most part, key election issues in the national campaigns and core party messages were rehearsed across the candidates' pages. The limited 'localisation' of these issues came in the form of applying a key national issue to the local context but still keeping on message and not damaging the party's central campaign.

There were some opportunities for candidates to present more constituency-orientated and 'personalised' Twitter campaigns, such as public transport, local planning, and roadworks. However, these were primarily shaped around elections issues outside the focus of the national campaigns. Equally, these issues were unlikely to lead to too many concerns for the parties if the candidates were not given an official line to follow. Overall, the candidates' pages appeared to be shaped by a concern for ensuring the preservation of the national campaign, protection of the party's image, and the avoidance any potential repercussions if they stepped off message.

### Conclusion

This thesis was undertaken to examine how political parties and candidates used the social media site Twitter during the 2015 UK general election. Using empirical data, it set out to explore how the political actors engaged with the various features of the site and to what extent they embraced its deliberative potential. It also examined the coverage of election issues by the parties' and candidates' Twitter accounts to understand how the online campaigns were conducted. The thesis was devised as a contribution to the ongoing debate about the potential of the internet and social media to change how we 'do' politics; can it bring about transformative, 'revolutionary' change, or is it just a new tool to help parties and candidates deliver 'politics as usual'? (Margolis and Resnick, 2000; Shirky, 2011; Wright, 2012). Central to the debate of this thesis were the tensions between the perceived opportunities the internet and social media could provide – such as open, egalitarian spaces through which parties, candidates, and citizens could engage in discourse - and the opposing expectation that the digital spaces would simply be absorbed into existing forms of political communication (Rheingold, 1993; Margolis and Resnick, 2000; Carswell, 2012).

Underlying this debate is the claim that social media *can* provide spaces for deliberation. The deliberative discourse is rooted in Habermas' (1989) concept of 'the public sphere' which relied on the assurance of 'rational-critical' debate. Habermas' analytical framework has not as yet been rigorously applied in the context of the internet or social media. Thus, a secondary aim of this thesis was to use Habermas' ideas as a means of appraising the potential of Twitter and its part in the online environment more generally, rather than simply for electoral purposes.

Chapter Three began the investigation into Habermas' thesis on 'the public sphere'. I first examined his key criteria – 'access', 'disregard of status', and 'common concern' – in relation to the online environment. It was established that the internet enhanced opportunities for citizens to participate in debates with few 'formal barriers' to entry, should they choose to exploit it. Universal access is much closer to being realised through the internet than the eighteenth century 'salons and coffee houses' that, according to Habermas, hosted the 'bourgeois public sphere' from which he shaped his ideas. Online, the socio-economic barriers are significantly fewer, and even location has become less of an obstacle to individuals communicating with one another, ensuring citizens have better opportunities to engage in deliberative discourse. These factors also encourage more inclusive discussions on determining and debating issues of 'common concern'. The development of social media platforms has been central in providing these spaces through which citizens can add their own content and engage in debates.

Although the internet and social media provide online spaces with the *potential* to create public spheres, Habermas warned about a process he termed 'refeudalisation' which endangers the free exchange of ideas and opinions in 'rational-critical' debate. Habermas' was particularly sensitive to the damaging effects of a developing 'consumer culture' and a return to 'representative publicity' through what he termed 'manipulated publicity'. These factors are also applicable to the internet and social media, which have become important tools for PR consultants and advertising executives. This pattern has

already become particularly prominent in (offline) political activity in the UK, seen especially in the work of so-called 'spin doctors', present since the days of Margaret Thatcher's controversial press secretary, Bernard Ingham, but becoming a key element even of routine political activity under the 'New Labour' premiers, Blair and Brown (Jones, 1995; Giddens, 2010). From the perspective of liberal democracy – especially that of idealists like Habermas – slogans, soundbites, and party 'brands' could be regarded as the antithesis of 'rational-critical debate'. Their ubiquity in UK politics coincided almost exactly with developments in information technology which produced new opportunities for political communication. However, the more recent rise of social media and continued advancement of technology has also produced new techniques which Habermas could not have foreseen, and which had obvious implications for political campaigning, such as the rise of 'big data' and 'data analytics'.

Despite these developments, the rise of social media 'influencers' of diverse backgrounds made it possible for Habermas' followers to retain their faith in the internet's potential. It could be argued that the emergence of 'ordinary' citizens who had made a name for themselves through social media sites demonstrated the potential of the virtual world to realise Habermas' hopes for public debate which showed 'disregard of status'. However, the internal hierarchies that subsequently formed on these sites also highlighted a tension between the egalitarian status of future 'influencers' upon *entering* the space and the commercial considerations that emerged *within* the space. Even the least materialistic content-providers were unlikely to be immune from the forces which had 'refeudalised' the offline public sphere. All the more, those 'influencers' who had made their reputations through the quality of their contributions to 'rational-critical' debate in social media could soon find their status confirmed, and hardened into an online hierarchy, especially by means of commercial considerations.

With the analytical framework in place, Chapter Four evaluated the deliberative potential of Twitter through an examination of the site's features. Unlike other social media sites such as Facebook, Twitter provides an 'open' space through which 'netizens' can communicate with one another, share information, and react to content. The open nature of the site ensures general access to the content – even for those who have not signed up for a (free) account. The intention behind Twitter's design is to allow information to be seen and disseminated, contrasting with Facebook's closed community network that focuses on connections between specific individuals rather than being content-or discussion-led. This ethos of the Twitter developers was also reflected in other features of the site which encourage interactions and dialogue between users who might be (and usually are) complete strangers, and with few restrictions.

The primary deliberative features were 'hashtags' and the ability to engage in 'conversations'. Both of these features were introduced in response to user behaviour on the site and highlighted the willingness of Twitter's designers to adapt to the demands of the netizens for more interactive tools. This feature of Twitter highlights the suitability of the site for a case study informed by Habermas' hopes for free, rational-critical debate; to an unusual extent, the architecture of Twitter reflected the perceived wishes of users, rather than being imposed from above. Hashtags primarily function as a way to identity and collate tweets that are engaging with the same topic. The collation of the content help creates narratives, raising awareness of subjects of particular interest to users, and this can help to initiate far-reaching dialogues across the platform, as demonstrated by the #MeToo campaign. While 'conversations' are not intended to provide the same level of exposure as hashtags, they enable a direct line of communication between Twitter accounts.

Although it was established that Twitter was fundamentally a site designed to promote information dissemination and user discourse, there were some developments that allowed elements of consumerism to move into the space, notably in the form of 'sponsored' content. However, as Chapter Four also found, the impact has been limited compared to other social media sites (e.g., Facebook) due to Twitter's contrasting design-features. Thus, it seems reasonable to suggest that, if by the time of the 2015 UK general election there was a significant public appetite for 'rational-critical debate', Twitter was the kind of platform on which it would have taken place.

Chapter Five began with the question 'politics as usual?' to characterise the debate about the impact of the internet and social media on political communication and election campaigning up to the 2015 general election. Offline communication had been largely, but not exclusively, characterised by a top-down, 'broadcast' approach from political parties when seeking electoral support. Some initiatives had been introduced by the parties over the years, such as the CPC in the early post-war years (as seen in Chapter Five), and campaigns associated with 'New Labour' which ostensibly were intended to encourage a dialogue between the main parties with constituency members, supporters, or the public. However, Twitter provided a new, 'open', public platform that had developed independently from the parties, so that parties, candidates, and citizens all enter the space as Twitter 'users' and potential participants in debate, not as instigators of a 'listening' process which is ultimately under the control of the parties.

The investigation into the use of Twitter's features by the political parties in the 2015 general election campaign demonstrated a divergence between their use of the site and its discourse architecture. Although the parties employed different communication devices on the site such as 'retweeting' messages, including 'hashtags' in tweets, and to a limited extent engaging in 'conversations', their attempts to realise the deliberative potential of Twitter was half-hearted at best. For examples, 'retweets' were often self-serving messages of support, and calls for other users to retweet posts from the party accounts were primarily concentrated in the final week of the campaign, appealing for voter mobilisation rather than attempting to initiate discourse.

Similarly, hashtags were a feature the parties often adopted to spread party slogans (such as the Conservatives' 'secure the recovery'). Although these hashtags had the *potential* to start a wider dialogue around the party's economic pledges and credentials, there was no indication of a pro-active engagement with any narratives suggested by the hashtags. The hashtags also lacked the kind of invitation to enter a dialogue that UKIP's short-lived 2014 #WhyImVotingUKIP campaign had infamously started. The '#LeadersDebate' was an exception insofar as all four parties adopted the hashtag(s) associated with the televised leader debates and involved themselves in the ensuing narratives. However, the content demonstrated that the hashtag was not being used to respond to the online dialogue about the debates but was primarily adopted as merely another platform for political spin; the party pages repeated key policies and party lines, and echoed comments made by their respective representatives in the post-debate 'spin rooms'. Overall, the parties were using these features to raise awareness to an extent that was presumed to serve their purposes but without fully embracing the opportunities the features provided for rational-critical discourse. In this respect, it can be argued that during the 2015 general election the main UK parties were concerned to *limit* the potential for online debate, rather than *maximising* it.

Engagement with the 'conversation' function – a direct method of communication between users' Twitter accounts that supports a more 'traditional' type of dialogue than the hashtags – was notably lacking from the Conservative, Labour and UKIP pages. Only the Liberal Democrats engaged with the function to a significant extent. The contributions of the parties to these conversations, whilst incorporating some policy information, were also fairly generic and focused on repeating key pledges, while others were simply acknowledgements of supportive tweets from other users.

In contrast, the candidates standing in target seats were much more actively engaged in genuine dialogue on Twitter, as illustrated in Chapter Seven. 'Conversations' accounted for more than 45% of the tweets posted from candidates' accounts. These findings were not unexpected: after all, communications between individuals in any medium are more natural than dialogue between individuals and organisations. However, the findings provided important insights into the different approaches of the candidates and parties, and the different ways in which the parties and their candidates attempted to strike a balance between national and local campaigning.

On the one hand, Twitter had the potential to supplement, or even go so far as replacing, 'offline', face-to-face conversations between candidates and constituents. The site provided an opportunity for candidates to engage with citizens they might not otherwise have encountered on their local campaign trails. While Labour's Doorstep initiative was introduced in the hope of encouraging more conversations between party representatives, activists, and members of the electorate, Twitter offered a potential route to bypass some of the limitations of such traditional and excessively time-consuming campaigning, such as the chance of finding someone at home and the time taken to travel to different destinations. Despite this, almost all of the candidates included in this study – the ones who were standing in 'target' seats, in which every vote was regarded as crucial – were vocal in their preference for holding face-to-face conversations with the electorate. Since 93% of the candidates whose Twitter activities were monitored in the research for this thesis engaged with the conversation tool, the inference is that most of them did so in the belief that, at best, they were using social media as a second-rate *supplement* to traditional campaigning methods, rather than superseding 'politics as usual'.

The fact that parties and candidates did not take full advantage of Twitter's deliberative potential in 2015 does not preclude the possibility that social media might transform future election campaigning as the online world increases its impact on citizens as consumers as well as voters. Indeed, much of the prevalence of Jeremy Corbyn and Momentum in 2017 was attributed to online organisation and debate. However, the clear preference of candidates for face-to-face canvassing gives rise to speculations which cast doubt on the likelihood of other UK candidates ever warming to the potential of social media. For candidates, the major draw-back of social media as compared to doorstep conversations is that the latter are *private* while the former are 'on the record'. If, for example, a candidate is confronted by a voter who expresses negative feelings about a specific party - or about the character of the current leader she or he could return an ambiguous or even sympathetic answer without having to fear the consequences. Except in very unusual circumstances, words spoken on the doorstep stay on the doorstep. Such candour in Twitter exchanges, particularly during election campaigns, would be far more hazardous; responses to controversial questions are open to view, by officials of the central party as well as the panoply of media outlets scouring the internet for any hint of a 'gaffe'. Equally, while 'paper' candidates in hopeless seats normally have a license to say almost anything in the quest for one more vote to help save their deposits, their chances of securing nomination from the party in a more 'winnable' contest in future elections can be harmed if they can be shown to have blotted their Twitter copybook in by-gone days. The key point here is that the potential of the internet and social media began to be recognised in the UK at a time when (in sharp contrast to the situation in the US) the main parties were more interested than ever before in aspects of their electoral campaigns which they could hope to *control*. From this perspective, one might almost regard Twitter as a new and very effective way of allowing parties to identify and punish potential dissenters, rather than a medium for rationalcritical debate during (and between) elections. Candidates who want a licence to stray 'off-message' had better stay 'offline'.

These suggestions that the deliberative potential of Twitter might be thwarted by the established practices of UK politics are reinforced by the research findings presented and discussed in Chapters Six and Seven. Chapter Six focused on the coverage of election issues by the political parties in the context of public opinion surveys and academic theories of media influence, particularly that of 'agenda-setting'. Without the intermediation of the mainstream media, the parties had an opportunity to shape their Twitter campaigns and output as they desired. The limited adoption of the interactive features of the site, particularly for the 'rational-critical' exchange of views, was an early indication of the reluctance of the main parties to engage in any reciprocal and reactive online communication. Even the Liberal Democrats, who did engage in 'conversations', were selective in the tweets the pages responded to. In the context of 2015 this relative reticence, in a party which takes pride in its propensity for free and open debate, could be explained by the vulnerability of its performance within the coalition government to searching criticism by its own supporters, and the possibility (which became a reality) of a very heavy defeat at the polls. However, it is also the case that the Liberal Democrats have often (and sometimes with considerable justification, especially in by-elections) been accused of conveying contrasting messages in different constituencies, depending on tactical considerations (Russell and Fieldhouse, 2005). The party's supporters can argue that such practices are enforced, thanks to a 'simple plurality' voting system which discriminates against them. Be that as it may, the 'liberal democratic' transparency of Twitter made it far more difficult for the party's candidates to deviate from the central party line, so that a medium which promised to satisfy the Liberal Democrats lust for engagement and debate also acted as a reason for reticence.

The evidence of these chapters suggests that, in the UK at least, parties regarded Twitter as at least one facet of campaigning over which they could exert a significant degree of control and thus to plough ahead with their preplanned campaigns without paying much attention to developments in the 'real world'. Each party had two or three topics that clearly dominated their online content with the economy being a notable issue for all four accounts. However, there was deviation in *the* primary issues for each party. UKIP, for example, focused on immigration and 'Europe' as well as the economy, while Labour concentrated on health, their long-standing electoral strength. The parties also asserted their own distinct 'brands' by focusing on key policies that differentiated them from their rivals. There was a correlation between the secondary and even tertiary issues that the pages covered, although the public salience of issues, as recorded in opinion surveys, clearly affected the agenda of the main parties. However, the scant acknowledgement given by the Conservative, Labour and Liberal Democrat Twitter pages to 'immigration' indicated that the main parties regarded social media as a 'safe space' in which they could ignore issues on which they sensed their policies were weak, or an unsafe space where it would be dangerous to acknowledge the issue – even when these were of significant public concern. In this respect the online campaigns of the main UK parties were broadly analogous to their offline counterparts, the big difference being that their leaders would find it very difficult to avoid encounters with robust interviewers on the mainstream media, whereas they could plough ahead with their preferred agenda online as if nothing (unhelpful opinion polls, etc) had happened in the 'real world'.

The actions taken by the parties to control their Twitter campaigns did not immunise them from 'events'. The online campaign 'bubbles' the parties had tried to construct on their pages were still susceptible to external pressures. For example, Labour used Twitter in an attempt to arrest the fallout from a viral clip of an Ed Balls interviews from January 2015 where he spoke against abolishing the non-dom tax status, contrary to Labour's subsequent election pledge. This decision by the Labour team deviated from the otherwise structured campaign it had crafted on the site (and did little le alleviate the situation). However, this type of intervention was uncommon from the parties' pages; overall, the 'disintermediation' of Twitter from mainstream media made it easier for the parties to enjoy a feeling of control over the election.

Chapter Seven provided evidence which suggests that the engagement of party candidates with Twitter was confined by the influence of the central organisations. In 2015, candidates who used Twitter on a regular basis could feel reasonably free to express their views on issues of *local*, as opposed to *UK-wide* concern. Readers who examined the tweets of candidates in marginal seats, and who lacked any knowledge of the increasing 'presidentialisation' of UK general elections could be forgiven for concluding that all political decisions are indeed 'local'. There was some deviation in the 'national' election issues the candidates' pages engaged with compared to the online output of their respective parties. The key issues for the parties – i.e., the ones which suited their pre-planned agendas – were largely covered by the candidates' pages, which rehearsed their party's policies and campaign lines; in the target seats they evinced a concern to stay 'on message', though there were some attempts to add a local 'spin' to the context. The main variation came in the engagement with issues such as transport, which naturally lent themselves to a more local setting. Equally, local planning applications, local businesses and industries, places of natural interest, and other locally relevant topics were discussed. To this extent, campaign content on Twitter can be assumed to resemble traditional, confidential 'doorstep' campaigning.

Overall, there was a clear separation between local and national campaign issues. On the one hand, the parties' key issues were repeated by their candidates' pages, maintaining a national perspective. Meanwhile the local element was based on election issues that were not a priority in the parties' central campaigns and were unlikely to damage the party if the candidates engaged with them on a local level. The findings of the research conducted for this thesis suggest that the *potential* of Twitter to 'transform' politics, inaugurating an era of 'rational-critical debate', were nullified in the 2015 general election by the expectation among candidates and parties alike that election campaigning in Britain can only be successful if it is centrally controlled.

#### 8.1 Moving Forwards

The consistent themes informing this thesis have been the *potential* for Twitter to provide a deliberative space and the actual utilisation of the site by the political parties and candidates during the 2015 UK general election campaign. It became apparent through the research that the major parties did not embrace Twitter's potential in 2015. The opportunities to engage in rational-critical debate were overshadowed by the parties' pursuit of controlled campaigns through which they attempted to promote their preferred election agendas. The

candidates, although more likely to engage in dialogue on the site, were careful to keep 'on message' during the campaign. However, the scope of this thesis has left open areas for further research.

I began the thesis with an exploration of Habermas' (1989) 'public sphere' and an outline of its development. Habermas' vision of a 'rational' public actively seeking opportunities for 'rational-critical' debate is certainly optimistic - possibly even utopian. Nevertheless, there are good grounds for using Habermas' ideas in academic research into social media. After all, Habermas claimed that something akin to his ideal has existed in the past, despite the existence of obvious formal and informal barriers to a truly 'free' exchange of ideas and opinions. At least in theory, the most important of these obstacles to 'rational-critical' debate have been removed by the emergence of social media in an age where access to the internet has become virtually compulsory for citizens, whether or not they are habitual contributors to public debate. As a result, Habermas' ideal can be regarded as a viable means of evaluating the role of social media in enhancing – or, perhaps, impairing – the quality of liberal democratic practices in a country like the UK. While this matter has not been addressed explicitly in this thesis, there is no reason why future research, expanding beyond general election campaigns which are the ultimate litmus test for the health of any liberal democracy.

This thesis focused on the use of Twitter by political parties and candidates as a site designed to allow open, user-generated, content-orientated communication between users (from politicians and celebrities to 'ordinary' citizens). For the purposes of the research questions, Twitter provided the most obvious potential as a transformative space. However, future research should not be limited to Twitter. In order to create a better understanding of the application of the term 'public sphere' other social media platforms should also be examined. This will create a better understanding of the variations between the sites and the opportunities they provide for discourse. For example, Facebook is community-orientated but could still support rational-critical discourse. The architecture of the site may come into some conflict with Habermas' criteria due to its promotion of closed community networks; but the space does allow users opportunities to engage in dialogue and if too often it promotes 'echo-chambers' of opinion it is well worth asking why this should be the case. The evaluation of the potential of different sites will also allow further research into how social media is adopted by political parties and candidates. This thesis has focused on the *output* of parties and candidates on social media and has drawn conclusions from this bank of empirical data. However, the findings could be supplemented (and perhaps even challenged) if future researchers were able to monitor the social media campaigns of the parties from 'the inside', conducting interviews with the key participants at regular intervals during election campaigns (rather than asking them to provide their insights with the benefit of hindsight). Analysis of tweets - however sophisticated – can only tell us what social media actors *did*; since this medium is sure to be a feature of future election campaigns in Britain and elsewhere, it is at least important to enhance our knowledge of what they were trying to do.

The online environment is also constantly evolving as new platforms are introduced or updated, some more successfully than others. For example, former Conservative MP Louise Mensch, was instrumental in setting up a site called Menshn in the of summer 2012 as a rival to Twitter with the intention to

228

support political discussion. The site was short-lived, partly due to disputes within the business partnership. However, the introduction of the site demonstrated an interest in the provision of deliberative spaces of this kind. In mid-2021 a former aide and spokesperson for US President Donald Trump, Jason Miller, launched a site (GETTR) as a space to host political discourse, encouraging its use by those with ideas 'outside the mainstream media norm'. Only time will tell how the site functions and what the discourse architecture is and how it is actually used, but such initiatives suggest that future researchers will not suffer from a dearth of opportunities, whether or not they choose to apply Habermas' principles.

Within Twitter there are also ongoing technological changes that may infringe on the potential of the site and, consequently, how it is used. On 1 September 2021, the company began a limited roll-out to some small areas of the United States of subscription services to become 'star followers' (Crawford, 2021). This could potentially lead to a closing off content of the site to the nonpaying public. The implications on use will be interesting to follow, particularly from a site that has so far been careful to restrict the impact of commercial considerations on the core ethos of the site. Could this leave room for a 'new' Twitter to emerge, or a more radical alternative?

Beyond the technological environments of Twitter and other social media sites, the research for this thesis has also opened up new lines of enquiry around the use of Twitter by political candidates and parties. A recognised limitation of this thesis has been the choice of parties and target seats for analysis. These samples were chosen to understand the use of the site during a period of heightened interest and activity and to measure the dynamics

229

between the local and national campaigns leading up to the 2015 general election. Nonetheless, they cannot be considered a representative sample, even in a field where 'representative samples' of any kind are unusually elusive. To expand on this research, an investigation into the use of the site by additional parties could enhance the debate about organisations which are resource-rich and resource-poor, and their respective usages of the site. For example, Green Party candidates often 'crowd-sourced' the modest deposits which were legally necessary to allow them to stand in the 2015 election, and for them the free access to Twitter would likely have been appealing. Crowd-sourcing has become a well-publicised feature of internet activity in recent years, especially in respect of single-issue campaigns; but does it lead to 'rational-critical' debate, or is it just another aspect of social media which attracts members of particular online 'echo-chambers'? Crowd-sourcing seems particularly relevant for parties with nationalist or geographic interests such as the SNP and Plaid Cymru, but also for movements with a desire to promote regional causes within England. The established fund-raising potential of the internet has obvious implications for would-be candidates who want to put themselves forward in specific constituencies as 'independents', either to publicise a personal cause or themselves. While this thesis has focused on the major UK parties, the rise of 'others' has been a notable and under-researched feature of elections in Britain in recent decades; but has the advent of social media advanced or arrested this development? More generally, research in this area could also inform the longstanding academic discussion concerning the national-local balance of campaigning in general elections.

The 2015 general election was a key turning point in the adoption of social media into first-order election campaigning in the United Kingdom. It was widely anticipated that social media would play a significant role; after all, it was presumed to have helped to topple tyrants during the 2011 'Arab Spring', in addition to its more mundane but still significant part in the campaigns of President Obama. It was widely anticipated that social media would be important in the UK's 2015 general election campaign, but until the polls closed it was not certain if its impact would be *decisive* one way or the other. This uncertainty was reflected in the approach of the major parties and their candidates, even in the 'target seats' where a little difference could be expected to go a long way. In short, the 2015 general election was undoubtedly an important moment, but one which should not be regarded as a conclusive test of the electoral impact of social media outlets like Twitter.

However, whether they like it or not, parties and candidates are now expected to become more 'tech-savvy' in their political communications. By the time of the 2017 and 2019 UK general elections social media has become an established part of the election campaign toolkit. Despite this, the existing literature on social media and UK general elections has remained stubbornly quantitative. The trend for 'big data' has only grown as the technology has continued to develop. Consequently, the body of literature has remained dominated by quantitate investigations into public reaction, network flows, and election forecasting. This thesis aimed to introduce a more qualitative approach to understand how political parties and candidates used Twitter during the 2015 election, an election taken at a unique point of time in the development of social media electioneering. This has opened questions about how the use of the site changed over later elections. Will the same patterns of online behaviour be seen as 2015? Are the candidates more open and engaged on the site or is there a still a clear pressure to be 'on message'? Will data analytics become a much more integral part to the campaigns? Have the parties become more responsive or is 'manipulated publicity' still the dominant approach?

In addition, the 2015 general election campaign can also provide a point of comparison for looking at other electoral contests, such as parliamentary byelections but also the choice of local councillors. Such elections retain both national and local interest; but is there more freedom for candidates to campaign 'locally' on Twitter, expressing themselves without fear of central direction? Or are they essentially treated as mouthpieces for the national party messages? This question is particularly important in the context of Habermas' views on the potential for 'rational-critical' debate. If candidates in local contests demonstrate more open engagement with 'netizens' on the site and generate an expectation that this would be repeated in general elections, this helps to realise the potential of Twitter as a forum for continuous rational-critical discourse which (as it should, in liberal democracies) reaches its height during general election campaigns?

When the research for this thesis began, it was unclear if social media would play a significant role in the 2015 general election or if it would prove to be 'politics as usual'. However, the general view (not least within the mainstream media) was that social media would be very important indeed. If, in retrospect, social media outlets like Twitter – notwithstanding their potential as hosts for 'rational-critical' debate amongst citizens with important messages to convey – merely reflected the established patterns of electoral campaigning,

this is in itself significant. If, in the context of the 2015 general election, Twitter was at best a secondary factor, it is all the more important to ask *why* its influence failed to live up to the pre-election hype. From the academic perspective, this thesis has shown that the 2015 election campaign is an excellent basis for the evaluation of future election campaigns.

# **Appendix 1: Candidate Twitter Data for Marginal Seats**

Constituency and Candidates	Dorth	Followers		Donline
Candidates	Party	(6 May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
Amber Valley	CON Hold			
Mills, Nigel	CON	954	22	:
Gillott, Kevin	LAB	314	97	1
Smith, Kate	LIB DEM	28	13	1
Bent, Stuart	UKIP	70	1	
Ashfield	LAB Hold			
Harrison, Helen	CON	214	7	
De Piero, Gloria	LAB	29,543	245	3
Smith, Philip	LIB DEM	-	-	
Ashcroft, Simon	UKIP	-	-	
Aylesbury	CON Hold			
Lidington, David	CON	9,010	21	1
Cass, Will	LAB	678	16	
Lambert, Steven	LIB DEM	1,553	30	1
Adams, Chris	UKIP	439	126	4
Bolton West	CON Gain			
Green, Christopher	CON	1,027	97	4
Hilling, Julie	LAB	3,761	80	1
Martin, Andrew	LIB DEM	-	-	
Horsefield, Bob	UKIP	-	-	
Boston and Skegness	CON Hold			
Warman, Matt	CON	13,778	360	30
Kenny, Paul	LAB	1,456	51	
Watts, David	LIB DEM	1,002	83	2
Hunter-Clarke, Robin	UKIP	2,623	148	4
Bradford East	LAB Gain			
Ahmed, Iftikhar	CON	133	3	
Hussain, Imran	LAB	-	-	
Ward, David	LIB DEM	13,153	197	
Rajput, Owais	UKIP	824	300	2

*Italics* – denotes incumbent

Constituency and Candidates	Party	Followers (6 May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
		(*****		
Broxtowe	CON Hold			
Soubry, Anna	CON	8,849	185	86
Palmer, Nick	LAB	1,107	36	11
Heptinstall, Stan	LIB DEM	160	48	16
Dunne, Frank	UKIP	-	-	-
Camborne and				
Redruth	CON Hold			
Eustice, George	CON	-	-	-
Foster, Michael	LAB	468	190	30
Goldsworthy, Julia	LIB DEM	3,985	109	63
Smith, Robert	UKIP	-	-	-
Cardiff North	CON Hold			
William, Craig	CON	1,569	239	58
Williams, Mari	LAB	3,779	318	105
Clark, Elizabeth	LIB DEM	89	19	5
Wilkinson, Ethan R	UKIP	379	92	29
Chesterfield	LAB Hold			
Vivis, Mark	CON	251	26	0
Perkins, Toby	LAB	14,656	411	111
Cambridge, Julia	LIB DEM	1,161	271	145
Yeowart, Stuart	UKIP	81	7	4
Derby North	CON Gain			
Solloway, Amanda	CON	451	1	0
Williamson, Chris	LAB	9,812	725	471
Care, Lucy	LIB DEM	173	10	7
Ward, Tilly	UKIP	-	-	-
Dudley North	LAB Hold			
Jones, Les	CON	748	63	41
Austin, Ian	LAB	8,937	247	131
Collins, Mike	LIB DEM	-	-	-
Etheridge, Bill	UKIP	3,841	83	52
East Worthing and				
Shoreham	CON Hold			
Loughton, Tim	CON	11,970	114	73
Macpherson, Tim	LAB	815	372	182
Bob Smytherman	LIB DEM	4,589	630	267
Glennon, Mike	UKIP	39	0	0

Eastleigh Davies, Mims     CON Gain CON     963     118     82       Latham, Mark     LAB     963     183     86       Thornton, Mike     LIB DEM     3,705     97     54       Culligan, Patricia     UKIP     -     -     -       Edinburgh South Briggs, Miles     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Briggs, Miles     CON     -     -     -     -       Muray, Ian     LAB     9,585     89     23     Subbaraman, Pramod     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Marshall, Paul     UKIP     -     -     -     -     -       Forest of Dean     CON Hold      -     -     -     -       Harper, Mark     CON     4,493     8     0     0     -     -     -       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5     -     -     -     -	Constituency and Candidates	Party	Followers (6 May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
Davies, Mims     CON     963     118     82       Latham, Mark     LAB     963     183     86       Thornton, Mike     LIB DEM     3,705     97     54       Culligan, Patricia     UKIP     -     -     -       Edinburgh South     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Murray, Ian     LAB     9,585     89     23       Subbaraman, Pramod     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Marshall, Paul     UKIP     -     -     -       Forest of Dean     CON Hold     -     -     -       Harper, Mark     CON     4,493     8     0       Parry-Hearn, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth     CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joroc					
Latham, Mark     LAB     963     183     86       Thornton, Mike     LIB DEM     3,705     97     54       Culligan, Patricia     UKIP     -     -     -       Edinburgh South     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Briggs, Miles     CON     -     -     -     -       Marmay, Ian     LAB     9,585     89     23       Subbaraman, Pramod     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Marshall, Paul     UKIP     -     -     -       Forest of Dean     CON Hold     4,493     8     0       Parry-Hearn, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth     CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     - <tr< td=""><td>-</td><td></td><td>062</td><td>110</td><td>00</td></tr<>	-		062	110	00
Thornton, Mike Culligan, Patricia     LIB DEM UKIP     3,705     97     54       Edinburgh South Briggs, Miles     LAB Hold CON     -     -     -     -       Briggs, Miles     CON     -     -     -     -     -       Murray, Ian     LAB     9,585     89     23     Subbaraman, Pramod     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Marshall, Paul     UKIP     -     -     -     -     -     -       Forest of Dean     CON Hold     4,493     8     0     0     -     <	,				
Culligan, PatriciaUKIPEdinburgh South Briggs, MilesLAB Hold CONBriggs, MilesCONMurray, Ian Marshall, PaulLAB9,5858923Subbaraman, Pramod Marshall, PaulLIB DEMForest of Dean Parry-Hearn, SteveCON Hold LAB7482710Coleman, Christopher Stanbury, SteveLAB7482710Coleman, Christopher Stanbury, SteveLB DEMGreat Yarmouth Laws, BrandonCON Hold LAB1,57011347Joyce, James Grey, AlanLAB Hold UKIPGreat Grimsby Jones, Marc AlanLAB Hold UKIPGreat Grimsby Siddiq, TulipLAB Hold UKIP2,7927212Hampstead and Kilburn Marcus, Simon Siddiq, Tulip LAB Siddiq, TulipLAB Hold 2,542418333Nielsen, MagnusUKIP942726Hendon Offord, Matthew LAB Hill, AlasdairCON Hold LAB2,515420Dismore, Andrew 					
Edinburgh South Briggs, Miles     LAB Hold CON     -			3,700	97	- 54
Briggs, Miles     CON     -	Culligari, Fatricia	UKIP	-	-	-
Murray, Ian     LAB     9,585     89     23       Subbaraman, Pramod     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Forest of Dean     CON Hold     -     -     -       Harper, Mark     CON     4,493     8     0       Party-Hearn, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth     CON Hold     -     -     -       Lewis, Brandon     CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Jones, Marc     CON     2,264     170     61       Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -	Edinburgh South	LAB Hold			
Subbaraman, Pramod Marshall, Paul     LIB DEM UKIP     - <td>Briggs, Miles</td> <td>CON</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td> <td>-</td>	Briggs, Miles	CON	-	-	-
Marshall, Paul     UKIP     -     -     -       Forest of Dean     CON Hold     4,493     8     0       Parry-Hearn, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth     CON Hold	Murray, Ian	LAB	9,585	89	23
Forest of Dean Harper, MarkCON Hold CON $4,493$ 80Parry-Hearn, SteveLAB7482710Coleman, ChristopherLIB DEMStanbury, SteveUKIP545165Great Yarmouth Lewis, BrandonCON Hold CON HoldLewis, BrandonCON HoldGreat YarmouthCON Hold CON 13,944627181Norris, LaraLAB1,57011347Joyce, JamesLIB DEMGreat GrimsbyLAB Hold UKIPJones, MarcCON2,26417061Onn, MelanieLAB1,576230119Beasant, SteveLIB DEM1,0012,777-Ayling, VictoriaUKIP2,7927212Hampstead and KilburnLAB Hold Marcus, SimonCON1,3394028Siddiq, TulipLAB8,391378305333Nelsen, MagnusUKIP942726HendonCON2,5154200Offord, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,1022999Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	•	LIB DEM	-	-	-
Harper, Mark     CON     4,493     8     0       Parry-Hearn, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth     CON Hold     -     -     -       Lewis, Brandon     CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Jones, Marc     CON     2,264     170     61       Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -       Ayling, Victoria     UKIP     2,792     72     12       Hampstead and     Kilburn     LAB     8,391     378     305       Nawaz, Maajid     LIB DEM     2,542     418     333<	Marshall, Paul	UKIP	-	-	-
Harper, Mark     CON     4,493     8     0       Parry-Hearn, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth     CON Hold     -     -     -       Lewis, Brandon     CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Jones, Marc     CON     2,264     170     61       Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -       Ayling, Victoria     UKIP     2,792     72     12       Hampstead and     Kilburn     LAB     8,391     378     305       Nawaz, Maajid     LIB DEM     2,542     418     333<	Forest of Dean	CON Hold			
Parry-Hearn, Steve Coleman, Christopher Stanbury, Steve     LAB     748     27     10       Coleman, Christopher Stanbury, Steve     LIB DEM     - </td <td></td> <td></td> <td>4.493</td> <td>8</td> <td>0</td>			4.493	8	0
Coleman, Christopher Stanbury, SteveLIB DEM UKIPGreat Yarmouth Lewis, BrandonCON Hold CON13,944627181Norris, Lara Joyce, JamesLAB1,57011347LIB DEM Great GrimsbyLAB Hold UKIPGreat Grimsby Jones, MarcLAB Hold CON2,26417061Onn, Melanie 	•		,		-
Stanbury, Steve     UKIP     545     16     5       Great Yarmouth Lewis, Brandon     CON Hold CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Jones, Marc     CON     2,264     170     61       Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -       Ayling, Victoria     UKIP     2,792     72     12       Hampstead and Kilburn     LAB Hold	-		-	-	-
Great Yarmouth Lewis, Brandon     CON Hold       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold     -     -     -       Jones, Marc     CON     2,264     170     61       Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -       Ayling, Victoria     UKIP     2,792     72     12       Hampstead and     Kilburn     LAB Hold     -     -       Marcus, Simon     CON     1,339     40     28       Siddiq, Tulip     LAB     8,391     378     305       Nawaz, Maajid     LIB DEM     2,542     418     333       Nielsen, Magnus     UKIP     94     27     26       Hendon     CON     2,515     42     0       Dismore, Andrew     LAB	•		545	16	5
Lewis, Brandon     CON     13,944     627     181       Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -       Grey, Alan     UKIP     -     -     -       Great Grimsby     LAB Hold					
Norris, Lara     LAB     1,570     113     47       Joyce, James     LIB DEM     -     -     -     -       Grey, Alan     UKIP     - <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>					
Joyce, James Grey, AlanLIB DEM UKIPGreat Grimsby Jones, MarcLAB Hold CON2,26417061Onn, Melanie Beasant, Steve Ayling, VictoriaLAB1,576230119Beasant, Steve Ayling, VictoriaLIB DEM UKIP1,0012,777-Hampstead and Kilburn Marcus, Simon Nawaz, MaajidLAB Hold LAB8,391378305Nawaz, Maajid 			,	-	
Grey, Alan     UKIP     -     <	•		1,570	113	47
Great Grimsby     LAB Hold       Jones, Marc     CON     2,264     170     61       Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -       Ayling, Victoria     UKIP     2,792     72     12       Hampstead and     LAB Hold     Marcus, Simon     CON     1,339     40     28       Siddiq, Tulip     LAB     8,391     378     305     305       Nawaz, Maajid     LIB DEM     2,542     418     333       Nielsen, Magnus     UKIP     94     27     26       Hendon     CON     2,515     42     0       Dismore, Andrew     LAB     4,102     29     9       Hill, Alasdair     LIB DEM     536     184     124			-	-	-
Jones, Marc   CON   2,264   170   61     Onn, Melanie   LAB   1,576   230   119     Beasant, Steve   LIB DEM   1,001   2,777   -     Ayling, Victoria   UKIP   2,792   72   12     Hampstead and   LAB Hold	Grey, Alan	UKIP	-	-	-
Onn, Melanie     LAB     1,576     230     119       Beasant, Steve     LIB DEM     1,001     2,777     -       Ayling, Victoria     UKIP     2,792     72     12       Hampstead and Kilburn     LAB Hold	Great Grimsby	LAB Hold			
Beasant, Steve Ayling, VictoriaLIB DEM UKIP1,001 2,7922,777 		CON		-	
Ayling, VictoriaUKIP2,7927212Hampstead and KilburnLAB HoldMarcus, SimonCON1,3394028Siddiq, TulipLAB8,391378305Nawaz, MaajidLIB DEM2,542418333Nielsen, MagnusUKIP942726HendonCON HoldOfford, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124		LAB	•		119
Hampstead and KilburnKilburnLAB HoldMarcus, SimonCON1,3394028Siddiq, TulipLAB8,391378305Nawaz, MaajidLIB DEM2,542418333Nielsen, MagnusUKIP942726HendonCON HoldOfford, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124			1,001	2,777	-
KilburnLAB HoldMarcus, SimonCON1,3394028Siddiq, TulipLAB8,391378305Nawaz, MaajidLIB DEM2,542418333Nielsen, MagnusUKIP942726HendonCON HoldOfford, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	Ayling, Victoria	UKIP	2,792	72	12
KilburnLAB HoldMarcus, SimonCON1,3394028Siddiq, TulipLAB8,391378305Nawaz, MaajidLIB DEM2,542418333Nielsen, MagnusUKIP942726HendonCON HoldOfford, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	Hampstead and				<u> </u>
Siddiq, Tulip     LAB     8,391     378     305       Nawaz, Maajid     LIB DEM     2,542     418     333       Nielsen, Magnus     UKIP     94     27     26       Hendon     CON Hold     2,515     42     0       Dismore, Andrew     LAB     4,102     29     9       Hill, Alasdair     LIB DEM     536     184     124	-	LAB Hold			
Nawaz, Maajid Nielsen, MagnusLIB DEM UKIP2,542 94418 27333 26Hendon Offord, Matthew Dismore, Andrew Hill, AlasdairCON Hold LAB2,515 4,10242 290 9 9	Marcus, Simon	CON	1,339	40	28
Nielsen, MagnusUKIP942726HendonCON HoldOfford, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	Siddiq, Tulip	LAB	8,391	378	305
HendonCON HoldOfford, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	•	LIB DEM		418	
Offord, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	Nielsen, Magnus	UKIP	94	27	26
Offord, MatthewCON2,515420Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124	Hendon	CON Hold			
Dismore, AndrewLAB4,102299Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124			2,515	42	0
Hill, AlasdairLIB DEM536184124					
					124
· •	Shamash, Raymond		-	-	-

Constituency and	<b>.</b>	Followers	AU <b>-</b> (	
Candidates	Party	(6 May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
Kingston-Upon-Hull				
North	LAB Hold			
Davison, Dehenna	CON	505	103	54
Johnson, Diana	LAB	12,435	98	47
Ross, Mike	LIB DEM	193	15	12
Singh, Sergi	UKIP	-	-	-
Lancaster and				
Fleetwood	LAB Gain			
Ollerenshaw, Eric	CON	-	-	-
Smith, Cat	LAB	3,140	107	67
Long, Robin	LIB DEM	37	2	2
Atkins, Matthew	UKIP	26	0	0
Mid Dorset and North				
Poole	CON Gain	746	40	10
Tomlinson, Michael		746 699	46	19
Canavan, Patrick	LAB LIB DEM	699 1,087	23 265	4 139
Slade, Vikki Turner, Richard		303	205	139
rumer, Richard	UNIF	303	5	0
Morley and Outwood	CON Gain			
Jenkyns, Andrea	CON	2,062	227	86
Balls, Ed	LAB	172,310	180	5
Taylor, Rebecca	LIB DEM	3,033	673	510
Dews, David	UKIP	-	-	-
Newton Abbot	CON Hold			
Morris, Anne Marie	CON	6,142	24	4
Freer, Roy	LAB	263	91	52
Younger-Ross, Richard	LIB DEM	432	83	54
Peers, Rod	UKIP	-	-	-
Norwich South	LAB Gain			
Townsend, Lisa	CON	603	38	10
Lewis, Clive	LAB	3,162	343	207
Wright, Simon	LIB DEM	3,688	9	8
Emmens, Stephen	UKIP	-	-	-

Constituency and Candidates	Party	Followers (6 May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
Oldham East and Saddleworth	LAB Hold			
Hussain, Sajid	CON	_	-	_
Abrahams, Debbie	LAB	14,081	275	92
Marbrow, Richard		656	37	33
Klonowski, Peter	UKIP	-	-	-
Oxford West and				
Abingdon	CON Hold			
Blackwood, Nicola	CON	7,149	44	17
Copley, Sally		733	107	44
Moran, Layla	LIB DEM	2,675	304	173
Harris, Alan	UKIP	-	-	-
Portsmouth South	CON Hold			
Drummond, Flick	CON	1,071	24	11
Castillon, Sue	LAB	487	102	35
Vernon-Jackson, Gerald	LIB DEM	729	61	6
Harris, Steve	UKIP	-	-	-
Sheffield Central	LAB Hold			
Roes, Stephanie	CON	-	-	-
Blomfield, Paul	LAB	7,087	92	53
Otten, Joe	LIB DEM	1,207	167	86
Cook, Dominic	UKIP	211	86	34
Sherwood	CON Hold			
Spencer, Mark	CON	5,875	23	4
Mathers, Leoni	LAB	2,264	89	27
Mosley, Dan	LIB DEM	-	-	-
Chadd, Sally	UKIP	-	-	-
Sittingbourne and				
Sheppey	CON Hold			
Henderson, Gordon	CON	-	-	-
Nicholson, Guy	LAB	321	9	3
Nevols, Keith		859	73	40
Palmer, Richard	UKIP	1,770	20	16
Solihull	CON Gain			
Knight, Julian	CON	925	83	28
Knowles, Nigel	LAB	-	-	-
Burt, Lorely	LIB DEM	4,431	134	78
Henrick, Phil	UKIP	520	76	38

Constituency and	_	Followers (6	A II —	<b>_</b>
Candidates	Party	May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
Southampton Itchen	CON Gain			
Smith, Royston	CON	1,474	100	44
Davis, Rowenna	LAB	16,363	140	99
Bell, Eleanor	LIB DEM	155	117	3
Rose, Kim	UKIP	-	-	-
Stockton South	CON Hold			
Wharton, James	CON	6,023	122	93
Baldock, Louise	LAB	5,274	377	232
Durning, Drew	LIB DEM	198	27	7
Strike, Edward	UKIP	-	-	-
Swansea West	LAB Hold			
Lane, Emma	CON	184	36	14
Davies, Geraint	LAB	5,591	68	4
Holley, Chris	LIB DEM	-	-	-
Ford, Martyn	UKIP	44	0	0
i era, martyn	<b>C</b> and		Ū	Ū
Telford	CON Gain			
Allan, Lucy	CON	2,068	346	140
Wright, David	LAB	-	-	-
Croll, Ian	LIB DEM	-	-	-
Allen, Denis	UKIP	288	5	3
- ,	-		_	-
Thanet North	CON Hold			
Gale, Roger	CON	-	-	-
Rehal, Frances	LAB	245	43	8
Cunningham, George	LIB DEM	211	53	10
Wauchope, Piers	UKIP	978	0	0
• *	-			
Thanet South	CON Hold			
Mackinlay, Craig	CON	2,418	75	13
Scobie, Will	LAB	3,300	392	126
Timpson, Russ	LIB DEM	213	47	5
Farage, Nigel	UKIP	224,407	N/A	N/A
		,		
Thurrock	CON Hold			
Doyle-Price, Jackie	CON	2,109	92	51
Billington, Polly	LAB	9,072	92	29
Jamieson-Ball, Rhodri	LIB DEM	190	5	2
Aker, Tim	UKIP	6,595	94	35
,		0,000		

Constituency and Candidates	Party	Followers (6 May '15)	All Tweets	Replies
	<b>_</b>	(••••••••••••••••••		
Truro and Falmouth	CON Hold			
Newton, Sarah	CON	2,483	7	0
Roden, Stuart	LAB	-	-	-
Rix, Simon	LIB DEM	680	21	9
Hyslop, John	UKIP	36	144	119
Warwickshire North	CON Hold			
Tracey, Craig	CON	819	189	110
O'Brien, Mike	LAB	805	42	17
Beddow, Alan	LIB DEM	122	0	0
Cash, William	UKIP	257	25	4
Waveney	CON Hold			
Aldous, Peter	CON	4,163	25	0
Blizzard, Bob	LAB	2,868	72	52
Gordon, Stephen	LIB DEM	-	-	-
Tobin, Simon	UKIP	304	32	1
Wells	CON Gain			
Heappey, James	CON	999	5	0
Inchley, Chris	LAB	210	27	11
Munt, Tessa	LIB DEM	5,350	90	60
Hims, Helen	UKIP	328	86	58
Wirral South	LAB Hold			
Bell, John	CON	647	181	97
McGovern, Alison	LAB	15,013	116	51
Jewkes, Elizabeth	LIB DEM	197	5	0
Scott, David	UKIP	219	145	54

# Appendix 2: YouGov Poll Data

Data extracted from the YouGov (2015c) opinion polls on issue salience during the short campaign period.

		Poll Dates		Comparative		
Issue	March 30-31	April 13- 14	April 27- 28	Average	Percentage Weighting	
Health	45	50	45	46.67	16.81	
Immigration	48	47	51	48.67	17.53	
Crime	8	7	7	7.33	2.64	
Economy	52	55	52	53.00	19.09	
Tax	11	11	10	10.67	3.84	
Pensions	11	9	9	9.67	3.48	
Education	16	17	16	16.33	5.88	
Family Life	8	7	7	7.33	2.64	
Housing	21	20	27	22.67	8.16	
Environment	9	9	8	26.00	3.12	
Europe	15	19	16	16.67	5.64	
Transport	3	3	3	3.00	1.08	
Welfare	32	26	26	28.00	10.09	

# **Appendix 3: Examples of Tweets by Political Parties**

### Section A

Examples of Conservative Party tweets on the creation of over 1,000 jobs since 2010:

- "1,000 jobs created every day since 2010. #VoteConservative to keep going and #SecureTheRecovery" (Conservatives, 2015a)
- "We're getting Britain back to work with over 1,000 jobs created every day. Let's keep going an #SecureTheRecovery" (Conservatives, 2015f)

Examples of Conservative Party tweets referencing the creation of 760,000 additional businesses since 2010:

- "760,000 more businesses. 2 million more jobs. Let's stick to the plan that's working. #SecureTheRecovery" (Conservatives, 2015c)
- "There are 760,000 more businesses since 2010. @Karen\_Brady on why we should stick with the plan: #SecureTheRecovery" (Conservatives, 2015d)

#### Section B

Examples of tweets by the Liberal Democrats on the theme of 'keeping Britain on Track':

- "A 'stability budget' within 50 days of #libdems in govt will ensure the economy stays on track" (Liberal Democrats, 2015b)
- "We'll keep Britain on track rather than lurching dangerously to the right or left #GE2015 #theleaderinterviews" (Liberal Democrats, 2015d)
- "We will borrow less than Labour & cut less than the Tories, keeping Britain on track #GE2015"(Liberal Democrats, 2015e)

### Section C

Examples of UKIP tweets on specific claims about immigration that are linked to other issues:

- "Ending health tourism could save £2bn to be ploughed into frontline services for British taxpayers #leaderslive"(UKIP, 2015b)
- "Problem with high immigration isn't just benefits issues. It's the huge increase and great strain on our public services and housing #bbcqt"(UKIP, 2015c)
- "#UKIP understands that with our public services under increasing strain we have to draw a line under the past 11 years of mass immigration" (UKIP, 2015e)

### Section D

Examples of UKIP using opinion polls to demonstrate electoral viability and public support:

- "Best on immigration? (#BBCdebate snap poll | Survation): Farage 53% Miliband – 18% Sturgeon – 13% Bennett – 10% Wood – 6%" (UKIP, 2015a)
- "YouGov poll shows 50% of people support @Nigel\_Farage's stance on HIV treatment" (UKIP, 2015f)

### Section E

Examples of Labour responses to non-dom tax status

- "POLL: Do you agree that wealthy non-doms should pay their taxes like the rest of us? http://t.co/VWW81XPOWG" (The Labour Party, 2015c)
- "Watch @Ed\_Miliband explain why it's so important to abolish the nondom rule → https://t.co/Kuk5jYJH0f" (The Labour Party, 2015h)
- "Yesterday we announced we will scrap the non-dom tax loophole. Here's a recap → http://t.co/UFuweDI0i7" (The Labour Party, 2015i)
- "The Tories refuse to abolish non-dom status that benefits thousands of wealthy people. Surprising? http://t.co/oinww69NYo" (The Labour Party, 2015g)
# **Appendix 4: References to Tweets by Candidates**

#### Section A

Examples of Beasant incorporating links to his own website (1<sup>st</sup> tweet) and the Liberal Democrat website (2<sup>nd</sup> tweet):

- "Lib Dems pledge to enshrine state pension guarantee in law @ http://t.co/OS2u8pMkaz" (Beasant, 2015a)
- "#LibDems £150m package will help Britain's 6.5m carers #GE2015 http://t.co/zRLBU3BomD" (Beasant, 2015b)

#### Section B

Examples of Loughton and Macpherson commenting on Smytherman's 'overuse' of Twitter:

- "...for modern read lazy. Not much good if most of them cannot vote for you even if they wanted to Bob" (Loughton, 2015)
- "Bob if you paid the same attention to voter as you did to your Twitter account you might save your deposit" (Macpherson, 2015)

#### Section C

Examples of candidates calling attention to Labour record on zero-hour contracts:

- "@BBCr4today reports that #Labour run councils have 22,000 staff on zero hours contracts. What will @Ed\_Miliband do about that?" (Taylor, 2015)
- "@UKLabour to ban zero hours contracts whilst 36 of their MPs employed staff on said contracts last year #HappyAprilFoolsDay #JokingNotJoking" (Wilkinson, 2015)
- "zero-hours & fact that Labour Party use them http://t.co/7DuxgOnXsU via @MailOnline" (Lewis, 2015)

#### Section D

Examples of 'transport' tweets by Heptinstall that included a link to his website:

- "Improvements along the A52 for pedestrians and cyclists http://t.co/CuiNWS84Ox" (Heptinstall, 2015a)
- "New Puffin Crossing on Pasture Road http://t.co/6EmgurLiX1" (Heptinstall, 2015b)

### Section E

Tweets by Palmer that highlighted the need to protect local bus services (including links to petitions):

- Save North Beeston Buses https://t.co/8RLoQYLusN via @UKChange"(Palmer, 2015a)
- "Trent Barton Bus Company: Retain bus services from Beeston Rylands to Nottingham https://t.co/zKjG0UJnie via @UKChange" (Palmer, 2015b)

#### Section F

Examples of Soubry's updates on the tram service and #TramShambles:

• "After 2.5 years of misery @NETTram play an "April Fool" claiming the line abt to open #tramshambles" (Soubry, 2015a)

(The above tweet was actually in response to a post by a spoof account, an error by Soubry)

- "Apparently first tram testing tomorrow 11am #Beeston #tramshambles #NG9" (Soubry, 2015b)
- "My constituency office has been in Beeston since 2010 right in the tram works #lloveBeeston #tramshambles" (Soubry, 2015c)

#### Section G

Examples of Blizzard's tweets on animal welfare:

- "Bloodsports & #Badgercull are barbaric. I'm committed to #KeepCrueltyHistory in #Waveney"(Blizzard, 2015a)
- "Last night #Beccles hustings I spoke against animal cruelty esp hunting I contributed in Parliament for the Hunting Act #keeptheban #Waveney" (Blizzard, 2015b)

### Section H

Examples of Austin's tweets on UKIP:

- Replying to a user: "...it is pretty typical for him and UKIP. Moaning and whining about bias and unfairness when someone dares disagree with them" (Austin, 2015a)
- "UKIP & the SNP: two peas in a pod. Nationalist politics of grievance so unpleasant & dishonest. Pretending easy answers to complex problems" (Austin, 2015b)

Etheridge's comments on Austin, replying to a user:

• "...I laughed off an over eager young man and put your beloved Austin under pressure he couldn't take" (Etheridge, 2015a)

Retweet by Etheridge from a supporter:

 "Rt @mracolbourne: @BillDudleyNorth @UKIP good luck Bill – send Austin packing" (Etheridge, 2015e)

#### Section I

Examples of Etheridge's exchanges with other users on the site:

- "...why? I've got lots to do and justifying myself to a member of the labour party isn't a huge priority sorry" (Etheridge, 2015b)
- "...does membership of Labour Party cause you to make idiotic Twitter comments or have you always been this way?" (Etheridge, 2015d)

## Bibliography

- Adams, A. & McCorkindale, T. (2013) 'Dialogue and Transparency: A Content Analysis of How the 2012 Presidential Candidates Used Twitter'. *Public Relations Review*, 39(4), pp. 357-359
- Ahmed, E., Yaqoob, I., Hashem, I. a. T., Khan, I., Ahmed, A. I. A., Imran, M. & Vasilakos, A. V. (2017) 'The Role of Big Data Analytics in Internet of Things'. *Computer Networks*, 129(1), pp. 459-471
- Akhtar, S. & Morrison, C. M. (2019) 'The Prevalence and Impact of Online Trolling of UK Members of Parliament'. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 99(1), pp. 322-327
- Alexander, D. (2015) *Launching Labour Doorstep* [Online]. The Labour Party. Available at: <u>http://www2.labour.org.uk/launching-labour-doorstep</u> [Accessed 21 April 2015]
- Alexey, S. (2018) 'Hannah Arendt, Jurgen Habermas, and Rethinking the Public Sphere in the Age of Social Media'. *Социологическое обозрение,* 17(4), pp. 88-102
- Amiradakis, M. J. (2019) 'Habermas, Mass Communication Technology and the Future of the Public Sphere'. *South African Journal of Philosophy*, 38(2), pp. 149-165
- Anderson, R. H., Bikson, T. K., Law, S. A. & Mitchell, B. M. (1997) 'Universal Access to E-Mail: Feasibility and Societal Implications'. *Educational media international*, 34(2), pp. 86-87
- Anstead, N. & O'Loughlin, B. (2015) 'Social Media Analysis and Public Opinion: The 2010 UK General Election'. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 20(2), pp. 204-220
- Anstead, N. & O'loughlin, B. (2011) 'The Emerging Viewertariat and BBC Question Time: Television Debate and Real-Time Commenting Online'. *The International Journal of Press/Politics*, 16(4), pp. 440-462
- Ardèvol-Abreu, A. & Gil De Zúñiga, H. (2016) 'Effects of Editorial Media Bias Perception and Media Trust on the Use of Traditional, Citizen, and Social Media News'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 94(3), pp. 703-724

- Austin, I. [@IanAustinMP], (2015a) @Blacklaceknits It Is Pretty Typical for Him and UKIP. Moaning & Whining About Bias and Unfairness When Someone Dares Disagree with Them. [Twitter], 16 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/IanAustinMP/status/588789163132071936</u> [Accessed 20 April 2015]
- Austin, I. [@IanAustinMP], (2015b) UKIP & the SNP: Two Peas in a Pod. Nationalist Politics of Grievance So Unpleasant & Dishonest. Pretending Easy Answers to Complex Problems. [Twitter], 6 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/IanAustinMP/status/596060050046787584</u> [Accessed 8 May 2015]
- Bakardjieva, M. (2012) 'Subactivism: Lifeworld and Politics in the Age of the Internet'. In: Feenberg, A. & Friesen, N. (eds.) *(Re)Inventing the Internet.* Rotterdam: Sense Publishers, pp.85-108
- Barnes, E. (2009) 'SNP Defends MP over Insensitive "Yawn" on Twitter'. *The Scotsman*, 16 October, p.11.
- Barrabé, P. (2009) *David Cameron: "Too Many Tweets Might Make a Twat"*. [Online Video]. 29 July. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=d3Mrfut-FSw</u> [Accessed 29 July]
- Bastani, A. (2015) Social Media Has Strengthened the Authority of the BBC [Online]. Open Democracy. Available at: <u>https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/ourbeeb/social-media-has-</u> str<u>engthened-authority-of-bbc/</u> [Accessed 9 April 2018]
- Baumgartner, J. C. & Morris, J. S. (2010) 'Who Wants to Be My Friend? Obama, Youth and Social Networks in the 2008 Campaign'. In: Hendricks, J. A. & Denton Jr, R. E. (eds.) Communicator-in-Chief: How Barack Obama Used New Media Technology to Win the White House. Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books, pp.51-66
- Baxter, G. & Marcella, R. (2012) 'Does Scotland 'Like' This? Social Media Use by Political Parties and Candidates in Scotland During the 2010 UK General Election Campaign'. *Libri*, 62(2), pp. 109-124
- Baxter, G., Marcella, R. & Varfis, E. (2011) 'The Use of the Internet by Political Parties and Candidates in Scotland During the 2010 UK General Election Campaign'. *Aslib Proceedings*, 63(5), pp. 464-483
- BBC News. (2010) *Tories Demand Answers over 'Scum-Sucking' Twitter* [Online]. BBC News. Available at: <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/uk\_politics/8518049.stm</u> [Accessed 12 November 2010]

- BBC News. (2012) Gordon Henderson Leaves Twitter over Same-Sex Marriage Stance [Online]. BBC News. Available at: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-kent-20760219</u> [Accessed 7 March 2015]
- BBC News. (2015) *Election 2015: Ed Balls Talking About Non-Dom Status*. [Online Video]. Available at: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/election-2015-32218109</u>

Beasant, S. [@Stevebeasant], (2015a) Lib Dems Pledge to Enshrine State Pension Guarantee in Law @ <u>http://T.Co/Os2u8pmkaz</u>. [Twitter], 1 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/stevebeasant/status/594224705319673857</u> [Accessed 5 May 2015]

- Beasant, S. [@Stevebeasant], (2015b) #LibDems £150m Package Will Help Britain's 6.5m Carers #Ge2015 <u>http://T.Co/Zrlbu3bomd</u> ... <u>http://T.Co/Jxtiruns0f</u>. [Twitter], 25 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/stevebeasant/status/592045091398750208</u> [Accessed 27 April 2015]
- Beckett, C. (2016) 'The Battle for the Stage: Broadcasting'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2015.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.278-301
- Bennett, W. L. & Pfetsch, B. (2018) 'Rethinking Political Communication in a Time of Disrupted Public Spheres'. *Journal of Communication*, 68(2), pp. 243-253
- Berger, J. (2013) 'Beyond Viral: Interpersonal Communication in the Internet Age'. *Psychological Inquiry*, 24(4), pp. 293-296
- Bimber, B. (2014) 'Digital Media in the Obama Campaigns of 2008 and 2012: Adaptation to the Personalized Political Communication Environment'. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 11(2), pp. 130-150
- Bimber, B. & Gil De Zúñiga, H. (2020) 'The Unedited Public Sphere'. New Media & Society, 22(4), pp. 700-715

Blizzard, B. [@BobJBlizzard], (2015a) Bloodsports & #Badgercull Are Barbaric. I'm Committed to #Keepcrueltyhistory in #Waveney /UK Re @Leagueacs Qs #Ge2015 <u>http://T.Co/Yplr3ickfd</u>. [Twitter], 5 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BobJBlizzard/status/595719441301766144</u> [Accessed 6 May 2015]

- Blizzard, B. [@BobJBlizzard], (2015b) Last Night #Beccles Hustings I Spoke against Animal Cruelty Esp Hunting I Contributed in Parliament for the Hunting Act #Keeptheban #Waveney. [Twitter], 24 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BobJBlizzard/status/591903233406324736</u> [Accessed 26 April 2015]
- Blumler, J. G. & Kavanagh, D. (1999) 'The Third Age of Political Communication: Influences and Features'. *Political Communication*, 16(3), pp. 209-230
- Boczkowski, P. J. & Papacharissi, Z. (eds.) (2018) *Trump and the Media.* London: MIT Press.
- Bodle, R. (2014) 'Predictive Algorithms and Personalization Services on Social Network Sites: Implications for Users and Society'. In: Bechmann, A. & Lomborg, S. (eds.) *The Ubiquitous Internet: User and Industry Perspectives.* New York: Routledge, pp.130-145
- Bogen, K. W., Bleiweiss, K. K., Leach, N. R. & Orchowski, L. M. (2019) '#Metoo: Disclosure and Response to Sexual Victimization on Twitter'. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 36(17-18), pp. 8257-8288
- Bossetta, M. (2018) 'The Digital Architectures of Social Media: Comparing Political Campaigning on Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and Snapchat in the 2016 U.S. Election'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 95(2), pp. 471-496
- Boukes, M. (2019) 'Social Network Sites and Acquiring Current Affairs Knowledge: The Impact of Twitter and Facebook Usage on Learning About the News'. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 16(1), pp. 36-51
- Boulianne, S. (2020) 'Twenty Years of Digital Media Effects on Civic and Political Participation'. *Communication Research*, 47(7), pp. 947-966
- Bright, J., Hale, S., Ganesh, B., Bulovsky, A., Margetts, H. & Howard, P. (2020) 'Does Campaigning on Social Media Make a Difference?
  Evidence from Candidate Use of Twitter During the 2015 and 2017 U.K. Elections'. *Communication Research*, 47(7), pp. 988-1009
- Broersma, M. & Graham, T. (2012) 'Social Media as Beat: Tweets as a News Source During the 2010 British and Dutch Elections'. *Journalism Practice*, 6(3), pp. 403-419
- Brooks, L. (2015) Poll Shows SNP Could Win All but Four Scotish Seats in General Election [Online]. The Guardian. Available at:

https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2015/jan/21/poll-snp-labourscottish-seats-election [Accessed 15 March 2015]

- Brooks, X. (2014) Ellen Degeneres' Oscars Selfie Beats Obama Retweet Record on Twitter [Online]. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/film/2014/mar/03/ellen-degeneres-selfie-retweet-obama</u> [Accessed 6 November 2017]
- Bruner, R. (2017) Katy Perry Just Became the First Person to Reach 100 Million Twitter Followers [Online]. TIME. Available at: <u>https://time.com/4821543/katy-perry-100-million-twitter/</u> [Accessed 4 July 2018]
- Bruns, A. (2018) Gatewatching and News Curation: Journalism, Social Media, and the Public Sphere. New York: Peter Lang. Available at: <u>https://thestacks.libaac.de/bitstream/handle/11858/972/Bruns\_CC-BY-</u><u>NC-SA.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u> [Accessed 02 July 2021].
- Bruns, A. & Highfield, T. (2013) 'Political Networks on Twitter: Tweeting the Queensland State Election'. *Information, Communication & Society,* 16(5), pp. 667-691
- Bruns, A. & Highfield, T. (2016) 'Is Habermas on Twitter? Social Media and the Public Sphere'. In: Bruns, A., Enli, G., Skogerbø, E., Larsson, A. O. & Christensen, C. (eds.) *The Routledge Companion to Social Media and Politics.* New York: Routledge, pp.56-73
- Burnap, P., Gibson, R., Sloan, L., Southern, R. & Williams, M. (2016) '140 Characters to Victory?: Using Twitter to Predict the UK 2015 General Election'. *Electoral Studies*, 41, pp. 230-233
- Butler, D. & Stokes, D. (1974) *Political Change in Britain: The Evolution of Electoral Choice.* 2nd Ed. London: Palgrave Macmillan
- Cadwalladr, C. & Graham-Harrison, E. (2018) *Revealed: 50 Million Facebook Profiles Harvested for Cambridge Analytica in Major Data Breach* [Online]. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/mar/17/cambridge-analytica-facebook-influence-us-election</u> [Accessed 2 August 2020]
- Calderaro, A. (2018) 'Socail Media and Politics'. In: Outhwaite, W. & Turner, S. (eds.) *The Sage Handbook of Political Sociology: Two Volume Set.* London: SAGE Publications, pp.781-796
- Cambridge, J. [@Juliacambridge1], (2015) *If Zero Hours Contracts Are So Bad, How Come These 68 Labour MPs Used Them?* <u>http://T.Co/O2dqjyqxfz</u> Via @Sunnation @Tobyperkinsmp. [Twitter], 19

April. Available at:

https://twitter.com/juliacambridge1/status/589572762605330432 [Accessed 15 April 2015]

- Carswell, D. (2012) *The End of Politics and the Birth of Idemocracy.* London: Biteback Publishing Limited
- Centre for Research in Communication and Culture. (2015). 'Media Coverage of the 2015 Campaign (Report 5)'. *Lboro Blogs*, [Blog], 11 May 2015. Available at: <u>https://blog.lboro.ac.uk/crcc/general-election/mediacoverage-of-the-2015-campaign-report-5/</u>
- Chadwick, A. (2013) *The Hybrid Media System: Politics and Power.* New York: Oxford University Press
- Chadwick, A. & Stanyer, J. (2010) *Political Communication in Transition: Mediated Politics in Britain's New Media Environment* [Online]. American Political Studies Association Annual Conference Website. Available at: <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1642858</u> [Accessed 25 March 2019]
- Chakraborty, A., Sarkar, R., Mrigen, A. & Ganguly, N. (2017) 'Tabloids in the Era of Social Media? Understanding the Production and Consumption of Clickbaits in Twitter'. [Online], 1(CSCW), pp. Article 30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3134665</u>. [Accessed 10 July 2020]
- Chambers, S. & Gastil, J. (2021) 'Deliberation, Democracy, and the Digital Landscape'. *Political Studies*, 69(1), pp. 3-6
- Channel 4 News. (2015) *The Ruthless Reality of the Election 2015 Digital Campaign* [Online]. Channel 4 News. Available at: <u>https://www.channel4.com/news/conservative-snp-election-victory-</u> <u>social-media-behind-scenes</u> [Accessed 26 May 2015]
- Charles, A. (2014) *Interactivity 2: New Media, Politics and Society.* 2nd Ed. Oxford: Peter Lang
- Cheney, M. & Olsen, C. (2010) 'Media Politics 2.0: An Obama Effect'. In: Harris, H. E., Moffitt, K. R. & Squires, C. E. (eds.) The Obama Effects: Multidisciplinary Renderings of the 2008 Campaign. Albany: State University of New York, pp.49-64
- Cheng, J., Michael Bernstein, M., Danescu-Niculescu-Mizil, C. & Leskovec, J. (2017) 'Anyone Can Become a Troll: Causes of Trolling Behavior in Online Discussions'. Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing.

Portland, Oregon, USA, 25 February - 1 March, pp. 1217–1230. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2998181.2998213</u>

Cohen, B. (1963) *The Press and Foreign Policy.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press

Conservatives. [@Conservatives], (2015a) *1,000 Jobs Created Every Day* since 2010. #Voteconservative to Keep Going and #Securetherecovery. <u>http://T.Co/Dlevami9nw</u>. [Twitter], 25 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Conservatives/status/591940390489559040</u> [Accessed 26 April 2015]

Conservatives. [@Conservatives], (2015b) 2 Million Jobs Created since 2010 -Let's Keep Going and Build a Brighter, More Secure Future. #Securetherecovery. [Twitter], 30 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Conservatives/status/593850980774649856</u> [Accessed 2 May 2015]

Conservatives. [@Conservatives], (2015c) 760,000 More Businesses. 2 Million More Jobs. Let's Stick with the Plan That's Working. #Securetherecovery <u>http://T.Co/Vqmiybjipo</u>. [Twitter], 30 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Conservatives/status/593803889088028672</u> [Accessed 1 May 2015]

Conservatives. [@Conservatives], (2015d) There Are 760,000 More Businesses since 2010. @Karren\_Brady on Why We Should Stick with the Plan: <u>Https://T.Co/2ah7silr6s</u> #Securetherecovery. [Twitter], 27 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Conservatives/status/592623548193251328</u> [Accessed 29 April 2015]

Conservatives. [@Conservatives], (2015e) #Voteconservative Tomorrow to Secure a Brighter Future for You, for Your Family - and for Britain. <u>http://T.Co/Oqpqrjuc6s</u>. [Twitter], 6 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Conservatives/status/595906468483837952</u> [Accessed 7 May 2015]

Conservatives. [@Conservatives], (2015f) We're Getting Britain Back to Work - with over 1,000 Jobs Created Every Day. Let's Keep Going and #Securetherecovery. <u>http://T.Co/Zts1ofbh2q</u>. [Twitter], 29 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Conservatives/status/593405153664970752</u> [Accessed 1 May 2015]

Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (2016a) *The British General Election of 2015.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan

- Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (2016b) 'Roads and Car Crashes: The Election Approaches'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2015.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan,
- Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (2016c) '*Zugzwang*: The Liberal Democrats and Others'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2015.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan,
- Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (2018) 'Targeted (and Untargeted) Local Campaigning'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2017.* Cham: Palgrave Macmillan,
- Cram, L., Llewellyn, C., Hill, R. & Magdy, W. (2017) 'UK General Election 2017: A Twitter Analysis'. [Online] *arXiv preprint*. <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1706.02271</u>. [Accessed 17 January 2022]
- Cramer, R. (2012, November 10) *Messina: Obama Won on the Small Stuff* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.buzzfeed.com/rubycramer/messina-obama-won-on-the-small-stuff-4xvn?utm\_term=.wwEJL45Er#.abEJBVpo3</u> [Accessed 27/06/2015]
- Crawford, E. (2021). 'Introducing \$Uper Follows'. *Twitter Blog*, [Blog], 1 September. Available at: <u>https://blog.twitter.com/en\_us/topics/product/2021/introducing-super-follows</u> [Accessed 5 September 2021]
- Cresci, E. (2014) #Whyimvotingukip When a Hashtag Goes Wrong [Online]. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2014/may/21/whyimvotingukip-when-a-hashtag-goes-wrong-nigel-</u>
- Cushion, S. & Beckett, C. (2018) 'Campaign Coverage and Editorial Judgements: Broadcasting'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election of 2017.* Cham: Palgrave Macmillan,
- Cutts, D., Fieldhouse, E. & Russell, A. (2010) 'The Campaign That Changed Everything and Still Did Not Matter? The Liberal Democrat Campaign and Performance'. *Parliamentary Affairs*, 63(4), pp. 689-707
- Cutts, D. & Russell, A. (2015) 'From Coalition to Catastrophe: The Electoral Meltdown of the Liberal Democrats'. *Parliamentary Affairs*, 68(supp\_1), pp. 70-87
- Dahlberg, L. (2001) 'The Internet and Democratic Discourse: Exploring the Prospects of Online Deliberative Forums Extending the Public Sphere'. *Information, Communication & Society,* 4(4), pp. 615-633

- Dahlberg, L. (2005) 'The Habermasian Public Sphere: Taking Difference Seriously?'. *Theory and Society*, 34(2), pp. 111-136
- Dahlberg, L. (2011) 'Re-Constructing Digital Democracy: An Outline of Four 'Positions''. *New Media & Society*, 13(6), pp. 855-872
- Dahlgreen, W. (2015) Voters Still Think Media Are Most Biased against UKIP [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://yougov.co.uk/news/2015/04/22/voters-still-think-media-are-most-biased-against-u/</u> [Accessed 10 March 2016]
- Dahlgren, P. (2005) 'The Internet, Public Spheres, and Political Communication: Dispersion and Deliberation'. *Political Communication*, 22(2), pp. 147-162
- Davis, R. (2009) *Typing Politics: The Role of Blogs in American Politics.* Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Davis, R. [@RowennaDavis], (2015) Great Turnout for @Savethebittern a Market Value Offer's Been Made to Stop Our Lovely Pub Becoming a Mcdonalds. <u>http://T.Co/Giepr0ztj4</u>. [Twitter], 9 April Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/RowennaDavis/status/586269286404063232</u> [Accessed 10 April 2015]
- Deacon, D., Downey, J., Stanyer, J. & Wring, D. (2015) 'News Media Performance in the 2015 General Election Campaign'. In: Jackson, D. & Thorsen, E. (eds.) UK Election Analysis: Media, Voters and the Camapign. Poole: Centre for the Study of Journalism, Culture and Community, Bournemouth University, pp.12-13
- Deacon, D. & Wring, D. (2011) 'Reporting the 2010 General Election: Old Media, New Media - Old Politics, New Politics'. In: Wring, D., Mortimore, R. & Atkinson, S. (eds.) *Political Communication in Britain: The Leader Debates, the Campaign and the Media in the 2010 General Election.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.281-303
- Deacon, D. & Wring, D. (2016a) 'Still Life in the Old Attack Dog: The Press'. In: Cowley, P. & Kavanagh, D. (eds.) *The British General Election* 2015. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillian, pp.302-225
- Deacon, D. & Wring, D. (2016b) 'The UK Independence Party, Populism and the British News Media: Competition, Collaboration or Containment?'. *European Journal of Communication*, 31(2), pp. 169-84
- Delaney, S. (2016) *How Lynton Crosby (and a Dead Cat) Won the Election: 'Labour Were Intellectually Lazy'* [Online]. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2016/jan/20/lynton-crosby-and-</u>

<u>dead-cat-won-election-conservatives-labour-intellectually-lazy</u> [Accessed 24 March 2017]

- Denver, D. (2007) *Elections and Voters in Britain.* 2nd Ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan
- Denver, D., Carman, C. J. & Johns, R. (2012) *Elections and Voters in Britain.* 3rd Ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan
- Denver, D. & Hands, G. (1997a) 'Challengers, Incumbents, and the Impact of Constituency Campaining in Britain '. *Electoral Studies*, 16(2), pp. 175-193
- Denver, D. & Hands, G. (1997b) *Modern Constituency Electioneering : Local Campaigning in the 1992 General Election.* London: Routledge
- Denver, D., Hands, G., Fisher, J. & Macallister, I. (2003) 'Constituency Campaigning in Britain 1992-2001: Centralization and Modernization'. *Party Politics*, 9(5), pp. 541-559
- Dimaggio, P., Hargittai, E., Neuman, W. R. & Robinson, J. P. (2001) 'Social Implications of the Internet'. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 27, pp. 307-336
- Dobransky, K. & Hargittai, E. (2016) 'Unrealized Potential: Exploring the Digital Disability Divide'. *Poetics*, 58, pp. 18-28
- Dommett, K. & Temple, L. (2018) 'Digital Campaigning: The Rise of Facebook and Satellite Campaigns'. *Parliamentary Affairs*, 71(suppl\_1), pp. 189-202
- Donald, A. (2014) *Emily Thornberry: How One Tweet Led to Her Resignation* [Online]. BBC News. Available at: <u>https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-30142579</u> [Accessed 20 January 2015]
- Dubois, E. & Blank, G. (2018) 'The Echo Chamber Is Overstated: The Moderating Effect of Political Interest and Diverse Media'. *Information, Communication & Society,* 21(5), pp. 729-745
- Duffy, N. (2015) Ukip's Patricia Culligan 'Sorry' for Questioning Cost of HIV Drugs Fro Lib Dem Candidates [Online]. Pink News. Available at: <u>https://www.pinknews.co.uk/2015/04/11/ukips-patricia-culligan-sorry-for-questioning-cost-of-hiv-drugs-for-lib-dem-candidates/</u> [Accessed 14 April 2015]
- Dutton, W. H. (2009) 'The Fifth Estate Emerging through the Network of Networks'. *Prometheus*, 27(1), pp. 1-15

- Elder, C. & Edmonds, T. (2015) 2015 Really Was the First Digital General Election: Here Are 7 Lessons You Should Know [Online]. The Telegraph. Available at: https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/generalelection-2015/11757682/2015-really-was-the-first-digital-generalelection-here-are-7-lessons-you-should-know.html [Accessed 2 December 2015 ]
- Eldridge II, S., García-Carretero, L. & Broersma, M. (2019) 'Disintermediation in Social Networks: Conceptualizing Political Actors' Construction of Publics on Twitter'. *Media and Communication*, 7(1), pp. 271-285
- Elmer, G. (2012) 'Live Research: Twittering an Election Debate'. *New Media & Society*, 15(1), pp. 18-30
- Emes, C. & Keith, J. (2017) 'The Election Debates in 2015: The View from the Living Room'. In: Wring, D., Mortimore, R. & Atkinson, S. (eds.) Political Communication in Britain: Polling, Campaigning and Media in the 2015 General Election. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.235-245
- Enli, G. (2017) 'Twitter as Arena for the Authentic Outsider: Exploring the Social Media Campaigns of Trump and Clinton in the 2016 Us Presidential Election'. *European Journal of Communication*, 32(1), pp. 50-61
- Ess, C. (2018) 'Democracy and the Internet: A Retrospective'. *Javnost The Public*, 25(1-2), pp. 93-101
- Esteve Del Valle, M., Broersma, M. & Ponsioen, A. (2021) 'Political Interaction Beyond Party Lines: Communication Ties and Party Polarization in Parliamentary Twitter Networks'. [Online] *Social Science Computer Review*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0894439320987569</u>. [Accessed 15 January 2022]
- Etheridge, B. [@BillDudleyNorth], (2015a) @Damiancorfield I Laughed Off an over Eager Young Man and Put Your Beloved Austin under Pressure He Couldn't Take. [Twitter], 29 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BillDudleyNorth/status/582074812652212224</u> [Accessed 2 April 2015]
- Etheridge, B. [@BillDudleyNorth], (2015b) @Damiancorfield Why ? I've Got Lots to Do and Justifying Myself to a Member of the Labour Party Isn't a Huge Priority Sorry. [Twitter], 29 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BillDudleyNorth/status/582075242052526080</u> [Accessed 2 April 2015]
- Etheridge, B. [@BillDudleyNorth], (2015c) *Dudleys Labour Council Showing Disastrous Inability to Attract Investment* <u>http://T.Co/Gcpaillrfz</u>. [Twitter],

30 April. Available at: https://twitter.com/BillEtheridgeuk/status/593690398113058817 [Accessed 1 May 2015]

Etheridge, B. [@BillDudleyNorth], (2015d) @Johnedwards33 @DarryImagher Does Membership of Labour Party Cause You to Make Idiotic Twitter Comments or Have You Always Been This Way ? [Twitter], 23 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BillDudleyNorth/status/591350689709826049</u> [Accessed 24 April 2015]

Etheridge, B. [@BillDudleyNorth], (2015e) *Rt* @*Mracolbourne:* @*BillDudleyNorth* @*UKIP* Good Luck Bill - Send Austin Packing. [Twitter], 21 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BillDudleyNorth/status/590578040448671744</u> [Accessed 24 April 2015]

- Evans, H. K., Cordova, V. & Sipole, S. (2014) 'Twitter Style: An Analysis of How House Candidates Used Twitter in Their 2012 Campaigns'. *PS: Political Science & Politics,* 47(2), pp. 454-462
- Farrell, H. (2012) 'The Consequences of the Internet for Politics'. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 15(1), pp. 35-52
- Featherstone, M. (2007) *Consumer Culture and Postmodernism.* London: SAGE Publications
- Feezell, J. T. (2017) 'Agenda Setting through Social Media: The Importance of Incidental News Exposure and Social Filtering in the Digital Era'. *Political Research Quarterly*, 71(2), pp. 482-494
- Felt, M. (2016) 'Social Media and the Social Sciences: How Researchers Emply Big Data Analytics'. *Big Data & Society*, 3(1), pp. 1-15
- Fiegerman, S. (2013) *Report: Twitter Now Charges* \$200,000 for Promoted *Trends* [Online]. Mashable. Available at: <u>https://mashable.com/2013/02/11/report-twitter-now-charges-200000-for-promoted-trends/?europe=true</u> [Accessed 26 March 2018]
- Fielding, S. (2015) *Will Russell Brand Endorsement Deliver Britain's Alienated Youth for Labour?* [Online]. The Conversation. Available at: <u>https://theconversation.com/will-russell-brand-endorsement-deliver-</u> <u>britains-alienated-youth-for-labour-41323</u> [Accessed 11 May 2015]
- Figenschou, T. U. & Fredheim, N. A. (2020) 'Interest Groups on Social Media: Four Forms of Networked Advocacy'. [Online], 20(2), pp. e2012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2012</u>. [Accessed 2020/05/01]

- Fisher, C., Marshall, D. & Mccallum, K. (2018) 'Bypassing the Press Gallery: From Howard to Hanson'. *Media International Australia*, 167(1), pp. 57-70
- Fisher, J., Cutts, D. & Fieldhouse, E. (2011) 'Constituency Campaigning in 2010'. In: Wring, D., Mortimore, R. & Atkinson, S. (eds.) *Political Communication in Britain: The Leader Debates, the Campaign and the Media in the 2010 General Election.* Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.198-217
- Fisher, J. & Denver, D. (2009) 'Evaluating the Electoral Effects of Traditional and Modern Modes of Constituency Campaigning in Britain 1992-2005'. *Parliamentary Affairs*, 62(2), pp. 794-826
- Foley, M. (1993) *The Rise of the British Presidency.* Manchester: Manchester University Press
- Ford, J. (2014) *Lunch with the Ft: Zoella* [Online]. The Financial Times. Available at: <u>https://www.ft.com/content/fa5e47c6-0d9b-11e4-815f-00144feabdc0</u> [Accessed 12 May 2012]
- Ford, R., Bale, T., Jennings, W. & Surridge, P. (2021) 'Fragmented and Polarised: Broadcasting and Social Media'. In: Ford, R., Bale, T., Jennings, W. & Surridge, P. (eds.) *The British General Election of* 2019. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan,
- Ford, R. & Goodwin, M. (2014) *Revolt on the Right: Explaining Support for the Radical Right in Britain.* London: Routledge
- Fountaine, S. (2017) 'What's Not to Like?: A Qualitative Study of Young Women Politicians' Self-Framing on Twitter'. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 29(5), pp. 219-237
- Francia, P. L. (2018) 'Free Media and Twitter in the 2016 Presidential Election:The Unconventional Campaign of Donald Trump'. *Social Science Computer Review*, 36(4), pp. 440-455
- Fraser, N. (1990) 'Rethinking the Public Sphere: A Contribution to the Critique of Actually Existing Democracy'. *Social Text*(25/26), pp. 56-80
- Freelon, D. (2010) 'Analyzing Online Political Discussion Using Three Models of Democratic Communication'. *New Media & Society*, 12(7), pp. 1172-1190
- Freelon, D. (2015) 'Discourse Architecture, Ideology, and Democratic Norms in Online Political Discussion'. *New Media & Society*, 17(5), pp. 772-791

- Friedland, L. A. & Hove, T. B. (2016) 'Habermas's Account of Truth in Political Communication'. In: Hannan, J. (ed.) *Truth in the Public Sphere.* New York: Lexington Books, pp.23-40
- Friess, D. & Eilders, C. (2015) 'A Systematic Review of Online Deliberation Research'. *Policy & Internet*, 7(3), pp. 319-339
- Fuchs, C. (2014) 'Social Media and the Public Sphere'. *tripleC*, 12(1), pp. 57-101
- Fuller, M. Y. & Roy-Chowdhuri, S. (2018) 'Social Media Expands the Reach of the 2017 ASC Annual Meeting'. *Journal of the American Society of Cytopathology*, 7(4), pp. 219-223
- Gaber, I. (2016) 'Twitter: A Useful Tool for Studying Elections?'. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies,* 23(6), pp. 603-626
- Garnham, N. (1992) 'The Media and the Public Sphere'. In: Calhoun, C. (ed.) Habermas and the Public Sphere. London: MIT, pp.357-365
- Gerring, J. (2008) 'Case Selection for Case-Study Analysis: Qualitative and Quantitative Techniques'. In: Box-Steffensmeier, J. M., Brady, H. E. & Collier, D. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Political Methodology.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.645-684
- Gibson, R. K. (2013) 'Party Change, Social Media and the Rise of 'Citizen-Initiated' Campaigning'. *Party Politics,* 21(2), pp. 183-197
- Gibson, R. K., Cantijoch, M. & Ward, S. (2010) 'Citizen Participation in the E-Campaign'. [Online]. In: Gibson, R. K., Williamson, A. & Ward, S. (eds.) *The internet and the 2010 election: Putting the small 'p' back in politics?* London: Hansard Society, pp. 5-16. Available at: <u>https://assets.ctfassets.net/u1rlvvbs33ri/1T8tpdVcslkyyeuGw62mG6/a7</u> <u>35e387b5975f47d19b7d79006266db/Publication\_The-internet-andthe-2010-election-2010.pdf</u> Accessed]
- Gibson, R. K., Lusoli, W. & Ward, S. (2005) 'Online Participation in the UK: Testing a 'Contextualised' Model of Internet Effects'. *British Journal of Politics and International Relations,* 7(4), pp. 561-583
- Gibson, R. K., Wainer, L. & Ward, S. (2008) 'Nationalizing and Normalizing the Local? A Comparative Analysis of Online Candidate Campaigning in Australia and Britain'. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 4(4), pp. 15-30

- Giddens, A. (2010) 'Tony Blair, 1997–2007'. In: Bogdanor, V. (ed.) *From New Jerusalem to New Labour: British Prime Ministers from Attlee to Blair.* London: Palgrave Macmillan UK, pp.184-201
- Gilmore, J. (2011) 'Ditching the Pack: Digital Media in the 2010 Brazilian Congressional Campaigns'. *New Media & Society*, 14(4), pp. 617-633
- Ginnis, S. & Miller, C. (2017) '#Ge2015: The General Election on Twitter'. In: Wring, D., Mortimore, R. & Atkinson, S. (eds.) Political Communication in Britain: Polling, Campaigning and Media in the 2015 General Election. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.315-328
- Goodwin, M. & Milazzo, C. (2016) UKIP : Inside the Campaign to Redraw the Map of British Politics. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Gorkovenko, K. & Taylor, N. 'Understanding How People Use Twitter During Election Debates'. Proceedings of the 31st International BCS Human Computer Interaction Conference. Sunderland, UK, 3 - 6 July. Available at: <u>https://www.scienceopen.com/hosted-</u> <u>document?doi=10.14236/ewic/HCl2017.88</u> [Accessed 7 June 2022]
- Graham, M. & Dutton, W. H. (eds.) (2019) Society and the Internet: How Networks of Information and Communication Are Changing Our Lives. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Graham, T., Broersma, M., Hazelhoff, K. & Van 'T Haar, G. (2013) 'Between Broadcasting Political Messages and Interacting with Voters: The Use of Twitter During the 2010 UK General Election Campaign'. *Information, Communication & Society*, 16(5), pp. 692-716
- Graham, T., Jackson, D. & Broersma, M. (2014) 'New Platform, Old Habits? Candidates' Use of Twitter During the 2010 British and Dutch General Election Campaigns'. *New Media & Society*, 18(5), pp. 765-783
- Grender, O. (2017) 'Chill Wind: The Liberal Democrat Campaign'. In: Wring,
   D., Mortimore, R. & Atkinson, S. (eds.) *Political Communication in Britain: Polling, Campaigning and Media in the 2015 General Election.* Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp.151-160
- Gurevitch, M., Coleman, S. & G., B. J. (2009) 'Political Communication Old and New Media Relationships'. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 625(1), pp. 164-181
- Habermas, J. (1989) The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere: An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society. Translated by Burgher, T. & Lawrence, F. Cambridge: Poilty Press

- Habermas, J. (2006) 'Political Communication in Media Society: Does Democracy Still Enjoy an Epistemic Dimension? The Impact of Normative Theory on Empirical Research'. *Communication Theory*, 16(4), pp. 411-426
- Habermas, J., Lennox, S. & Lennox, F. (1974) 'The Public Sphere: An Encyclopedia Article (1964)'. [Online], (3), pp. 49-55. <u>https://www.unige.ch/sciences-</u> <u>societe/socio/files/2914/0533/6073/Habermas\_1974.pdf</u>. [Accessed 22 November 2014]
- Hall, M. (2014) 'Ukip Star Suspended over 'Racist' Messages'. *Daily Express*, 25 April, p.5.
- Hammond, M. (2019) 'Deliberative Democracy as a Critical Theory'. *Critical Review of International Social and Political Philosophy*, 22(7), pp. 787-808
- Hannan, J. (2018) 'Trolling Ourselves to Death? Social Media and Post-Truth Politics'. *European Journal of Communication*, 33(2), pp. 214-226
- Harari, G. M., Müller, S. R., Aung, M. S. H. & Rentfrow, P. J. (2017) 'Smartphone Sensing Methods for Studying Behavior in Everyday Life'. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 18, pp. 83-90
- Harris, L. & Harrigan, P. (2015) 'Social Media in Politics: The Ultimate Voter Engagement Tool or Simply an Echo Chamber?'. *Journal of Political Marketing*, 14(3), pp. 251-283
- Hawkins, K. A. & Castanho Silva, B. (2018) 'Textual Analysis: Big Data Approaches'. In: Hawkins, K. A., Carlin, R. E., Littvay, L. & Rovira Kaltwasser, C. (eds.) *The Ideational Approach to Populism: Concept, Theory, and Analysis.* London: Routledge, pp.27-48
- Hawkins, R. (2015) *Tories' £100,000 a Month Facebook Bill* [Online]. BBC News. Available at: <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-politics-31141547</u> [Accessed 7 February 2015]
- Heine, C. (2011) *Here's What a Twitter Follower Costs* [Online]. ClickZ. Available at: <u>https://www.clickz.com/heres-what-a-twitter-follower-costs/48749/</u>
- Henderson, G. (2020). 'How to Become a Social Media Influencer'. [Blog], 17 April. Available at: <u>https://www.digitalmarketing.org/blog/how-to-</u> <u>become-a-social-media-influencer</u> [Accessed 2 August 2020]

Heptinstall, S. [@ Stanheptinstall], (2015a) Improvements Along the A52 for Pedestrians and Cyclists <u>http://T.Co/Cuinws84ox</u>. [Twitter], 1 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/stanheptinstall/status/583324157418414080</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]

- Heptinstall, S. [@Stanheptinstall], (2015b) New Puffin Crossing on Pasture Road <u>http://T.Co/6emgurlix1</u>. [Twitter], 10 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/stanheptinstall/status/586567219036884992</u> [Accessed 11 April 2015]
- Hermida, A. (2010) 'Twitter the News: The Emergence of Ambient Journalism'. *Journalism Practice*, 4(3), pp. 297-308
- Himelboim, I., Smith, M. A., Rainie, L., Shneiderman, B. & Espina, C. (2017) 'Classifying Twitter Topic-Networks Using Social Network Analysis'. Social Media + Society, 3(1), pp. 2056305117691545
- Hindman, M. (2009) *The Myth of Digital Democracy.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press
- Holehouse, M. & Swinford, S. (2014) *Ukip to Target Tory Ministers' Seats* [Online]. The Telegraph. Available at: <u>https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/politics/ukip/11056205/Ukip-to-target-Tory-ministers-seats.html</u> [Accessed 1 February 2015]
- Iqani, M. (2012) 'Media in Consumer Culture: An Introduction'. *Consumer Culture and the Media: Magazines in the Public Eye.* London: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.1-15
- Issenberg, S. (2012) *How Obama Used Big Data to Rally Voters, Part 1* [Online]. MIT Technology Review. Available at: <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/s/508836/how-obama-used-big-data-to-rally-voters-part-1/</u> [Accessed 7 June 2018]
- Jackson, N. (2007) 'Political Parties, the Internet and the 2005 General Election: Third Time Lucky?'. *Internet Research*, 17(3), pp. 249-271
- Jackson, N. & Lilleker, D. (2009) 'Building an Architecture of Participation? Political Parties and Web 2.0 in Britain'. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics,* 6(3-4), pp. 232-250
- Jackson, N. & Lilleker, D. (2011) 'Microblogging, Constituency Service and Impression Management: UK MPs and the Use of Twitter'. *The Journal* of Legislative Studies, 17(1), pp. 86-105

Jaffe, S. (2018) 'The Collective Power of #Metoo'. Dissent, 65(2), pp. 80-87

Jenkins, H. (2006) *Fans, Bloggers, and Gamers: Exploring Participatory Culture.* New York: New York University Press

- Jenkins, L. (2015) *BBC Politics Editor Nick Robinson to Undergo Lung Surgery* [Online]. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/media/2015/feb/28/nick-robinson-bbc-</u> <u>lung-cancer-surgery-politics</u> [Accessed 9 April 2018]
- Jigsaw Research. (2020) News Consumption in the UK: 2020 [Online]. OFCOM. Available at: <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0013/201316/news-consumption-2020-report.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 July 2021]
- Jin, X., Wah, B. W., Cheng, X. & Wang, Y. (2015) 'Significance and Challenges of Big Data Research'. *Big Data Research*, 2(2), pp. 59-64
- Johnson, A. (2016) *The Long and Winding Road: A Memoir.* London: Bantam Press
- Jones, C. & Livingstone, N. (2018) 'The 'Online High Street' or the High Street Online? The Implications for the Urban Retail Hierarchy'. *The International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research,* 28(1), pp. 47-63
- Jones, N. (1995) Soundbites and Spin Doctors: How Politicians Manipulate the Media - and Vice Versa. London: Cassell
- Jordan, W. (2015) *Health Overtakes Immigration as an Issue for Voters* [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://yougov.co.uk/news/2015/04/15/health-tops-immigration-second-most-important-issu/</u> [Accessed 15 April 2015]
- Jungherr, A. (2016) 'Twitter Use in Campaigns: A Systematic Literature Review'. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 13(1), pp. 72-91
- Jungherr, A., Jürgen, P. & Schoen, H. (2012) 'Why the Pirate Party Won the German Election of 2009 or the Trouble with Predictions: A Response to Tumasjan, A., Sprenger, T. O., Sander, P. G., & Welpe, I. M. "Predicting Elections with Twitter: What 140 Characters Reveal About Political Sentiment" '. Social Science Computer Review, 30(2), pp. 229-234
- Karlsen, R. & Skogerbø, E. (2013) 'Candidate Campaigning in Parliamentary Systems'. *Party Politics*, 21(3), pp. 428-439
- Karpf, D. (2016) Analytical Activism: Digital Listening and the New Political Strategy. New York: Oxford University Press

- Karwatowska, H. (2015) *Public Attitudes to a Hung Parliament* [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://yougov.co.uk/news/2010/04/27/public-attitudes-hung-parliament/</u> [Accessed 8 March 2016]
- Keller, T. R. & Kleinen-Von Königslöw, K. (2018) 'Followers, Spread the Message! Predicting the Success of Swiss Politicians on Facebook and Twitter'. Social Media + Society, 4(1), pp. 2056305118765733
- Klašnja, M., Barberá, P., Beauchamp, N., Nagler, J. & Tucker, J. A. (2018)
  'Measuring Public Opinion with Social Media Data'. In: Atkeson, L. R. & Alvarez, R. M. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Polling and Survey Methods.* New York: Oxford University Press, pp.555-582
- Knapp, J. A. (1997) 'Essayistic Messages: Internet Newsgroups as an Electronic Public Sphere'. In: Porter, D. (ed.) *Internet Culture*. New York: Routledge, pp.181-197
- Knoll, J., Matthes, J. & Heiss, R. (2018) 'The Social Media Political Participation Model: A Goal Systems Theory Perspective'. Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies, 26(1), pp. 135-156
- Kotras, B. (2020) 'Mass Personalization: Predictive Marketing Algorithms and the Reshaping of Consumer Knowledge'. *Big Data & Society*, 7(2), pp. 1-14
- Kreiss, D. (2012) 'Acting in the Public Sphere: The 2008 Obama Campaign's Strategic Use of New Media to Shape Narratives of the Presidential Race'. *Research in Social Movements, Conflicts and Change,* 33, pp. 195-223
- Kreiss, D., Lawrence, R. G. & McGregor, S. C. (2018) 'In Their Own Words: Political Practitioner Accounts of Candidates, Audiences, Affordances, Genres, and Timing in Strategic Social Media Use'. *Political Communication*, 35(1), pp. 8-31
- Kruikemeier, S. (2014) 'How Political Candidates Use Twitter and the Impact on Votes'. *Computers in Human Behavior,* 34, pp. 131-139
- Kruse, L. M., Norris, D. R. & Flinchum, J. R. (2018) 'Social Media as a Public Sphere? Politics on Social Media'. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 59(1), pp. 62-84
- Kutlu, A. 'The Internet and Politics: Transformation of Political Communication'. International Conference on Research in Humanities and Social Sciences. Belgrade, Serbia, 15-17 December. Available at:

https://www.dpublication.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ICRHS-1-168.pdf [Accessed 09 August 2020]

- Lapowski, I. (2013) *Ev Williams on Twitter's Early Years* [Online]. Inc. Available at: <u>https://www.inc.com/issie-lapowsky/ev-williams-twitter-early-years.html</u> [Accessed 22 July 2017]
- Lasorsa, D. L., Lewis, S. C. & Holton, A. E. (2011) 'Normalizing Twitter'. *Journalism Studies*, 13(1), pp. 19-36
- Leavy, P. (2017) Research Design: Quantitative, Qualitative, Mixed Methods, Arts-Based, and Community-Based Participatory Research Approaches. London: Guilford Press
- Lee, B. (2014) 'Window Dressing 2.0: Constituency-Level Web Campaigns in the 2010 UK General Election'. *Politics,* 34(1), pp. 45-57
- Lee, C. C., Nagpal, P., Ruane, S. G. & Lim, H. S. (2018) 'Factors Affecting Online Streaming Subscriptions'. [Online] *Communications of the IIMA*, 16 (1), pp. Article 2. <u>https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1394&co</u> <u>ntext=ciima</u>.
- Lee, J. (2015) 'The Double-Edged Sword: The Effects of Journalists' Social Media Activities on Audience Perceptions of Journalists and Their News Products'. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 20(3), pp. 312-329
- Lees-Marshment, J. (2009) *Political Marketing: Principles and Applications.* New York: Routledge
- Lentz, C. (2019) *10 Celebrities Who Used Social Media to Launch Their Careers* [Online]. Insider. Available at: <u>https://www.insider.com/celebrities-who-started-on-social-media-2019-</u> <u>2</u> [Accessed 12 May 2021 2021]
- Lewis, B. [@BrandonLewis], (2015) Zero-Hours & Fact That Labour Party Use Them <u>http://T.Co/7duxgonxsu</u> Via @Mailonline. [Twitter], 2 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BrandonLewis/status/583559610998640640</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]
- Liberal Democrats. [@LibDems], (2014) @Majabl Thanks for Your Question [Name] as Nick Said Earlier "Jobs, Jobs, Jobs". [Twitter], 1 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/LibDems/status/461934889018077184</u> [Accessed 2 May 2014]

- Liberal Democrats. [@LibDems], (2015a) *No Party Will Win a Majority Only* #Libdems Can Deliver Stability, Unity & Decency #Ge2015 <u>http://T.Co/Vtgqtoubb7 http://T.Co/Wdewsxna9p</u>. [Twitter], 4 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/LibDems/status/595166019955503105</u> [Accessed 5 May 2015]
- Liberal Democrats. [@LibDems], (2015b) A 'Stability Budget' within 50 Days of #Libdems in Govt Will Ensure the Economy Stays on Track <u>http://T.Co/Ehjwadaynd http://T.Co/Ue3wpf993j</u>. [Twitter], 30 April 2015. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/LibDems/status/593761750387855360</u> [Accessed 1 May 2015]
- Liberal Democrats. [@LibDems], (2015c) Under Our Manifesto Plans We Will Invest £3.5bn More in Mental Health Care by 2020 <u>http://T.Co/Ti323ctuz4</u> #Ge2015 <u>http://T.Co/He8204trqn</u>. [Twitter], 9 April 2015. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/LibDems/status/586079737673551873</u> [Accessed 10 April 2015]
- Liberal Democrats. [@LibDems], (2015d) We'll Keep Britain on Track Rather Than Lurching Dangerously to the Right or Left #Ge2015 #Theleaderinterviews <u>http://T.Co/Jbxgqzetib</u>. [Twitter], 13 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/LibDems/status/587691328047316992</u> [Accessed 15 April 2015]
- Liberal Democrats. [@LibDems], (2015e) We Will Borrow Less Than Labour & Cut Less Than the Tories, Keeping Britain on Track #Ge2015 <u>Https://T.Co/F25m2gi2o0</u> #Votesafely. [Twitter], 8 April 2015. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/LibDems/status/585872283811459072</u> [Accessed 9 April 2015]
- Lipsman, A., Mudd, G., Rich, M. & Bruich, S. (2012) 'The Power of "Like": How Brands Reach (and Influence) Fans through Social-Media Marketing'. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 52(1), pp. 40
- Littler, J. (2017) *Against Meritoracy: Culture, Power and Myths of Mobility.* London: Routledge
- Lopes, A. R. (2014) 'The Impact of Social Media on Social Movements: The New Opportunity and Mobilizing Structure'. *Journal of Political Science Research*, 4(1), pp. 1-23
- Lou, C. & Yuan, S. (2019) 'Influencer Marketing: How Message Value and Credibility Affect Consumer Trust of Branded Content on Social Media'. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 19(1), pp. 58-73

Loughton, T. [@timloughton], (2015) @BSmytherman @Ewas3 @Lancing\_Network for Modern Read Lazy. Not Much Good If Most of Them Cannot Vote for You Even If They Wanted to Bob. [Twitter], 1 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/timloughton/status/594250889751302144</u> [Accessed 8 May 2015]

- Macarthur, A. (2018) *The Real History of Twitter, in Brief* [Online]. Lifewire. Available at: <u>https://www.lifewire.com/history-of-twitter-3288854</u> [Accessed 17 November 2017]
- Mackay, J. B. (2010) 'Gadgets, Gismos, and the Web 2.0 Election'. In: Hendricks, J. A. & Denton Jr, R. E. (eds.) Communicator-in-Chief: How Barack Obama Used New Media Technology to Win the White House. Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books, pp.19-36

Macpherson, T. [@TimMacpherson], (2015) @BSmytherman @Bbcsoutheast Bob If You Paid the Same Attention to Voters as You Did to Your Twitter Account You Might Save Your Deposit. [Twitter], 5 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/TimMacpherson/status/595606311569596416</u> [Accessed 8 May 2015]

- Mahmoodi, J., Leckelt, M., Van Zalk, M. W. H., Geukes, K. & Back, M. D. (2017) 'Big Data Approaches in Social and Behavioral Science: Four Key Trade-Offs and a Call for Integration'. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 18, pp. 57-62
- Maia, R. C. M. (2018) 'Deliberative Media'. In: Bächtiger, A., Dryzek, J. S., Mansbridge, J. & Warren, M. E. (eds.) *The Oxford Handbook of Deliberative Democracy.* Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp.348-364
- Margolis, M. & Moreno-Riaño, G. (2010) *The Prospect of Internet Demoracy.* London: Routledge
- Margolis, M. & Resnick, D. (2000) *Politics as Usual: The "Cyberspace Revolution".* Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications

Massey, C. (2020) *The Modernisation of the Labour Party, 1979-97.* [Online]. Manchester: Manchester University Press. Available at: <u>https://www-manchesterhive-com.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/view/9781526144430/9781526144430.xml</u> [Accessed 4 June 2021].

Mathers, L. [@Leoniemathers], (2015) @Only\_Sleeping of Course-Can't Do Justice on Twitter but Check out <u>http://T.Co/Bc2x19kdro</u> or Nip into Office on Hucknall High St for a Chat? [Twitter], 22 April. Available at: https://twitter.com/leoniemathers/status/591001828726284289 [Accessed 24 April 2015]

- Mayer-Schönberger, V. & Cukier, K. (2013) *Big Data: A Revolutions That Will Transform How We Live, Work, and Think.* New York: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt
- Mayhew, F. (2020) UK National Newspaper Sales Slump by Two-Thirds in 20 Years Amid Digital Disruption [Online]. Press Gazette. Available at: <u>https://www.pressgazette.co.uk/uk-national-newspaper-sales-slump-by-two-thirds-in-20-years-amid-digital-disruption/</u> [Accessed 21 July 2021 2020]
- McCombs, M. (2005) 'A Look at Agenda-Setting: Past, Present and Future'. Journalism Studies, 6(4), pp. 543-557
- McCombs, M. (2013) Setting the Agenda : The Mass Media and Public Opinion. 1st Ed. Cambridge: Polity
- McCombs, M. E. (2014) Setting the Agenda : Mass Media and Public Opinion. 2nd Ed. Cambridge: Polity
- McGregor, M. (2010) 'Click Here to Unsubscribe: The Use of Email in the 2010 Election'. [Online]. In: Gibson, R. K., Williamson, A. & Ward, S. (eds.) The internet and the 2010 election: Putting the small 'p' back in politics? London: Hansard Society, pp. 33-42. Available at: <u>https://assets.ctfassets.net/u1rlvvbs33ri/1T8tpdVcslkyyeuGw62mG6/a7</u> <u>35e387b5975f47d19b7d79006266db/Publication</u> The-internet-andthe-2010-election-2010.pdf Accessed]
- McGregor, S. C. (2019) 'Social Media as Public Opinion: How Journalists Use Social Media to Represent Public Opinion'. *Journalism*, 20(8), pp. 1070-1086
- McLoughlin, L., Ward, S., Gibson, R. & Southern, R. (2020) 'A Tale of Three Tribes: UK MPs, Twitter and the Eu Referendum Campaign'. *Information Polity*, 25(1), pp. 49-66
- McNair, B. (2012) An Introduction to Political Communication. 5th Ed. Oxon: Routledge
- Mishra, A. A. & Mishra, A. (2014) 'National Vs. Local Celebrity Endorsement and Politics'. *International Journal of Politics, Culture, and Society,* 27(4), pp. 409-425
- Moran, L. [@Laylamoran], (2015a) Should We Ban 88% of Animal Experiments? See My Article, Produced with @Aldeslibdems

*Disucssing This <u>Https://T.Co/Xjmstqhmtp</u>.* [Twitter], 1 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/laylamoran/status/583175856593498112</u> [Accessed 2 April 2015]

- Moran, L. (2015b) *Six Ways to Break British Research* [Online]. openDemocracy. Available at: <u>https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/opendemocracyuk/six-ways-to-break-british-research/</u> [Accessed 27 March 2017]
- Muller, D. (2016) *How the Relationship between Social Media and Traditional Media Has Shaped This Election* [Online]. The Conversation. Available at: <u>https://theconversation.com/how-the-relationship-between-social-</u> <u>media-and-traditional-media-has-shaped-this-election-61585</u> [Accessed 14 May 2019]
- Murphy, J., Link, M. W., Childs, J. H., Tesfaye, C. L., Dean, E., Stern, M., Pasek, J., Cohen, J., Callegaro, M. & Harwood, P. (2014) 'Social Media in Public Opinion Research: Executive Summary of the Aapor Task Force on Emerging Technologies in Public Opinion Research'. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 78(4), pp. 788-794
- Murthy, D. (2013) *Twitter: Social Communication in the Twitter Age.* Cambridge: Polity Press
- Murthy, D. (2015) 'Twitter and Elections: Are Tweets, Predictive, Reactive, or a Form of Buzz?'. *Information, Communication & Society,* 18(7), pp. 816-831
- Newman, B. I. (2012) 'The Role of Marketing in Politics: Ten Years Later'. Journal of Political Marketing, 11(1-2), pp. 1-3
- Newman, B. I. & Perloff, R. M. (2004) 'Political Marketing: Theory, Research and Applications'. In: Kaid, L. L. (ed.) Handbook of Political Communication Research. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associated Inc., pp.17-44
- Newsbeat. (2019) Instagram Holiday Debt: 'I Spent £5,000 for the Gram' [Online]. BBC News. Available at: <u>www.bbc.co.uk/news/newsbeat-49445005</u> [Accessed 15 August 2019]
- Nielsen, S. W. & Larsen, M. V. (2014) 'Party Brands and Voting'. *Electoral Studies,* 33(1), pp. 153-165
- Nizzoli, L., Tardelli, S., Avvenuti, M., Cresci, S. & Tesconi, M. 'Coordinated Behavior on Social Media in 2019 UK General Election'. ICWSM. pp. 443-454.

- Norris, P. (2000) A Virtuous Circle? Political Communications in Post-Industrial Democracies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Norris, P. (2001) Digital Divide: Civic Engagement, Information Poverty, and the Internet Worldwide. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Norton, P. (2013) 'The Role of the Conservative Political Centre, 1945-98'. In: Ball, S. & Holliday, I. (eds.) *Mass Conservatism: The Conservatives and the Public since the 1880s.* London: Routledge, pp.199-215
- O'Connor, B. (2014) *How One Man Accepted the Challenge* [Online]. ESPN. Available at: <u>https://www.espn.com/boston/story/\_/id/11366772/in-als-fight-pete-frates-message-loud-clear-ice-bucket-challenge</u> [Accessed 06 May 2017]
- O'Connor, B., Balasubramanyan, R., Routledge, B. R. & Smith, N. A. 'From Tweets to Polls: Linking Text Sentiment to Public Opinion Time Series'. Fourth International Conference on Weblogs and Social Media, ICWSM 2010. Washington DC, USA, 23-26 May. Available at: <u>http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~nasmith/papers/oconnor+balasubramanyan+ro</u> <u>utledge+smith.icwsm10.pdf</u>
- O'Reilly, T. (2005) What Is Web 2.0? [Online]. O'Reilly. Available at: <u>www.oreilly.com/pub/a//web2/archive/what-is-web-20.html</u> [Accessed 4 October 2015]
- Ofcom. (2015) Ofcom Publishes Consultation on 'Major Parties' List [Online]. OFCOM. Available at: <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2015/major-parties-consultation</u> [Accessed 27 June 2017]
- Ofcom. (2020) The Future of Landline Calls [Online]. OFCOM. Available at: <u>https://www.ofcom.org.uk/phones-telecoms-and-internet/advice-for-</u> <u>consumers/future-of-landline-calls</u> [Accessed 19 July 2021]
- Office for National Statistics. (2015) *UK Labour Market: May 2015* [Online]. Office for National Statistics. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/uklabourmarket/2015-05-13</u> [Accessed 29 September 2015]
- Office for National Statistics. (2017a) Internet Access Households and Individuals, Great Britain: 2017. Office for National Statistics. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/householdchar</u> acteristics/homeinternetandsocialmediausage/bulletins/internetaccessh ouseholdsandindividuals/2017 [Accessed 27 October 2017].

- Office for National Statistics. (2017b) *Long-Term International Migrants, UK:* 2017 [Online]. Office for National Statistics. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationand</u> <u>migration/internationalmigration/bulletins/longterminternationalmigrants</u> <u>uk/2017</u> [Accessed 12 December 2017]
- Oz, M., Zheng, P. & Chen, G. M. (2018) 'Twitter Versus Facebook: Comparing Incivility, Impoliteness, and Deliberative Attributes'. *New Media & Society*, 20(9), pp. 3400-3419
- Pal, J. & Gonawela, A. N. (2017) 'Studying Political Communication on Twitter: The Case for Small Data'. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 18, pp. 97-102
- Palmer, N. [@Nick4Broxtowe], (2015a) Save North Beeston Buses <u>Https://T.Co/8rlogylusn</u> Via @Ukchange. [Twitter], 11 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Nick4Broxtowe/status/586993604125659136</u> [Accessed 15 April 2015]
- Palmer, N. [@Nick4Broxtowe], (2015b) Trent Barton Bus Company: Retain Bus Services from Beeston Rylands to Nottingham <u>Https://T.Co/Zkjg0ujnie</u> Via @Ukchange. [Twitter], 12 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Nick4Broxtowe/status/587889407266553856</u> [Accessed 15 April 2015]
- Papacharissi, Z. (2002) 'The Virtual Sphere: The Internet as a Public Sphere'. *New Media & Society*, 4(1), pp. 9-27
- Papacharissi, Z. (2009) 'The Virtual Sphere 2.0: The Internet, the Public Sphere, and Beyond'. In: Chadwick, A. & Howard, P. N. (eds.) *Routledge Handbook of Internet Politics.* Abingdon: Routledge, pp.230-245
- Parmelee, J. H. & Bichard, S. L. (2013) *Politics and the Twitter Revolution: How Tweets Influence the Relationship between Political Leaders and the Public.* Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books
- Pattie, C., Hartman, T. & Johnston, R. (2017) 'Incumbent Parties, Incumbent MPs and the Effectiveness of Constituency Campaigns: Evidence from the 2015 UK General Election'. *The British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 19(4), pp. 824-841
- Pattie, C., Hartman, T. K. & Johnston, R. (2019) 'Not All Campaigns Are Created Equal: Temporal and Spatial Variability in Constituency Campaign Spending Effects in Great Britain, 1997–2015'. *Political Geography*, 71, pp. 36-46

- Paulussen, S. & Harder, R. A. (2014) 'Social Media References in Newspapers'. *Journalism Practice*, 8(5), pp. 542-551
- Pentland, A. (2015) Social Physics: How Social Networks Can Make Us Smarter. New York: Penguin Group
- Peterson, R. D. (2012) 'To Tweet or Not to Tweet: Exploring the Determinants of Early Adoption of Twitter by House Members in the 111th Congress'. *The Social Science Journal*, 49(4), pp. 430-438
- Petley, J. (2012) 'Jürgen Habermas: The Modern Media and the Public Sphere'. In: Berry, D. (ed.) *Revisting the Frankfurt School: Essays on Culture, Media and Theory.* Farnham: Ashgate Publishing, pp.139-160
- Pickard, S. (2018) 'Momentum and the Movementist 'Corbynistas': Young People Regenerating the Labour Party in Britain'. In: Pickard, S. & Bessant, J. (eds.) Young People Re-Generating Politics in Times of Crises. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.115-137
- Pillmoor, H. J. (2013) 'Too Many Tweets Make A ...: The Who, the How and the How Useful Twitter Is as a Platform to Connect MPs and the Public', Undergraduate Dissertation, Lancaster University, Lancaster
- Pillmoor, H. J. (2014) 'Campaigning on Twitter in the Uk's European Parliamentary Election 2014: The Use of Twitter as a Party Campaign Tool and Platform for Public Opinion', Masters Dissertation, Lancaster University, Lancaster
- Plasser, F. & Plasser, G. (2002) Global Political Campaigning: A Worldwide Analysis of Campaign Professionals and Their Practices. Westport, CT: Praeger
- Potter, W. J. (2011) 'Conceptualizing Mass Media Effect'. *Journal of Communication*, 61(5), pp. 896-915
- Pressgrove, G., Mckeever, B. W. & Jang, S. M. (2018) 'What Is Contagious? Exploring Why Content Goes Viral on Twitter: A Case Study of the Als Ice Bucket Challenge'. [Online], 23(1), pp. e1586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nvsm.1586</u>. [Accessed 2018/02/01]
- Recuero, R., Araujo, R. & Zago, G. 'How Does Social Capital Affect Retweets?'. Proceedings of the Fifth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media. Palo Alto, CA, 17-21 July, pp. 305-312.
- Rehan, T. & Zolkepli, I. A. 'Revolutionary Movement of Social Media Political Power and Participation'. In: Karpasitis, C. (ed.). 8th European Conference on Social Media. Laraca, Cyprus, 1-2 July, pp. 187-194.

- Rheingold, H. (1993) *The Virtual Community: Homesteading on the Electronic Frontier.* London: MIT Press
- Rhodes, A. (2019) 'Movement-Led Electoral Campaigning: Momentum in the 2017 General Election'. In: Wring, D., Mortimore, R. & Atkinson, S. (eds.) Political Communication in Britain: Campaigning, Media and Polling in the 2017 General Election. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, pp.171-186
- Robertson, C. T., Dutton, W. H., Ackland, R. & Peng, T.-Q. (2019) 'The Democratic Role of Social Media in Political Debates: The Use of Twitter in the First Televised Us Presidential Debate of 2016'. *Journal* of Information Technology & Politics, 16(2), pp. 105-118
- Robles-Morales, J. M. & Córdoba-Hernández, A. M. (2019) Digital Political Participation, Social Networks and Big Data: Distintermediation in the Era of Web 2.0. Palgrave Macmillan. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007%2F978-3-030-27757-4</u> [Accessed 13 March 2021].
- Rosen, A. (2017). 'Tweeting Made Easier'. *Twitter Blog*, [Blog], 7 November. Available at: <u>https://blog.twitter.com/official/en\_us/topics/product/2017/tweetingmade</u> <u>easier.html</u> [Accessed 16 March 2019]
- Russell, A. & Fieldhouse, E. (2005) *Neither Left nor Right?: The Electoral Politics of the Liberal Democrats.* Manchester: Manchester University Press
- Russell Neuman, W., Guggenheim, L., Mo Jang, S. & Bae, S. Y. (2014) 'The Dynamics of Public Attention: Agenda-Setting Theory Meets Big Data'. *Journal of Communication*, 64(2), pp. 193-214
- Schober, M. F., Pasek, J., Guggenheim, L., Lampe, C. & Conrad, F. G. (2016) 'Social Media Analyses for Social Measurement'. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 80(1), pp. 180-211
- Segesten, A. D. & Bossetta, M. (2017) 'A Typology of Political Participation Online: How Citizens Used Twitter to Mobilize During the 2015 British General Elections'. *Information, Communication & Society,* 20(11), pp. 1625-1643
- Sennett, R. (2013) *The Public Realm* [Online]. Intensificant Vides Nervioses. Available at: <u>https://intensificantvidesnervioses.wordpress.com/2013/08/28/the-public-realm-richard-sennett/</u> [Accessed 26 March 2022]

- Seward, Z. M. (2013) The First-Ever Hashtag, @-Reply and Retweet, as Twitter Users Invented Them [Online]. Quartz. Available at: <u>https://qz.com/135149/the-first-ever-hashtag-reply-and-retweet-as-</u> <u>twitter-users-invented-them/</u> [Accessed 14 September 2017]
- Shadbolt, N., O'Hara, K., De Roure, D. & Hall, W. (2019) *The Theory and Practice of Social Machines.* Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG
- Shaw, D. L. & Martin, S. E. (1992) 'The Function of Mass Media Agenda Setting'. *Journalism Quarterly*, 69(4), pp. 902-920
- Shayaa, S., Jaafar, N. I., Bahri, S., Sulaiman, A., Seuk Wai, P., Wai Chung, Y., Piprani, A. Z. & Al-Garadi, M. A. (2018) 'Sentiment Analysis of Big Data: Methods, Applications, and Open Challenges'. *IEEE Access*, 6(1), pp. 37807-37827
- Shipman, T. (2017) Fall Out: A Year of Political Mayhem. London: William Collins
- Shirky, C. (2011) The Political Power of Social Media: Technology, the Public Sphere and Political Change [Online]. Foreign Affairs. Available at: <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/2010-12-20/political-power-</u> <u>social-media</u> [Accessed 14 September 2016]
- Simons, J. & Ghosh, D. (2020) Utilities for Democracy: Why and How the Algorithmic Infrastructure of Facebook and Google Must Be Regulated [Online]. Brooking Institution. Available at: <u>https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Simons-</u> <u>Ghosh\_Utilities-for-Democracy\_PDF.pdf</u> [Accessed 21 January 2021]
- Singhal, A. (2014). 'A Year in Search: The Moments That Defined 2014'. *The Keyword*, [Blog], 16 December. Available at: <u>https://blog.google/products/search/a-year-in-search-moments-that-</u> <u>defined/</u> [Accessed 8 November 2016]
- Singleton, D. (2017) Alan Johnson and the 'First Political Ever Tweet' That Got Away [Online]. Total Politics. Available at: <u>http://www.totalpolitics.com/articles/diary/alan-johnson-and-</u>'firstpolitical-ever-tweet'-got-away [Accessed 13 December 2017]
- Skoric, M. M., Zhu, Q., Goh, D. & Pang, N. (2016) 'Social Media and Citizen Engagement: A Meta-Analytic Review'. New Media & Society, 18(9), pp. 1817-1839
- Smith, M. M. (2010) 'Political Campaigns in the Twenty-First Century: Implications of New Media Technology'. In: Hendricks, J. A. & Denton

Jr, R. E. (eds.) *Communicator-in-Chief: How Barack Obama Used New Media Technology to Win the White House.* Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books, pp.139-155

- Smytherman, B. [@BSmytherman], (2015a) @Ewas3 @Lancing\_Network @ljsbignose @timloughton I'm a Modern Candidate Speaking to 1000s Ppl on #Socialmedia #Voteforbob #Ge2015. [Twitter], 1 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BSmytherman/status/594231917005959169</u> [Accessed 5 May 2015]
- Smytherman, B. [@BSmytherman], (2015b) @Ijsbignose @Lancing\_Network @timloughton I Am a Modern Candidate Talking to People Direct on #Socialmedia #Coolmp #Voteforbob. [Twitter], 30 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BSmytherman/status/593698696606396416</u> [Accessed 2 May 2015]
- Smytherman, B. [@BSmytherman], (2015c) @Sianjasper Twitter Is Much More Engaging Now & Less Intrusive. @Ewas3 @Lancing\_Network @Ijsbignose @timloughton #Voteforbob. [Twitter], 1 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/BSmytherman/status/594244681279635456</u> [Accessed 5 May 2015]
- Solop, F. I. (2010) "Rt @Barackobama We Just Made History": Twitter and the 2008 Presidential Election'. In: Hendricks, J. A. & Denton Jr, R. E. (eds.) Communicator-in-Chief: How Barack Obama Used New Media Technology to Win the White House. Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books, pp.37-50
- Somerset, D. (2015) *Top Tv Personalities to Follow on Twitter* [Online]. Cultbox. Available at: <u>https://cultbox.co.uk/features/lists/top-tv-personalities-to-follow-on-twitter</u> [Accessed 9 April 2018]
- Soubry, A. [@Anna\_Soubry], (2015a) After 2.5 Years of Misery @Nettram Play an "April Fool" Claiming the Line Is Abt to Open #Tramshambles #Shameful. [Twitter], 1 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Anna\_Soubry/status/583334457953894400</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]
- Soubry, A. [@Anna\_Soubry], (2015b) Apparently First Tram Testing Tomorrow 11am #Beeston #Tramshambles #Ng9. [Twitter], 30 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Anna\_Soubry/status/582625790967320577</u> [Accessed 31 March 2015]
- Soubry, A. [@Anna\_Soubry], (2015c) *My Constituency Office Has Been in Beeston since 2010 Right in the Tram Works #llovebeeston #Tramshambles.* [Twitter], 3 April. Available at:

https://twitter.com/Anna\_Soubry/status/584027342235897856 [Accessed 5 April 2015]

- Southern, R. & Lee, B. J. (2019) 'Politics as Usual? Assessing the Extent and Content of Candidate-Level Online Campaigning at the 2015 UK General Election'. *Journal of Elections, Public Opinions and Parties,* 29(2), pp. 179-198
- Sowels, N. (2015) 'Fiscal Policy, Public Spending and the 2015 General Election'. [Online], 20(3). <u>https://journals.openedition.org/rfcb/528</u>. [Accessed 12 May 2020]
- Steinberg, A. (2015) 'Exploring Web 2.0 Political Engagement: Is New Technology Reducing the Biases of Political Participation?'. *Electoral Studies*, 39(1), pp. 102-116
- Stone, B. (2009). 'Retweet Limited Rollout'. *Twitter Blog*, [Blog], 6 November. Available at: <u>https://blog.twitter.com/official/en\_us/a/2009/retweet-limited-rollout.html</u> [Accessed 16 March 2018]
- Stone, B. (2010). 'Hello World'. *Twitter Blog*, [Blog], 13 April. Available at: <u>https://blog.twitter.com/official/en\_us/a/2010/hello-world.html</u> [Accessed 17 March 2016]
- Sun, L. H. & Fichman, P. (2020) 'The Collective Trolling Lifecycle'. Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology, 71(7), pp. 770-783
- Swaine, J. (2010) General Election 2010: Facebook and Twitter to Have Unprecedented Impact [Online]. The Telegraph. Available at: <u>https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/election-2010/7558703/General-election-2010-Facebook-and-Twitter-to-have-unprecedented-impact.html</u> [Accessed 16 January 2016]
- Sylvester, R. (2013) 'Power Is Seeping from the Party Leaders'. *The Times*, 17 December, p.25.
- Talbot, D. (2008) *How Obama Really Did It* [Online]. MIT Technology Review. Available at: <u>https://www.technologyreview.com/s/410644/how-obama-really-did-it/</u> [Accessed 16 May 2017]
- Tapscott, D. (2009) *Grown up Digital: How the Net Generation Is Changing Your World.* New York: McGraw-Hill Education
- Taylor, P. A. & Harris, J. L. (2008) *Critical Theories of Mass Media: Then and Now.* New York: Open University Press

- Taylor, R. [@RTaylor\_LibDem], (2015) @Bbcr4today Reports That #Labour Run Councils Have 22,000 Staff on Zero Hours Contracts. What Will @Ed\_Miliband Do About That? [Twitter], 2 April Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/RTaylor\_LibDem/status/583520004446023680</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]
- The Electoral Commission. (2016) UK Parliamentary General Election 2015: Campaign Spending Report [Online]. Electoral Commission. Available at: <u>https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/pdf\_file/UKP</u> GE-Spending-Report-2015.pdf [Accessed 7 March 2016]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015a) *"I Trust Labour with the Nhs." Watch Steve Coogan Back Labour* → <u>*Https://T.Co/Dm8qupdve0*</u>. [Twitter], 3 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/594921867703492608</u> [Accessed 4 May 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015b) "My Values Are About Community, Compassion and Decency" - Martin Freeman on Why He's Backing Labour on 7 May → <u>Https://T.Co/Kahve8i6zx</u>. [Twitter], 31 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/582789674197872640</u> [Accessed 10 April 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015c) Poll: Do You Agree That Wealthy Non-Doms Should Pay Their Taxes Like the Rest of Us? <u>http://T.Co/Vww81xpowg http://T.Co/T6cvnrwww1</u>. [Twitter], 9 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/585706142988382208</u> [Accessed 11 April 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015d) Retweet: If You Want a Country That Works for Everyone, Not Just a Privileged Few, Vote Labour Tomorrow. <u>http://T.Co/Plyrfjot4k</u>. [Twitter], 6 May. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/596025896743473152</u> [Accessed 7 May 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015e) Support the Nhs? Help Us Stop the Tories from Running It into the Ground: <u>http://Labour.Tw/1hvqxof</u>. [Twitter], 27 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/592320726264205312</u> [Accessed 29 April 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015f) *"There Is Only One Choice, and I Choose Labour" -- Martin Freeman <u>http://Youtu.Be/Jbhnvtsad2m</u>. [Twitter], 31 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/582820125792858112</u> [Accessed 11 April 2015]*

- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015g) The Tories Refuse to Abolish Non-Dom Status That Benefits Thousands of Wealthy People. Surprising? <u>http://T.Co/Oinww69nyo</u>. [Twitter], 9 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/585799258558763008</u> [Accessed 11 April 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015h) Watch @Ed\_Miliband Explain Why It's So Important to Abolish the Non-Dom Rule → <u>Https://T.Co/Kuk5jyjh0f</u>. [Twitter], 9 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/586083628708302848</u> [Accessed 11 April 2015]
- The Labour Party. [@UKLabour], (2015i) Yesterday We Announced We Will Scrap the Non-Dom Tax Loophole. Here's a Recap → <u>http://T.Co/Ufuwedi0i7</u>. [Twitter], 9 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKLabour/status/586087404609478656</u> [Accessed 11 April 2015]
- The Newsroom. (2015) Breaking News: Ex-Worthing Mayor Bob Smytherman to Stand for MP after Jemima Bland Steps Down [Online]. The Worthing Herald. Available at: <u>https://www.worthingherald.co.uk/news/breaking-news-ex-worthingmayor-bob-smytherman-stand-mp-after-jemima-bland-steps-down-2235160</u> [Accessed 18 September 2015]
- Thomas, G. (2015) *How to Do Your Case Study.* 2nd Ed. London: SAGE Publications
- Thornberry, E. [@EmilyThornberry], (2014) *Image from #Rochester* <u>http://T.Co/Rojtgpskmf</u>. [Twitter], 20 November. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/emilythornberry/status/535450556199075840</u> [Accessed 20 November 2014]
- Thuermer, G., Roth, S., O'Hara, K. & Staab, S. 'Everybody Thinks Online Participation Is Great - for Somebody Else: A Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis of Perceptions and Expectations of Online Participation in the Green Party Germany'. Proceedings of the 10th ACM Conference on Web Science. Amsterdam, Netherlands, 30 June -3 July, pp. 287–296. Available at: <u>https://doiorg.ezproxy.lancs.ac.uk/10.1145/3201064.3201069</u>
- Toch, E., Wang, Y. & Cranor, L. F. (2012) 'Personalization and Privacy: A Survey of Privacy Risks and Remedies in Personalization-Based Systems'. User modeling and user-adapted interaction, 22(1), pp. 203-220

- Tumasjan, A., Sprenger, T. O., Sandner, P. G. & Welpe, I. M. (2011) 'Election Forecasts with Twitter: How 140 Characters Reflect the Political Landscape'. *Social Science Computer Review*, 29(4), pp. 401-418
- UKIP. [@UKIP], (2015a) Best on Immigration? (#Bbcdebate Snap Poll | Survation): Farage - 53% Miliband - 18% Sturgeon - 13% Bennett -10% Wood - 6%. [Twitter], 16 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKIP/status/584714694910324736</u> [Accessed 17 April 2015]
- UKIP. [@UKIP], (2015b) Ending Health Tourism Could Save £2bn to Be Ploughed into Frontline Services for British Taxpayers #Leaderslive <u>http://T.Co/Frbott6vpd</u>. [Twitter], 2 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKIP/status/583719917830049796</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]
- UKIP. [@UKIP], (2015c) Problem with High Immigration Isn't Just Benefits Issue. It Is the Huge Increase and Great Strain on Our Public Services and Housing #Bbcqt. [Twitter], 30 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKIP/status/593867581578174464</u> [Accessed 1 May 2015]
- UKIP. (2015d) *Uk Independence Party: Rule of Procedure* [Online]. UKIP. Available at: <u>https://www.ukip.org/pdf/party\_rule\_book\_01.12.14.pdf</u> [Accessed 15 March 2015]
- UKIP. [@UKIP], (2015e) #UKIP Understands That with Our Public Services under Increasing Strain We Have to Draw a Line under the Past 11 Years of Mass Immigration. [Twitter], 27 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKIP/status/592742874460123136</u> [Accessed 29 April 2015]
- UKIP. [@UKIP], (2015f) YouGov Poll Shows 50% of People Support @Nigel\_Farage's Stance on HIV Treatment <u>http://T.Co/2k236gx0ox</u> <u>http://T.Co/6ddrntx9vs</u>. [Twitter], 5 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/UKIP/status/584714694910324736</u> [Accessed 14 April 2015]
- Vaccari, C., Chadwick, A. & O'Loughlin, B. (2015) 'Dual Screening the Political: Media Events, Social Media, and Citizen Engagement'. *Journal of Communication*, 65(6), pp. 1041-1061
- Valera Ordaz, L. (2019) 'Liberal Individualist, Communitarian, or Deliberative? Analyzing Political Discussion on Facebook Based on Three Notions of Democracy'. International Journal Of Communication, 2019, vol. 13, p. 1056-1076,

- Van Dijk, J. a. G. M. & Hacker, K. L. (2018) Internet and Democracy in the Network Society. London: Routledge
- Van Natta Jr., D. (2004) The 2000 Campaign: The Money Game; Mccain Gets Big Payoff on Web Site [Online]. The New York Times. Available at: <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2000/02/04/us/the-2000-campaign-the-</u> <u>money-game-mccain-gets-big-payoff-on-web-site.html</u> [Accessed 9 January 2020]
- Vrontis, D., Makrides, A., Christofi, M. & Thrassou, A. (2021) 'Social Media Influencer Marketing: A Systematic Review, Integrative Framework and Future Research Agenda'. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 45(4), pp. 617-644
- Wahl-Jorgensen, K. (2019) 'Questioning the Ideal of the Public Sphere: The Emotional Turn'. *Social Media* + *Society*, 5(3), pp. 2056305119852175
- Waisbord, S., Tucker, T. & Lichtenheld, Z. (2018) 'Trump and the Great Disruption in Public Communication'. In: Boczkowski, P. J. & Papacharissi, Z. (eds.) *Trump and the Media.* London: MIT Press,
- Waite, B. C. (2010) 'E-Mail and Electoral Fortunes: Obama's Campaign Internet Insurgency'. In: Hendricks, J. A. & Denton Jr, R. E. (eds.) Communicator-in-Chief: How Barack Obama Used New Media Technology to Win the White House. Plymouth, UK: Lexington Books, pp.105-122
- Wanta, W., Golan, G. & Lee, C. (2004) 'Agenda Setting and International News: Media Influence on Public Perceptions of Foreign Nations'. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 81(2), pp. 364-377
- Ward, S. & Gibson, R. K. (2003) 'On-Line and on Message? Candidate Websites in the 2001 General Election'. *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 5(2), pp. 188-205
- Ward, S. & McLoughlin, L. (2020) 'Turds, Traitors and Tossers: The Abuse of UK MPs Via Twitter'. *The Journal of Legislative Studies*, 26(1), pp. 47-73
- Warman, M. [@Mattwarman], (2015) I'm Delighted to Hear St Mary the Virgin Frampton Has Got £46,300 of Funding for Repairs. St Mary's Is An... <u>http://T.Co/Ipzqckytbf</u>. [Twitter], 31 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/mattwarman/status/582964813472653314</u> [Accessed 2 April 2015]

- Warner, B. R. & Neville-Shepard, R. (2011) 'The Polarizing Influence of Fragmented Media: Lessons from Howard Dean'. *Atlantic Journal of Communication*, 19(4), pp. 201-215
- Warner, J. (2015) 'The New Refeudalisation of the Public Sphere'. In: Mcallister, M. P. & West, E. (eds.) *The Routledge Companion to Advertising and Promotional Culture.* New York: Routledge, pp.285-297
- Warner, M. (2002) 'Publics and Counterpublics'. *Public culture,* 14(1), pp. 49-90
- Watts, E. (2019) "Russell Brand's a Joke, Right?' Contrasting Perceptions of Russell Brand's Legitimacy in Grassroots and Electoral Politics'. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, 23(1), pp. 35-53
- Wells, C., Zhang, Y., Lukito, J. & Pevehouse, J. C. W. (2020) 'Modeling the Formation of Attentive Publics in Social Media: The Case of Donald Trump'. *Mass Communication and Society*, 23(2), pp. 181-205
- Wexler, L., Robbennolt, J. K. & Murphy, C. (2019) '#Metoo, Time's up, and Theories of Justice'. University of Illinois Law Review, 2019(1), pp. 45-110
- Wheeler, M. (2015) Celebrity Endorsements and Activites in the 2015 UK General Election Campaign [Online]. Election Analysis. Available at: <u>http://www.electionanalysis.uk/uk-election-analysis-2015/section-7-popular-culture/celebrity-endorsements-and-activities-in-the-2015-uk-general-election-campaign/ [Accessed 22 June 2020]</u>
- Wilkinson, E. R. [@Ethanrwilkinson], (2015) @UKLabour to Ban Zero Hours Contracts Whilst 36 of Their MPs Employed Staff on Said Contracts Last Year #Happyaprilfoolsday #Jokingnotjoking. [Twitter], 1 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/ethanrwilkinson/status/583177023935369216</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]
- Williams, B. A. & Delli Carpini, M. X. (2011) After Broadcast News: Media Regimes, Democracy, and the New Information Environment. New York: Cambridge University Press

Williams, C. [@Craig4CardiffN], (2015a) @Lisafparry Proposed Lib Closures Were Short Sighted Cut by Council,Small Amount in Grand Scheme,More Can Be Achieved with Efficiency Saving. [Twitter], 8 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Craig4CardiffN/status/585913258768519168</u> [Accessed 10 April 2015]

- Williams, M. [@Mari\_Williams], (2015b) Excellent News @Tesco Withdraws Plans to Open in Wrong Location in #Birchgrove #Peoplepower Works @Bg\_Bbg <u>Https://T.Co/Qex22f7u8n</u>. [Twitter], 22 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Mari\_Williams/status/590951178348929024</u> [Accessed 15 April 2015]
- Williams, M. [@Mari\_Williams], (2015c). @Robbill123 This Is the Right to Be Offered - People Could Stay on Zero Hours Cont If They Wanted @UKLabour <u>http://T.Co/Vopgenxtn2</u>. [Twitter], 1 April. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Mari\_Williams/status/583173883567742977</u> [Accessed 5 April 2015]
- Williams, M. [@Mari\_Williams], (2015d). Thanks @Beckib77 Conversations One by One, Is What This Election Will Be All About. In the Age of Social Media, Face to Face Is King. [Twitter], 31 March. Available at: <u>https://twitter.com/Mari\_Williams/status/582990301523877888</u> [Accessed 2 April 2015]

Williamson, A. (2010) 'Inside the Digital Campaign'. [Online]. In: Gibson, R. K., Williamson, A. & Ward, S. (eds.) The internet and the 2010 election: Putting the small 'p' back in politics? London: Hansard Society, pp. 17-26. Available at: <u>https://assets.ctfassets.net/u1rlvvbs33ri/1T8tpdVcslkyyeuGw62mG6/a7</u> <u>35e387b5975f47d19b7d79006266db/Publication\_The-internet-andthe-2010-election-2010.pdf Accessed]</u>

- Wintour, P. (2015) *Miliband Launches Labour Election Campaign with Promise of 4m Chats* [Online]. The Guardian. Available at: <u>https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2015/jan/05/miliband-labour-</u> <u>election-campaign-4million-conversations</u> [Accessed 24 March 2015]
- Witschge, T. (2004) 'Online Deliberation: Possibilities of the Internet for Deliberative Democracy'. In: Shane, P. M. (ed.) Democracy Online: The Prospects for Political Renewal through the Internet. London: Routledge, pp.109-122
- Wright, S. (2012) 'Politics as Usual? Revolution, Normalization and a New Agenda for Online Deliberation'. *New Media & Society*, 14(2), pp. 244-261
- Wright, S. & Street, J. (2007) 'Democracy, Deliberation and Design: The Case of Online Discussion Forums'. *New Media & Society*, 9(5), pp. 849-869
- Wrigley, N. & Lambiri, D. (2014) *High Street Performance and Evolution: A Brief Guide to the Evidence.* Southampton: University of Southampton

- Wukich, C. & Steinberg, A. (2016) 'Social Media for Emergency Management'. In: Zavattaro, S. M. & Bryer, T. A. (eds.) Social Media for Government: Theory and Practice. New York: Routledge, pp.140-153
- Yan, W., Sivakumar, G. & Xenos, M. A. (2018) 'It's Not Cricket: Examining Political Discussion in Nonpolitical Online Space'. *Information, Communication & Society*, 21(11), pp. 1571-1587
- YouGov. (2014) *Public Trust in Insitutions* [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus\_uploads/document/ea1i</u> <u>oktxin/Results-for-Public-Trust-In-Institutions-24112014-W.pdf</u> [Accessed 2 July 2021]
- YouGov. (2015a) *Final Call: Conservatives and Labour Tied* [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://yougov.co.uk/topics/politics/articles-</u> <u>reports/2015/05/06/final-call-conservatives-and-labour-tied</u> [Accessed 13 March 2020]
- YouGov. (2015b) *Issues (1)* [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus\_uploads/document/p89</u> <u>7bk8f84/YG-Archives-Pol-Trackers-Issues(1)-Best-Party-on-Issue-</u> <u>130415.pdf</u> [Accessed 30 April 2015]

YouGov. (2015c) *Issues (2)* [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus\_uploads/document/zbu</u> <u>dh4ut8e/YG-Archives-Pol-Trackers-Issues%282%29-Most-important-</u> <u>issues-280415.pdf</u> [Accessed 12 May 2015]

YouGov. (2015d) Voting Intention Tracker [Online]. YouGov. Available at: <u>https://d25d2506sfb94s.cloudfront.net/cumulus\_uploads/document/s57</u> <u>gaa3btf/YG-Archives-Pol-Trackers-Voting-Trends-with-UKIP-</u> <u>050515.pdf</u> [Accessed 11 May 2015]